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U.S. FIGURE SKATING
BOARD OF DIRECTORS (where applicable) & GOVERNING COUNCIL

STANDING RULES
(Amended March 7, 2016)

To facilitate operations and voting, Governing Council meetings should be arranged with the board members together in front 
of delegate seating. Reserved seating will be provided for past presidents, VIPs, honorary members, members of the Board of 
Directors, athlete delegates and committee chairs.

The president will act as chair, except in such circumstances when the president delegates the chair to the parliamentarian.

The chair should clearly present questions during voting so as to be assured that all participants understand the effects of their 
vote before casting it. The chair will prevent attempts to write rules during debate.

The president will appoint qualified individuals to research and report on matters to come before the meeting when they are not 
pertinent to an existing officer or committee.

Meetings are conducted under Robert’s Rules of Order, Newly Revised, (currently, 11th edition, 2011) and U.S. Figure Skating 
bylaws.

CONDUCT OF U.S. FIGURE SKATING BUSINESS MEETINGS

1.  When addressing the meeting, everyone must speak into a microphone. The speaker’s name and the name of the club 
or office represented must be stated.

2.  No action, with the exception of unanimous consent, nominations, those presented by committee or in the meeting 
book, can be requested nor discussion allowed unless a motion has been made and seconded.

3.  Substantive motions must be published in the meeting book or presented on U.S. Figure Skating new business forms.

4.  New business for meetings of the Board of Directors and the Governing Council must be submitted by the time an-
nounced by the president at the beginning of each respective meeting.

5.  Proxies can only be used for matters stated in the Notice of the meeting. No proxies can be used for new business.

6.  Group Coordinator reports presented to the Governing Council will not exceed 15 minutes.

7.  Reports posted online will not be presented orally; however, in the event of a substantial change, that change will be 
announced at the meeting. Changes should be avoided if at all possible.

8.  Discussion must be directed through the chair. Conversation between members or delegates is prohibited during pro-
ceedings except questions and answers directed through the chair when these are in order.

9.  A speaker may not exceed three minutes unless consent of the assembly is obtained. A request for such consent should 
be addressed to the chair. Discussion on any subject shall not exceed 15 minutes unless consent of the assembly is 
obtained.

10. No one may speak more than twice in one day on the same question. A second speech is not permitted until all who 
wish to speak have been heard once. If debate is closed before a second speech is made, the opportunity is lost.

11. In general, the maker of a motion will be given the first opportunity to speak to the question.

12. In general, proponents of each side of a question will be heard in equal number. If a motion appears to have a majority, 
the chair will call for the vote.

13. Policy is debated and adopted at U.S. Figure Skating business meetings. Rules implementing policy are written in 
technical committees. New business and floor amendments affecting rules must be made in the form of policy state-
ments and moved in principle with an instruction to the appropriate committee to write the implementing language 
in the rules. For determination of intent during this process, the maker of the motion being implemented will be con-
sulted. Rule writing is no part of debate and is out of order on the floor.
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14. Requests for action that include a significant financial impact on U.S. Figure Skating or its members must be accom-
panied by an analysis of such financial impact. Such requests unaccompanied by an analysis will be ruled out of order.

15. Unless otherwise allowed or required by Roberts Rules of Order, Newly Revised, voting cards will be used for all 
votes, with the exception of ballot votes, at the Board of Directors meeting and at the Governing Council. There will 
be no voice votes. For closed ballot votes, voters must present their voting card, proxy card and picture identification 
in order to receive their ballots.

SECTIONAL MEETINGS

16. Every board member and Governing Council delegate has the right to speak at their respective sectional general meet-
ing.

17. The sectional meetings are open for delegates, observers and board members. Only full member club delegates and 
individual member delegates may participate in the voting for non-athlete members of the Nominating Committee (see 
Article XV, Section 1 (A), in the U.S. Figure Skating bylaws). The procedures for such voting are explained in Rules 
NCR 3.01 and NCR 3.02.

18. If no candidates for a region come forward by April 1, the vice president from that section will solicit and procure at 
least two candidates.

19. Governing Council delegates must show their delegate card and photo ID upon entry to their sectional caucus to re-
ceive their voting packet. No proxies will be accepted.

20. The vote will be taken by closed ballot at the end of the sectional caucus.

21. If there is only one candidate per region, the voting process will still take place.

22. Observers may remain in the room during voting.

23. Athletes will collect and count the ballots during the caucus with supervision by the vice president.

PROCEDURES FOR BALLOT VOTING AT GOVERNING COUNCIL

Packets consisting of different colored ballots will be distributed at the time when/if a vote is needed. Packets for elections will 
be distributed as delegates enter the Governing Council meeting room on the day of the election at the time announced by 
the chair. Separate packets will be created for those with a delegate vote and/or those with proxy votes. The total number of 
proxy votes will be written in a special colored marker. There will be a different color ballot distributed for each office.

When ballots are issued, a photo ID from the voter will be required and their Governing Council voting card will be punched, 
denoting that they have received their ballots. Two sets of tables will be set up, one for those delegates with just a single vote 
and one for those with proxies.

The voter will then vote at the appropriate time with the appropriate colored ballot and place the ballot into a covered box.

The boxes will be taken into a separate room to be counted by staff with supervision and validation by an independent party. 

The votes will be counted twice to verify the totals. If the counts are different, then the pile will be counted again.

For contested offices:

A. The vote for each of the offices will occur simultaneously on separate ballots.

B. Voting will take place immediately.

C. The projection screens will list the names of all nominees prior to voting, with the candidate of the Nominating Com-
mittee listed first. All other candidates will be listed in the date/time received order of their nominations (if available), 
or alphabetically by last name.
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D. Ballots for each of the individual offices will list the names of the nominees, with the candidate of the Nominating 
Committee listed first. All other candidates will be listed in the date/time received order of their nominations (if avail-
able), or alphabetically by last name.

E. The ballot packets will be separate for each delegate (one vote only) and/or for those carrying proxies (more than one 
vote).

F. Multiples ballots (four) will be distributed for the election of each office in the event that any election needs to be 
retaken.

For other votes:

A. Packets of three ballots (different colors) will be made up for single delegate votes with either a box to check as “In 
favor of” or “Opposed to”.

B. The ballot packets will be separate for each delegate (one vote only) and/or those carrying proxies (more than one 
vote).

C. These ballot packets will be distributed only if needed for ballot voting on an issue.
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REPORT OF THE PRESIDENT
2017 Board of Directors and Governing Council Meetings

May 2017

Samuel Auxier, President
Excitement and anticipation are the two words that, for me, describe the 2017 U.S. Figure Skating activities so far this 
year. Team USA took two of four World Junior gold medals and added a bronze as well. Our junior synchronized skating 
teams finished well at the World Junior Synchronized Skating Championships, with the World Synchronized Skating 
Championships just around the corner in Colorado Springs. Having recently traveled to PyeongChang, South Korea, where 
figure skating’s Olympic warm-up, Four Continents, was held, I have to say the anticipation and the excitement about 
Team USA’s prospects for 2018 are really starting to build. I am excited not only about our team but also about the many 
projects and developments that are under way, which you will read about within the following reports and hear more about 
at Governing Council. 

Key Projects Well Underway
Learn to Skate USA — at last year’s Governing Council, you participated in the hyper-excitement of the Learn to Skate 
USA roll-out. However, the success of this program has exceeded even our most optimistic projections. I don’t want to 
steal from the following staff reports, but – Wow! The number of rinks adopting Learn to Skate USA continues to grow, 
introducing many new skaters to our sport.

The Event Management System (EMS) — This year saw new enhancements installed and Phase 3 was approved to add new 
capabilities with support from the U.S. Figure Skating Foundation. The next set of enhancements will provide additional 
event planning and scheduling capabilities to further support our qualifying competitions. Congratulations to Mario Rede, 
Kathy Drevs, our IT development team, the EMS board advisory group and many others on this successful project taking 
U.S. Figure Skating to the leading edge of sports software systems.

The ‘Get Up’ brand and image awareness campaign was launched during Skate America to rave reviews, and a National 
‘Get Up’ Day (February 1) was established. This campaign has touched the emotions of many, skaters and non-skaters alike, 
who share their ‘Get Up’ moments on social media. This initial roll-out has attracted a lot of attention and is a critical piece 
of the long-term brand and image strategic initiative.

New Projects Kicked Off
Shortly after last year’s Governing Council, I asked the Strategic Planning Committee to look at the structure of the Board 
of Directors and the number and alignment of the committees to see if we could reduce overlap of responsibilities, make 
decisions more quickly and focus resources where needed. For example, how can our discipline groups (singles, pairs, 
dance and synchronized skating) focus on their specific development and testing needs? Also, putting a coordinated effort 
around international activities in order to take a more strategic approach and integrate high performance and development 
activities. This is very important to be successful competitively, plus it is a very large financial component of our budget. 
Winston Burbank and members of the Strategic Planning Committee will lead a presentation on task force recommendations, 
with a goal of proposing major rule changes for next year’s Governing Council — with the exception of elevating SafeSport 
to full committee status to increase the focus on athlete safety and address troublesome social media communications. As 
we have all read in the news, when issues are not reported or addressed immediately they can spiral into something much 
worse. As stewards of our sport, protecting our athletes is the most critical part of that stewardship.

Also, after last year’s Governing Council, the Board of Directors directed me to initiate a review of the structure and 
processes of the Nominating Committee; specifically, to look at how this committee is organized and what the real goal of 
the committee is in order to serve the long-term needs of our organization. Leadership development is of particular concern 
as for some of our key roles there is a very small pool of people with the qualifications and experience to fulfill those roles. 
The board hired a consulting firm with extensive experience around governance, both inside and outside of the sports world. 
The consultant will present their research and findings at Governing Council. The primary message is that the current 
structure and role of the Nominating Committee is not integrated with our strategy and does not develop new leaders for our 
organization. I encourage every delegate to try to attend this presentation on Friday afternoon.

A restructuring of our testing system — moving to a GOE-based system plus allowing our skaters the options of passing 
their tests at nonqualifying competitions is an exciting proposal to support our skaters. This proposal reduces the need (and 
expense) for separate programs or to change elements while also reducing the need to secure expensive ice times for testing. 
Of course, traditional testing will still be an option. These rule changes will also allow us to get closer to standardized 
judging across the country, update test requirements periodically and provide more options for our skaters to pass tests. This 
will also help recognize the need for training as well as provide for more consistent judging across the country.



5

The Competitions Committee is also proposing new options, for implementation after the Olympic year, and more significant 
changes for longer term as well. The goal of the new options is to give skaters multiple qualifying options which are more 
encouraging (vs. the ‘one and done’ of regionals) and also to adopt a more school-friendly schedule, particularly for our 
juvenile and intermediate skaters. These changes are in a fairly early stage and will require a lot of planning and debate 
before being proposed as rules.

Clearly there is a lot going on and in development by the Board of Directors and various committees. This is a year of ‘great 
debate’ and input with many rule changes anticipated for next year. We need every delegate engaged and providing input.

Finally, I would like to thank all of our volunteers and local organizing committees who make it possible to run the tests, 
and hold the competitions, exhibitions and all the events for our skaters. I would also like to thank David Raith and the 
headquarters staff for the amazing job of managing U.S. Figure Skating and making us a leader among the U.S. national 
governing bodies (NGBs) and all the countries in the International Skating Union.
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REPORT OF THE EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR
2017 Board of Directors and Governing Council Meetings

May 2017

David Raith, Executive Director
It is my pleasure to submit my Executive Director’s Report for the 2017 Governing Council in Colorado Springs, Colorado. 
I am always — and continue to be — truly honored to work with the volunteers and staff of our association — you make 
this association one of the top sport national governing bodies in this country, and I am proud and humbled to be a part of 
it. Thank you! As always, the headquarters staff and I are here to serve you by implementing the policies and procedures 
established by the Governing Council and Board of Directors. 

Each Governing Council, the senior staff provides a summary and overview of their areas of responsibility. Below and on 
the following pages, you will find the reports from each department head.

As you will read in these reports, we’ve had many successes with membership and the success of the Learn to Skate USA 
rebrand, launch of our Brand/Image campaign and continued development of our Event Management System software. 
These board initiatives, along with other skating programs and marketing/communication projects, high performance 
athlete successes and strong event organization, have provided a sense of focus and accomplishment for the staff. As 
we look to the coming year, we will continue to build on the success of these initiatives and programs, do all we can to 
support a successful performance at the 2018 Olympic Winter Games, and for me personally, continue to guide the staff 
while specifically working to secure a media strategy for our organization and our many programs for the next Olympic 
quadrennial (2019-2022) and beyond.

Thank you again for all you do for U.S. Figure Skating, and we all look forward to seeing you at the 2017 U.S. Figure 
Skating Governing Council meeting in Colorado Springs! 

Membership – Susi Wehrli-McLaughlin, Senior Director
2015-16 Membership Stats
During the 2015-16 skating season, U.S. Figure Skating saw a 1.9 percent membership increase, totaling 181,703 total 
members (122,503 Basic Skills members, 58,828 full members and 372 Friends of Figure Skating members). In its final 
year, the Basic Skills Program experienced the second-highest enrollment in the program’s history (132,125 in 2005-06).

The organization concluded the season with 703 full member, collegiate and school-affiliated clubs, more than 1,000 
registered, active Basic Skills/Learn to Skate USA programs, 602 synchronized skating teams, 79 Theatre On Ice teams, 
and 29 interclubs and councils. 

Staffing Update 
The Membership Department is very pleased to welcome new faces and talent to our staff over this past year with the 
additions of Kimberly Berry Hines, director of membership development; Toby Sturtevant, membership development 
specialist; and Mollie Brauer, member services specialist. It is with regret that we announce the resignation of Brenda 
Glidewell. We are very grateful to Brenda for her years of service and dedication to the growth and development of our 
grass-roots programs. 

Learn to Skate USA
The 2016-17 skating season marked the inaugural year of Learn to Skate USA, the rebrand of the Basic Skills Program. 
Learn to Skate USA launched on June 1, 2016, and hit the ground running with a team of business development specialists 
who traveled the U.S., transitioning Basic Skills programs, installing new Learn to Skate USA programs, and ensuring 
program compliance. The success of the launch would not have been possible without the collaboration and teamwork of 
our business development specialists, Membership Committee and Basic Skills Subcommittee, board working group, our 
skating directors, Vladimir Jones marketing agency, U.S. Figure Skating staff and the IT development team.

The mission of Learn to Skate USA is to provide a fun and positive experience that will instill a lifelong love of skating. 
The program is founded in solid skill progression, giving each participant the tools necessary to achieve their goals, be 
they recreational or competitive, in a fun and safe environment. Learn to Skate USA is the only beginning skating program 
endorsed by the three national governing bodies of ice sports, U.S. Figure Skating, USA Hockey, and US Speedskating. The 
Learn to Skate USA program is also endorsed by Special Olympics and the Professional Skaters Association. 

The Learn to Skate USA launch included a revised curriculum, marketing package, social media platforms, resources, 
website with direct registration, comprehensive management system for directors and instructors, and an instructor 
certification course. Throughout the summer, the program developed to include a level tracker for skater advancement, 
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email notifications, instructor compliance and an online store with Learn to Skate USA logo merchandise. Every facet of 
the program has been well received, which is reflected in program and membership numbers. Self-imposed time lines and 
deadlines were all met leading up to, during and since the launch.

Facts and figures as of February 28, 2017:
•	 104,326 registered members
•	 1,025 total registered Learn to Skate USA programs
•	 94 new programs added as a direct result of Learn to Skate USA

To assist in the continued implementation and growth of Learn to Skate USA, we have extended our relationship with three 
business development specialists who work directly with program directors, rink managers and owners by hosting in-person 
meetings, group presentations, conference calls and program visits. They work closely with their designated sections to help 
in the transition and growth of existing programs, capturing new program registrations, delivering program collateral and 
ensuring program compliance.

The three business development specialists are:
•	 Eastern Section – Lisa Musmanno Blue 
•	 Midwestern Section – Jason Dilworth 
•	 Pacific Section – Michelle Lauerman 

In addition to having a passion for the sport of ice skating, the Learn to Skate USA business development specialists 
are highly successful individuals within the industry. They have made great strides working with current programs and 
establishing new programs. They serve as leaders and Learn to Skate USA experts for their section. 

Learn to Skate USA Communications
Learn to Skate USA launched several communication initiatives throughout the program’s first year to engage with members, 
promote the program and educate the public on the benefits of membership.

New to grass-roots communications efforts, Learn to Skate USA Facebook and Twitter handles were launched in conjunction 
with the program. Since their inception, Learn to Skate USA’s social media presence has continued to grow, welcoming 
more than 340 Twitter followers and 4,350 Facebook page likes since June. Social campaigns like weekly photo contests 
and Learn to Skate USA Rising Stars have supplemented inspirational and informative videos created in-house to boost 
engagement and generate buzz. Over the last 10 months, Learn to Skate USA’s Facebook post scope has grown to reach 
more than 382,000 users, with Twitter engagement topping out at more than 31,000 impressions.

In addition to original content, U.S. Figure Skating finalized Learn to Skate USA endorsements with USA Hockey and 
US Speedskating, building partnerships that have enhanced communications efforts through cross-promotion and content 
sharing. 

Learn to Skate USA also expanded into print media, enjoying mentions in USA Hockey, Rink, Central Penn Parent and 
Vogue magazines. In addition, the program celebrates stories from within its membership base through the Learn to Skate 
USA Blog, launched in November with original content posted every two weeks. Learn to Skate USA: The Magazine also 
debuted June 1, producing four unique editions per year toward a circulation of 120,000 per issue.

In March, Learn to Skate USA announced a multi-year partnership with Toyota, joining U.S. Figure Skating, USA Hockey 
and US Speedskating on team Toyota as they move toward the 2018 Olympic Winter Games. Toyota will work with all 
three national governing bodies and Learn to Skate USA through multimedia, social channels, major events and grass-roots 
outreach to develop and promote skating across the country. 

Rebrand Project and Paid Media Campaign, led by Vladimir Jones 
Vladimir Jones, a national marketing agency based in Colorado Springs, has helped us throughout the launch and 
implementation of the rebrand. The rebrand project was a huge undertaking but also a lot of fun for all those involved. 
Basic Skills offered such a strong product; to be able to put strong branding and marketing materials behind it, including a 
top-notch website, was a wonderful opportunity to take the program to the next level.

Throughout our process, we spent a lot of time talking about what differentiates skating from other sports or activities. Like 
other sports, skating is fun and rewarding, but we found that skating is unique — the first thing you learn is how to fall 
down and, more importantly, how to get back up. That really resonated with the Vladimir Jones creative team. Being on ice 
can be so foreign and challenging, and because of that the rewards can be great and long-lasting. Every time you step on 
the ice, you transform, you improve and you learn something about yourself. We knew that message would really resonate 
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with parents as they are always looking for opportunities for their kids to have fun, but they also want to see their kids 
make strides as people. The idea of progression and transformation is imbedded in the subtle design elements in the logo 
and brand materials. We wanted to show consumers that through this program, they can “Skate to Great”. That may mean 
greatness in figure skating, or hockey or speed skating. But even if you don’t ever pursue a career on the ice, the things you 
learn from ice skating can be carried into all walks of life. 

In October, Learn to Skate USA launched paid media efforts. The goal of these efforts were twofold: drive awareness of 
the new Learn to Skate USA initiative and increase sign-ups. The campaign leveraged Digital Display Banners, Video 
Advertising, Social Media Ads, and Search Engine Marketing. Ads were targeted toward ‘Dynamic Families’ and ‘Families 
on the Rise’ in markets with high concentrations of these targets and high concentrations of existing Learn to Skate USA 
programs.

Messages were developed for figure skating, hockey and speed skating. We also ran ads with more general messages that 
spoke to the benefits of the program.

Key Performance Indicators were determined at the onset of the campaign, and performance was monitored and optimized 
on a daily basis. The campaign ran through February with heavier flighting in January to capitalize on National Skating 
Month.

Over the course of the campaign (October to February) we saw:
•	 More than 18 million impressions
•	 More than 100,000 click-throughs to the website.
•	 More than 1 million video views
•	 9,224 online sign-ups

Instructor Workshops
During the fall and winter, 14 half-day instructor workshops were held across the country. These workshops were not only 
successful, but were also well-attended, with more than 600 instructors, directors and program administrators taking part 
in the educational day. Each workshop detailed all the necessary elements to be the best group skating instructor possible. 
Sessions were done both on and off the ice, focusing on the various topics and processes of the Learn to Skate USA 
program, including: 

•	 Instructional Elements: Class orientation, skills, teaching tips, class organization/management, lesson plans and 
evaluation standards

•	 Fun and games to keep skaters involved
•	 Compete USA
•	 Specialty classes
•	 Role and responsibility in being an excellent group lesson instructor

The 14 locations included:
•	 Glen Allen/Richmond, Virginia
•	 Lewis Center, Ohio
•	 Faribault, Minnesota
•	 Beaver Falls, Pennsylvania
•	 Shelton, Connecticut
•	 Miami, Florida
•	 Dearborn, Michigan
•	 Mt. Pleasant, Michigan
•	 Antioch, Tennessee
•	 Scottsdale, Arizona
•	 Estero, Florida
•	 Boise, Idaho
•	 Littleton, Colorado
•	 Shawnee, Kansas

2017 National Skating Month 
The promotion of the 2017 National Skating Month (NSM) campaign began in mid-September and continued through 
the end of January. The concept behind this year’s campaign was “Skating is a blast! Give the ice a try!” with the images 
focusing on recreational, family skating opportunities. We mailed more than 450 kits to assist with the on-ice events, 
including materials to distribute to the participants.
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National Skating Month is an opportunity for rinks, member clubs and programs to celebrate skating, invite new families 
to try ice skating by offering free lessons, conduct skating demonstrations and promote skating with local media outlets. 
Through a series of organized on-ice and off-ice activities, everyone enjoys a fun-filled day at the rink. 

Start making plans now and reserve your ice time for the 2018 campaign. We hope that every club will host multiple events 
throughout January and February, capitalizing on the popularity of skating in the upcoming Olympic Winter Games.

Resources for Club Management 
All U.S. Figure Skating member clubs are charged with the responsibility of creating a safe environment for all members 
in which they are able to participate, develop and achieve in the sport of figure skating. Running a figure skating club is 
not unlike running a small business. Most of the principles necessary to make a business successful also apply to making 
a club successful. There are some basic characteristics common to all strong clubs: mission, effective board, collaborative 
partnerships, member support, risk management, solid financial plan, and the most critical — teamwork. 

Club Education Seminars continue to receive positive feedback from attendees. Three Club Education seminars will be 
hosted this year — Fort Myers, Salt Lake City and Colorado Springs. The topics covered are governance, club financial 
management, strategic planning, SafeSport, conflict resolution, programming and marketing clubs. These seminars are 
extremely valuable for all.

Club webinars provide additional education and outreach to members. All club webinars are recorded and posted in the 
Members Only section of usfigureskating.org. 

Additional resources available to our clubs include:
•	 Checklist for Success – self assessment tool
•	 Club Annual Board Calendar
•	 Conflict Resolution Guidelines
•	 Club Website Pages:

o Resources and Forms for Club Management
o Risk Management
o Club Education and Webinars
o Growth and Retention Ideas
o Parent Information
o Coach Compliance

•	 Members Only Website
•	 Member Services Department 

U.S. Figure Skating SafeSport Program – www.usfigureskating.org/safesport
U.S. Figure Skating strives to provide a safe environment for its members and to protect the opportunity of its members to 
participate in the sport in an atmosphere that is free of harassment and abusive practices. The U.S. Figure Skating SafeSport 
Program provides resources for all members to help identify abuse and misconduct, outlines steps that can be taken to 
reduce it and offers procedures to respond to it.

Every member club must adopt and implement the SafeSport policies found within the SafeSport Handbook that are 
applicable, to reduce the risks of potential abuse:

•	 Athlete protection and commitment to safety 
•	 Two-deep leadership and appropriate supervision
•	 Locker room and changing room policy
•	 Social media, mobile and electronic communications policy
•	 SafeSport travel guidelines
•	 Codes of conduct for skaters, parents, coaches and club board members

When in doubt, report — if you suspect abuse or misconduct or have specific and credible information about inappropriate 
behavior, it is your duty as a member of U.S. Figure Skating to report it. Please reach out to safesport@usfigureskating.org 
with any questions or concerns.

The U.S. Figure Skating SafeSport website will be revamped this coming year offering even more resources and expanded 
online training modules. 

http://www.usfigureskating.org/safesport
mailto:safesport@usfigureskating.org
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Community Development Grants 
Six member clubs and programs were awarded $2,000 each for the purpose of developing community-based programs and 
events, designed to attract, involve and inspire new generations of figure skaters.

The recipients of the grants were:
•	 Brooklyn Ice will continue an existing program by providing free figure skating lessons to under-served children, 

offering students the opportunity to attend skating shows and supporting a community performance/lesson series 
with guest skaters from The Ice Theatre of New York.

•	 Friends of Fort Dupont Ice Arena will expand synchronized skating and advanced figure skating instruction within 
their Kids on Ice Positive Living Using Skating (KOI PLUS) program, which provides free and/or subsidized skating 
lessons to local children from disadvantaged neighborhoods six days a week.

•	 Friends of the Kelly Rink will purchase more sizes and replace worn out rental skates for their Learn to Skate USA 
program, which strives to make ice skating accessible and affordable to every member of the community.

•	 Klamath Ice Sports will provide scholarships for underprivileged students in their Wednesday After School on Ice 
program, which includes bus transportation to/from school, admission and skate rental.

•	 The University of Notre Dame Skating Academy will expand its adaptive skating program to include adults with 
limited-to-no mobility through the use of special sleds.

•	 The William G. Mennen Sports Arena will implement “Explore Your Skills: Try Different Figure Skating Programs!” 
The program will give children the opportunity to try synchronized skating, ice dance, ice theater and freestyle 
(jumps and spins).

2017 Prudential Skating Fund
The Southport Skating Club and the Jefferson City Figure Skating Club are the 2017 recipients of awards made through 
the Prudential Skating Fund. The Fund, established by U.S. Figure Skating and Prudential Financial in 2013, provides 
$25,000 in financial support to eligible U.S. Figure Skating member clubs and/or programs that are addressing social needs 
or directly benefiting under-served groups and communities within the sport of figure skating.

Southport Skating Club (SSC) received the Building Block award in the amount of $15,000. SSC, a nonprofit, volunteer-
based organization, will use the award to build an inclusive skating program through a partnership with the Special Education 
District of Lake County (SEDOL), eliminating barriers and creating recreational opportunities for skaters with disabilities. 

Jefferson City FSC received the Enrichment award in the amount of $10,000. Jefferson City FSC will use the awarded funds 
toward their existing adaptive skating program, replacing equipment and covering the cost of ice time for students following 
U.S. Figure Skating’s Therapeutic Recreational Skating track.

Membership Team
Recognition and thanks go to the Member Services and Membership Development staff, without whom none of this would 
be accomplished. This staff is critical to our association and a real pleasure to work with each and every day. 

A sincere ‘thank you’ to our volunteer leadership: Group Coordinator Ed Mann for guiding us through the last three years; 
Membership Committee Chair Alan Wolf for always being there for all of us whenever we needed you; Learn to Skate USA 
Subcommittee Chair Rick Ninko; SafeSport Subcommittee Chair, Kris Arneson Cutler, and Parents Committee Chair Lydia 
Magill, plus all of the committee members who graciously give their time day in and day out.

Thank you to all of you who serve and work within our clubs and Learn to Skate USA programs — you bring skating to life, 
smiles to faces and inspire our next generation to get involved.

This year altered the landscape of the skating industry, and there’s a bright future ahead.

Athlete Development – Leslie Graham, Director, Synchronized Skating and Skating Programs
The overall mission of the Athlete Development Department is to “enhance athletes’ experiences in the sport and help 
them reach their potential for achievement in whichever avenue they choose to pursue.” Our department includes not only 
developing competitive athletes in singles, pairs and dance, but the entire synchronized skating program, programs for test 
and nonqualifying-competition-level athletes, collegiate and high school skating, adult skating and national figure skating 
programs, such as theatrical skating and solo dance.
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We would like to thank the chairs of the Athlete Development Committee and its subcommittees, the Synchronized Skating 
Committee, the Synchronized Competitions Subcommittee, the Synchronized Management Subcommittee, the Collegiate 
Program Committee, the Program Development Committee, the Theatrical Skating Committee, the State Games Committee 
and the Adult Skating Committee for all their support and hard work this season. We have truly enjoyed working with all 
of you this season. 

Thank you to Sarah Arnold, athlete development manager, and Karissa Woienski, figure skating programs manager for their 
hard work this season. We are excited to welcome Kyleigh Gaff, coordinator of synchronized skating, to our department. 
She started in the fall, and is leading the effort in synchronized skating programming.

Below are highlights of some specific programs underway or held in the past skating season. All of them focus on enhancing 
the athlete’s experience in the sport, encouraging them to continue their participation and helping them to reach their goals.

SINGLES/PAIRS/DANCE REGIONAL & SECTIONAL COMPETITORS:
Individual events and programs are each described below. 

Special Achievement Awards
This program, which provides special pins to regional competitors (singles) and sectional competitors (pairs and ice dance) 
to recognize performance markers, was revised for the 2017 season. Athletes in the juvenile through novice levels were 
eligible to receive a pin for earning at least two +2 GOEs, earning a bonus point for a “challenge jump”, or earning the most 
points in the following categories — spins, Skating Skills or Interpretation. 

The revision of the achievement markers was to support the emphasis on risk-taking on the jumps side, and to emphasize 
Skating Skills and Interpretation as important developmental components on which athletes should be focusing. 

Regional, Sectional & U.S. Championships School Letters
Due to the success last season, all qualifying competitors were invited to fill out an online form with detailed school 
information. This information was pulled into personalized letters for school teachers about each athlete’s participation in 
qualifying competitions with a request to excuse the athlete’s absence from school.

The letters were personally addressed to the educator and contained information about the athlete, their level, their 
competition and what the qualifying system means, in addition to a video explaining the importance of the competition 
and what it means to be a figure skater. The letters were made available for all qualifying competitions and were received 
by 2,348 teachers and principals. Feedback was that parents and athletes appreciated the support, and it not only helped 
students with school, it helped educate schools on what it means to be a competitive figure skater.

Regional/Sectional Outreach, Communication & Surveys 
Immediately following the close of the 2017 qualifying competition season registration, regional and sectional competitors of 
all levels received an electronic newsletter with information and tips about having a successful season and the opportunities 
available to them.

All athletes who competed in the qualifying season during 2016 but did not register for 2017 (with exception of senior level 
athletes) received a survey asking if/how they are participating in skating, and what goes into their decision about whether 
to participate in regionals.

All sectional competitors, following the competition, received the link to a survey asking questions about their training and 
goals in skating. This information was compiled and used for materials, rule changes and educational programs for coaches 
and parents.

Providing communication and information to parents and athletes helps to solidify the connection between competitors and 
U.S. Figure Skating. In addition to being a resource in and of itself, U.S. Figure Skating provides participants with a place 
to go for guidance and support. 

This outreach has now been happening for more than four seasons, and we are continuing to see greater retention in our 
qualifying athletes.

SYNCHRONIZED SKATING 
Participation in synchronized skating continues to be solid, with more than 625 teams registered for the 2016-17 season. 
In 2017, we had 335 teams compete at the synchronized skating sectional championships (up from 316 in 2016). The 
following programs support the more than 7,500 athletes competing in this discipline:
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Synchro Challenge Series
In its ninth season, this program allows nonqualifying level teams, along with juvenile, to collect points at events throughout 
the season and earn a sectional standing and awards at the end of the year. This season 1,400 athletes on more than 100 
teams participated. 

Sectional Monitoring
Approximately 83 teams at the juvenile level and higher attended a monitoring program at one of four locations nationally 
to have their competitive programs evaluated by a technical panel official and a judge. The Synchronized Development 
Subcommittee is looking to offer more of these programs and conduct them earlier in the 2018 season. Many teams now 
compete in November, so by hosting these in October, teams will have the opportunity to receive feedback and make 
changes prior to the start of the competition season.

DREAM Camps
In the summer of 2017, we will be hosting two DREAM Camps — July 15, 2017, in Pleasant Prairie, Wisconsin, and July 
22, 2017, in Cicero, New York. The DREAM Camp is a one-day seminar for approximately 100 synchronized athletes at 
the nonqualifying levels and focuses on developing synchronized and skating skills as taught by Team USA athletes and 
high level coaches. 

A parallel coaches’ track will expand the learning opportunity to coaches who work mostly with 6.0 level teams.

Synchronized Elite Camp
This program was held May 20-22, 2016, in Strongsville, Ohio. This program allowed those teams in the international 
selection pool to send four athletes and two coaches. This year, we will be hosting an Elite Track on Thursday, July 27, 
immediately before our new National Synchronized Skating Summit. This will allow us the opportunity to gather coaches 
and officials before the season starts to discuss goals for the upcoming season and ways U.S. Figure Skating can help teams 
prepare.

Win Program
Four coaches were selected to attend the 2017 ISU World Junior Synchronized Skating Championships with an international 
official to attend practices and competition events. Curriculum was created so coaches left the event with a better 
understanding of what it takes to coach a team successfully at the international level.

Synchronized Training Festival, National Coaches College, National Synchronized Skating Summit
With 2016 being an ISU Congress year, and many rule changes being made to the discipline, a coaches’ program was held 
from July 28-30, 2016, in San Diego, California. By not having an athlete program, we were better able to focus on coach 
development and offer a wider variety of programming, ultimately touching more athletes and coaches.

It was a great success, as nearly 115 coaches, our largest turnout for a synchronized coaching program, attended. The keynote 
speaker was the team captain of the 2008 U.S. Olympic Synchronized Swimming Team and synchronized swimming coach, 
Kim Probst. Kim addressed an array of common challenges that synchronized skating coaches face.

Joshua Medcalf, creator of Train2BClutch, ran two four-hour lecture/workshop sessions addressing many challenges that 
coaches experience, as well as how to help athletes develop mental toughness. Several seminars featured concentrated work 
in understanding and teaching both technical elements and program components. Many of our international and national 
officials were part of this program. Suzy Semanick-Schurman taught on-ice classes regarding skating skills and speed.

This summer, we are offering the first U.S. Figure Skating National Synchronized Skating Summit. We will be gathering 
athletes, coaches and officials from all over the country, in Geneva, Illinois, from July 28-30, 2017. Coaches and athletes 
will learn side-by-side from our elite synchronized skating coaches. There will also be off-ice classes for coaches that will 
focus on growing your program and current issues in synchronized skating. We anticipate that 100 coaches will attend, as 
well as 125 athletes.

U.S. Synchronized Skating Team/High Performance Synchronized Skating
This season the Athlete Development Department supported the Synchronized Management Subcommittee in their second 
season of their re-structure.

1. Team envelope (funding only)
2. International selection pool (ISP)
3. Team USA
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Synchronized teams named to the ISP were not guaranteed an assignment to Team USA. All ISP teams were required to 
submit strategic plans which included a SWOT analysis, as well as objectives for the upcoming season. These objectives 
were then added to a funding form, which teams then used to track the money they spent.

At headquarters, we worked with coaches to track their competition readiness, support them in goal planning and help them 
request funding based on their training and travel for the year.

This season there were 12 teams named to the ISP, with 11 ultimately being named to Team USA. As of this report, this has 
been another very successful season for Team USA, as they have won 11 medals internationally.

Cup of Berlin
 Haydenettes – 2nd 
 Crystallettes – 3rd

 Skyliners (junior) – 1st

Mozart Cup
 Miami University – 2nd

 Skyliners – 3rd

 Lexettes (junior) – 1st

Chicago Jazz (junior) – 4th 
Leon Lurje Trophy
 Haydenettes – 2nd

 Adrian College – 4th

 Hockettes (junior) – 5th

French Cup 
 Crystallettes – 5th

 Miami University – 9th

 Skyliners (junior) – 3rd

 Chicago Jazz (junior) -5th 
Trophy D’Ecosse
 Team del Sol – 2nd

Zagreb Snowflakes Trophy
 Skyliners – 1st

 Starlingts (junior) – 1st

ISU World Junior Synchronized Skating Championships
 Skyliners (junior) – 4th

 Lexettes (junior) – 7th 

We look forward to the ISU World Synchronized Skating Championships being held April 7-8, 2017, in Colorado Springs.
 
FIGURE SKATING PROGRAMS:
Below are updates on our programs designed to enhance the experience of U.S. Figure Skating members and athletes by 
providing additional opportunities outside of traditional competition and testing.

Adult Skating
Many new initiatives have been created to continue to expand and emphasize lifetime involvement in the sport of figure 
skating.

Special Achievement Awards
Special Achievement Award pins were awarded at the 2017 Adult Sectional Championships (singles) and U.S. Adult Figure 
Skating Championships (pairs and ice dance) based on criteria created by the Adult Skating Committee. Awards were given 
to skaters with the highest Skating Skills mark total, Performance mark total, every skater who earned at least one +2 or +3 
GOE from any judge, as well as highest point totals for specific elements.

Skate Forever Young Award Program 
A new initiative called Skate Forever Young awards medals to all skaters 71 and older who compete in an event at the U.S. 
Adult Figure Skating Championships.

Yvonne M. Dowlen Trophy
The Yvonne M. Dowlen Trophy will be awarded annually to the oldest registered competitor who competes in an event at 
the U.S. Adult Figure Skating Championships. 
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Collegiate Skating
U.S. Collegiate Championships
The 2016 U.S. Collegiate Figure Skating Championships were held July 28-30, 2016, in Denver, Colorado. There were 36 
competitors at the junior and senior levels in singles, with the top finishers earning college scholarships. Thank you to the 
Pioneer Fund for providing the opportunity for these athletes to pursue both skating and college.

The 2017 U.S. Collegiate Figure Skating Championships will be held August 4-6, 2017, in Adrian, Michigan. We look 
forward to adding novice and intermediate (ladies and men) as test events for this year’s championships. We hope these test 
events will grow participation.

Intercollegiate Competition Series
The Intercollegiate Competition Series is now complete, with nine series competitions being held throughout the country, 
which culminated with the 2017 Intercollegiate Championships, April 1-3, at Miami University. This season saw a record 
number of starts with approximately 555 singles and solo dance athletes, representing 60 colleges, participating in the series.

We continued to oversee the online competition registration system for the 10 intercollegiate competitions. This was helpful 
to the skaters, programs and competition organizers, and it allows the Athlete Development Department to track competition 
entries, help streamline the organization process and oversee specifics in regards to the skaters participating in the events.

Collegiate Workshops
A Collegiate Skating Workshop was held for high school students on February 19 at Oakton Ice Arena in Park Ridge, 
Illinois. Held in conjunction with a high school competition, athletes and parents were given the opportunity to learn more 
about collegiate skating, hear from current athletes and coaches and participate in a “college fair” where area schools 
brought materials and were available to answer questions. It is our hope to host more of these across the country next 
season, as it brings awareness to collegiate skating opportunities.

Collegiate Synchronized Skating
Synchronized skating continues to be one of the core collegiate skating programs, with 34 collegiate and open collegiate 
teams registered this season. In addition, Adrian College and Miami University had teams competing in the senior division.

Icemen
The Program Development Committee has been working hard to continue the Icemen program this season. Athletes 
registered with the program have been made aware of designated Icemen competitions to encourage our male athletes to 
attend competitions where there will likely be other men to compete against. We are also planning social events at many of 
these competitions.

National Solo Dance Series & National Solo Dance Series Final
The Solo Dance Series continues to be a success for both skaters and figure skating clubs. The 2016 series concluded in 
August in its new format and included nearly 450 athletes participating in 50 nonqualifying competitions nationwide.

During the season, each skater’s placements were recorded, and the series point standings were updated to determine the 
overall top finishers. These top performing skaters were invited to the National Solo Dance Final, September 7-10, 2016, 
in Newark, Delaware.

The 2017 series is building upon last season. There are currently 43 competitions scheduled, with the first beginning March 
31, 2017. Participation is projected to hold steady compared with last year, with the series culminating in the 2017 National 
Solo Dance Final taking place September 6-9, 2017, in Colorado Springs, Colorado.

We have already announced that in 2018, the National Solo Dance Final will be held in Hyannis, Massachusetts.

High School Programs
Continuing with the restructured Graduating Seniors Program that was launched in 2011, the 2016 Graduating Seniors 
Program continued to recognized athletes graduating from high school, with 610 seniors receiving awards.

The deadline for the Graduating Seniors Program was March 1, 2017. Participation is projected to be around 620 this year.

In addition, the third High School Final Competition was held March 31 through April 2, 2017, hosted by the Dearborn 
Figure Skating Club in Dearborn, Michigan.
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State Games
This season, U.S. Figure Skating events were held at 17 State Games. We continue to look for ways to promote and grow 
these events. The 2017 State Games of America will be held in Grand Rapids, Michigan, August 3-6, 2017. The figure 
skating events will be hosted by the Greater Grand Rapids Figure Skating Club.

Theatrical Skating
The 2016 National Theatre On Ice Competition was hosted by the Birmingham FSC and was held in Birmingham, Alabama. 
In its ninth year, the event had nearly 1,200 skaters on 71 teams competing.

National Showcase 2016 was hosted by the Greater Cleveland Council of Figure Skating Clubs in Strongsville, Ohio, 
August 11-14, 2016. This year’s competition included 538 individual skaters and 95 duets/teams from across the country. 
With 740 starts during the event, this was the largest showcase competition held to date.

The Theatrical Skating Committee is excited to host the 2017 Nations’ Cup Interclub Competition. The event is being 
hosted by the Ice House Skating Academy, and will be held in Ann Arbor, Michigan, from April 20-23, 2017. Thirty teams 
from four countries are scheduled to attend this event. This is the second time the U.S. is hosting this international interclub 
competition (2011; Hyannis, Massachusetts).

Planning is underway for the 2017 National Theatre On Ice Competition hosted by the Greater Evansville Figure Skating 
Club, in Evansville, Indiana, June 21-25, 2017, as well as for the National Showcase 2017 hosted by the Santa Rosa Figure 
Skating Club, in Santa Rosa, California, August 9-13, 2017.

Athlete High Performance – Mitch Moyer, Senior Director
With less than a year to go prior to the 2018 Olympic Winter Games, the Athlete High Performance Department is extremely 
busy at this exciting time as we prepare for the Games. Planning began more than 2½ years ago, and it will only be a couple 
of months after the Games in PyeongChang that the department will be preparing for 2022 Beijing. 
 
Members of the Athlete High Performance Department, the USOC staff and the Olympic Team staff conducted a site visit in 
Chuncheon, Gangneung City and PyeongChang prior to, during and after the 2017 Four Continents Championships. A two-
day mini-camp was conducted to test the alternate training site in Chuncheon and to familiarize everyone with the city and 
the venue a year out from the Games. In Gangneung, staff members scouted out hotels for the Friends & Family Program 
and familiarized themselves with the city, including the two downtown areas and the coastal cluster venues and athlete 
village. Though the planned high-speed train was not ready yet, we tested public transportation from Incheon to Gangneung, 
and from Gangneung to a potential Friends & Family location. This site visit provided our staff with an understanding of 
the city, which will prove to be very beneficial as we prepare for the 2018 Games. The Olympic team leaders/managers 
conducted a site visit at the conclusion of the Four Continents Championships, familiarizing themselves with the area 
close to the venue and the athlete village. A trip also was made to PyeongChang, which will host the Opening and Closing 
Ceremonies, mountain venues and medals plaza. Korea has completed much of the infrastructure and seems prepared to 
put on a successful Olympic Games.

The athletes for 2018 are accustomed to sports medicine support (physician and physical therapist) and recovery nutrition 
provided by Team USA, augmented by on-site catering and recovery services like NormaTec. These services will be 
available in the village, venue and/or a USOC Performance Center. Those outside the secured areas will have difficulty 
gaining access to the athletes and supporting staff. Planning is in process to offer the above mentioned services to Team 
USA athletes at the training site in Chuncheon and possibly providing additional services at the USOC Performance Center.

With the addition of Athlete High Performance Development Director Justin Dillon, the development and tracking of the 
athletes who will contend for spots for the 2022 Olympic Winter Games and beyond are not lost in the focus of the current 
Olympic cycle.

The Athlete High Performance Department created an Athlete High Performance Development Pool (AHPDP) this past 
season. Nearly 50 athletes were identified from across the country and were given opportunities simulating the programs 
offered to the International Selection Pool (ISP) athletes. A formula of performance markers that includes national placement, 
element indicators and total points from various competitions determined the athletes who were selected to participate in 
this program.

Being selected into the AHPDP gave athletes the opportunity to participate in various camps, including the annual Team 
USA Singles Camp, Dance Camp and Pairs Camp. Athletes were also invited to participate in the Summer Team USA 
Seminars held at various competitions around the country, including the Philadelphia Summer Championships, Skate 
Detroit, Glacier Falls and the Lake Placid Ice Dance Championships. At these competitions, athletes were given sessions 
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on nutrition, mental training, dance classes and on-ice monitoring with national and international officials. Additionally, 
athletes named to the AHPDP were sent documents distributed by the USOC to help them prepare and plan for their season. 
The tracking of these emerging athletes allowed the Athlete High Performance Department to ensure athletes were given the 
appropriate resources and improved communication on their road to success. Being named to the AHPDP included access 
to Peter Zapalo, sports science and medicine director, and the sports science and medicine group, as well the opportunity to 
work with Frank Carroll and other contracted specialists identified by U.S. Figure Skating.

The AHPDP is beneficial to the U.S. because by expanding the number of athletes at an earlier age, the Athlete High 
Performance Department can provide them with opportunities and resources to be successful sooner. Also, by capturing 
these athletes sooner, we can transition the athletes and expose them to programs with the ISP and Team USA athletes to 
foster future success in international competitions. Many athletes graduated from the AHPDP and into the ISP this past 
season, and we look forward to this program resulting in medals for Team USA.

With the support of the International Committee, the Athlete High Performance Department was given permission to select 
athletes to perform in developmental competitions and camps around the world. This resulted in sending out an all advanced 
novice team to an international competition. Three novice ladies competed at Golden Bear last October. These athletes 
were not in the ISP and do not qualify for the ISP because of age or level, but they were in the AHPDP. The Athlete High 
Performance Department established criteria to assign these novice athletes to various events. Example criteria for singles 
athletes in 2016-17:

•	 Eligible for the 2017-18 competitive season as a junior age-eligible athlete
•	 Qualify with a score of 140 or higher at any U.S. domestic nonqualifying competition in the current season
•	 Executed a triple triple jump combination in either the short or long program and or both a triple flip and triple Lutz
•	 Must be currently competing at either the novice or junior level
•	 Must be registered to compete at this year’s U.S. qualifying structure at either the novice or junior level
•	 Must be eligible for ISU’s advanced novice level (at least 10 and not have reached 15 by July 1, 2016)

In addition to the Golden Bear competition, U.S. Figure Skating attended the NRW Trophy, Bavarian Open and Challenge 
Cup. In the 2017-18 season, U.S. Figure Skating is looking to attend the Asian Open Trophy for the first time. The goal is to 
expose our young athletes to a strong field of competitors and provide them with a platform to demonstrate resilience and 
consistency in a very competitive field.

The 2016 U.S. novice pairs champions, who are not age eligible for international competition until next season, attended 
a pairs seminar in Sochi, Russia. This was a great opportunity to be exposed to an international level of figure skating that 
otherwise would not have been a possibility until later.
 
Additionally in the 2017-18 season, U.S. Figure Skating will attend the annual ISU dance seminar in Germany. This will 
be an educational opportunity to developing athletes and coaches as well as expose them to an international environment 
without the pressure of being placed in a competition and maximize their potential. Transparent criteria are being developed 
to attend the dance camp, and notification will be given once the criteria are established.

Over the past several months, the Athlete High Performance Department has been busy organizing and planning for 28 
different U.S. teams competing internationally for the 2016-17 season. As of March 1, Team USA had earned 23 gold 
medals, 29 silver medals, and 29 bronze medals at international competitions. Highlights include Grand Prix Final medals 
by Nathan Chen (silver) and, Maia Shibutani/Alex Shibutani (bronze) as well as Four Continents medals by Nathan Chen 
(gold), Maia Shibutani/Alex Shibutani (silver), Madison Chock/Evan Bates (bronze), and Mirai Nagasu (bronze).

The International Committee Nomination and Selection Meetings held during the 2017 Prudential U.S. Figure Skating 
Championships followed the format that has been used for the past few seasons. Information such as ISU minimum score 
qualifiers, age eligibility lists, Grand Prix reports and Junior Grand Prix reports were distributed to each member on a flash 
drive. The International Committee also followed specific selection procedures in order to select the most competitive teams 
for ISU Championship events. The committee reviewed a series of events in a tiered priority order that included results from 
the 2017 U.S. Championships as well as additional international results.

The Athlete High Performance Department conducted several camps, seminars and programs during the 2016-17 season. 
Highlights on each program are listed below:

“Jump On It!” was introduced in 2016 and focused on jumps and jump technique. The camp was a tremendous success. 
There were more than 100 participants, with a waiting list of more than 40 athletes ranging from juvenile to junior. Some 
of the most accomplished coaches in the country taught a three-day clinic (one day for coaches only, and two days with 
coaches and athletes). The camp included an opening speech from World Team member Max Aaron as well as Team USA 
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volunteers and jump presenters. Each coach brought one athlete to showcase their teaching technique. This athlete was 
used for demonstration and then later to help the participants in the class or to answer questions by the observing coaches. 
In addition to the on-ice instruction, there were off-ice classes on the spinner as well as classes with judges, and a quad 
class discussion with Mitch Moyer and Rafael Arutyunyan. Parent education was also offered with a number of seminars, 
observation opportunities and Q&A periods that added value to the weekend.

“On The Rise” was offered this season to singles and pairs athletes with nearly 100 participants. This program has been in 
place for many years, and with the assistance of Stefanie Mathewson (Athlete Development Committee chair) the program 
will be evaluated and possibly restructured in the future. With the desire to increase the usage and add value to the program, 
redesigning this program to reach out to more athletes and officials will be the goal.

The Novice and Junior Challenge Skate continues to be a success with more than 80 athletes participating in the international 
simulated competition in Salt Lake City. Skaters are led by discipline-specific team leaders and are provided with a week 
full of programming and seminars in addition to competing. This year the programs included a tour of the judging stand, a 
seminar with Jacqui White (mother of Olympic gold medalist Charlie White), GOE and IJS games led by the team leaders, 
as well as nutrition seminars and a dynamic warm-up hosted by Peter Zapalo. Offered to athletes, coaches and parents, the 
week is packed with activities. Structured viewing opportunities to cheer on Team USA athletes who are competing at the 
U.S. International Classic are also included as part of the experience of the Challenge Skate. 
 
A Sectional Pair Monitoring Program was available to all athletes who competed in pairs at their respective sectionals. 
These teams were eligible to sign up for a critique at the event and receive feedback from one judge and one member of the 
technical panel. The critique requires a lot of support from our officials and volunteers, and the Athlete High Performance 
Department is appreciative of the willingness to serve this ongoing program which reached more than 100 participants. The 
feedback was very positive for the coaches’ and athletes’ development and the future of pair skating.

“Future U.” was dedicated to the lower levels at the 2017 U.S. Figure Skating Championships. Juvenile and intermediate 
athletes were given the opportunity to participate in a one-day seminar. Seventy-five participating athletes gathered the day 
after their events for a social breakfast and a speech by Olympic silver medalist and U.S. ice dance champion Tanith White. 
After a group photo for SKATING magazine, the athletes attended a boots and blades seminar, nutrition seminar, a mock 
judging of the novice events and practice sessions, an on-ice skating skills class taught by Tanith White, and the debut of 
U.S. Figure Skating’s National Team Dynamic Warm-Up. Athletes also received a commemorative shirt to recognize and 
promote the event.

In addition to Future U., a High Performance Education Series was conducted primarily for the novice and junior athletes 
at the U.S. Figure Skating Championships. The series included presentations by Dr. Caroline Silby on “Games Skaters 
Play: Understanding the Power of Your Mind,” Mitch Moyer, Brandon Siakel and John Coughlin on Boots and Blades, 
Peter Zapalo on “Creating a Championship Warm-Up: Mobility, Stability & Neuromuscular Activation,” and Sarah Weber 
on “Developing Nutrition Success.” In addition, more than 20 one-on-one mental training sessions were provided by Dr. 
Caroline Silby. The USOC’s Dr. Alex Cohen attended practices and performances at the venue. Also, 20 assigned one-on-
one nutrition sessions were provided by Sarah Weber and Carrie Banner Aprik for ISP athletes.

The first World Junior Singles Camp was conducted for athletes assigned to the 2017 World Junior Figure Skating 
Championships, and the alternates in the singles discipline were required to attend the two-day mandatory camp in Chicago 
as well. This inaugural event had athletes performing their short and long programs in a simulated competition environment 
with judges and technical panel officials. The camp included training sessions, on-ice and off-ice critiques, and consistency 
drills. Alternates were provided an incentive to continue their training, and it also provided an opportunity for our top 
junior athletes to skate amongst each other rather than receive a monitoring session in isolation. There is a great amount of 
potential with this camp in the future, and modifying the competitive culture with this level of singles athletes is a primary 
focus.

The Athlete High Performance Department planned and coordinated the 2016 Champs Camp in Colorado Springs, held 
from August 20-24. Champs Camp opened with inspirational words from keynote speakers and 2014 Olympic gold 
medalists Meryl Davis and Charlie White. Champs Camp included a simulated competition environment, on-ice program 
critiques, packaging meetings, mental training, pre-participation physical evaluations, blood evaluation/DXA scan, sport 
performance nutrition and recovery, media training, cooking classes at the Olympic Training Center and team building. 
This year, all disciplines combined their program critiques and on-ice technical feedback sessions into two hour-long on-
ice sessions working one-on-one with officials on each program. Additionally, Serge Onik from “So You Think You Can 
Dance” and “Dancing With the Stars” worked with all skaters either in group classes, one-on-one off-ice, or giving feedback 
with the officials during the on-ice critiques.
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Summer Team USA Camps were conducted for all ISP and AHPDP athletes/teams. These athletes/teams were eligible to 
attend one of the seven Summer Team USA Camps held at Pairs Camp, Dance Camp, High Performance Singles Camp, 
Philadelphia Summer Championships, Skate Detroit, Lake Placid Ice Dance Championships, and Glacier Falls Summer 
Classic. The skaters had the opportunity to perform their short and free programs, and participate in technical feedback 
sessions, pre-participation physical evaluations, mental training, and nutrition. All of these components to the camp help 
improve communication between U.S. Figure Skating staff and its athletes/coaches as well as assist the ISP skaters in 
fulfilling their Competition Readiness requirements.

The High Performance Singles Camp continued with the same format that was created last season for all ISP singles athletes 
not guaranteed an assignment at a Grand Prix event. The camp is designed by the Athlete High Performance Department 
to be a “mini Champs Camp.” The High Performance Singles Camp was held June 25-28 in Colorado Springs. Athletes 
participated in technical feedback sessions, pre-participation physical evaluations, mental training, nutrition, group lessons 
focusing on jumps, spins, and stroking, and S.T.A.R.S. testing.

Three mini camps for pairs were conducted in Fort Wayne, Detroit and Colorado Springs. The first camp was held in June 
in Fort Wayne and featured legendary Russian pairs coach Tamara Moskvina. This camp provided pair teams of all levels 
with the opportunity to receive feedback from officials and included on-ice and off-ice segments focusing on unison, side-
by-side elements and skating skills. A second camp was delivered at the conclusion of Skate Detroit. This camp was a 
follow-up for the ISP and AHPDP teams and focused on continued feedback from officials and improved unison, skating 
skills, jumping skills and other pair elements. Post Champs Camp, the Athlete High Performance Department planned and 
coordinated an additional Pairs Mini Camp held August 24-25. The pair teams at Champs Camp were in attendance. The 
Pairs Mini Camp included one-on-one lift consultations with Oleg Ouchakov and one-on-one jump lessons with Frank 
Carroll. In addition, on-ice spins and death spirals, turns, and stroking were also focused on during the additional two days. 
Frank Carroll attended all the camps to work on side-by-side jumping. In addition, Tamara Moskvina traveled to California, 
Colorado, Fort Wayne and Florida to mentor the ISP pair teams and their coaches for two weeks in June.

Each season the Athlete High Performance Department hosts a sports science and medicine focus group. The topic covered 
this past fall was Evidence Based Training and was held October 2-4. The focus group included more than 20 attendees to 
encompass all spectrums of ideas. Professionals ranged from physical therapists, physicians and technology professionals, as 
well as figure skating coaches and athlete representatives. Presented topics included the injury prevention movement screen, 
relating S.T.A.R.S. testing to competitive results, managing the injured athlete, and mental training. Open collaborations 
between medical, coaching/psychology and technology groups were held. Information received from the focus group 
will assist the Athlete High Performance Department in streamlining the S.T.A.R.S. program and implementing the High 
Performance Movement Screen at combines.

At the 2015-16 Sports Science Summit, one of the subgroups headed by Peter Zapalo, Fred Workman and Sherrie Ballentine 
identified the need for further education and information to be available to all U.S. Figure Skating athletes addressing injury, 
seeking care, and return to play. As a result of this summit, a new CER — “Injury and Return to Play” — and a new tab on 
U.S. Figure Skating Online titled “Dealing with Injury” were produced.

The annual Elite Coaches Track at the PSA Conference was conducted in May 2016. The elite track included presentations 
on IJS updates, a 2015-16 year in review and a PyeongChang preview, a two-year strategy from the USOC perspective, 
analyzing performance and developing your IJS strategy, evaluating your off-ice training program, building stability to 
enhance power, developing a performance readiness plan, the state of the injury, “looking thin,” and a USOC national team 
coach education leadership program panel.

In 2017, the Athlete High Performance Department will conduct an Elite Trainer Track in conjunction with the Elite Coaches 
Track at the PSA Conference. This track will offer elite trainers in strength and conditioning who are working with ISP 
athletes an opportunity to attend presentations for the elite coaches and other specific presentations designed specifically for 
athletic trainers in figure skating. In 2017 the focus will be on the seasonal plan for 2018, particularly on the athletes most 
likely to be on the 2018 Olympic team. Brandon Siakel from the USOC will attend and lead some of the trainer workshops.

The athlete high performance database is currently developing additional modules to enhance the Athlete High Performance 
Department. Updates include athlete comparison reports and a new International Committee tab to help International 
Committee members communicate about specific athletes. Additionally, the department has implemented a daily Athlete 
Wellness Survey in order to track athlete wellness and injury prevention in the future. 

These are many of the programs that have been in the pipeline since the last Governing Council. More programs, including 
Program Components Camp, the second annual Jump On It! camp featuring Japanese coach Mie Hamada, and the proposal 
of the new program components structure, are in the final planning stages and will be presented in the coming months.
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In addition to the athlete programs, sports science and medicine initiatives are also provided by the Athlete High Performance 
Department. The sports science and medicine projects that have been completed in the last quarter or planned for the spring 
and summer include:

•	 Rollout of the High Performance Movement Screen (HPMS) in conjunction with S.T.A.R.S.
•	 Launch of revised S.T.A.R.S. program; educational focus for 2017: dynamic warm-up and “Nutrition throughout 

the Season” seminar
•	 Launch of new website section “Dealing with Injury” on U.S. Figure Skating Online (www.usfigureskating.org)
•	 Recovery nutrition support at key competitions
•	 High-speed video support at key competitions and high-speed video distribution at the 2017 PSA Conference
•	 Elite trainer track at PSA Conference
•	 Continued introduction of spinner technology at rinks throughout the country
•	 Planning for sports science and medicine services at the 2018 Olympic Winter Games
•	 Athlete seasonal planning for 2017-18 season
•	 Continued athlete wellness tracking in conjunction with the USOC

In 2017, the Athlete High Performance Department will launch the “High Performance Movement Screen” (HPMS). A soft 
launch of the movement screen was conducted in 2016 at all the major ISP summer camps. The movement screen was also 
piloted at Champs Camp and with the synchronized ISP athletes in the fall of 2016 to prepare them for the 2017 ISU World 
Synchronized Skating Championships. This screen is composed of six peer-reviewed and validated functional movement 
tests with the goal of identifying risk of injury and providing intervention to coaches and athletes to correct fundamental 
movement issues before injury can occur. In 2017, the HPMS will be available to all ISP athletes in the season and will be 
available to all U.S. Figure Skating members who are at least six years old and have passed their pre-preliminary moves in 
the field test; this will be administered at a limited number of S.T.A.R.S. combines at an additional cost to those interested 
in learning more about injury risk.

Participating athletes will receive a detailed report flagging areas of concern and will also have instruction on effective 
warm-up techniques for stability and mobility taught by HPMS assessors. Feedback will be available both in written and 
in video formats.

S.T.A.R.S. has grown over the years as a means of recognizing and rewarding excellence in athleticism in developing 
skaters. S.T.A.R.S. is a system of off-ice fitness assessment and development designed to support U.S. Figure Skating’s 
existing testing and competition progressions. Its development is based primarily on the need to promote robust, all-around 
fitness in young American skaters; to push and maintain the athletic ability curve ahead of the skills curve; to ensure that 
young figure skaters are physically prepared to handle the introduction of new, more complex and more demanding skating 
skills; and to reduce the potential for injury typically sustained during the training of these new skills.

Besides the launch of the HPMS at key S.T.A.R.S. combines in 2017, several revisions have been made to the testing 
protocol with the following goals: 1) make the test results more relevant to skating performance, as verified by several 
internal statistical studies; 2) streamline the testing day, leaving more time for education; 3) reducing the number of 
assessors and space needed for testing, thus making the S.T.A.R.S. program more cost effective. In 2017, S.T.A.R.S. will 
be offered in 25+ cities.

The planned educational theme of S.T.A.R.S. for the 2017 season is “Nutrition throughout the Season” and focuses on how 
an athlete’s fueling changes based on his/her daily training load and the time of year. This education was developed with 
the current needs and goals of the Athlete High Performance Department. Additionally, filming was completed in the fall of 
2016 detailing a dynamic warm-up that is similar to what the USOC is using with our high performance athletes; this will 
be taught at all S.T.A.R.S. combines in 2017 and is also available online.

The Athlete High Performance Department provided recovery plans, recovery services (nutrition and NormaTec) and 
environmental safety planning and intervention for athletes competing internationally through the 2016-17 competition 
season.

Environmental challenges were particularly tough in China (not unusual) with both athletes and support staff dealing with 
illness and air pollution related issues. A continuing collaboration between our knowledgeable team leaders and the medical 
support staff traveling with the teams is necessary to stay ahead of these types of issues.

High-speed video was used throughout the fall competition season with coaches and athletes and was distributed (per 
athlete) to each coach at the conclusion of each competition. Competition videos are a constant work in progress as they are 
collected and uploaded to each athlete’s Ex3 account for review. In addition, these videos are used for coaches’ education.
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Installation and validation of spinners continues throughout the country through a second-party vendor. The spinner is a 
mechanical device that consists of a motorized rotating platform that can rotate the skater at speeds approaching what they 
need to achieve to do advanced triples and quad jumps. This device can be used for proprioception exercises as well. Similar 
technology has been used for several years in Russia at both developmental and elite levels. The intention of the device is to 
increase body awareness, improve the vestibular system and improve performance and safety versus repeated failed jump 
attempts on the ice. U.S. Figure Skating will continue to work with the technology resources at the USOC to validate the 
spinner.

The Athlete High Performance Department and the USOC, through Brandon Siakel, are involved in working with the 
athletes’ support staff on planning and tracking athletes in identified metrics. Based on the work from the 2014 Sports 
Science and Medicine Summit, Athlete High Performance and Ex3 collaborated to create a daily athlete wellness tracking 
survey which was launched in August 2015. The purpose of this daily athlete survey is to better track and understand ISP 
athletes’ productivity, to enhance communication between athletes, coaches and headquarters, and to head off injuries 
before they occur or in the early stages.

In collaboration with Siakel and the USOC, a modified version of the athlete wellness survey is being used with the World 
Team athletes under Siakel’s purview to assist in monitoring their training loads. The Athlete High Performance Department 
will work closely with the ISP athletes and in particular the 2018 Olympic Team hopefuls and their coaches to complete 
seasonal planning and tracking going into the 2017-18 season along with supporting Brandon Siakel’s continued work with 
athletes and coaches on seasonal planning and monitoring training loads.

I would like to thank the chairs of the committees with which the Athlete High Performance Department works during the 
season to serve our organization. It takes a village to implement the programs from the department, and the timeless energy 
and assistance from U.S. Figure Skating’s volunteer base is greatly appreciated. I would like to thank Lorrie Parker, Athlete 
Services Group coordinator, for her insight and dedication to our athletes. In addition, I would also like to acknowledge 
the USOC and the PSA for their financial support as well as their commitment to produce the highest quality athletes and 
coaches in figure skating. Finally, I would like to recognize my staff in the Athlete High Performance Department for their 
tireless effort and dedication to create a team that is committed to excellence in providing our organization with the best 
resources to enhance the performance of our athletes. 

Marketing and Communications – Ramsey Baker, Senior Director
SPONSORSHIP/TV
We are closing out our tenth season with NBC as our TV partner, a relationship that extends through the end of the 2017-18 
season, and our ninth season with Van Wagner Sports, who works with us daily to cultivate and sell U.S. Figure Skating 
national sponsorship packages and TV ad inventory, and partners with us on various business ventures, including the Team 
Challenge Cup that is scheduled to take place for the second time in the Spring of 2018.

The 2016-17 season has been record-setting for U.S. Figure Skating’s relationship with NBC Universal. There were more 
than 150 hours of coverage of the ISU Grand Prix, U.S. Championships, European Championships, Four Continents 
Championships, World Championships and World Team Trophy across NBC, NBCSN and UniHD. Combined with the 
access available to icenetwork subscribers, more skating was available to more fans in the United States than ever before.

Prudential will continue as the title sponsor of the U.S. Figure Skating Championships through the 2018 season, and initial 
discussions about a renewal of our relationship have already begun. In addition to sponsoring the championships, Prudential 
continued to help fund the development of the on-air scoring bug graphic used during NBC telecasts. They also made a 
significant financial commitment to the enhancement of Skate Radio and the development of a new icenetwork app for iOS 
devices, which includes access to Skate Radio. Prudential once again funded the Prudential Skating Fund, a program that 
supports new and existing skating programs that service under-served populations in the sport.

Smucker’s will continue their long-standing relationships with U.S. Figure Skating through the 2018 season, entitling the 
Skating Spectacular and helping to support the Destination PyeongChang Family Tree Program through a seed gift and 
hashtag promotional campaign launched at U.S. Championships.

Progressive served this past season as the title sponsor of Skate America for the second consecutive year, and discussions 
regarding a long-term extension will take place this summer. With long-term relationships secured with Consumer Cellular, 
P&G and Viking, the focus with these partners over the summer will be on activation planning for the important Olympic 
season.

Lumber Liquidators is reinvesting in figure skating and joined the national sponsor slate this past season, and discussions 
are underway about the future of their relationships with the sport. 
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Announced this past March, Toyota has joined U.S. Figure Skating’s list of world class partners, agreeing on a multi-year 
deal that will see them support the sport at every level. As title sponsors of Learn to Skate USA, Toyota will help promote 
skating to those just getting started, while simultaneously supporting Team USA’s efforts at the highest levels of competition.

United Airlines continued as a partner of the USOC and, through their special NGB program, as a supplier to U.S. Figure 
Skating, providing value-in-kind (VIK) travel credit based on ticket buying habits by the organization and our members 
traveling to our sanctioned events. The United program represents approximately $65,000 in travel savings each year 
through earned certificates and VIK. Hilton’s relationship with the USOC and U.S. Figure Skating expired on Dec. 31, 
2016, and we are currently working to secure a new partner in the hotel category.

Main Event continues as a key supplier for U.S. Figure Skating, providing all promotional items while administrating the 
online store for U.S. Figure Skating and Learn to Skate USA and the event merchandise program at Skate America, the 
U.S. Figure Skating Championships, the U.S. Synchronized Championships and the World Synchronized Championships, 
in addition to many other qualifying and nonqualifying figure skating events throughout the year. As an official licensed 
retailer of Team USA merchandise, Main Event can sell Team USA gear at our events, increasing inventory and generating 
increased sales. Our affinity credit card program with U.S. Bank Visa will continue for the next year as well.

MARKETING/COMMUNITY RELATIONS
U.S. Figure Skating’s Get Up campaign officially launched with an appearance by Scott Hamilton on the Today Show on 
Friday, October 21. The campaign will run through the end of the 2017-18 season.

The culmination of more than two years of research and planning, the campaign’s objective is to increase exposure for 
and broaden the appeal of the sport of figure skating in the United States, not only attracting new skaters, but also growing 
viewership and on-site audiences at premier competitions. In doing so, U.S. Figure Skating seeks to create an internal and 
external cultural shift — to neutralize misperceptions that inhibit figure skating trial and ongoing participation and clearly 
define figure skating’s unique place in the world of sport.

The Get Up campaign is engaging parents who are looking for extracurricular activities for their kids, kids and adults 
looking for activities and healthy lifestyle options, fans of the sport and general population who are open to the sport of 
figure skating, but are not actively engaged.

Through intensive research, U.S. Figure Skating identified key attitudes and obstacles that it could address through a 
marketing and brand awareness campaign, including; awareness, if a parent hasn’t skated, unlikely they will introduce their 
child to skating; proximity to a skating facilities, often perceived; misconceptions about figure skating, including those 
related to gender, cost, opportunity, consideration as a sport, etc.; and the need to overcome the misunderstanding that 
skating is artistic and athletic, but not something that develops personal attributes that can be applied off the ice.

Throughout the campaign, our goal is to engage people, helping them to go through a process of envisioning figure skating 
under new light, but most importantly looking through a lens that is relevant to them personally. We want them to:

Think:
•	 Kids: Skating gives me freedom to express myself, to grow and to belong to a group
•	 Parents: Skating is fun and gives my child valuable life lessons in personal growth, self-expression and social 

belonging
•	 Fan/general population: The “perfect” you see on the ice is earned; there is a backstory to each skater, and their effort 

is inspirational.
Do:

•	 Kids: Give skating a try, give it more time
•	 Parents: Consider skating and encourage kids to try it (or try it themselves)
•	 Adults: Give skating a try as they explore ways to live a healthy lifestyle and/or experience a new challenge
•	 Fan/general population: Engage with figure skating across various platforms, attend events, support

Feel:
•	 A sense of freedom. Skating is a sport which allows me/my child to express ourselves and gives me/them a sense of 

belonging.
•	 A sense of inspiration. Skating is a sport that celebrates qualities we can all be proud of and believe in — characteristics 

that make us believe we can take on challenges that may seem too tough to overcome.

How do we measure success? Our key performance indicators will be looked at through lenses of long-term (membership 
growth); mid-term (Learn to Skate USA participation) and short-term (conversation/voice around figure skating and change 
in gen-pop receptiveness and TV ratings; trial of sport).
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U.S. Figure Skating Brand Essence, which is not our public facing message, but how we feel about and see ourselves as an 
organization is “Be Your Own Superhero.” This is not about cartoons and capes; this is about the strength in all of us. Figure 
skating can help find and foster that strength.

The Get Up campaign manifesto, the guiding light that we will follow throughout the campaign is: Everyone falls on ice 
skates, even experienced skaters; It’s the response to falling that makes all the difference. Having the courage, determination, 
and stamina to just get up, dust yourself off, and try again is a lesson that’s as valuable off the ice as it is on. This campaign 
illustrates the character-building qualities of the sport and inspires people to be fearless inside and outside the rink.

Throughout the Get Up campaign we hope to inspire those who join our movement to take on life’s challenges with renewed 
vigor, whether they are a figure skater, a football player, a student, a parent, a professional…it doesn’t matter where you 
are in life’s journey, it is about Getting Up when you get knocked down. We all fall. It’s how we get up that matters. The 
campaign features skaters from across the country who were selected from a nationwide talent search. Team USA will also 
be featured prominently in the campaign and on WeGetUp.com as we encourage them to share their Get Up moments, both 
on and off the ice.

One of the key moments so far during the campaign has been the Get Up KC program that tied the campaign into the Kansas 
City market during the U.S. Championships and allowed for recognition of great Get Up stories from the region.

Similarly, National Get Up Day was established as February 1, and recognized on the National Day Calendar, and attributed 
to U.S. Figure Skating. An opportunity to share inspiring stories of perseverance; National Get Up Day was a reminder 
to pick ourselves up when we’ve fallen and give it (whatever it may be) another go. February 1 marks the official end of 
National Skating Month (January), when rinks across the country bring communities together to experience the joys and 
benefits of skating. One of the first lessons every figure skater learns is how to fall and to get back up. National Get Up Day 
isn’t just about skating, though. It’s about celebrating that Get Up spirit that applies to every aspect of life and inspiring 
others through stories, pictures, videos and social media. The day reminds all of us to Get Up when we stumble. We never 
know when our efforts to seek a goal or overcome an obstacle will encourage another to do the same. Founded to be a legacy 
component of the Get Up campaign, National Get Up Day saw tremendous success and engagement and will be celebrated 
each February 1 moving forward.

WeGetUp.com is the home of the campaign and will anchor all communication and be the destination for ad-driven traffic 
across all forms of media — paid, owned and earned. Get Up is all about being fearless in the face of falling, and we 
encourage all U.S. Figure Skating members to #GetUp and join the movement.

In addition to focusing on Get Up and the many various elements of the campaign, the Marketing and Communications 
Department saw great success in engaging and giving back to host cities of our major events and continues to establish and 
strengthen partnerships for the 2017-18 season.

2016 Progressive Skate America returned to Hoffman Estates, Illinois, for the second time in three years. The event 
saw renewed engagement and success through partnerships with community organizations. Extensive coverage by The 
Daily Herald across every platform (print, social and digital media) gave the event the local platform needed to generate 
enthusiasm and awareness within the Chicagoland area about the event and our participating athletes. Continuing our 
local U.S. Figure Skating member involvement and retention programs, we teamed up with the Skating Council of Illinois 
and Kerry Murphy to encourage local skaters to participate in a group number during the Smucker’s Skating Spectacular. 
More than 200 skaters from over 20 local clubs performed at Skate America. For the first time, ever, our team invested in 
geo-targeted advertising with Pandora. The geo-targeting was set based on 2014 ticket sales information and purchaser zip 
code. The campaign ran for nearly four weeks and saw a successful return on investment with a higher than average click 
through rate when compared to other advertisers with similar marketing tactics. We look forward to using new media and 
advertising platforms to continue increasing ticket sales for our major events.

Likewise in Kansas City, Missouri, creating local community ties and educating the general public locally was integral to 
our overall ticket sales strategy. Thanks to partnerships with Kansas City Star and local NBC affiliate, KSHB, we received 
more than 236 spots (70.8 hours) of television coverage including live interviews with Ashley Wagner (August) and Brian 
Boitano (October). During the week of the event, both media partners also helped with extensive pre-competition coverage 
and special event coverage at SkateFest at Hallmark’s Crown Center Ice Terrace, a special Championships Happy Hour 
hosted by Brian Boitano and more. Hallmark Crown Center was the Local Presenting Partner as well as the sponsor of the 
Opening Ceremony. Through this partnership, we hosted a SkateFest that allowed nearly 100 young and mostly new skaters 
to try ice skating for the first time. Hallmark Crown Center also donated 1,000 “Itty Bittys” to attendees to toss on the ice. 
Itty Bitty’s were later donated to a local Children’s Hospital.
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Looking forward to the 2017-18 season, our Marketing and Communications Department will continue to push the envelope 
looking for new ways to integrate our events locally to make a splash in each community we visit. Our focus is to formulate 
a comprehensive plan to develop strong media partnerships coupled with community initiatives and relationships to drive 
awareness and strong ticket sales for the events. 2017 Skate America will take place in the familiar location of Lake Placid, 
New York, a bit later in the Grand Prix season, which will help to build momentum being the final competition before the 
Grand Prix Final. The 2018 Prudential U.S. Figure Skating Championships will also be returning to a familiar city, San Jose, 
California, where the event was hosted in 2012. Building off the momentum that USA Gymnastics brought to the city less 
than a year ago prior to the Rio Olympic Games, our team’s preparations are in full swing with the SAP Center to create an 
unforgettable event as we prepare for the PyeongChang 2018 Olympic Winter Games.

Our marketing team will close out the 2016-17 season with a fourth consecutive year partnering with the Stars on Ice Tour. 
U.S. Figure Skating will join Stars on Ice 2017 in six out of the seven tour stops in the United States in May 2017 with six 
club programs, one SkateFest and three U.S. synchronized skating teams as “Special Guests” in various cities for the first 
time in Stars on Ice history. Up to 40 skaters will participate in each of the club programs in major cities including: Hershey, 
Pennsylvania, Chicago, Anaheim and San Jose, California, and Seattle and Wenatchee, Washington.

COMMUNICATIONS
The communications team works with local, national and international media to fulfill interview requests, pitch story ideas, 
write and edit press releases, media guides and other official organizational information, and collaborate on event-specific 
marketing/communications plans with the marketing team. Team USA athletes and the organization continue to receive 
placements in lifestyle, news and sports publications.

Director of Communications Renee Felton left U.S. Figure Skating in February to pursue a new opportunity with the 
American Red Cross, but through promotion of Mimi McKinnis and Michael Terry, and the hiring of Sora Hwang, our 
communications team is strong and poised for a busy Olympic season.

At least one member of the U.S. Figure Skating communications staff is on site for all major events, including the U.S. 
International Classic and Challenge Skate, Skate America, the ISU Grand Prix Final, the U.S. Figure Skating Championships, 
the U.S. Synchronized Championships, the ISU World Championships and the U.S. Adult Championships. This year, as 
the host organizer for the 2017 ISU World Synchronized Skating Championships, U.S. Figure Skating will lead all press 
operations for the event, which features 19 nations.

While roles vary at these events, the focus is local and national media outreach, content creation for social media platforms, 
the U.S. Figure Skating Fan Zone, U.S. Figure Skating Online and icenetwork, and SKATING magazine.

A great deal of prep this summer will go into working with athletes and preparing for Champs Camp, where the 
communications team will work closely with Team USA on areas ranging from preparing for an interview to a personal 
audit and review of each individual athlete’s social media. Because of these efforts, U.S. Figure Skating athletes continue 
to be among the best-prepared athletes when dealing with the media, receiving alerts and advice regarding touchy topics 
well in advance of events or interviews.

The communications team has worked closely with the USOC on the topics of SafeSport, Diversity and Inclusion and is 
on working committees for the future U.S. Olympic Museum (tentative opening 2019, Colorado Springs), USOC Women’s 
Network and the USOC LGBTQ Employee Resource Group.

Event Support and Promotion
The communications team continues to work closely with U.S. Figure Skating events and marketing staff and respective 
local organizing committees to promote domestic events. During the 2016-17 season, advanced work was done in suburban 
Chicago/Hoffman Estates for Skate America and the Greater Kansas City region for the 2017 Prudential U.S. Figure Skating 
Championships.

In addition to helping promote the kickoff of the 2016-17 Grand Prix Series at Skate America, Olympic champion Scott 
Hamilton also stepped into the spokesman role for the Get Up campaign. Scott’s appearance on the NBC Today Show put 
the sport in a positive spotlight while sharing the virtues of the campaign.

Former champions Ryan Bradley and John Coughlin, natives of Kansas City, made multiple trips to help promote the U.S. 
Championships. Both also performed in the opening ceremony.

Olympic champion Brian Boitano continues to lend his celebrity and support in promoting events in partnership with the 
communications and marketing team. At the 2017 U.S. Championships, Brian hosted a very successful happy hour at a local 
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club in the Power and Light District, and crafted his own signature cocktail for the event. Promotional work has already 
begun for the 2017-18 events, including 2017 Skate America in Lake Placid and 2018 U.S. Championships in San Jose.

Team USA Olympic Prep
The run-up to the Olympic season officially started February 8-9, and U.S. Figure Skating athletes were at the forefront. 
In Colorado Springs, Alexa Scimeca-Knierim and Chris Knierim were the featured Olympic hopefuls and addressed 500 
people at the Governor’s State of the State recap. In New York City, Gracie Gold was among several 2014 Olympians who 
made multiple appearances at the One Year Out event. 

On April 27, the communications team will work with 15 U.S. Figure Skating Olympic hopefuls during the two-day NBC/
USOC Olympic Promotional Photoshoots, known in the Olympic world as the “West Hollywood Shoot.” U.S. Figure 
Skating will once again have one of the largest contingents of hopefuls attend the event.

In late September, the communications team will work at the Team USA Media Summit in Park City, Utah, the last major 
mass gathering of athletes and journalists covering the Olympics before the Games in PyeongChang begin.

Learn to Skate USA
Since its launch on June 1, Learn to Skate USA has enhanced the highly acclaimed Basic Skills Program operationally and 
has grown exponentially on the communication front with expanded efforts at the national and grass-roots levels. A recap of 
the overall communications efforts regarding Learn to Skate USA is outlined within the earlier membership report.

Furthermore, over the holiday season, Learn to Skate USA worked with Skate in the Park to bring SkateFest back to Colorado 
Springs, Colorado. A promotional SkateFest took place December 10 in Acacia Park, downtown Colo rado Springs’ seasonal 
outdoor ice rink. The event included three sessions with free lessons from certified instructors, free skate use and free ice 
time. It also featured a first-of-its-kind skating session designated specifically for therapeutic recreational skating, a program 
designed for participants with physical, intellectual or developmental disabilities. World silver medalist Ashley Wagner 
made a special appearance, posing for photos and signing autographs with members of the Colorado Springs community. 
In all, the event introduced around 125 skaters to the ice, almost none of whom had a previous skating background. The 
event generated coverage in the local media, appearing in the Colorado Springs Gazette and on local Fox and CBS affiliates. 

The program also established paid media campaigns through a partnership with marketing agency Vladimir Jones, driving 
awareness and web traffic nationwide. Throughout the month of January, Learn to Skate USA registrations saw a 108 percent 
month-over-month increase as a direct result of paid media campaigns, primarily driven by paid search optimization, and 
direct and organic traffic to LearnToSkateUSA.com. Over the course of the month, the program welcomed more than 4,000 
new members in paid media markets and generated more than two million online impressions through advertisements, web 
banners and YouTube videos.

On March 14, as stated earlier, Learn to Skate USA announced a multi-year partnership with Toyota, joining U.S. Figure 
Skating, USA Hockey and US Speedskating on team Toyota as the prominent brand moves toward the 2018 Olympic 
Winter Games. Toyota will work with all three National Governing Bodies and Learn to Skate USA through multimedia, 
social channels, major events and grass-roots outreach to develop and promote skating across the country. 

Social Media
U.S. Figure Skating social media accounts have continued to see increased reach, with accounts growing more than 12 
percent since May 2015. Our Facebook page has more than 150,000 “likes.” Our Twitter account, which has more than 
75,000 followers, is up 10 percent from last year. Most impressively, our Instagram account, which targets a much younger 
demographic, has grown nearly 45 percent since last year and now boasts 70,000 subscribers. Overall, U.S. Figure Skating 
has almost half a million subscribers among our social media accounts, marking a 10 percent improvement since May 2016. 
We expect even greater growth during the Olympic season.

Several social media campaigns have connected with fans over the past season. In addition to our largest campaigns around 
#SkateAmerica and #USChamps17, #SummerWithTeamUSA was an offseason campaign that gained a lot of attention. For 
the second consecutive season, Team USA pairs athlete Max Settlage created original artwork that fans were encouraged 
to cut out and take with them on vacation as they traveled domestically or abroad. Team USA athletes responded favorably 
and interacted with fans via social channels.

As anticipated, social engagement around #USChamps17 was one of our most successful. The event reached over 13 
million people, delivering the hashtag to Twitter timelines more than 150 million times. Particularly encouraging was 
the number of individuals who used the hashtag, which was more than 2,500 compared to 2016. Once again, U.S. Figure 
Skating partnered with Snapchat to have the event featured in one of Snapchat’s “Live Stories,” which reached millions of 
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people. U.S. Figure Skating’s Facebook page also debuted “#USChamps17 After Dark,” which was a live show hosted by 
Meryl Davis and Ryan Bradley, which was widely praised on social media.

The U.S. Figure Skating Fan Zone continues to be an effective and convenient way to add extra content between issues 
of SKATING magazine, share event-viewing information and offer short feature stories, club news and skating blogs. 
USFigureSkatingFanZone.com is averaging 300,000 visits per month.

As part of the extended communication efforts with Learn to Skate USA members and instructors, regular newsletters 
have been sent once a month, and weekly emails are sent to directors with constant updates about the program and new 
opportunities.

Four Learn to Skate USA SkateFests were administered as well, tapping into resources and staff support across multiple 
departments, working together to help promote the sport at the grass-roots level. The events were held in the following 
locations:

o Colorado Springs – December 11
	Outdoor rink partnership with Skate in the Park 
	Captured new footage and photos for social content and commercials; rinkboard signage for the entirety of 

the season
	Estimated attendance: 150 skaters/75 families

o New York City – January 11
	Bryant Park in association with National Skating Month
	Estimated attendance: 100 skaters

o Kansas City, Missouri – January 16
	In association with 2017 U.S. Championships
	Estimated attendance: 125 skaters/ 40-50 families

o New York City – January 31
	Bryant Park in association with National Skating Month
	Estimated Attendance: 100 skaters

World Skating Museum and Hall of Fame
Under the direction of the U.S. and World Hall of Fame Nominating Committees led by Larry Mondschein, the 
communications and marketing team acts as the executor and administrator of the two important Halls. This year, the U.S. 
Hall of Fame electors elected only one new member, coach Peter Burrows. Because this honor came posthumously and as 
the only inductee, Peter’s induction will take place at the 2018 Prudential U.S. Figure Skating Championships in San Jose. 
Results of the 2017 World Hall of Fame will be announced in early April (after press time).

Working with Athlete Development Department, the marketing and communications team spearheaded an update of the 
synchronized skating exhibit in the museum in time for the 2017 ISU World Synchronized Skating Championships in 
Colorado Springs. The new exhibit champions the development of figure skating’s fastest-growing discipline and heralds its 
American roots. More than 50 U.S. officials will attend a special reception in the museum during the World Synchronized 
Championships.

PUBLICATIONS
The 136-page event program at the U.S. Championships in Kansas City was well-received by fans, athletes and officials 
alike. Stories about the 1985 Championships in Kansas City, local honorary co-chairs Ryan Bradley and John Coughlin, and 
a feature on Kansas City’s own Aud Gillespie generated great response. The program was also posted on the FanZone site, 
so fans around the country not attending the event could see it.

This season featured one of the most-heralded editions of SKATING magazines. As a kickoff to the 2016-17 Grand Prix of 
Figure Skating Series, the communications team chose to put a spotlight on the athleticism and healthy lifestyles of Team 
USA for the October 2016 edition of SKATING. Athletes attending Champs Camp in August were invited to pose in their 
workout gear before portrait photographer Hans Rosemond, who captured the athletes in various states of off-ice training. 
The photographs pounded home the fact that figure skaters are indeed elite athletes. A photo of Tim Dolensky performing 
a hand press was chosen for the cover while many Team USA athletes were featured inside. In a campaign that extended 
onto the internet, the athletes shared workout tips, favorite snacks and motivational inspiration for readers and viewers 
of the U.S. Figure Skating FanZone. The accompanying videos drew more than 20,000 unique viewers. Using the social 
media hashtag #ShowMeHealthy, SKATING readers were encouraged to share their training journeys that were inspired 
by Team USA. The week-long campaign was a huge success on social media, and SKATING received much praise from 
member subscribers. The “Healthy” edition was handed out to journalists at 2016 Skate America and 2017 Prudential U.S. 
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Figure Skating Championships, who marveled at Team USA’s fitness level and agreed that these figure skaters are indeed 
world-class athletes. 

Timing is everything, and SKATING magazine’s cover story in November on Nathan Chen couldn’t have come at a more 
appropriate time. Titled “Driven,” the piece by Lynn Rutherford talked about the phenom’s quiet confidence and lofty goals 
entering his first senior Grand Prix season and the U.S. Championships. In December 2016, SKATING promoted U.S. 
Figure Skating’s popular “Get Up” campaign, with six of the sport’s biggest names on the cover. The campaign’s motto “We 
all fall. It’s how we get up that matters” has generated an incredible response from all over the nation. 

In February, SKATING celebrated the One Year Out anniversary of the 2018 Olympic Winter Games in PyeongChang, South 
Korea. Stories about the Olympic venues, villages and NBC’s plans were all profiled in this package. In March, SKATING 
delivered its post-event coverage of the U.S. Championships with a 92-page edition. From the championship level to the 
juvenile ranks, there was comprehensive coverage exclusive to the magazine. Of course, Nathan Chen’s remarkable free 
skate performance will make this issue a keepsake.

The magazine continues to evolve with the additions of Skate Shop — which features information from tech experts and 
product information from many of the magazine’s advertisers — and well-respected skating analyst Jackie Wong as a 
regular contributor. Wong provided his top 10 moments after the Kansas City championships, which were well received by 
readers.
 
SKATING magazine is also available as a digital edition on the website and on the U.S. Figure Skating Publications App. 
The SKATING Magazine Archive continues to be a great member and journalist resource and tool.

The Print on Demand Portal continues to provide access to members for rulebooks and directories.

As we wrap up March at the time of this publication, we are producing the 2017 ISU World Synchronized Skating 
Championships event program for the competition to be hosted in Colorado Springs in April.

DEVELOPMENT
Friends of Figure Skating
The development team experienced some great successes in the past year, starting with the Friends of Figure Skating (FOFS) 
program. As an annual giving program, it’s very important to cultivate FOFS members and help them understand how their 
support affects athletes and programs. With personal attention and new knowledge, often times members will respond by 
increasing their giving level. One such Friend had been giving at the $250 level when this past year, after learning more 
about the program during a phone call, the member donated $10,000, becoming only the second “Gold” level Friend.

After this year’s FOFS breakfast at the U.S. Championships in Kansas City, development sent out a survey to members. 
Of those responding, 90 percent indicated that they were pleased with the program, with 59 percent expressing they were 
extremely happy. Nearly 25 percent of those responding noted that they wished to increase their support of the program.

Annual Appeal/Memorial Fund
The 2016 Annual Appeal took a different approach this past year, choosing to feature less well known athletes with an 
eye toward the future. The mailing list was also closely vetted, cutting it down from 5,000 to 3,300 recipients this year. In 
addition to the mailing and per item cost savings, the Annual Appeal saw a 3 percent increase in giving. The Appeal shared 
the stories of World Junior Team athlete Starr Andrews and her mother, Toshawa; Nathan Chen, who had yet to win a senior 
event; and the Fort Dupont Figure Skating Club, with each story showcasing how a donation to the Memorial Fund benefits 
different programs.

The Memorial Fund also gave out $360,000 in scholarships to a record 194 awardees. There were 279 unique applications, 
with an awardee rate of 69 percent (up from 63 percent in 2015). There also was a 17 percent increase in applications (50 
total) to the Memorial Fund scholarships, as more skaters are aware of the program than ever before. The average Memorial 
Fund awardee was given $1,861.88 in funding to cover expenses related to their skating or academics. That’s something 
donors can be proud of.

Expressing Our Thanks
Our donors mean the world to us, prompting development to look for a new and thoughtful way to say “thank you” this 
season. We found just the right means with ThankView, a software program that allows U.S. Figure Skating to send a 
personal, customized expression using video and delivered in email. As an example, the Friend of Figure Skating member 
who donated $10,000 had mentioned that Max Aaron was a favorite skater. Max graciously recorded a personalized video, 
speaking directly to the donor, and the ThankView video was sent in minutes. Interestingly, this donor was traveling abroad, 
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and upon arrival opened the email to this very personalized surprise. Recently, Nathan Chen recorded a ThankView for 236 
donors to the Memorial Fund, many who contacted us to say how meaningful it was to receive a thank you directly from an 
athlete. U.S. Figure Skating is the first NGB to use this software.

Destination PyeongChang Program
For 2017-18, the Destination PyeongChang Program and Family Tree will be development’s biggest initiatives, as we 
pledge to raise a total of $120,000 to help offset the costs of our Olympic Team members’ families as they arrange travel 
to Korea only three weeks after the Olympic Team is named in San Jose. Destination PyeongChang officially kicks off at 
Governing Council with a presentation and the opportunity for delegates to be the first in the nation to support the program 
through donations or the early purchase of a Destination PyeongChang T-shirt.

Events – Bob Dunlop, Senior Director
The 2015-16 competition season was another excellent events season highlighted by a very strong group of host clubs with 
years of experience hosting the qualifying competitions. Special thank you to the many volunteers and clubs in Kansas and 
Missouri that supported the successful return of the U.S. Figure Skating Championships to Kansas City after last hosting 
in 1985!

The season ended with U.S. Figure Skating hosting the 2017 ISU World Synchronized Skating Championships in Colorado 
Springs. This marked the fourth time the event has been held in the U.S. and second in Colorado Springs.

Finally, great progress is being made on U.S. Figure Skating’s Event Management System “EMS” with the accreditation 
module developed and used for the first time at the 2017 U.S. Figure Skating Championships in Kansas City. The system 
successfully managed the accreditation of 3,500 persons at three different venues over a 10 day period.

2016-17 U.S. FIGURE SKATING QUALIFYING HOST CLUBS
Event City Local Organizing Committee
2016 U.S. Collegiate Championships Denver, Colo. Rocky Mountain FSC
2017 North Atlantic Regionals Williamsville, NY Amherst SC
2017 New England Regionals Burlington, Vt. Champlain Valley SC
2017 South Atlantic Regionals Ashburn, Va. Washington FSC
2017 Eastern Great Lakes Regionals Lansing, Mich. Lansing SC
2017 Upper Great Lakes Regionals Rochester, MN Rochester FSC
2017 Southwestern Regionals Plano, Texas Dallas FSC
2017 Northwest Pacific Regionals Wenatchee, Wash. Wenatchee FSC
2017 Central Pacific Regionals Ogden, Utah Wasatch FSC
2017 Southwest Pacific Regionals Scottsdale, Ariz. Coyotes SC of Arizona
2017 Eastern Sectionals Indian Trail, N.C. Extreme Ice/Carolina FSC

2017 Midwestern Sectionals Colorado Springs, 
Colo. Broadmoor SC

2017 Pacific Coast Sectionals Salt Lake City, 
Utah Salt Lake Figure Skating

2017 Prudential U.S. Figure Skating Championships Kansas City, Mo. Sprint Center/Kansas City Sports 
Commission

2017 Eastern Synchronized Sectionals Hershey, Pa. Central Pennsylvania FSC
2017 Midwestern & Pacific Coast Synchronized Sectionals Grand Forks, N.D. Northern Lights FSC
2017 U.S. Synchronized Skating Championships Rockford, Ill. Starlights/Skokie Valley
2017 Eastern Adult Sectional Figure Skating 
Championships North Jersey FSC Wayne, N.J.

2017 Midwestern Adult Sectional Figure Skating 
Championships Cincinnati, Ohio Cincinnati FSC

2017 Pacific Coast Adult Sectional Figure Skating 
Championships Burbank, Calif. Los Angeles FSC

2017 U.S. Adult Figure Skating Championships Wake Forest, N.C. Triangle FSC
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2016-17 MAJOR U.S. & INTERNATIONAL EVENTS RECAP
2016 U.S. International Figure Skating Classic, Salt Lake City, Utah; Sept. 15-18, 2016
The 2016 U.S. International Figure Skating Classic was held in Salt Lake City, Utah, September 16-20. This marked the 
fifth year for the event in Salt Lake City and the third year as part of the ISU Challenger Series. The event attracted a total 
of 15 nations and 42 entries over the four disciplines. The event was held in conjunction with the U.S. Challenge Skate 
featuring novice and junior competitors. Salt Lake Figure Skating, Utah Sports Commission and Salt Lake County again 
supported the event locally. The event will return again to Salt Lake in 2017 with the events dates of Sept. 13-17, 2017.

2016 Progressive Skate America, Hoffman Estates, Illinois; October 19-21, 2016
2016 Skate America returned to the greater Chicagoland area for the second time in three years. The Sears Centre in 
Hoffman Estates again served as the host venue with a new video board that allowed us to produce an enhanced in-arena 
experience for our fans. We also, more importantly, enjoyed a slight increase in ticket sales from 2014. The marketing and 
media campaign was targeted at the suburbs of Chicago and focused on an earlier than normal start to avoid the impact of 
the final few months of the U.S. Presidential Campaign. Part of the effort was highlighted by a special newspaper insert 
in the Chicago Daily Herald, radio advertising on Pandora and a direct club ticket sales program. Special thanks to Carrie 
Murphy and her Chicago area “Learn to Skate USA” kids and skating directors for the local ticket sales support and most 
importantly the two outstanding performances within the Smucker’s Skating Spectacular! 

2017 Prudential U.S. Figure Skating Championships, Kansas City, Missouri; January 14-22, 2017
The U.S. Championships returned to Kansas City for the first time since 1985 and were a great success, with two spectacular 
venues showcasing the athletes at Sprint Center (junior and senior) and the Silverstein Eye Centers Arena in Independence, 
Missouri, (juvenile, intermediate and novice). Although an ice storm threatened the area and event early on, in the end it 
was just a threat, and the event schedule went as planned. Honorary Co-Chairs John Coughlin and Ryan Bradley were 
outstanding ambassadors all week and were highlighted in the Opening Ceremonies.

The event was hosted locally by a local organizing committee (LOC) made up of the Kansas City Sports Commission, Visit 
Kansas City and the Sprint Center. Thank you to Katherine Holland, who served as the executive director of the event, 
and to the local steering committee, led by Lori Osborne, who put in countless hours in planning the sweepers, Opening 
Ceremonies and closing numbers as well as overall support locally in making the event happen!

2017 ISU World Synchronized Skating Championships, Colorado Springs, Colorado; April 5-8, 2017
As mentioned above the season ended with U.S. Figure Skating hosting the 2017 ISU World Synchronized Skating 
Championships in Colorado Springs. This marked the fourth time the event has been held in the U.S. and second in Colorado 
Springs. The event generated over 3,500 all-event tickets sold, attracting fans from all around the world. Locally, the event 
was supported with grants from the City of Colorado Springs “Olympic City USA”, the El Pomar Foundation, Broadmoor 
World Arena and the Colorado Springs Sports Corporation. At the time of this report, the event has not yet happened but is 
expected to feature a total of 24 teams from 18 nations.

EVENT MANAGEMENT SYSTEM – 2016-17
Phase three of the EMS project launched in late summer 2016 and will conclude on June 30, 2017. Phase three was focused 
on the development, testing and implementation of the following components:

• Competition Builder (enhanced nonqualifying sanction application process and qualifying bid process online)
• Accreditation tool – completed and used at the 2017 U.S. Figure Skating Championships
• Officials Management tool
• Budgeting tool
• Volunteer tool

At the time of this report, many of the tools are in the final stages of development or are being tested internally and by a 
board working group and a LOC/club working group.

We will be hosting an EMS Meeting for all 2017-18 qualifying competition hosts on Thursday, May 4, as part of the 
Governing Council weekend. The goal of this invitation-only meeting is to focus on providing an overview on the tools 
within EMS and how they will be using these tools in the fall during their events. In addition to this first meeting, we will 
be providing the details of a summer/fall training program for all aspects of the system.
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Finance and Information Technology – Mario Rede, Senior Director
Since my last report, the Finance Department has completed the 2018 budgeting cycle which began on October 28, 2016, 
and ended on February 7, 2017, with the presentation to the Board of Directors. At the time of this report, U.S. Figure 
Skating is projected to generate $17.8 million in revenue (inclusive of the grant from U.S. Figure Skating’s Foundation) 
and operate on $16.8 million of expenses, reflecting a $1 million surplus prior to depreciation and amortization. The 2018 
budget continues to reflect strong revenue while allocating more than 80 percent of our expenses to support our athlete 
programs. I would like to thank the group coordinators, Finance Committee members and committee chairs for working 
collectively with their headquarter liaisons in meeting the budget timeline that had been set.

Additionally the Finance Department will be preparing for the 2017 fiscal year-end closing and our fiscal year-end audit. 
The audit will be conducted by Stockman, Kast & Ryan CPA firm, beginning the middle of August 2017 and should be 
completed by early September with a final report to the Board of Directors in October 2017.

Information Technology
Our goal is to provide forward-thinking management decisions that provide value to the organization by streamlining 
processes that concentrate on best practices, cost savings and efficiencies. Specific items that we have addressed are as 
follows:

1. Infrastructure Maintenance-Active Directory
We are in the process of reviewing the directory and network services infrastructure to ensure compliance with 
best practices while fitting the needs of the organization. Included in this review and maintenance are a review of 
account management services, network communications, security permissions, and system auditing capabilities. 
Additionally, this effort is to ensure the assignment of departmental administration resources to the department’s 
senior director so that approvals for access to these resources are always in the hands of those who manage the 
resources.

2. Infrastructure Redesign-Virtualization
In an effort to increase the availability and make the U.S. Figure Skating data center more robust, we will be 
pursuing a virtualization project over the next year. This project uses modern technologies to allow for the possibility 
of entire server hardware failure without interrupting service in the business. We plan to implement this at the same 
time we replace aging physical servers in order to provide better hardware with more resiliencies at a lower overall 
cost to the organization.

EVENT MANAGEMENT SYSTEM (EMS) 
On September 1, 2016, U.S. Figure Skating began development on phase three of the Event Management System (EMS). The 
charter of EMS is to develop one registration system for competitions and programs resulting in a better user experience for 
member clubs and skaters alike. The focus is currently on qualifying competitions with limited nonqualifying competitions 
launching in 2017-18. Nonqualifying competition capability is planned for the 2018-19 season. EMS will include new event 
management tools to simplify the administration of all qualifying and nonqualifying competitions and U.S. Figure Skating 
programs. Most importantly, the goal of EMS is to provide accurate and timely data to the local organizing committees 
(LOC) and clubs while creating one data repository for all U.S. Figure Skating sanctioned events and programs. We believe 
the completion of this project will give a more complete picture of the sport. The two major components of this phase of 
EMS are the competition builder and the event management tools.

Competition Builder
In this component, LOCs submit applications to bid for sanctioned events or apply for nonqualifying competition sanctions. 
With bid submissions, headquarters and appropriate committee members will have the ability to review and comment on 
all bids prior to awarding a competition. Once the competition is approved or awarded, the LOCs will use EMS to manage 
all aspects of their competition. 

Event Management Tools
We are developing management tools that will assist LOCs in running their events along with giving headquarters historical 
information. Management tools include:

•	 Registration – Building upon the qualifying competition registration system currently in place, all nonqualifying 
competitions will have the ability to process entries through EMS with events and pricing specific to their competition.

•	 Budget – This tool will allow LOCs to manage the financial aspects of their event. LOCs will have the ability to do 
analysis on actual-to-budget revenue and expense along with graphical analysis that will visually state the financial 
performance of the event they are hosting.
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•	 Volunteer – This tool will give the LOC the ability to request volunteers, set up shifts and assignments and 
communicate with those assigned. In addition, the volunteer can select their shifts and print their personal schedule, 
when available.

•	 Officials – EMS will provide assistance in inviting and tracking officials for a competition. Officials can easily 
accept or decline an invitation, and the chief referee can assign them, when ready.

These two components are currently scheduled to be released this summer for those LOCs holding a nonqualifying 
competition in conjunction with their regional championships. We are excited about our new product, and we’ll be rolling 
it out soon!

Learn To Skate USA
In the coming year we will further develop the Learn to Skate USA management tools. Some of these enhancements will 
provide the director with additional flexibility in scheduling classes and offer a more comprehensive print portal. These 
improvements are scheduled to be available in the latter part of this year.

Finally, it has been another outstanding year generating positive results for the Finance and IT Departments and ultimately 
for the organization. I would like to personally thank the entire staff of the Finance and IT Departments for their hard 
work and dedication to the organization. Additionally, I would like to thank the executive director and treasurer for their 
continued support.



31

Heather Nemier
Secretary

U.S. FIGURE SKATING
20 First Street

Colorado Springs, CO 80906

NOTICE OF THE ANNUAL MEETING OF THE GOVERNING COUNCIL

May 6, 2017

The 2017 Annual Meeting of the Governing Council of U.S. Figure Skating will be held on Saturday, 
May 6, 2017 and Sunday, May 7, 2017, if necessary. The meeting will be held at the DoubleTree by 
Hilton Colorado Springs, 1775 E Cheyenne Mountain Blvd., Colorado Springs, Colo., 80906, telephone 
719.576.8900.

The delegate registration desk will be open beginning at 2 p.m. Thursday, May 4; 7 a.m. on Friday, May 
5; and 7 a.m. on Saturday, May 6.

The formal business meeting of the Governing Council will begin at 8:30 a.m. on Saturday, May 6 and 
conclude for the day at 6:00 p.m. to include the Meet the Candidates forum (if necessary). If all business 
items are not completed on Saturday, the Governing Council will resume at 8:30 a.m. (8:00 a.m. if voting 
for offices is required) Sunday, May 7 and continue until business is completed.

Any updates to Governing Council information will be posted on the U.S. Figure Skating website at 
www.2017governingcouncil.com. Please check the website often.

The following educational seminars and open forums will be offered on Friday, May 5. Delegates, members 
and guests may attend the seminars:

Friday 
Board Initiatives
Test Refresh
Governance
Critical Issues
Budget Review

Saturday
Sectional Meetings
Nominating Committee-Meet the Candidates (if necessary)

http://www.2017governingcouncil.com
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Matters to come before the Governing Council follow and include:
1. The following clubs have been granted Interim club status and are proposed for Provisional status at 

this time:
  Champions’ Edge SC    Wesley Chapel, FL
  El Paso FSC     El Paso, TX
  Grand Junction FSC    Grand Junction, CO
  Sikumi FSC     Annville, PA
  Worthington Valley FSC   Reisterstown, MD

2. The following clubs have been granted Provisional status and are proposed for Full Club status at this 
time:
  Ice in Paradise FSC    Goleta, CA

  Southern Arizona FSC    Tucson, AZ

3. To consider and act upon proposed changes in the rules and bylaws of U.S. Figure Skating as set 
forth in the exhibits and requests for action that follow this Notice.

4. To consider and take action upon the U.S. Figure Skating and Memorial Fund operating budgets for 
the fiscal year ending June 30, 2018.

5. To consider and take action upon all other actions taken by the Board of Directors and committee 
chairs as set forth in the meeting book for the 2017 Governing Council.

6. To elect a three (3) vice presidents, a secretary, a treasurer, four (4) group coordinators, and two (2) 
coaches to the Board of Directors.

7. To consider and act upon such new business as may properly come before the meeting.

It is hoped that all Member Clubs of the Association will be represented at the meeting by delegates, either 
in person or by proxy. The membership is reminded that proxies may only be voted when the matter under 
consideration has been stated in the Notice of the Meeting. (Article IX, Section 6 of the Bylaws)
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EXHIBIT A
to the NOTICE of the

2017 Annual Meeting of the Governing Council
Bylaws Amendment

The following is proposed by the Membership Committee of U.S. Figure Skating:

Amend Article V, Sections 1 and 6, of the U.S. Figure Skating bylaws (pages 4-5, Rulebook) as shown below and change 
all references in the U.S. Figure Skating rules to reflect the change from Basic Skills to Learn to Skate USA.

ARTICLE V
Membership

Section 1 Classification. U.S. Figure Skating has nine types of membership:
A. Clubs which foster figure skating, known as “member clubs”;
B. Individual persons registered with U.S. Figure Skating who are members of a member club or a collegiate club;
C. Individual persons who are not home club members of any member club, known as “individual members”;
D. Honorary members; 
E. Collegiate club and school-affiliated members; 
F. Basic Skills Learn to Skate USA members; 
G. Supportive members; 
H. Synchronized Skating/Theatre On Ice Team members; and
I. Introductory members.

Section 6 Basic Skills Learn to Skate USA Members.
A. Persons participating in Basic Skills Learn to Skate USA programs.
B. Are not eligible for participation in the official test structure.
C. Have no voting rights with respect to the government of U.S. Figure Skating.

Implementation date: July 1, 2017      Committee vote: 22 yes, 0 no, 0 abstain

Rationale: With the successful rollout of Learn to Skate USA, the bylaws and rules need to be brought in line with the new 
name.

Financial impact: None
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EXHIBIT B
to the NOTICE of the

2017 Annual Meeting of the Governing Council
Bylaws Amendment

The following is proposed by the Rules Committee of U.S. Figure Skating:

Amend Article XX, Sections 2 and 3, of the U.S. Figure Skating bylaws (page 15, Rulebook) as follows:

ARTICLE XX
Official Rules

Section 2 Publication of Rulebook, Contents. U.S. Figure Skating will publish each year, as soon after by July 1 as is 
practicable, an annual rulebook containing the bylaws, the official rules of U.S. Figure Skating and such other matters as 
may from time to time be determined by the Board of Directors.

Section 3 Effectiveness. Such rules and regulations or any amendments thereto become effective on Sept. July 1 each 
year or upon such specific date as may otherwise be stated in the motion of adoption thereof.

Implementation date: July 1, 2017       Committee vote: 12 yes, 1 no, 0 abstain

Rationale: With the publication of the rulebook online on or before July 1, it would make sense to have the new rules 
be implemented upon its being posted to the U.S. Figure Skating website. We have been using July 1 as our “default” 
implementation date for the last few seasons on a trial basis, and it seems to work well, as it allows skaters, coaches and 
officials more time to use the new rules prior to regionals and sectionals.

Financial impact: None
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EXHIBIT C
to the NOTICE of the

2017 Annual Meeting of the Governing Council
Bylaws Amendment

The following is proposed by the Rules Committee of U.S. Figure Skating:

Amend Article XVII of the U.S. Figure Skating bylaws (page 13, Rulebook) and rule RCR 4.01 (page 70, Rulebook) as 
follows:

ARTICLE XVII
Duties and Jurisdiction of Permanent Committees and the Nominating Committee

Section 1 Jurisdiction of Committees. Each permanent committee, subject to the provisions of the official rules of U.S. 
Figure Skating and to the control of the Board of Directors, and the Nominating Committee, has jurisdiction of all matters 
as defined in the committee rules of such committee.

Section 2 Enforcement of Official Rules. Each permanent committee and the Nominating Committee has the duty and 
power of enforcing and carrying out the official rules which relate to the matters within its jurisdiction. 

Section 3 Formulation of Rules. Each permanent committee and the Nominating Committee has the duty of formulating 
rules for the matters within its jurisdiction and of keeping said rules current and up to date. Any rule changes so formulated 
will be submitted to the Board of Directors for action, and no rules or changes will be effective until approved and published 
as provided in Article XX of these bylaws. 

RCR 4.01 Proposals for changes in the bylaws or in these official rules may be initiated by the chair of a committee speci-
fied in Article XVI, Sections 1 and 4, or Article XV, Section 1, of U.S. Figure Skating bylaws, by three members of the 
Board of Directors or by a permanent member club in good standing. A proposal from a member club shall must be 
signed by three of the club’s officers. 
A.  Proposals shall must be in writing and shall be directed as follows: for an amendment to the bylaws, to the chair of 

the Rules Committee; for a change in these official rules, to the chair of the committee under whose jurisdiction the 
rule is applied.

B.  Final action shall will be taken by the Governing Council at its annual meeting pursuant to Article IX and/or Ar-
ticle XXIX of U.S. Figure Skating bylaws.

Implementation date: July 1, 2017      Committee vote: 12 yes, 1 no, 0 abstain

Rationale: This makes it clear that the Nominating Committee, though not defined in Article XVI as a “permanent commit-
tee”, is a committee that permanently exists in the U.S. Figure Skating rules and bylaws and, thus, has the jurisdiction over 
its own rules and the authority to make changes to them, as necessary, consistent with all other committees permanently 
defined in the rulebook.

Financial impact: None
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EXHIBIT D
to the NOTICE of the

2017 Annual Meeting of the Governing Council
Bylaws Amendment

The following is proposed by the Rules Committee of U.S. Figure Skating:

Amend Article XVIII, Sections 1 and 2, of the U.S. Figure Skating bylaws (page 14, Rulebook) as follows: 

ARTICLE XVIII
Composition of Permanent Committees

Section 1 General Provisions.
A. Each permanent committee will consist of no fewer than nine voting members, however, the Rules Committee and the 

Sports Sciences and Medicine Committee may consist of no fewer than three voting members; and the Audit Committee, 
the Compensation Committee, the Finance Committee, and the Grievance Committee and the International Judges and 
Officials Committee will be of such size as specified in Section 2 of this article.

B. The members insofar as practical will be evenly divided among the three sections.
C. Pursuant to the provisions of Article XVI, Section 2, of these bylaws, the chairs of permanent committees, except the 

Athletes Advisory Committee, the Audit Committee and the Finance Committee, will be appointed annually by the 
president to hold office for one year from the conclusion of the annual meeting of the Governing Council for that year 
or until their respective successors are appointed and assume office.

D. The members of permanent committees, except the Audit Committee, Compensation Committee, Finance Committee, 
and Grievance Committee and International Judges and Officials Committee, will be appointed annually by their chairs 
to hold office for one year or until their successors are appointed and assume office. Said chairs may remove such 
members with the concurrence of the president.

E. The chairs and all members of permanent committees must be:
(i) At least 18 years of age,
(ii) A registered member in good standing of U.S. Figure Skating, and
(iii) Otherwise qualified to serve in accordance with the official rules of U.S. Figure Skating.

Section 2 Specific Committee Provisions. The following committees will be composed as indicated, and all members of 
such committees will hold office for one year from the conclusion of the annual meeting of the Governing Council for that year 
or until their respective successors are appointed and assume office. 

A.  The Audit Committee consists of at least three and not more than five members, a majority of whom are not members of 
the Board of Directors. The president appoints the members with the approval of the Board of Directors. Each member 
must:
(i)   Be free of any material relationship that would interfere with the exercise of their independent judgment and
(ii)  Meet any other requirements for independence, expertise or qualifications set forth in the Audit Committee Rules 

or policies and procedures established by and for the Audit Committee.
(iii)The members of the Audit Committee designate the chair of the committee.

B.  The Compensation Committee consists of at least three and not more than five members, all of whom are members of 
the Board of Directors. The president appoints the members, with the approval of the Board of Directors. Each member 
must:
(i)   Be free of any material relationship that would interfere with the exercise of their independent judgment; and
(ii)  Meet any qualifications set forth in the Compensation Committee Rules or policies and procedures established by 

and for the Compensation Committee.
C.  The Finance Committee consists of:

(i)   The treasurer, who serves as chair of the committee;
(ii)  The immediate past treasurer; and
(iii) Six members appointed by the chair for their financial business experience.
(iv) The executive director, the chair of the Strategic Planning Committee, and the controller of U.S. Figure Skating will 

be ex-officio members of the Finance Committee.
D.  The Grievance Committee will constitute the member pool from which at least two-thirds of the members of any Hearing 

Panel will be drawn. Each year one-third of the committee will be appointed for a three-year term. The committee 
consists of:
(i)   A chair annually appointed by the president, and
(ii)  34 members appointed for three-year terms as follows:

(a) Three U.S. Figure Skating members from each region appointed by the appropriate sectional vice president, and
(b) Seven athletes as defined in Article XXII appointed by the chair of the Athletes Advisory Committee (herein 

called “Athlete Members of the Grievance Committee”).



37

E.   The International Judges and Officials Committee consists of:
(i)   The chair;
(ii)  The chairs of Competitions, International, Judges and Technical Panel Committees;
(iii)The ISU representative;
(iv)U.S. Figure Skating vice presidents; and 
(v)  Such other members as the president may appoint. 

Implementation date: May 7, 2017      Committee votes: 9 yes, 2 no, 0 abstain

Rationale: The composition of the International Judges and Officials Committee (IJOC) is currently outlined in rule IJOCR 
2.01 as well as Article XVIII. There is no need to define the composition of this committee in two different places, so this 
exhibit proposes to remove the composition of the IJOC from the bylaws and leave it in the rules, which is consistent with 
how the structure is defined for the other committees in the Technical Group. The members of the IJOC unanimously voted in 
support of this change.

Financial impact: None
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EXHIBIT E
to the NOTICE of the

2017 Annual Meeting of the Governing Council
Bylaws Amendment

The following is proposed by the Board of Directors of U.S. Figure Skating:

Amend Article II, Section 1 (H and I), Article VIII, Section 11, and Article XXI, (B), of the U.S. Figure Skating bylaws 
(pages 3, 7 and 15, Rulebook) and rule GR 1.02 of the U.S. Figure Skating General Rules (page 22, Rulebook) as follows:

ARTICLE II
Objectives

 Mission: As the national governing body, the mission of the United States Figure Skating Association is to provide 
programs to encourage participation and achievement in the sport of figure skating on ice, and particularly: 

H. To provide an equal opportunity to eligible athletes, coaches, trainers, managers, administrators and officials to participate 
in eligible athletic competition without discrimination on the basis of race, color, religion, age, gender, gender identity, 
sexual orientation, or national origin, or any other status protected by federal, state, or local law, where applicable. To 
provide fair notice and an opportunity for a hearing to any eligible athlete, coach, trainer, manager, administrator or 
official before declaring such individual ineligible to participate; 

I. To select members of the Board of Directors and athlete representatives without discrimination on the basis of race, 
color, religion, age, gender, gender identity, sexual orientation, or national origin, or any other status protected by 
federal, state, or local law, where applicable;

ARTICLE VIII
Board of Directors

 Section 11 Nondiscrimination. Members of the Board of Directors will be selected without discrimination on the basis of 
race, color, religion, age, gender, gender identity, sexual orientation, or national origin, or any other status protected by federal, 
state, or local law, where applicable. 
 

ARTICLE XXI
Prerequisites to Participation in U.S. Figure Skating Activities

 Prerequisites. 
A. Any person who is a member in good standing of a member club, collegiate club or an honorary or individual member 

and is registered with U.S. Figure Skating and is otherwise eligible to do so in accordance with the official rules of U.S. 
Figure Skating has the opportunity to participate in the activities of U.S. Figure Skating, including but not limited to:
(i) The opportunity to compete in competitions, take tests and participate in carnivals and exhibitions sponsored by U.S. 

Figure Skating; and
(ii) The opportunity to serve as an officer, a director or committee member or as an official in figure skating. 

B. U.S. Figure Skating does not discriminate on the basis of race, color, religion, age, gender, gender identity, sexual 
orientation, or national origin, or any other status protected by federal, state, or local law, where applicable.

GR 1.02 Code of Conduct 
The following code of conduct applies to all participants in activities hosted, supported, sponsored or engaged in by U.S. 
Figure Skating including but not limited to competitions, exhibitions and training camps:

I recognize that my participation in all activities hosted, supported, sponsored or engaged in by U.S. Figure Skating, 
including but not limited to competitions, exhibitions and training camps, is an honor and privilege that carries certain 
responsibilities. I agree to fully abide by the rules and guidelines set forth by U.S. Figure Skating or its properly 
designated agents. As a precondition to participation in activities hosted, supported, sponsored or engaged in by U.S. 
Figure Skating, I will adhere to the following tenets in good faith: 

A.  I will exhibit the highest standards of fairness, ethical behavior and genuine good sportsmanship in all of my relations 
with others. 

B. I will not discriminate against any member or participant on the basis of race, color, religion, age, gender, gender 
identity, sexual orientation, national origin, or any other status protected by federal, state or local law, where applicable.

BC.  I will not damage public or private property. I understand that I may be held financially responsible for damage 
deemed to be wantonly or willfully executed on my part, and that I may be subject to disciplinary action by U.S. Figure 
Skating. 
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CD. I will not use or possess illegal drugs, and I will not engage in criminal activity. I understand that, if I am found to 
use or possess illegal drugs, or if I am found to engage in any criminal activity during any activity hosted, supported, 
sponsored or engaged in by U.S. Figure Skating, I may be subject to criminal penalties as well as penalties imposed by 
U.S. Figure Skating. 

DE. I will adhere to the rules of U.S. Figure Skating and the host organization at all activities hosted, supported, sponsored 
or engaged in by U.S. Figure Skating. 

EF.  I will comply with all applicable anti-doping rules including, but not limited to, ISU anti-doping rules. 
FG. I will conduct myself in a manner not detrimental to the welfare of figure skating. I understand that my actions 

reflect on U.S. Figure Skating and the sport of figure skating both positively and negatively. I understand that if my acts, 
statements, or conduct are considered detrimental to the welfare of figure skating by the appropriate authority, I may be 
subject to penalties imposed by U.S. Figure Skating pursuant to GR 1.04. 

GH. I understand that the penalties that may be imposed may include, but are not limited to, loss of future international 
selections, loss of financial support from U.S. Figure Skating and its Memorial Fund, and loss of participation in 
activities hosted, supported, sponsored or engaged in by U.S. Figure Skating. 

HI. I understand that all disciplinary proceedings will be conducted pursuant to Article XXV, Section 3, of the U.S. Figure 
Skating bylaws, and that my rights and remedies are derived therefrom.

Implementation date: Immediate

Rationale: U.S. Figure Skating is an inclusive organization that strongly supports all of its members and remains opposed to 
any form of discrimination within its membership, volunteers and staff. These updates articulate U.S. Figure Skating’s nondis-
crimination policies and reflect U.S. Figure Skating’s inclusiveness and diversity.

Financial impact: None



40

EXHIBIT F
to the NOTICE of the

2017 Annual Meeting of the Governing Council
Bylaws Amendment

The following is proposed by the Ethics Committee of U.S. Figure Skating:

Amend Article XVI, Sections 1 and 3, of the U.S. Figure Skating bylaws (pages 12-13, Rulebook) and add new rules SFR 
1.00-3.01 as follows: 

ARTICLE XVI
Committees

Section 1 Permanent Committees. U.S. Figure Skating has the following permanent committees: 
1. Adult Skating 17. Memorial Fund
2. Athlete Development 18. Pairs
3. Athletes Advisory 19. Parents
4. Audit 20. Program Development
5. Coaches 21. Rules
6. Collegiate Program 22. Sanctions and Eligibility
7. Compensation 23. SafeSport
8. Competitions 2324. Selections
9. Dance 2425. Singles
10. Ethics 2526. Special Olympics/Therapeutic Skating
11. Finance 2627. Sports Sciences and Medicine
12. Grievance 2728. State Games
13. International 2829. Strategic Planning
14. International Judges and Officials 2930. Synchronized Skating
15. Judges 3031. Technical Panel
16. Membership 3132. Tests

3233. Theatrical Skating

Section 3 Committee Groups. U.S. Figure Skating committees are organized into four committee groups: 
Group 1: Athlete Services: Athlete Development, Athletes Advisory, Coaches, International, Memorial Fund and Sports 

Sciences and Medicine. 
Group 2: Membership Development: Collegiate Program, Membership, Parents, Program Development, Special Olym-

pics/ Therapeutic Skating and State Games. 
Group 3: Technical: Adult Skating, Competitions, Dance, International Judges and Officials, Judges, Pairs, Selections, 

Singles, Synchronized Skating, Technical Panel, Tests and Theatrical Skating. 
Group 4: Administrative/Legal: Audit, Compensation, Ethics, Finance, Grievance, Rules, SafeSport, Sanctions and Eligi-

bility and Strategic Planning.

SafeSport
SFR 1.00 Authority
SFR 1.01 The SafeSport Committee is a permanent committee pursuant to Article XVI, Section 1, of the U.S. Figure Skating 

bylaws.
SFR 2.00 Organization
SFR 2.01 The SafeSport Committee will consist of at least nine but no more than 12 members, including the chair, with rep-

resentation from each section.
SFR 3.00 Responsibility
SFR 3.01 It will be the responsibility of the SafeSport Committee to support U.S. Figure Skating in its commitment to provide 

a safe and positive environment for our members’ physical, emotional and social development and to set the clear expecta-
tion for an environment free from abuse and misconduct, through the following:
A. Promote the SafeSport Program for U.S. Figure Skating to all members and member clubs, and to provide appropriate 

and ongoing education and training for SafeSport officers, members and member clubs.
B. Ensure that all members and member clubs are aware of the obligation to timely and properly report violations of the 

General Rules of U.S. Figure Skating (including rules GR 1.01, GR 1.02, and GR 1.03) as stated therein and as set forth 
in the SafeSport Handbook for U.S. Figure Skating and Article XXV, Section 4, of the U.S. Figure Skating bylaws.
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C. Ensure that all required screening of designated individuals is done in accordance with the U.S. Figure Skating Screening 
and Background Check Program and Policy.

D. Create and publish appropriate policies, guidelines and codes of conduct in support of the SafeSport Program.
E. Refer appropriate matters to the chair of the Ethics Committee and/or the chair of the Grievance Committee in the event 

of an alleged violation of rules GR 1.01, GR 1.02 and/or GR 1.03.

Implementation date: Immediate       Committee vote: 13 yes, 0 no, 0 abstain

Rationale: Elevating SafeSport from a subcommittee to a permanent committee demonstrates the commitment of U.S. Figure 
Skating to provide a safe and positive environment for our members’ physical, emotional and social development, and to set a 
clear expectation for an environment free from abuse and misconduct, which is separate from other issues the Ethics Commit-
tee addresses. It also addresses recommendations from the U.S. Olympic Committee (USOC) Audit of U.S. Figure Skating’s 
compliance with the USOC’s Minimum Standards Policy for Athlete Safety Programs. 

The SafeSport Subcommittee voted unanimously in support of this proposal.

Financial impact: None

Note: If Exhibits F and G are both adopted, the changes to Article XVI will be merged accordingly.
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EXHIBIT G
to the NOTICE of the

2017 Annual Meeting of the Governing Council
Bylaws Amendment

The following is proposed by the Strategic Planning Committee of U.S. Figure Skating:

Amend Article VIII, Section 1, of the U.S. Figure Skating bylaws (page 6, Rulebook) and Article XVI, Sections 1 and 3, of 
the U.S. Figure Skating bylaws (pages 12-13, Rulebook) and delete rules SPCR 1.00-2.04 (page 79, Rulebook) as follows: 

ARTICLE VIII
Board of Directors

Section 1 Powers and Duties. The Board of Directors possesses all the powers and duties necessary or desirable for the 
management of the business and affairs of U.S. Figure Skating, except such powers and duties as are reserved solely for the 
Governing Council or otherwise limited by these bylaws. Strategic planning will be a duty of the Board of Directors. The Board 
of Directors may appoint ad hoc committees to support strategic planning as they deem necessary and appropriate.

ARTICLE XVI
Committees

Section 1 Permanent Committees. U.S. Figure Skating has the following permanent committees: 
1. Adult Skating 17. Memorial Fund
2. Athlete Development 18. Pairs
3. Athletes Advisory 19. Parents
4. Audit 20. Program Development
5. Coaches 21. Rules
6. Collegiate Program 22. Sanctions and Eligibility
7. Compensation 23. Selections
8. Competitions 24. Singles
9. Dance 25. Special Olympics/Therapeutic Skating
10. Ethics 26. Sports Sciences and Medicine
11. Finance 27. State Games
12. Grievance 28. Strategic Planning
13. International 2928. Synchronized Skating
14. International Judges and Officials 3029. Technical Panel
15. Judges 3130. Tests
16. Membership 3231. Theatrical Skating

Section 3 Committee Groups. U.S. Figure Skating committees are organized into four committee groups: 
Group 1: Athlete Services: Athlete Development, Athletes Advisory, Coaches, International, Memorial Fund and Sports 

Sciences and Medicine. 
Group 2: Membership Development: Collegiate Program, Membership, Parents, Program Development, Special Olympics/ 

Therapeutic Skating and State Games. 
Group 3: Technical: Adult Skating, Competitions, Dance, International Judges and Officials, Judges, Pairs, Selections, 

Singles, Synchronized Skating, Technical Panel, Tests and Theatrical Skating. 
Group 4: Administrative/Legal: Audit, Compensation, Ethics, Finance, Grievance, Rules, and Sanctions and Eligibility 

and Strategic Planning.

Strategic Planning
SPCR 1.00 Authority
SPCR 1.01 The Strategic Planning Committee is a permanent committee pursuant to Article XVI, Section 1, of the U.S. 

Figure Skating bylaws.
SPCR 2.00 Responsibility
SPCR 2.01 The Strategic Planning Committee shall develop a workable plan to ensure the future and stability of U.S. Figure 

Skating in all areas of its involvement.
SPCR 2.02 The Strategic Planning Committee shall gather information and assimilate ideas and concepts regarding the fu-

ture of the association to develop and maintain a plan to assure that U.S. Figure Skating will continue to execute its charter 
effectively and efficiently in the future.

SPCR 2.03 The plan and/or any amendments will be submitted annually for adoption by the Board of Directors.
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SPCR 2.04 The submission will include the procedures and financial concepts necessary for consideration, adoption and 
implementation into operation.

Implementation date: Immediate       Committee vote: 12 yes, 2 no, 0 abstain

Rationale: The Strategic Planning Committee should cease to be a full standing committee for the primary reason that the 
function of strategic planning for the organization is a board function that cannot be delegated. Secondarily, the board is better 
served by establishing ad hoc committees, on an as-needed-basis, consisting of five to seven people who have the knowledge, 
experience, and education pertaining to the issue on which the board desires information in order to make an informed decision. 

The Strategic Planning Committee, as a permanent committee, has anywhere from 20 to 24 members, who do not always have 
the knowledge, experience and/or education to properly address and advise the board in a timely manner on a particular strategic 
planning issue. By using the ad hoc committees, the board would get quality information in a relatively short period of time.

Financial impact: None

Note: If Exhibits F and G are both adopted, the changes to Article XVI will be merged accordingly.
.



44

REQUESTS FOR ACTION
2017 Board of Directors and Governing Council Meetings

April 2017

ATHLETE SERVICES GROUP (GROUP 1)

The Athlete Services Group proposes the following motions on behalf of the committee(s) identified with each motion:

101. International Committee
Amend rule ICR 3.01 (page 45, Rulebook) as follows:

ICR 3.01 International Committee
Note: Actions of the IC are taken by action of each Discipline Group. A two-thirds majority of the members of a Discipline 
Group will constitute a quorum in order for a Discipline Group to take action. Action by a Discipline Group will be 
determined by a two-thirds majority approval of the members actually voting. In cases of an emergency (decisions with 
less than 24-hour notice) where immediate action is required, a simple majority of a Discipline Group will constitute 
a quorum to take action, and action will be determined by a simple majority approval of the members actually voting.

Implementation date: July 1, 2017     Committee vote: 22 yes, 0 no, 0 abstain

Rationale: Due to the importance of the decisions that each Discipline Group makes, there is a need to have language to 
ensure that the International Committee is able to make decisions in emergency situations (on less than 24-hour notice) if 
members are not available. 

Financial impact: None
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REQUESTS FOR ACTION
2017 Board of Directors and Governing Council Meetings

April 2017

MEMBERSHIP DEVELOPMENT GROUP (GROUP 2)

The Membership Development Group proposes the following motions on behalf of the committee(s) identified with each 
motion:

201. Membership Committee
Amend rules MR 5.11, MR 5.12, MR 5.13 and MR 5.14 (page 64, Rulebook) as follows:

MR 5.11 Coach and Instructor Compliance. In order to be granted access to work within U.S. Figure Skating sanctioned 
activities, each All coaches must complete the following requirements on an annual basis by July 1:
A. Coach Compliance:

1. Must be a current full member of U.S. Figure Skating — either through a member club or as an individual 
member.

2. If 18 years of age or older, must submit the proper payment of $30 through the U.S. Figure Skating Members 
Only site, and submit information for and successfully pass an annual background screen.

3. Must complete the CER SafeSport training course and any additional courses as required in the appropriate CER 
courses (A,B, C or D) depending on the highest level of students being coached as of July 1. See rule MR 5.12.

4. Must submit proof of current general liability insurance with limits of $1 million per occurrence/$5 million 
aggregate.

5. Must be a current full PSA member if coaching skaters/teams in qualifying events at U.S. Figure Skating 
qualifying competitions. See rule 1022.

B. Basic Skills Professional Group Instructor Compliance:
1. Must be registered as a Basic Skills Learn to Skate USA instructor member and complete the annual online 

certification course.
2. If 18 years of age or older, must have successfully passed the annual background screen.

For deadline and penalties, see rules MR 5.13 and MR 5.14.
MR 5.12 Coaches Continuing Education Requirements

All coaches must meet complete annual continuing education requirements (CER) based on the following categories:
A. Category A: Professional Coach (or Choreographer) of qualifying levels of competitive skaters. Those coaches who 

coach train or instruct one or more skaters or teams who are participating in any U.S. Figure Skating or member club 
activities other than group lessons sanctioned event. qualifying levels of qualifying competitions or championships. 
This includes, but is not limited to, primary coaches, choreographers, assistant coaches and element specialists. 
Championships are as defined in rule 1021 as well as all regional, sectional, adult sectional and synchronized skating 
championships.

B. Category B: Professional Coach (or Choreographer) of skaters participating in the following U.S. Figure Skating 
sanctioned events (excluding qualifying events covered in Category A). Those coaches who coach one or more 
skaters or teams who are participating in nonqualifying levels of sanctioned competitions or championships. This 
includes, but is not limited to, primary coaches, choreographers, assistant coaches and element specialists.
1. U.S. Figure Skating tests (pre-preliminary and higher)
2. Nonqualifying competitions or test track levels (pre-preliminary or higher)
3. Nonqualifying events at a qualifying competition

C. Category C: Professional Group Instructor. Those coaches who teach group lessons only, as part of a Learn to Skate 
USA program.

D. Category D: Professional Sports Science Support Services. Includes, but is not limited to: sports psychologists, 
physical therapists and athletic trainers who are working with skaters or teams at any U.S. Figure Skating or member 
club activities. An individual who performs sport science support services and also performs duties as a professional 
coach or choreographer must meet Category A or B requirements “Professional Coach (or Choreographer)” 
requirements.

Any additional The required courses beyond the CER SafeSport training course required of all coaches and number of 
credits are established by the Coaches Committee or their appointed task force and must be approved by the Board of 
Directors. The regulations requirements will be published on usfigureskating.org.

MR 5.13 Coaches not in compliance with the stated membership, registration and education requirements who do not fulfill 
the requirements of coach compliance in rules MR 5.11 and MR 5.12 will be considered “non-compliant” members of 
U.S. Figure Skating and PSA, and will not be allowed to coach athletes, nor have contact, either directly or indirectly, 
at any U.S. Figure Skating or member club activities a venue for practice and/or at U.S. Figure Skating events.
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MR 5.14 Any renewing coach who does not fulfill the requirements of coach compliance in rules MR 5.11 (B), (C) and 
(D) and MR 5.12 by July 1 will be assessed a $75 late fee.
A. Special exceptions to the late fee may be granted by the appropriate sectional vice chair of the Membership 

Committee.

Implementation date: January 1, 2018*    Committee vote: 23 yes, 0 no, 0 abstain

*As coaches begin taking CERs January 1, 2017 for the 2017-18 season, the change would need to take place when the CER 
programs open for the following season (2018-19).

Rationale: These changes make it clear that anyone coaching skaters at any U.S. Figure Skating or member club activi-
ties, and not just those taking skaters to test sessions and/or competitions, needs to fulfill coach compliance and education 
requirements. These changes also standardize CER educational opportunities for all coaches, and they bring the rules in line 
with the new requirements for Learn to Skate USA instructors.

Deleting Categories A and B eliminates confusion about requirements and simplifies the process for coaches, clubs and 
staff. 

The change to require a SafeSport course every year addresses a recommendation that all individuals who have contact with 
athletes take SafeSport training every year. Adding this requirement to the rules ensures that it will happen and also allows 
this to count for CER credit. Different SafeSport courses will be rotated each year for variety.

The intent for the remaining courses is to follow the current four-course requirements for Category A coaches, which means 
that current Category B coaches will need to take one more course than currently required.* The planned categories are: (1) 
SafeSport, (2) Rules of Sport (combining the U.S. Figure Skating Rules and IJS Rules categories), (3) Professional Ethics 
and (4) Sport Safety/Science.

Financial impact:
•	 U.S. Figure Skating: None
•	 Coaches:

o Increase of $35/year for current CAT B coaches who complete the CER requirements by the deadline.
o Increase of $40/year for current CAT B coaches who complete the CER requirements after the deadline.
o Increase of $25/year for current CAT D coaches.
o No change for current CAT A and CAT C coaches.

•	 Please note that, unrelated to this ballot, the Ex3 Subscription fee is being increased from $20 to $25. This increase 
is being implemented by a third party vendor to the PSA and is out of the jurisdiction of U.S. Figure Skating.

202. Membership Committee
Amend rules TR 36.03, TR 43.02 and TR 51.04 (pages 266, 272 and 276, Rulebook) as follows:

TR 36.03 In all pair tests, the pair will be judged and will “pass” or “retry” as a pair. A partner in such tests who has already 
passed the test being tried will not be affected if a subsequent attempt of the same test with a different partner has been 
marked “retry.” 
A. Partners for all pair tests may be selected without regard to pair test accomplishments or eligibility status. However, 

any person 18 years of age or older who is partnering a minor and not also a candidate on the test must submit the 
proper payment through the U.S. Figure Skating Members Only site, submit information for and successfully pass 
an annual background screen, as required for coach compliance in rule MR 5.11 (A)(2), in order to partner pair tests 
during a sanctioned U.S. Figure Skating test session.

TR 43.00 Partners for Pattern Dance Tests
TR 43.01 Each candidate will select a partner where appropriate in accordance with the provisions of these rules, including 

the specific rules for each test. A different partner may, if the candidate so desires, be selected for each individual dance 
taken.
A. Pattern dance tests may be taken with a partner of the same gender.

TR 43.02 Partners for all pattern dance tests may be selected from dancers without regard to dance test accomplishments 
or eligibility status. However, any person 18 years of age or older who is partnering a minor and not also a candidate 
on the test must submit the proper payment through the U.S. Figure Skating Members Only site, submit information for 
and successfully pass an annual background screen, as required for coach compliance in rule MR 5.11 (A)(2), in order 
to partner pattern dance tests during a sanctioned U.S. Figure Skating test session.
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TR 51.04 Partners for free dance tests may be selected from dancers without regard to their eligibility status or dance test 
accomplishments. However, any person 18 years of age or older who is partnering a minor and not also a candidate on 
the test must submit the proper payment through the U.S. Figure Skating Members Only site, submit information for 
and successfully pass an annual background screen, as required for coach compliance in rule MR 5.11 (A)(2), in order 
to partner free dance tests during a sanctioned U.S. Figure Skating test session.

Implementation date: July 1, 2017     Committee vote: 19 yes, 2 no, 1 abstain

Rationale: We have skaters taking dance/pair tests with partners who have not been subject to, or passed, a background 
check. The background check ensures the safety of the skater testing, as well as those in the facility. 

Financial impact: $30 for those who are partnering tests who are not already subject to background checks as coaches. 

203. Special Olympics / Therapeutic Skating Committee
Amend rule TR 11.01 (page 250, Rulebook) and add new rules to add specific moves in the field and free skate tests as an 
additional option for Special Olympics and therapeutic skaters as follows:

TR 11.00 Special Olympics/Therapeutic Skating Test Rules
TR 11.01 A Special Olympics/Therapeutic Skating test may be given to any Special Olympics or therapeutic skating 

athlete who is registered with a Special Olympics or therapeutic skating program. Tests are to be judged on a “pass” or 
“retry” basis.
A. Moves in the field tests may be given at all levels specified in rules TR 19.01, and TR 19.02 and TR 19.04, regardless 

of the age of the athlete. All elements may be reskated one time at the request of the judge-in-charge. Additional 
reskates will be at the discretion of the judge-in-charge. There is no focus for any element. A Special Olympics or 
therapeutic skating athlete may be assisted during the test by a coach or another athlete from the boards or on the 
ice. Guidelines and specific examples of appropriate verbal cues, translations or prompting can be obtained from 
usfigureskating.org.

TR 19.04 The Special Olympics/Therapeutic Skating moves in the field tests are divided into four classes to be taken in the 
following order: pre-bronze, bronze, silver and gold.

TR 25.13 Special Olympics/Therapeutic Skating Pre-Bronze Moves in the Field Test
The purpose of this test is to encourage beginning skaters to learn the fundamentals of ice skating. No great deal of 
technical ability, carriage or flow is expected. The candidate must show knowledge of the steps, fairly good edges and 
some evidence of good form.

1. Forward perimeter stroking (clockwise and counterclockwise)
2. Basic forward consecutive edges (inside and outside)
3. Forward crossovers in a figure eight
4. Forward outside three-turns (left and right)

The entire test will be marked on a “pass” or “retry” basis only, and individual marks will not be awarded. The “pass” 
or “retry” will be arrived at by consideration of the composite of each element in relation to the whole.

TR 25.14 Special Olympics/Therapeutic Skating Bronze Moves in the Field Test
The purpose of this test is to continue the encouragement of beginning skaters to learn the fundamentals of ice skating. 
The candidate must show knowledge of the steps and a good sense of flow.

1. Forward and backward crossovers in a figure eight
2. Forward right and left foot spirals or lunges
3. Basic backward consecutive edges (inside and outside)
4. Alternating forward three-turns
5. A right forward inside edge to left backward inside edge open mohawk. The free leg should be extended before 

and after the turn.
The entire test will be marked on a “pass” or “retry” basis only, and individual marks will not be awarded. The “pass” 
or “retry” will be arrived at by consideration of the composite of each element in relation to the whole.
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TR 25.15 Special Olympics/Therapeutic Skating Silver Moves in the Field Test
The purpose of this test is to continue encouragement, with fundamentals of ice skating being demonstrated. Good 
edges, flow, extension and posture are emphasized, although not necessarily mastered.

1. Forward and backward perimeter stroking
2. Five-step mohawk sequence
3. Forward figure eight
4. Circular sequence starting with a left forward outside edge to a right forward inside edge crossover to a left 

forward outside edge to a right forward inside mohawk to a left back inside edge to a right back outside edge 
to a left back inside edge crossover to a right forward inside edge. Step sequence must be repeated twice and 
performed left and right. (Special Olympics Level IV)

5. Waltz three-step sequence: Performed in a figure eight pattern. A two-step introduction may be added. Right 
forward outside three-turn to a left back outside edge to a right forward outside three-turn to a left back outside 
edge to a right forward outside three-turn to a left back outside edge to a step forward to right forward outside 
edge and glide on two feet back to center, to a left forward outside three-turn to a right back outside edge to a left 
forward outside three-turn to a right back outside edge to a left forward outside three-turn to a right back outside 
edge to a step forward to a left forward outside edge and glide on two feet back to center. A minimum of three, 
three-turn/back edge sequences per circle must be performed. (Special Olympics Level IV)

The entire test will be marked on a “pass” or “retry” basis only, and individual marks will not be awarded. The “pass” 
or “retry” will be arrived at by consideration of the composite of each element in relation to the whole.

TR 25.16 Special Olympics/Therapeutic Skating Gold Moves in the Field Test
Expectations for this test reflect a passing average that aligns with the fundamentals of ice skating. Skater should 
demonstrate, although not necessarily master, the following good edges, flow, extension and form.

1. Eight-step mohawk sequence
2. Forward and backward free skate cross strokes
3. Right forward outside to inside change of edge into left forward inside three-turn. Right forward inside to outside 

change of edge into left forward outside three-turn. Element will be performed down the length of the rink, in 
sequence. A maximum of four introductory steps may be used. (Special Olympics Level V)

4. Left forward outside to inside change of edge into right forward inside three-turn. Left forward inside to outside 
change of edge into right forward outside three-turn. Element will be performed down the length of the rink, in 
sequence. A maximum of four introductory steps may be used. (Special Olympics Level V)

5. Alternating backward crossovers to backward outside edges
6. Backward circle eight

The entire test will be marked on a “pass” or “retry” basis only, and individual marks will not be awarded. The “pass” 
or “retry” will be arrived at by consideration of the composite of each element in relation to the whole.

TR 11.00 Special Olympics/Therapeutic Skating Test Rules
TR 11.01 A Special Olympics/Therapeutic Skating test may be given to any Special Olympics or therapeutic skating 

athlete who is registered with a Special Olympics or therapeutic skating program. Tests are to be judged on a “pass” or 
“retry” basis.
B. Free skate tests may be given at all levels specified in rules TR 26.01, and TR 26.02 and TR 26.03, regardless of 

the age of the athlete. Any number of elements may be reskated at the request of the judge-in-charge. A Special 
Olympics or therapeutic skating athlete may be assisted during the test by a coach or another athlete from the boards 
or on the ice. Guidelines and specific examples of appropriate verbal cues, translations or prompting can be obtained 
from usfigureskating.org.

TR 32.13 Special Olympics/Therapeutic Skating Pre-Bronze Free Skate Test
This is an Advanced Beginner Freestyle program. A well-balanced program with elements selected from Badges 1-12 
with emphasis on glide and turns. Requirements are the following six elements:

1. Consecutive forward one-foot swizzles (left foot and right foot)
2. Consecutive backward one-foot swizzles (left foot and right foot)
3. Bunny hop or two-foot jump in place
4. Forward pivot
5. Forward lunge or shoot-the-duck (at any depth)
6. T-stop left or right

Program should also incorporate moves skills such as two-foot turns, gliding forward to backward and backward to 
forward, consecutive forward crossovers (left and right), and forward inside and outside edges.
The skills may be performed in any order. The skater will be judged on the quality of the performance and the content.
Duration: Ladies and Men — 1:30 +/- 10 seconds to music of the skater’s choice.
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TR 32.14 Special Olympics/Therapeutic Bronze Free Skate Test
This is an Intermediate Level Freestyle program. A well-balanced program with elements with an emphasis on flow, 
carriage and a slightly more advance skill level. Requirements are the following seven elements:

1. Half flip jump
2. Half Lutz jump
3. Waltz jump
4. Forward spiral
5. Two-foot spin (minimum of five revolutions)
6. One-foot spin (minimum of three revolutions in the upright position only)
7. Hockey stop

Program should also incorporate moves skills such consecutive backward crossovers (left and right), consecutive 
forward outside and inside edges, consecutive backward outside and inside edges, forward inside three-turns (left and 
right), forward inside mohawks and simple footwork (mohawk step sequence, waltz three-step sequence, etc.).
The skills may be performed in any order. The skater will be judged on the quality of the performance and the content.
Duration: Ladies and Men — 2:00 +/- 10 seconds to music of the skater’s choice.

TR 32.15 Special Olympics/Therapeutic Skating Silver Free Skate Test
A well-balanced program of free skating elements with an emphasis on spins, jumps and footwork. Requirements are 
the following seven elements:

1. Waltz jump
2. Salchow jump
3. Toeloop jump
4. Combination jump (waltz/toeloop)
5. One-foot solo spin with only one position no change of foot (solo camel, solo sit spin, solo layback, solo upright) 

(minimum of four revolutions)
6. Upright back spin any entry allowed (minimum of four revolutions)
7. Straight line step sequence utilizing one-half of the ice

Program should also incorporate moves skills such consecutive backward crossovers (left and right), consecutive 
forward outside and inside edges, consecutive backward outside and inside edges, forward inside three-turns (left and 
right), forward inside mohawks and simple footwork (mohawk step sequence, waltz three-step sequence, etc.).
The skills may be performed in any order. The skater will be judged on the quality of the performance and the content.
Duration: Ladies and Men — 2:00 +/- 10 seconds to music of the skater’s choice.

TR 32.16 Special Olympics/Therapeutic Skating Gold Free Skate Test
This is an Advanced Freestyle program. A well-balanced program of free skating elements with emphasis placed on spin, 
spin combinations, advanced jumps, jump combinations and footwork. Requirements are the following eight elements:

1. Salchow jump
2. Toeloop jump
3. Single loop, flip or Lutz jump (choice of skater)
4. Combination jump (a Salchow, toeloop, loop, flip or Lutz with either a toeloop or loop jump) – choice of skater
5. A different combination jump (a Salchow, toeloop, loop, flip or Lutz with either a toeloop or loop jump) – choice 

of skater with a different first jump, the second jump may be repeated (toeloop or loop jump).
6. One-foot solo spin with only one position no change of foot (solo camel, solo sit spin, solo layback, solo upright) 

(minimum of five revolutions)
7. One-foot combination spin with only one change of position and one change of foot (minimum of six revolutions 

with three revolutions per foot)
8. Straight line step sequence utilizing at least three-quarters of the ice

Program should also incorporate moves skills.
The skills may be performed in any order. The skater will be judged on the quality of the performance and the content.
Duration: Ladies and Men — 2:30 +/- 10 seconds to music of the skater’s choice.

Implementation date: July 1, 2017     Committee vote: 13 yes, 0 no, 0 abstain.

Rationale: To give Special Needs Skaters an additional option if they wish to progress beyond the current Badge Pro-
grams but are not able to take the standard tests. These tests are not pre-requisites for anything since Special Olympics 
and State Games are not run under the auspices of U.S. Figure Skating, and there are no test requirements for the levels 
competed at their events. These tests are more for a skater’s benefit and personal fulfillment. The current standard and 
adult tests would continue to remain available with a Special Olympics/Therapeutic Skating option for those who would 
like to try them as explained in rule TR 11.01. The Judges Committee and Tests Committee members also voted in sup-
port of this proposal. The combined vote of all three committees was 86 yes, 1 no, 1 abstain.
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Proposed Special Olympics Moves and the Tests They are Aligned with Under Standard and Adult Track
Special Olympics Skating Pre-Bronze Moves (4)

1. Forward perimeter stroking (clockwise and 
counterclockwise)

2. Basic forward consecutive edges (inside and outside)

3. Forward crossovers in a figure eight

4. Forward outside three-turns (left and right)

1. Aligns with element 1 on pre-preliminary and adult 
pre-bronze moves

2. Aligns with first half of element 2 on pre-preliminary 
and adult pre-bronze moves

3. Aligns with first half of element 1 on preliminary and 
element 3 on adult pre-bronze moves

4. Aligns with Badge Nine on U.S. Figure Skating and 
SOI Badge Programs

Special Olympics Skating Bronze Moves (5)

1. Forward and backward crossovers in a figure eight

2. Forward right and left foot spirals or lunges

3. Basic backward consecutive edges (inside and 
outside)

4. Alternating forward three-turns

5. A right forward inside edge to left backward inside 
edge open mohawk. The free leg should be extended 
before and after the turn.

1. Aligns with element 1 on preliminary and element 3 
on adult pre-bronze moves

2. Aligns with element 3 on pre-preliminary and element 
5 on adult pre-bronze moves

3. Aligns with second half of element 2 on pre-
preliminary and adult pre-bronze moves

4. Aligns with element 4 on preliminary moves

5. Aligns with element 6.4.2.3.3 on Level III of Special 
Olympics (page 10 of Special Olympics Figure 
Skating Sport Rules)

Special Olympics Skating Silver Moves (5)

1. Forward and backward perimeter stroking

2. Five-step mohawk sequence

3. Forward figure eight

4. Circular sequence starting with a left forward outside 
edge to a right forward inside edge crossover to a 
left forward outside edge to a right forward inside 
mohawk to a left back inside edge to a right back 
outside edge to left back inside edge crossover to a 
right forward inside edge. Step sequence must be 
repeated twice and performed left and right. (Special 
Olympics Level IV)

5. Waltz three-step sequence: Performed in a figure eight 
pattern. A two-step introduction may be added. Right 
forward outside three-turn to a left back outside edge 
to a right forward outside three-turn to a left back 
outside edge to a right forward outside three-turn 
to a left back outside edge to a step forward to right 
forward outside edge and glide on two feet back to 
center to a left forward outside three-turn to a right 
back outside edge to a left forward outside three-turn 
to a right back outside edge to a left forward outside 
three-turn to a right back outside edge to step forward 
to left forward outside edge and glide on two feet 
back to center. A minimum of three, three-turn/back 
edge sequences per circle must be performed. (Special 
Olympics Level IV)

1. Aligns with element 1 on pre-juvenile moves and 
adult bronze moves

2. Aligns with element 6 on pre-juvenile moves and 
element 5 on adult bronze moves

3. Aligns with element 5 on preliminary moves and adult 
bronze moves

4. Aligns with element 6.5.1 on Level IV of Special 
Olympics (pages 11-12 of Special Olympics Figure 
Skating Sport Rules)

5. Aligns with element 6.5.2 on Level IV of Special 
Olympics (pages 12-13 of Special Olympics Figure 
Skating Sport Rules)
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Special Olympics Skating Gold Moves (6)

1. Eight-step mohawk sequence

2. Forward and backward free skate cross strokes

3. Right forward outside to inside change of edge into 
left forward inside three-turn. Right forward inside to 
outside change of edge into left forward outside three-
turn. Element will be performed down the length of 
the rink, in sequence. A maximum of four introductory 
steps may be used. (Special Olympics Level V)

4. Left forward outside to inside change of edge into 
right forward inside three-turn. Left forward inside 
to outside change of edge into right forward outside 
three-turn. Element will be performed down the 
length of the rink, in sequence. A maximum of four 
introductory steps may be used. (Special Olympics 
Level V)

5. Alternating backward crossovers to backward outside 
edges

6. Backward circle eight

1. Aligns with element 3 on juvenile moves and element 
1 on adult silver moves

2. Aligns with element 4 on juvenile moves and element 
2 on adult silver moves

3. Aligns with element 6.6.1 on Level V of Special 
Olympics (page 14 of Special Olympics Figure 
Skating Sport Rules)

4. Aligns with element 6.6.1 on Level V of Special 
Olympics (page 14 of Special Olympics Figure 
Skating Sport Rules)

5. Aligns with element 6 on preliminary moves and 
element 3 on adult bronze moves

6. Aligns with element 5 on pre-juvenile moves

Financial impact: Additional staff time and responsibilities
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REQUESTS FOR ACTION
2017 Board of Directors and Governing Council Meetings

April 2017

TECHNICAL GROUP (GROUP 3)

The Technical Group proposes the following motions on behalf of the committee(s) identified with each motion:

301. Adult Skating Committee
Amend rule 6512 (page 207, Rulebook) as follows:

6512 Elements for Championship Adult/Adult Gold/Adult Pre-Gold/Masters Open Free Dance
DANCE LIFTS Maximum of two different types of short lifts (up to seven seconds each)

•	 One may be a cCombination lifts are not permitted (up to 12 seconds)
•	 Short lifts can be a maximum of seven seconds each

Implementation date: July 1, 2017     Committee vote: 30 yes, 1 no, 1 abstain

Rationale: Currently, the dance lift requirements for these events allow a team to do either two short lifts or one combination 
lift and one short lift, which means the base technical score for a team could vary based on which option they choose. This 
modification resolves this issue by limiting teams to performing only short lifts, also better reflecting the abilities of the 
couples competing in these events.

Financial impact: None

302. Adult Skating Committee
Amend rule 6075 (page 193, Rulebook) as follows:

6075  Number of Patterns
In the initial or final round of all dance competitions the number of sequences of the dance to be danced will be as 
follows shown in the table below:
A. Two sequences: Swing Dance, European Waltz, American Waltz, Tango, Starlight Waltz, Westminster Waltz, 

Argentine Tango, Austrian Waltz, Cha Cha Congelado, Finnstep, Golden Waltz, Midnight Blues, Ravensburger 
Waltz, Silver Samba, Tango Romantica, Yankee Polka, and, for adult events only, Viennese Waltz.
1.  Two sequences will be danced in all adult solo dance events at an adult sectional championship or the U.S. 

Adult Figure Skating Championships with the exception of the Fourteenstep and Kilian, which require that 
three sequences be danced in these competitions.

B. Three sequences: Dutch Waltz, Canasta Tango, Rhythm Blues, Cha Cha, Fiesta Tango, Hickory Hoedown, Willow 
Waltz, Ten-Fox, Blues, Paso Doble and, except for adult events, Viennese Waltz.
1.  Three sequences of the Fourteenstep and Kilian will be danced in adult solo dance events at adult sectional 

championships and U.S. Adult Figure Skating Championships.
C. Four sequences: Fourteenstep, Foxtrot, Rocker Foxtrot, Quickstep and Rhumba.
D. Six sequences: Kilian.

Pattern Dance

Number of sequences 
danced in competition 

(except at the U.S. Adult 
Championships and adult 

sectionals)

Number of sequences 
danced at the 

U.S. Adult Championships 
and adult sectionals 

(adult partnered dance)
(partnered and solo)

Number of sequences 
danced at the 

U.S. Adult Championships 
and adult sectionals 
(adult solo dance)

American Waltz 2 2 2
Argentine Tango 2 2 2
Austrian Waltz 2 2 2
Blues 3 3 2
Canasta Tango 3 32 2
Cha Cha 3 32 2
Cha Cha Congelado 2 2 2
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Pattern Dance

Number of sequences 
danced in competition 

(except at the U.S. Adult 
Championships and adult 

sectionals)

Number of sequences 
danced at the 

U.S. Adult Championships 
and adult sectionals 

(adult partnered dance)
(partnered and solo)

Number of sequences 
danced at the 

U.S. Adult Championships 
and adult sectionals 
(adult solo dance)

Dutch Waltz 3 32 2
European Waltz 2 2 2
Fiesta Tango 3 32 2
Finnstep 2 2 2
Fourteenstep 4 43 3
Foxtrot 4 43 2
Golden Waltz 2 2 2
Hickory Hoedown 3 32 2
Kilian 6 64 3
Midnight Blues 2 2 2
Paso Doble 3 32 2
Quickstep 4 43 2
Ravensburger Waltz 2 2 2

Rhumba 4 43 2

Rhythm Blues 3 32 2
Rocker Foxtrot 4 43 2
Silver Samba 2 2 2
Starlight Waltz 2 2 2
Swing Dance 2 2 2
Tango 2 2 2
Tango Romantica 2 2 2
Ten-Fox 3 32 2
Viennese Waltz 3 2 2
Westminster Waltz 2 2 2
Willow Waltz 3 32 2
Yankee Polka 2 2 2

EA. In the event that a couple does not execute the number of required sequences for the designated pattern dance:
1.  The pattern dance will be considered finished when the couple has completed its final pose, or the skaters 

leave the ice, or in the opinion of the referee, the skaters have completed the skating of the dance and the 
music is stopped.

2.  The missing sequences/sections will not be entered in the data calculations (for IJS events).
3.  Since there will be no data entered for calculation purposes, it will not be necessary for the technical panel to 

“call” the missing sections (in IJS events).
4.  Printed protocol will acknowledge only the sequences/sections skated (in IJS events).
5.  The judges are to reflect the missing sections in the component marks.
6.  This does not preclude rules 1400-1403.

FB. In a nonqualifying competition the referee may vary the number of sequences to meet current conditions, in 
which case the judges and all entrants will be informed before the warm-up of the first dance.

GC. When pattern dances are included in the final round, the referee will determine whether the number of sequences 
is to be the same as those specified for the initial round or increased by one or two sequences taking into account 
the number of dances and couples and whether the couples are to dance one at a time or in groups of two to four.

6076H. Side to Start:
The referee will announce in advance the side of the ice surface on which each pattern dance will start. If a couple 
begins to perform the first pattern on the incorrect side, the following actions are to be followed:
1A. The referee must signal the couple to stop. The couple must stop skating at the signal of the referee. The music 
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must stop, and the judges and technical panel must cease their evaluations. The referee will instruct the couple 
of the direction in which to start the dance.

2B. The couple will be allowed to restart the entire dance, including the introduction, in the correct direction.
3C. If there were any calls by the technical panel during the first start of the pattern dance prior to the referee stopping 

the couple, the technical panel will have these calls removed from the computer. Any judges scores that were entered 
will have to be cleared out, too.

4D. If the referee does not signal the couple to stop, and they continue to perform the pattern dance on the incorrect side 
of the ice, the technical panel will call the pattern dance in the order as skated, without penalty with respect to the 
order of the patterns.

Remaining rules will be renumbered accordingly.
Number of patterns listed in specific dance descriptions will be amended accordingly.

Implementation date: July 1, 2017     Committee vote: 31 yes, 0 no, 1 abstain

Rationale: Currently, adults dance a non-standard number of sequences in competition at the U.S. Adult Championships 
and adult sectionals. The number of sequences danced in adult partnered dance competition is also different from the 
number sequences danced in adult solo dance competition. This has been a source of confusion for officials, coaches and 
skaters.

In the case of adult solo dance, the number of sequences was set at the minimum feasible to alleviate concerns over ice time 
required when adult solo dance was introduced. In the case of adult partnered dance, the athletes have requested to reduce 
the number of patterns required for some of the dances that challenge stamina (and safety).

The proposed changes standardize the number of sequences skated by adults in both solo and partnered dance competition 
with the number of sequences skated on dance tests. This better reflects the abilities of the skaters competing in these events 
while also standardizing the number of sequences in a way that is simple and easy to remember.

In some cases, the number of sequences in adult partnered dance will decrease (on the dances that require stamina, which 
is good).  In other cases, the number of sequences in adult solo dance will increase.

Financial impact: Possible positive impact. These changes could increase participation in adult partnered dance competition 
as skaters often choose not to compete in seasons where the dance selections challenge stamina and safety. The increase 
in ice time needed for the additional sequences specified in adult solo dance is expected to be minimal and/or offset by the 
reduced time needed for the decreased number of sequences in adult partnered dance. 

303. Adult Skating Committee
Amend rules 2055 (page 109, Rulebook) and 6620-6660 (pages 210-211, Rulebook), add rules 6700-6741 (page 211, 
Rulebook) and amend rule TR 40.05 (page 271, Rulebook) to add solo free dance events as follows:

2055  U.S. Adult Figure Skating and Adult Sectional Championships – Events
The U.S. Adult Figure Skating Championships and the adult sectional championships shall will consist of the 
following events:
A. Events which require qualification from sectionals: championship masters junior-senior free skate; championship 

masters intermediate-novice free skate; championship adult gold free skate, championship adult silver free skate, 
championship masters pairs, championship adult dance; 

B. Events which do not require qualification from sectionals: masters junior-senior free skate, masters intermediate-
novice free skate, adult gold free skate, adult silver free skate, adult bronze free skate, masters pairs, adult gold 
pairs, adult silver pairs, adult bronze pairs, centennial pairs, masters open dance, adult gold dance, adult pre-
gold dance, adult silver dance, adult pre-silver dance, adult bronze dance, adult pre-bronze dance, centennial 
dance, adult gold solo pattern dance, adult pre-gold solo pattern dance, adult silver solo pattern dance, adult 
pre-silver solo pattern dance, adult bronze solo pattern dance, adult gold solo free dance, adult silver solo free 
dance, adult bronze solo free dance, masters dramatic entertainment, masters light entertainment, adult gold 
dramatic entertainment, adult gold light entertainment, adult silver dramatic entertainment, adult silver light 
entertainment, adult bronze dramatic entertainment and adult bronze light entertainment. 

6620  Adult Gold Solo Pattern Dance Event

6630  Adult Pre-Gold Solo Pattern Dance Event

6640  Adult Silver Solo Pattern Dance Event
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6650  Adult Pre-Silver Solo Pattern Dance Event

6660  Adult Bronze Solo Pattern Dance Event

6700  Adult Gold Solo Free Dance Event
A. Test qualifications as of the closing date for entries, skaters must have passed at least one of the following:

1. The complete standard, adult or masters solo or partnered pre-gold pattern dance test,
2. The standard, adult or masters senior solo free dance test,
3. The senior free dance test,
4. The adult or masters gold free dance test.

B. Men and ladies will compete against one another in these events.
C. Judging and marking will be as specified in the Solo Dance Competition Series Complete Handbook, posted on 

usfigureskating.org.
6701  Elements for Adult Gold Solo Free Dance Event

ADULT GOLD SOLO FREE DANCE
2:50 +/- 10 seconds

Must contain the following elements in any order.
MUSIC Music must have an audible rhythmic beat with the exception of 10 seconds at the beginning of the 

program.
EDGE 
ELEMENTS

Two combination edge elements – each edge must be held for a minimum of three seconds, but the 
total element must not exceed 12 seconds.

AND
Two short edge elements held for a minimum of three seconds, but not to exceed six seconds.
•	 No more than two combination and two short edge elements permitted.
•	 Edge elements must have different positions.

SPIN One choreographic dance spin, but no more. Minimum of three revolutions on one foot. May change 
feet. Flying spins not permitted.

STEP 
SEQUENCES

Two different step sequences, one selected from Group A and one selected from Group B.
Group A: Straight Line Step Sequences – midline or diagonal
Group B: Curved Step Sequences (counterclockwise or clockwise) – circular or serpentine

•	 The step sequence must fully utilize the ice surface and should include a variety of steps and turns 
and must include brackets, counters, rockers, choctaws and twizzles.

•	 Not permitted elements: stops, pattern regressions, loops and jumps of more than one-half 
rotation, dance spins, and pirouettes.

TWIZZLE 
SERIES

Two different twizzle series, but no more.
•	 Twizzle Series A: Must have a different entry edge and different direction for the two 

twizzles. Minimum of two revolutions is required on each twizzle. No more than three steps 
are allowed between twizzles. Twizzles must be different than those used in Twizzle Series B.

•	 Twizzle Series B: Must have two twizzles. Minimum of two revolutions is required on each 
twizzle. No more than one step is allowed between twizzles. Twizzles must be different than 
those used in Twizzle Series A.

DANCE 
STOPS

Two full stops to express the character of the music, not to exceed five seconds. The stops must 
come at least 10 seconds after the start of the program and at least 10 seconds before the end of the 
program.

REMARKS •	 Choreographic dance spin – a dance spin on one foot in a position that enhances the music and 
choreography. This element is judged on how the spin relates to the music and the quality of the 
spin. Variations in position will only be rewarded if they enhance the character of the music.

6720  Adult Silver Solo Free Dance Event
A. Test qualifications as of the closing date for entries, skaters must have passed at least one of the following:

1. The complete standard, adult or masters solo or partnered pre-silver pattern dance test and no higher than one 
standard, adult or masters solo or partnered gold pattern dance test,

2. The standard, adult or masters novice solo free dance test and no higher than the standard, adult or masters 
junior solo free dance test,

3. The novice free dance test and no higher than the junior free dance test,
4. The adult or masters silver free dance test and no higher adult or masters free dance tests.

B. Men and ladies will compete against one another in these events.
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C. Judging and marking will be as specified in the Solo Dance Competition Series Complete Handbook, posted on 
usfigureskating.org.

6721  Elements for Adult Silver Solo Free Dance Event
ADULT SILVER SOLO FREE DANCE

2:10 +/- 10 seconds
Must contain the following elements in any order.

MUSIC •	 Music must have an audible rhythmic beat with the exception of 10 seconds at the beginning of 
the program.

•	 Music is strongly suggested to be in the same rhythms as the U.S. Figure Skating test structure.
EDGE 
ELEMENTS

One combination edge element – each edge must be held for a minimum of three seconds, but the 
total element must not exceed 12 seconds.

AND
One short edge element held for a minimum of three seconds, but not to exceed six seconds.
•	 No more than one combination and one short edge element permitted.
•	 Edge elements should have different positions.

SPIN One choreographic dance spin, but no more. Minimum of three revolutions on one foot. May change 
feet. Flying spins not permitted.

STEP 
SEQUENCES

One step sequence from the following list: circular, midline, or diagonal. 
•	 The step sequence must fully utilize the ice surface, should include a variety of steps and turns, 

and must include three-turns, mohawks, brackets and counters.
•	 Not permitted elements: stops, pattern regressions, loops and jumps of more than one-half 

rotation, dance spins, and pirouettes.
TWIZZLE 
SERIES

One twizzle series. Minimum two revolutions on each twizzle. No more than three steps between 
twizzles.

DANCE 
STOPS

One full stop to express the character of the music, not to exceed five seconds. The stop must come at 
least 10 seconds after the start of the program and at least 10 seconds before the end of the program.

REMARKS •	 Choreographic dance spin – a dance spin on one foot in a position that enhances the music and 
choreography. This element is judged on how the spin relates to the music and the quality of the 
spin. Variations in position will only be rewarded if they enhance the character of the music.

6740  Adult Bronze Solo Free Dance Event
A. Test qualifications as of the closing date for entries, skaters must have passed at least one of the following:

1. The complete standard, adult or masters solo or partnered pre-bronze pattern dance test and no higher than 
one standard, adult or masters solo or partnered silver pattern dance test,

2. The standard, adult or masters juvenile solo free dance test and no higher than the standard, adult or masters 
intermediate solo free dance test,

3. The juvenile free dance test and no higher than the intermediate free dance test,
4. The adult or masters bronze free dance test and no higher adult or masters free dance tests.

B. Men and ladies will compete against one another in these events.
C. Judging and marking will be as specified in the Solo Dance Competition Series Complete Handbook, posted on 

usfigureskating.org.
6741  Elements for Adult Bronze Solo Free Dance Event

ADULT BRONZE SOLO FREE DANCE
1:40 +/- 10 seconds

Must contain the following elements in any order.
MUSIC •	 Music must have an audible rhythmic beat with the exception of 10 seconds at the beginning of 

the program.
•	 Music is strongly suggested to be in the same rhythms as the U.S. Figure Skating test structure.

EDGE 
ELEMENTS

One short edge element, but no more. The edge must be held for a minimum of three seconds, but 
cannot exceed six seconds.

SPIN One choreographic dance spin, but no more. Minimum of three revolutions on one foot. Spin 
combinations and flying spins not permitted.
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STEP 
SEQUENCES

One step sequence from the following list: circular, midline, or diagonal. 
•	 The step sequence must fully utilize the ice surface, should include a variety of steps and turns, 

and must include three-turns and mohawks.
•	 Not permitted elements: stops, pattern regressions, loops and jumps of more than one-half 

rotation, dance spins, and pirouettes.
TWIZZLE 
SERIES

One twizzle. Minimum one revolution.

DANCE 
STOPS

One full stop to express the character of the music, not to exceed five seconds. The stop must come at 
least 10 seconds after the start of the program and at least 10 seconds before the end of the program.

REMARKS •	 Choreographic dance spin – a dance spin on one foot in a position that enhances the music and 
choreography. This element is judged on how the spin relates to the music and the quality of the 
spin. Variations in position will only be rewarded if they enhance the character of the music.

TR 40.05  Solo dance track tests (standard, adult and masters) are a separate series of tests and are not related to dance tests 
skated with a partner. Therefore, the passing of a lower level solo dance track test (standard, adult or masters) does not 
qualify the candidate to take the next higher level standard, adult or masters partnered pattern dance test. These tests do 
not meet the requirements for the dance competition levels of senior down through pre-juvenile per rules 6200-6252 
and adult dance events per rules 6500-6601. However, these tests do meet the requirements for solo dance events at 
nonqualifying competitions and adult solo dance events per rules 6620-66616741.

Implementation date: July 1, 2017     Committee vote: 31 yes, 0 no, 1 abstain

Rationale: The introduction of adult solo free dance events will provide new opportunities for adult dancers who have 
difficulty finding a dance partner and crave the creative opportunity to compete in dance outside of solo pattern dances. 
Additionally, adult solo free dance events will support recent Adult Skating Committee community wellness initiatives by 
providing meaningful events for adult competitors who may prefer a low-impact alternative to free skate events.

To best serve adult skaters who may also choose to compete in the National Solo Dance Series (NSDS), the well-balanced 
program requirements (WBP) for these new adult solo free dance events are standardized with the NSDS solo free dance 
WBP requirements as follows: Adult Bronze Solo Free Dance WBP = NSDS Juvenile Solo Free Dance WBP, Adult Silver 
Solo Free Dance WBP = NSDS Novice Solo Free Dance WBP, Adult Gold Solo Free Dance WBP = NSDS Senior Solo 
Free Dance WBP. The alignment and spacing of these events will also easily expand to include Adult Pre-Silver Solo Free 
Dance (NSDS Intermediate) and Adult Pre-Gold Solo Free Dance (NSDS Junior) if/when needed.

For ease of implementation and standardization, the pattern dance prerequisites for these new events match the current adult 
solo pattern dance event prerequisites. The free dance prerequisites align with the National Solo Dance Series prerequisites 
where applicable, while also including adult and masters free dance tests.

In the past three years, the U.S. Adult Championships has been streamlined from 186 events to 128 events (a >30% reduction 
in possible events), providing room and the opportunity to strategically add selected events to the competition.

Financial impact: Expected positive financial impact. A survey of all athletes who competed in adult solo pattern dance 
in the last five years shows that 37% will compete and 29% might compete in an adult solo free dance event in addition to 
the other events in which they already participate, without exceeding the four-event limit at the U.S. Adult Championships; 
17% will or might compete in adult solo free dance instead of another event in which they currently compete; and 17% are 
not interested in competing in an adult solo free dance event.

The anticipated increase in nonqualifying starts due to the addition of adult solo free dance events is expected to have a 
positive financial impact on the U.S. Adult Championships and the nonqualifying competitions held in conjunction with 
adult sectionals.
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304. Adult Skating Committee
Amend rules 4580 and 4590 (pages 158-159, Rulebook) as follows:

4580 Championship Adult Silver and Adult Silver Singles
STEP OR 
SPIRAL 
SEQUENCE

Maximum of one choreographic element chosen from:
•	One step sequence (may include moves in the field and spirals) utilizing at least one-half of the ice 

surface
OR

•	One spiral sequence (any pattern) utilizing at least one-half of the ice surface
Notes:
•	Jumps may be included in the step sequence
•	Sequences that are too short and barely visible cannot be considered as meeting the requirements
•	Additional moves in the field sequences, spiral sequences and step sequences are permitted but 

will not be counted as elements; instead they will be counted as transitions and marked as such
When judged with IJS:
•	A sequence that meets the minimum requirements above will be awarded a fixed base value and 

evaluated by the judges in GOE
•	A sequence that does not meet the minimum requirements above will receive no value

4590 Adult Bronze Singles
STEP OR 
SPIRAL 
SEQUENCE

Maximum of one choreographic element chosen from:
•	One step sequence (may include moves in the field and spirals) utilizing at least one-half of the 

ice surface
OR

•	One spiral sequence (any pattern) utilizing at least one-half of the ice surface
Notes:
•	Jumps may be included in the step sequence
•	Sequences that are too short and barely visible cannot be considered as meeting the requirements
•	Additional moves in the field sequences, spiral sequences and step sequences are permitted but 

will not be counted as elements; instead they will be counted as transitions and marked as such
When judged with IJS:
•	A sequence that meets the minimum requirements above will be awarded a fixed base value and 

evaluated by the judges in GOE
•	A sequence that does not meet the minimum requirements above will receive no value

Implementation date: July 1, 2017     Committee vote: 31 yes, 1 no, 0 abstain

Rationale: Adult bronze and silver free skate events are increasingly being judged with IJS at nonqualifying competitions. 
These modifications clarify calling specifications for these events when judged with IJS, help skaters who are choreographing 
programs that will be judged both with IJS and 6.0, retain the skater’s option to perform spirals, and keep the step sequence 
language consistent throughout all adult levels.

Additionally, a separate item specifies that IJS will be used in the future for the championship adult silver singles events, 
requiring further specification of the step sequence required for these events.

Financial impact: None
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305. Adult Skating Committee
Amend rule 4580 (page 158, Rulebook) as follows:

4580 Championship Adult Silver and Adult Silver Singles
Test Qualifications as of the closing date for entries:
A. Skaters must have passed at least one of the following: 

1.  The adult silver free skate test and no higher adult free skate tests;
2.  Before Oct. 1, 1994, the standard juvenile free skate test and no higher standard free skate tests;
3.  On or after Oct. 1, 1994, the standard pre-juvenile free skate test and no higher free skate tests;
4.  Prior to Oct. 1, 1977, the 3rd figure test and no higher figure tests.

B. Skaters may have passed:
1.  Any figure tests or moves-in-the-field test on or after Oct. 1, 1977, and prior to Oct. 1, 1979, except for the 

8th figure test;
2.  Any figure tests or moves-in-the-field tests on or after Oct. 1, 1979.

If a skater has previously qualified to compete at the U.S. Adult Figure Skating Championships in Championship 
Adult Gold, said skater cannot compete in Championship Adult Silver.

Implementation date: July 1, 2017     Committee vote: 32 yes, 0 no, 0 abstain

Rationale: Skaters who have passed the juvenile free skate test prior to 10/1/94 are eligible to compete in both championship 
adult silver and championship adult gold free skate events. A similar restriction is part of the other championship adult 
singles events in cases where skaters have a choice of competition levels. Omission of the proposed restriction was an 
oversight when the championship silver event was created. This change standardizes the policy for all adult and masters 
championship singles events.

Financial impact: None

306. Adult Skating Committee
Amend rule 1041 (page 94, Rulebook) as follows:

1041  The International Judging System (IJS) and 6.0 majority system will be used as follows:
A.  The IJS will be used:

1.  At all regional and sectional championships, the U.S. Collegiate Figure Skating Championships and the U.S. 
Figure Skating Championships for all levels and disciplines;

2.  At all adult sectional championships for all championship singles events and the masters and adult gold levels 
of nonqualifying singles events;
a. This includes both qualifying and nonqualifying events at these levels.
b. The mini system is not required.

3.  At the U.S. Adult Figure Skating Championships for all championship events and the following nonqualifying 
events: the masters and adult gold levels of singles and pairs, and the masters, adult gold and adult pre-
gold levels of partnered ice dance (including masters open dance); this includes both the qualifying and 
nonqualifying events at these levels.

4.  At all synchronized sectional championships and the U.S. Synchronized Skating Championships for the 
senior, junior, novice, intermediate, juvenile, collegiate and adult events.

B.  The 6.0 system will be used:
1.  At all adult sectional championships for the adult silver (qualifying and nonqualifying) and below 

nonqualifying singles events and for all pairs, ice dance, dramatic entertainment and light entertainment 
events (see rule 4700 (A));

2.  At the U.S. Adult Figure Skating Championships for the adult silver and below nonqualifying singles, 
pairs and partnered ice dance events, for all solo dance events and for all dramatic entertainment and light 
entertainment events (see rule 4700 (A));

3.  At synchronized sectional championships and the U.S. Synchronized Skating Championships for preliminary, 
pre-juvenile, open juvenile, masters, open masters, open adult and open collegiate events.

C.  Nonqualifying competitions may use the IJS, the 6.0 system or a combination of both.
1.  If using the 6.0 system, the closed 6.0 system should be used except for synchronized skating events, which 

have the option of using the closed 6.0 system or the open 6.0 system of judging. 

Implementation date: July 1, 2017     Committee vote: 30 yes, 2 no, 0 abstain
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Rationale: This modification changes the judging system for the championship adult silver singles events at the adult 
sectional championships and the U.S. Adult Championships from 6.0 to IJS. As championship events, it is most appropriate 
to judge these events with IJS, and the athletes who participate in these events would like the feedback that IJS provides.

Although we estimate that this change in judging system will add 30 minutes of ice time to the championship adult 
silver singles events at the U.S. Adult Championships (and a corresponding increase in ice time at the adult sectional 
championships), these skaters pay the same fees as the other adult qualifying competitors, and their programs are the 
shortest in length.

We understand that this will result in adult silver free skate events being judged with two different judging systems at 
the same competition (IJS for qualifying events, 6.0 for nonqualifying events); however, using IJS for the adult silver 
nonqualifying events at the U.S. Adult Championships would require another day for technical panel officials and is not yet 
feasible. This is a first step in a transition to IJS judging for adult silver free skate events and we hope to judge nonqualifying 
adult silver events with IJS in the future as part of the larger efforts underway within the organization.

This modification is also written to specify the use of IJS for any future championship events at the U.S. Adult Figure 
Skating Championships and adult sectionals.

Financial impact: We estimate that this change in judging system will add 30 minutes of ice time to the championship 
adult silver singles events at the U.S. Adult Championships (and a corresponding increase in ice time at the adult sectional 
championships). These athletes pay the same fees as all other qualifying event skaters.

307. Adult Skating Committee
Amend TR 33.02 (page 265 Rulebook) as follows:

TR 33.02 The adult pair tests are divided into three classes:
Adult pair test Prerequisite
Adult bronze pair Pre-juvenile Preliminary moves in the field test or adult bronze moves in the field test (adult or 

masters passing average)
Adult silver pair Pre-jJuvenile moves in the field test or adult silver moves in the field test (adult or masters 

passing average)
Adult gold pair Intermediate Juvenile moves in the field test (standard, adult or masters passing average) or adult 

gold moves in the field test (adult or masters passing average)

Implementation date: July 1, 2017     Committee vote: 32 yes, 0 no, 0 abstain

Rationale: In past seasons, the rules for skaters wishing to cross over from standard-track moves in the field tests into the 
adult moves in the field test structure have been standardized with the following paradigm:  pre-preliminary is equivalent 
to adult pre-bronze, preliminary is equivalent to adult bronze, pre-juvenile is equivalent to adult silver and juvenile is 
equivalent to adult gold (reference rule TR 19.02 (C)).

The proposed changes are needed to maintain the consistency of this paradigm throughout the U.S. Figure Skating adult 
test structure.

Financial impact: None

308. Adult Skating Committee
Amend rule 6561 (page 209, Rulebook) as follows:

6561  Selection of Adult Silver Pattern Dances
A.  For each competitive season, the following groups of initial and final round dances will rotate in the order shown:

1.  2017-18 Group 3   Initial Round – European Waltz, Tango Fourteenstep
Final Round – Fourteenstep Tango

2.  2018-19 Group 1   Initial Round – Foxtrot, Tango American Waltz
Final Round – Blues

3.  2019-20 Group 2   Initial Round – European Waltz, Rocker Foxtrot Tango
Final Round – American Waltz Rocker Foxtrot
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B.  The dances will be skated in the order listed.
C.  Draw for the skating order of the couples shall will be made in accordance with rule 6074.
D.  Each couple may provide their own music for each dance. See rule 6031 (B) for requirements.

Implementation date: July 1, 2017     Committee vote: 31 yes, 0 no, 1 abstain

Rationale: The paradigm followed in adult dance competition is to make the final round dance a dance that is from the 
highest test level, when dances from more than one level are in that group’s rotation. An unintended consequence of recent 
changes to the adult partnered dance selections is that the Adult Silver Pattern Dance Group 3 dance selections diverge from 
this paradigm. There are also currently two waltzes in Group 2. These modifications make the final round dance a dance that 
is from the highest test level in all cases while also improving the variety of dance rhythms in Group 2.

Financial impact: None

309. Adult Skating Committee
Amend rule 6571 (page 209, Rulebook) as follows:

6571 Selection of Adult Pre-Silver Pattern Dances
A. For each competitive season, the following groups of initial and final round dances will rotate in the order shown:

1. 2017-18 Group 1   Initial Round – Willow Waltz, FoxtrotHickory Hoedown
Final Round – Hickory HoedownFoxtrot

2. 2018-19 Group 2   Initial Round – Ten-Fox, European Waltz 
Final Round – Fourteenstep

B.  The dances will be skated in the order listed.
C.  Draw for the skating order of the couples shall will be made in accordance with rule 6074.
D.  Each couple may provide their own music for each dance. See rule 6031 (B) for requirements.

Implementation date: July 1, 2017     Committee vote: 30 yes, 0 no, 1 abstain

Rationale: The paradigm followed in adult dance competition is to make the final round dance a dance that is from the 
highest test level, when dances from more than one level are in that group’s rotation. An unintended consequence of recent 
changes to the adult partnered dance selections is that the Adult Pre-Silver Pattern Dance Group 1 dance selections diverge 
from this paradigm. This modification corrects the situation.

Financial impact: None

310. Adult Skating Committee
Amend rule 6581 (page 209, Rulebook) as follows:

6581 Selection of Adult Bronze Pattern Dances
A. For each competitive season, the following groups of initial and final round dances will rotate in the order shown:

1. 2017-18 Group 1   Initial Round – Cha Cha, Ten-Fox 
Final Round – Hickory Hoedown

2. 2018-19 Group 2   Initial Round – Hickory HoedownSwing Dance, Fiesta Tango 
Final Round – Willow Waltz

B.  The dances will be skated in the order listed.
C.  Draw for the skating order of the couples shall will be made in accordance with rule 6074.
D.  Each couple may provide their own music for each dance. See rule 6031 (B) for requirements.

Implementation date: July 1, 2017     Committee vote: 30 yes, 0 no, 1 abstain

Rationale: This modification will rotate through all of the bronze and pre-bronze dances without repeating any. This will 
provide more variety to the athletes competing in this event.

Financial impact: None
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311. Adult Skating Committee
Amend rule 6591 (page 209, Rulebook) as follows:

6591  Selection of Adult Pre-Bronze Pattern Dances
A. For each competitive season, the following groups of initial and final round dances will rotate in the order shown:

1. 2017-18 Group 1   Initial Round – Dutch Waltz, Cha ChaRhythm Blues
Final Round – Rhythm BluesFiesta Tango

2. 2018-19 Group 2   Initial Round – Canasta Tango, Swing Dance
Final Round – Fiesta TangoCha Cha

B.  The dances will be skated in the order listed.
C.  Draw for the skating order of the couples shall will be made in accordance with rule 6074.
D.  Each couple may provide their own music for each dance. See rule 6031 (B) for requirements.

Implementation date: July 1, 2017      Committee vote: 31 yes, 0 no, 1 abstain

Rationale: The paradigm followed in adult dance competition is to make the final round dance a dance that is from the 
highest test level, when dances from more than one level are in that group’s rotation. An unintended consequence of recent 
changes to the adult partnered dance selections is that the Adult Pre-Bronze Pattern Dance Group 1 dance selections diverge 
from this paradigm. There are also currently two tangos Group 2. These modifications make the final round dance a dance 
that is from the highest test level in all cases while also improving the variety of dance rhythms in Group 2. 

Financial impact: None

312. Adult Skating Committee
Amend rule 6601 (page 210, Rulebook) as follows:

6601 Selection of Centennial Pattern Dances
A. For each competitive season, the following groups of initial and final round dances will rotate in the order shown:

1. 2017-18 Group 3   Initial Round – Fourteenstep, American Waltz
Final Round – Rocker Foxtrot

2. 2018-19 Group 1   Initial Round – Fourteenstep European Waltz, Rocker Foxtrot
Final Round – Blues

3. 2019-20 Group 2   Initial Round – Foxtrot, Tango
Final Round – Paso Doble

B.  The dances will be skated in the order listed.
C.  Draw for the skating order of the couples shall will be made in accordance with rule 6074.
D.  Each couple may provide their own music for each dance. See rule 6031 (B) for requirements.

Implementation date: July 1, 2017     Committee vote: 29 yes, 0 no, 2 abstain

Rationale: This modification will replace one repeated pre-silver dance with another pre-silver dance that is not currently 
in the rotation. This will provide more variety to the athletes competing in this event.

Financial impact: None

313. Competitions Committee
Add new rules CR 9.00-9.04 and amend current rules CR 9.00-9.03 and 10.00-10.01 (pages 32-33, Rulebook) as 
follows:

CR 9.00 Inactive Status
CR 9.01 Inactive status for a one-year period may be granted by the appropriate national vice chair on the Competitions 

Committee upon written request by a referee, accountant, music coordinator, announcer or ice technician. Such inactive 
status may be extended for one year, if requested, but inactive status may not exceed two years.

CR 9.02 During the period of inactive status an official is not subject to the requirements of rule CR 7.20 but remains on 
file at U.S. Figure Skating headquarters as an inactive official and receives all communications directed to officials of 
the same type (e.g. referee, accountant, music coordinator, announcer or ice technician). An official is not eligible to 
officiate at competitions while registered in inactive status.
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CR 9.03 Upon written request of an inactive referee, accountant, music coordinator, announcer or ice technician for 
reinstatement to active status, the appropriate national vice chair will designate the activity needed for the candidate to 
regain full active status.

CR 9.04 If an inactive referee, accountant, music coordinator, announcer or ice technician does not request reinstatement to 
active status by the conclusion of the two-year period, said official will be deemed to have resigned their appointment(s) 
and will be removed from the list of officials accordingly.

CR 910.00 Retirement or Resignation of Officials
CR 10.01 Referees, accountants, music coordinators, announcers and ice technicians in good standing who have served 

a minimum of 10 years at any level and who wish to retire voluntarily from all of their appointments will be awarded 
a certificate as Emeritus Official U.S. Figure Skating. The request for this status must be made in writing to the 
appropriate national vice chair on the Competitions Committee. This is honorific only and carries no right to officiate 
any competition.

CR 10.02 National referees, accountants, music coordinators and announcers desiring to resign some or all of their officials’ 
appointments must submit a written notice to the chair of the Competitions Committee to that effect. The chair will 
accept the resignation and report such action to the Board of Directors at its next ensuing in-person meeting. If the 
official has resigned all appointments, the official’s name will be removed from the list of officials at the meeting unless 
other action is directed by the Board of Directors.

CR 9.0110.03 All other When referees, or accountants, music coordinators, announcers and ice technicians desiring wish 
to resign their appointments and to have their name removed from the list, they shall must submit send a written notice 
to that effect and the reason for resigning to the appropriate national vice chair on of the Competitions Committee for 
appropriate action. With respect to world and international referees, the chair shall send a written notice to the secretary 
of U.S. Figure Skating, who will notify the ISU. The vice chair will accept the resignation and notify U.S. Figure 
Skating headquarters to remove the official’s name from the official list of referees, accountants, music coordinators, 
announcers and/or ice technicians.

CR 1011.00 Honorary Appointments
CR 1011.01 The Board of Directors appoints hHonorary national referees, and accountants, music coordinators, announcers 

and ice technicians. are appointed by the Board of Directors from amongst those national officials who resign as per 
rule CR 9.02. 
A. Recommendations for such appointments are made by the chair of the Competitions Committee, supported by 

information from the appropriate sectional national vice chair as may be deemed necessary by the chair, from among 
those referees and accountants who have retired from active service. 

B. Certificates shall will be awarded to those appointed. 
C. While Officials in the honorary classification, a referee or accountant may not officiate at qualifying competitions 

but shall will be eligible to be reinstated to an appropriate active classification per rule CR 9.03 should the reasons 
for their inactivity cease to exist.

Implementation date: July 1, 2017     Committee votes: 52 yes, 1 no, 2 abstain

Rationale: To add information that currently exists for other types of officials

Financial impact: None

314. Competitions Committee
Amend rule 1041 (page 94, Rulebook) as follows:

1041 The International Judging System (IJS) and 6.0 majority system will be used as follows:
C. At nonqualifying competitions: may use the IJS, the 6.0 system or a combination of both. 

1. The IJS system of judging must be used for all singles short program and well-balanced free skate events 
except as follows:
a. The 6.0 system may be used at pre-juvenile and lower free skating events at competitions where IJS is 

offered as long as an equivalent IJS event is offered at the same level.
b. The 6.0 system may be used for all levels of high school and intercollegiate championships; however, if 

used, the event may not offer short program events using the 6.0 system.
c. The 6.0 system may be used for competitions that have been sanctioned with no free skate events above 

juvenile. Competitions that do not exceed the juvenile / open juvenile free skate level may offer the 6.0 
system as their sole judging system.

d. The 6.0 system may be used for all adult well-balanced free skate events,
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2. The 6.0 system may be used for all test track, showcase, Learn to Skate USA, Theatre On Ice, Special Olympics, 
therapeutic skating, solo dance, partnered dance, pairs, synchronized skating and specialty events (spins, 
compulsory moves, jumps, etc.).

13. If using the 6.0 system, the closed 6.0 system should be used except for synchronized skating events, which have 
the option of using the closed 6.0 system or the open 6.0 system of judging.

Implementation date: January 1, 2018    Committee vote: 35 yes, 11 no, 2 abstain

Rationale: The international judging system has been used for the last 10 years. Our country is one of the last to still utilize 
a form of the 6.0 Majority system. However, we are no longer training judges to use the 6.0 system as we once did. The 
likelihood of having the funds to keep the officials trained sufficiently in two systems necessitates that we chose one system 
for our competitive events. 

This ballot item is based upon phasing out of 6.0 by requiring IJS to be offered at lower levels at all events currently offering 
IJS. Provisions will remain that will allow events that are catering to entry level skaters, or specialized events such as high 
school and intercollegiate to continue to utilize the 6.0 system for all free skating levels. 

Financial impact: This rule change will result in an increase in time between skaters at the lower levels of between 15 
and 20 seconds per affected start. Based upon a preliminary program length of 1:30 and judging times / announcing times 
of 1:00 and 1:15 respectively for the 6.0 and IJS systems we expect a 10 percent increase in time and ice cost between the 
two systems. Events with longer program times will be impacted in a lessor percentage. The proposal may also require 
additional accounting staff at an event.

315. Competitions Committee
Amend rule 3032 (C) (page 134, Rulebook) as follows:

3032 For all sanctioned, nonqualifying competitions, the local organizing committee must select the following officials:
C. Technical Panel Officials (for IJS events only, see rule 2133) to include at a minimum:

1. For events that are juvenile level and above:
1a. Technical controller
2b.  Technical specialist
3c.  Assistant technical specialist
In an emergency situation, when a shortage of technical panel personnel arises, the chief referee may assign 
one technical controller and one technical specialist to the technical panel.

2. For singles events below juvenile, the chief referee may assign one technical panel official to serve on the 
event. This technical panel official may be a technical controller or a technical specialist.

Implementation date: January 1, 2018    Committee vote: 27 yes, 18 no, 3 abstain

Rationale: With the movement to require that IJS be used at the lower free skating levels, it is necessary to recognize the 
potential increase the costs that would be required for a competition to staff these extra events. As all leveled elements 
at these levels are a maximum of Level 1, a three person technical panel is not always necessary. In discussions with the 
Technical Panel Committee chair we have agreed that the technical panel duties could adequately be handled by as few as 
one official. While three technical panel officials is highly recommended, depending upon the availability, the chief referee 
of a competition may reduce the number of technical panel officials to as low as one qualified technical panel official. It 
is believed that most events will have at least one of these officials available without the need to increase the number of 
officials / cost of their event.

Financial impact: As there is no real perceived change in the number of officials required to staff an event at a competition 
there is no financial impact expected. As with the previous item related to this topic, there may be a need for additional 
accounting staff.

316. Competitions Committee
Amend rule 1071 (A)(1) (page 96, Rulebook) as follows:

1071 IJS Basic Principles of Calculation – All Skating Disciplines
A. Total technical score for each segment (pattern dance, short program, short dance, free skate, free dance)

1. Scale of Values: Every section of a pattern dance and every element (i.e. required element of a short program, 
short dance, free skate and free dance) has a certain base value indicated in the Scale of Values.
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a. For single skating, pair skating, ice dance and synchronized skating competitions conducted by U.S. 
Figure Skating using the IJS, U.S. Figure Skating will use the current ISU Scale of Values for the event 
discipline.

b. U.S. Figure Skating may supplement the ISU Scale of Values to include elements that are currently not 
included in them or may develop a separate Scale of Values for lower-level events and beginning skaters.

c. The current ISU Scale of Values for each discipline, and any additional Scale of Values created by U.S. 
Figure Skating will shall be posted at usfigureskating.org under the “Technical Info” link.

d. Non-listed Elements. Elements not in the ISU Scale of Values are considered to be non-listed elements for 
all events judged using the IJS per rule 1041 (A) and do not have point values if performed. Non-listed 
elements that are not otherwise illegal, must be evaluated as transitions/linking movements by the judges.

Implementation date: July 1, 2017     Committee vote: 45 yes, 2 no, 1 abstain

Rationale: To bring our rules in line with current practice for competitions using IJS at levels below juvenile.

Financial impact: None

317. Competitions Committee
Amend rules 1071 (C)(1)(a) and (g) (pages 96-97, Rulebook) as follows:

1071 IJS Basic Principles of Calculation – All Skating Disciplines
C. Deductions are applied for each violation.

1. In singles and pairs, deductions are applied for each violation as follows:
a. Program time violations: 

i. -0.5 for every five seconds lacking or in excess for no test, pre-preliminary, preliminary, pre-juvenile, 
juvenile, intermediate and adult singles and pairs events.

ii. -1.0 for every five seconds lacking or in excess for novice, junior and senior singles and pairs events.

g. Falls in singles (see rule 1400 for the definition of a fall):
i. -0.25 for every fall in no test and pre-preliminary singles events
ii. -0.5 for every fall in preliminary, pre-juvenile, juvenile, intermediate, novice and adult singles events.
iii. -1.0 for every fall in junior singles events.
ivii. In senior singles events: -1.0 each for the first and second falls, -2.0 each for the third and fourth falls, 

-3.0 each for the fifth and any further falls.

Implementation date: July 1, 2017     Committee vote: 44 yes, 3 no, 1 abstain

Rationale: Currently, if a competition chooses to use IJS for levels below juvenile, the above deductions would apply. This 
brings these deductions into our rulebook officially while keeping us consistent with the current software.

Financial impact: None

318. Competitions Committee
Amend rules 4250, 4260, 4270 and 4280 (pages 152-154, Rulebook) — pre-juvenile singles, preliminary singles, pre-
preliminary singles and no test singles well-balanced free skates — to limit the spins to a maximum of Level 1 and 
change the step sequences to choreographic step sequences in competitions judged using the IJS.

Implementation date: January 1, 2018    Committee vote: 44 yes, 3 no, 1 abstain

Rationale: Currently, if a competition chooses to use IJS for levels below juvenile, they must follow the requirements 
in Technical Notification (TN) #151, which limit levels to a maximum of Level 1 for spins and identify step sequences 
as choreographic elements rather than leveled elements. This proposal keep us consistent with TN #151 (and the current 
software) when officially incorporating IJS into our rules for these developmental levels.

Financial impact: None
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319. Competitions Committee
Amend rule 1322 (A)(1) (page 104, Rulebook) as follows:

1322 Before each performance, the name of the competitor/team will be called. 
A. For IJS events:

1. Every singles, pairs and ice dance competitor/team must take the starting position of each segment of the 
competition (pattern dance, short program, short dance, free skate or free dance) no later than 30 seconds 
after the competitor’s/team’s name has been announced. If the competitor/team has not taken their starting 
position within 30 seconds after their name is announced, the referee will deduct 1.00. If the competitor/team 
has not taken their starting position within 60 seconds after their name is announced, the competitor/team will 
be considered withdrawn.
a. For novice, intermediate, juvenile and adult singles, pairs and ice dance events, the first competitor/team 

in a warm-up group will be granted an additional 30 seconds after their name is announced. The timing 
procedure as described in (A)(1) above will start after that extra 30 seconds time period.

Implementation date: July 1, 2017     Committee vote: 59 yes, 2 no, 0 abstain

Rationale: This change was implemented by the ISU in June 2016 and has been used by U.S. Figure Skating at the junior 
and senior levels for the 2016-17 season. After testing this for a season at the higher levels, we are confident that 30 seconds 
is sufficient for the first skater after each warm-up to be able to take the starting position.

Financial impact: None

320. Competitions Committee
Amend rule CR 7.03 (E) (page 30, Rulebook) as follows:

CR 7.03 Recommendations for appointment for:
E. National, sectional, regional and certified 6.0 accountant, national, sectional and regional music coordinator and 

national, sectional, regional and nonqualifying announcer should include: a summary of the candidate’s qualifications 
(e.g. experience, temperament, competitions attended, U.S. Figure Skating number, etc.).
1. A candidate for national or sectional accountant must have attended at least one sanctioned accountant’s school 

or seminar or maintained the number of Continuing Education Units (CEUs) required by the Competitions 
Committee during the preceding four-year period.

2. A candidate for regional or certified 6.0 accountant must have attended a sanctioned accountant’s school.

Implementation date: July 1, 2017     Committee vote: 59 yes, 2 no, 0 abstain

Rationale: It has been noted that many events use announcers who are quite accomplished but due to time commitments 
may not be able to pursue the advancement within the announcer community. Unfortunately these individuals are not 
presented in the directory as they hold no appointment and are therefore invisible to other clubs in their immediate area who 
may be searching for competent individuals to fill this role at their events. 

This proposal would allow for the creation of a nonqualifying competition announcer appointment. The requirement would 
be that the individual obtain the recommendation of three qualified referees and/or sectional or higher announcers. Once 
appointed they will be added to the directory. This listing will serve as a resource to clubs in search of an announcer for 
their events.

The other additions of sectional and regional music coordinators and announcers are to address omissions from our rules of 
appointments that already exist.

Financial impact: This will hopefully save local organizing committees money by making them aware of additional 
qualified announcers.
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321. Competitions Committee
Amend rule 1232 (C) (page 101, Rulebook) as follows:

1232 The official calculation software and official judging system hardware for U.S. Figure Skating includes:
C. Judging System “IVR” Hardware – Complete systems, hardware components and “IVR” software provided 

supported by an approved judging system vendor of U.S. Figure Skating.

Implementation date: July 1, 2017     Committee vote: 58 yes, 0 no, 3 abstain

Rationale: If there is a change in the approved judging system vendor, the current wording could result in all current 
IVR hardware/software not being approved since the new vendor would not have ‘provided’ the hardware/software. This 
proactive change would allow the current IVR hardware/software to continue to be approved as long as the new vendor 
supports the equipment.

Financial impact: None

322. Competitions Committee
Amend rule 1235 (F) (page 102, Rulebook) as follows:

1235 Duties of the Accountants – IJS
The duties of accountants generally are as specified in rules 1230–1234. In addition, for events using the IJS, the 
accountants must comply with the following:
F.  The technical accountants may bring to the officials’ stand an electronic communicative device for the sole 

purpose of accessing official documents related to the event, obtaining assistance in the case of equipment/
network failure, or to perform their job duties.

Implementation date: May 7, 2017     Committee vote: 59 yes, 1 no, 1 abstain

Rationale: If the rink-side system goes down, the technical accountant may need to contact outside sources for assistance. 
This may happen during an event, and the rules need to be clear that this is permissible.

Financial impact: None

323. Competitions Committee
Amend rules 3013, 3045 and 4021 (pages 133, 135 and 139, Rulebook) as follows:

3010 Nonqualifying Competitions – Events
3013 Singles and Pairs:

A. The free skate is performed by each competitor/team individually.
B. The event may consist of a short program only, a short program and free skate combined or free skate only.
C.  In singles, girls and boys may compete against each other at the pre-juvenile level and lower.

3040 Nonqualifying Competitions – Entries
3045 At nonqualifying competitions, if only one eligible competitor/team enters an event, the entry fee will be refunded, 

and the event will be cancelled., except as follows:
A. For pre-juvenile and lower level singles events, the one eligible competitor will be given the option to compete 

in an equivalent event against skaters of the opposite gender. Should said skater decline this option, the entry fee 
will be refunded, and the single-entry event will be cancelled.

A.3046 If more than one competitor/team enters but, due to withdrawals, only one competitor/team appears at a singles, 
pairs, ice dance or synchronized skating event, the referee will offer the competitor/team the option to skate. If the 
competitor/team chooses to skate, judges will award their marks according to the rules and the applicable scoring 
system used, and the competitor/team will receive first place. If the competitor/team chooses not to skate, the entry 
fee will be refunded.

Current rules 3046 and 3047 will be re-numbered accordingly.

4020 Singles Event Names
4021 The title “men” or “ladies” shall will apply to all singles events at or above the intermediate level, all adult singles 

events, all intercollegiate singles events and all open singles events. All other singles events shall will use the title 
“boys” or “girls.” If boys and girls are competing against each other at the pre-juvenile level or below, the title 
“singles” will apply (i.e. pre-juvenile singles free skate).
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Implementation date: July 1, 2017     Committee vote: 49 yes, 10 no, 2 abstain

Rationale: This item was proposed as new business at the 2016 Governing Council Meeting and referred to the Competitions 
Committee for further review. The intent of the original proposal has been refined to indicate that only the single-entry 
skater can choose not to compete. It is believed that this will give more opportunities for males to compete at nonqualifying 
competitions.

Financial impact: Perhaps a small increase in revenue due to increased entries from boys who would have previously 
withdrawn and taken the refund.

324. Competitions Committee
Amend rule 2471 (page 119, Rulebook) to allow the Competitions Committee to establish a summer event series based 
upon scores that would allow the highest placing skaters in the juvenile through senior singles events to bypass regionals 
and start at sectionals.

2470 Qualifying for Sectional Championships – Singles/Pairs/Dance
2471 Singles competitors qualify for sectional championships by:

A. Placing in the top four at a regional championship;
B. Placing in the top five of the skaters within their section of the USA Challenger Series;
BC. For junior and senior events, any Team USA skater who has been assigned to an international competition, 

regardless of whether it conflicts with their regional championship. Said skater would have the choice to compete 
at their regional championship but would not lose their bye to the sectional championship regardless of placement, 
nor displace a skater who might place in the top four at regionals if said skater was not entered;

CD. Having four or fewer entries in their event at a regional championship or having 12 or fewer entries in their 
event in all regional championships within their section;

DE. Having won the U.S. Championships at the novice level the previous season, if competing at the novice level 
this season;

EF.  Having won the U.S. Championships at the junior level the previous season, if competing at the junior level 
this season;

FG. Having won a sectional championship at the senior level the previous season.

Note (not to be put in the rules): This national series (much like ISU Challenger Series) would consist of 10 to 12 events, 
although expansion of this number to include additional events that meet the requirements will be considered. The series 
events would have the following requirements:
•	 Existing events would request inclusion in the series, and the events would be selected annually. 
•	 The events would be required to meet minimum technical panel and judging panel requirements. 
•	 Events being conducted from and including the Memorial Day weekend through and including mid-September will be 

considered.
•	 Skaters may skate as many of the events as they wish, but only their top two total scores (total short and long programs) 

will count. 
•	 The top five ranked skaters by score from each section and for each level (juvenile through senior) will receive a bye 

through their regional championships to their respective sectional championships. 

If this proposal is approved we would propose starting the series in May 2018. Once approved, we will finalize development 
of the following portions of the program.
	Develop a system for tracking the scores from the events within the series. The scores for each level will be tracked by 

event in a matrix format. The skaters will be ranked by the total score based upon a maximum of two events.
	Develop a system and group that will be responsible for the selection of events within the series. There most likely will 

be events that will be consistent events each year; however, it will be important to allow some rotation of events between 
interested competitions. Ideally the selected events will be distributed equally among sections.

	Develop, in conjunction with the Judges and Technical Panel Committees, the minimum panel requirements necessary 
to establish some conformity of scores between the various events.

Implementation date: May 1, 2018     Committee vote: 36 yes, 18 no, 7 abstain

Rationale: There is a desire to recognize skaters who may have a very good season of nonqualifying events but then 
may have an error or illness at the regional championships that results in them not continuing in the qualifying system to 
sectionals. It is believed that this type of series will promote skaters competing more based upon the potential benefit of 
qualifying directly to sectionals.
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In association with President Auxier’s “Compete to Win” program we are proposing a series of events from which scores 
will be tracked for the juvenile through senior levels. The events considered to be included in the series would be from May 
1 to mid-September. Skaters would be allowed to enter as many of the events as they wish but only their top two total scores 
would count. The skaters would be ranked by section (Pacific Coast, Midwestern, and Eastern) and the standings would be 
available on the U.S. Figure Skating website and updated following each of the events in the series. At the end of the series 
the top five rated skaters in each level from each section will receive a bye through their respective regional championship 
and be advanced directly to their sectional championship.

The specific requirements for an event to be included in the series will be worked out with a group that will be assembled 
from the Competitions, Judges, and Technical Panel Committees that will be recommended by and may include the chairs 
of these committees. They will also serve as the group that will select the series competitions.

It is expected that 10 to 12 events will form the initial year’s series. Once the series is established and the requirements set 
it may be possible to expand the number of competitions included in the series. Currently there are a number of events in 
each section of the country that may be able to meet the requirements that will be established. There are also events in each 
section of the County that currently far exceed any requirements that would be established. It is expected that these events 
will form the core group of the series in the first couple of years.

Financial impact: There will be no grants or additional fees given to the events selected. It is expected that the participating 
events will gain additional entries that will compensate them for any perceived additional expenses associated with 
participation in the series. There will be headquarters costs associated with tracking scores and the loss of regional entry 
fees for a potential of 25 ladies and 25 men within each section that will be distributed among the regions that the qualifying 
skaters represent.

325. Competitions Committee
Amend rule 2401 (B) (page 116, Rulebook) as follows:

2400 Qualifying Competitions – Entries
2401 Entry for singles, pairs, ice dance and synchronized skating for qualifying competitions must be submitted to U.S. 

Figure Skating headquarters by the closing date for entries using the online registration method. No paper entries are 
accepted. NO LATE ENTRIES WILL BE ACCEPTED.
B. All skaters/teams entries must include the appropriate entry fee and an administration fee. Once entries have 

closed, entry fees are only refundable if the competition is not held. Administration fees are not refundable.
1. The entry fees for all regional, sectional, synchronized sectional and adult sectional championships, the U.S. 

Collegiate Championships and the U.S. Adult Championships are determined by the chair of the Competitions 
Committee, in consultation with the sectional vice chairs, and approved by the Board of Directors. No entry 
fee will be charged for the U.S. Figure Skating Championships.
a. Competitors who qualify for the U.S. Adult Figure Skating Championships by virtue of having competed 

at adult sectionals in championship masters junior-senior free skate, championship masters intermediate-
novice free skate, championship adult gold free skate, championship adult silver free skate, championship 
adult pairs and championship adult dance will not be charged an entry fee for those specific events at the 
U.S. Adult Figure Skating Championships.

2. Entries in qualifying competitions shall will not be accepted from entrants who have obligations that are 
unpaid from prior qualifying competitions.

3. If an adult competitor enters a nonqualifying event at the U.S. Adult Championships and qualifies through the 
adult sectional championships to skate in the corresponding championship event, they will have the option to 
withdraw from the nonqualifying event and receive a refund. Such withdrawal must occur within seven days 
of qualification at the adult sectional championship, or within seven days of being notified of qualification 
due to alternate status and withdrawal of a previously qualified skater.

Implementation date: July 1, 2017     Committee vote – entry fee: 52 yes, 7 no, 2 abstain
               Committee vote – refund: 48 yes, 8 no, 4 abstain

Rationale: Over the years the number of championship events that qualify to the U.S. Adult Championships from adult 
sectional events has continued to grow. They represent a large portion of the ice time demand and costs of producing the 
U.S. Adult Championships, and this competition does not have the benefit of significant TV, ticket and sponsorship revenue 
to help cover these costs. In order to facilitate placement of the U.S. Adult Championships in the future, it is important to 
make sure that this segment of the competition pays an entry fee. This proposal has been supported by the Adult Skating 
Committee who voted in favor of both the new entry fee (28 yes, 6 no) and the refund clause (33 yes, 1 no).
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The registration deadline for the U.S. Adult Championships and the adult sectional qualifying events is the same date, 
February 1. This means that adult athletes must decide if they will register for nonqualifying events at the U.S. Adult 
Championships before they know if they will qualify to skate in a championship event at the U.S. Adult Championships. 
With the proposal to strike 2400 (B)(1)(a) and require adult qualifiers to pay an entry fee for their qualifying event at the U.S. 
Adult Championships, adult athletes may have a difficult time deciding if they should enter a corresponding nonqualifying 
event at the U.S. Adult Championships. For financial reasons, they may want to compete in a nonqualifying event at the U.S. 
Adult Championships only if they do not qualify through the adult sectional championships to compete in a championship 
event. A time frame for them to execute the withdrawal in order to obtain the refund is included in the proposal.

Financial impact: Increased expenses for those who qualify to compete in the championship events at the U.S. Adult 
Championships by virtue of having competed at adult sectionals. Increased revenue for the local organizing committees to 
cover the costs of ice and other expenses it takes to run these events. 

326. Competitions Committee
Amend rule 2410 (page 117, Rulebook) as follows:

2410 Determining a skater’s/team’s competitive region
A. Intermediate and juvenile singles skaters must compete in the region where legal residence is established or 

where the principal training center is located as indicated during the online registration process (see definitions 
below).

BA. Singles skaters, novice and above, not also entering a partnered event must compete at the regional 
championship held in the region in which their home club is located.

CB. All pair and ice dance couples bypass the regional championships and go directly to the sectional 
championships. Teams with different home clubs may choose to compete in the sectional championships of 
either partner’s home club. 
1. Skaters entering a singles event in addition to a partnered event must enter a regional championship of either 

their home club region or the home club region of their partner within the section they have chosen for the 
partnered event.

2412C. Individual members, if residing in the United States, must enter the championship of the section or region 
in which their legal residence is located. If residing outside the United States, they must enter the championship 
held in the section or region whose boundary is nearest to the city of their legal residence.

Implementation date: July 1, 2017     Committee vote: 59 yes, 0 no, 1 abstain

Rationale: The “legal residence” and “principal training center” requirements were put into the rules in 2006. Over the 
past 10 years of utilizing them, it has become clear that they are difficult to verify and enforce, and have led to a significant 
number of protests. Having different rules for different levels and events also creates a lot of confusion amongst our 
members and can lead to errors when people are registering if they don’t pay enough attention to the details within their 
own applications. “Home club” is a well-defined and consistent way to determine competitive region, and it is easy to verify 
and enforce. Ultimately, it is up to the clubs to determine what residency and training requirements are necessary for their 
members. 

Financial impact: None

327. Competitions Committee
Amend rule 2735 (page 123, Rulebook) as follows: 

2735 How to establish draw groups to determine a starting order:
B. TV Rule: U.S. Figure Skating Championships Only

1. Following the conclusion of the short program / short dance segment of the championship (senior) ladies, 
men’s, pairs and ice dance events, the number of competitors qualifying for the free skate / free dance 
segment will be limited to the top 18 finishers in the men’s and ladies short program, the top 16 finishers in 
the pairs short program, and the top 15 finishers in the short dance for ice dance.

12. At the U.S. Figure Skating Championships only, tThe championship (senior) ladies, men’s and pairs free 
skate, and championship (senior) free dance events will be drawn as follows:
Ladies and men: The last two warm-up groups will consist of not fewer than 10 and not more than 12 
competitors, with the exact number to be decided by the chief referee in consultation with the executive 
director prior to the draw of the short program.

The remaining sub-paragraphs will be re-numbered accordingly.
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Implementation date: July 1, 2017     Committee vote: 40 yes, 18 no, 3 abstain

Rationale: Currently we have many ways to qualify for the U.S. Championships based upon a skater’s past placement, 
international team participation, and sectional qualification. There is a limitation, however, on the number of skaters that 
can be accommodated in a senior event at the U.S. Championships, especially during the free skate/free dance portions on 
Saturday and Sunday where we have time schedules dictated by television.

The reduction in numbers will allow the U.S. Championship schedule to better fit within the required time schedules, 
regardless of time zone, for the free skate events but will still allow all the skaters who can qualify to compete at U.S. 
Championships the opportunity to do so. It will also make it easier to set the schedule, as the chief referee will always 
know the maximum number of competitors in the free skate, hopefully eliminating the frequent schedule changes that can 
occur during the U.S. Championships. In addition, this model matches the model for ISU Championships, so it is good 
for our national senior competitors to get experience competing in a similar format. The committee has in the past looked 
at minimum qualifying scores, reducing the number of qualifying skaters from sectionals, and other means of limiting 
the skaters. This proposal seems like the best compromise to allow skaters from each section who place in the top four to 
participate at the U.S. Championships while still maintaining our contract requirements to our national broadcaster.

Financial impact: None

328. Competitions Committee
Organize a separate championship event for juvenile and intermediate qualifiers from the three sectional championships. 
The event would be held in January / early February each year at a location determined by the Competitions Committee, or 
a group decided by the U.S. Figure Skating Board of Directors, and approved by the U.S. Figure Skating Board of Directors. 
The event would consist of men’s singles, ladies singles, pairs and ice dance for the juvenile and intermediate levels.

Skaters would be charged an entry fee and practice ice fees. The entry fee would be decided by the chair of the Competitions 
Committee and approved by the U.S. Figure Skating Board of Directors.

The four best-placed skaters from each section, plus the skaters earning the six next highest scores from all three sections 
combined will qualify to compete in this competition.

Implementation date: July 1, 2018 Committee vote – overall idea: 53 yes, 6 no, 2 abstain
           Committee vote – fees: 25 both fees, 9 entry fee only, 19 practice ice fee only
           Committee vote – qualifiers: 28 for 4/section + 6, 22 for 6/section, 8 for 4/section

Rationale: The rolling of the juvenile and intermediate levels into the U.S. Championships has been tried for several years. 
It has resulted in an event that is very long and hard to stage properly for all concerned. The original concept was to expose 
our young, up-and-coming skaters to their heroes in the championship events. This concept has been dropped in the last few 
years to a point where the juvenile and intermediate skaters are completed before most of the championship skaters arrive 
at the U.S. Championships. The proposal would allow for the shortening of the U.S. Championships while at the same time 
allowing for a properly sized championship competition for the juvenile and intermediate events.

There will be costs associated with organizing, staffing and operating this event, but it will be without the benefit of the 
ticket sales associated with the championship events to offset the costs, as with the current structure for the U.S. Figure 
Skating Championships. This proposal is consistent with the fees charged for regional and sectional championships.

Financial impact: To be determined based upon final scope and size of event. One hundred (100) percent of entry fees 
would be passed through to the LOC (except for an administrative fee, which would be retained by U.S. Figure Skating). It 
is estimated that the cost to put on the event will be approximately $80,000 to $100,000.
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329. Competitions Committee
Replace rule 1403 (page 105, Rulebook) with the language below, add new rule 1404 (page 105, Rulebook), and amend 
rules 1071 (C)(1)(h), 1071 (C)(2)(j) and 7932 (A)(6)(e) (pages 97 and 245, Rulebook) as follows:

1403  Stops Allowance of a Delayed Start or Restart — Singles/Pairs/Dance
A.  If the tempo or quality of the music is deficient, the competitor(s) must stop skating and notify the event referee. 

No restart may be made if the competitor fails to inform the event referee within 30 seconds after the start. If 
the interruption happens after the 30 second mark, the performance will continue from the point of interruption. 
Back-up music must be readily available at rinkside. No deduction will be made by the event referee or judges.

B. If an interruption or stop in the music or any other adverse condition unrelated to the competitor(s) or the 
competitor’s equipment, such as lighting, ice condition, etc., occurs, the competitor(s) must stop skating at 
the acoustic signal of the event referee and report to the event referee. Immediately after the problem has been 
resolved, the competitor(s) will continue from the point of interruption. If, however, the interruption lasts longer 
than 10 minutes, there will be a second warm-up period according to rule 2712.

C. If a competitor gets injured during the performance, or another adverse condition related to the competitor (such 
as health problems or unexpected damage to the competitor’s clothing or equipment) impedes the competitor’s 
skating, the competitor must stop skating, or they will be directed to do so by an acoustic signal of the event 
referee.
1. If the adverse conditions can be remedied without delay and the competitor(s) resumes the program without 

reporting to the event referee, the event referee will apply a deduction for the interruption for IJS events as 
per rule 1071 (C) depending on the duration of the interruption. This time period commences immediately 
after the competitor stops performing the program or is directed to do so by the event referee, whichever 
occurs earlier. During this time period, the competitor’s music will continue playing. If the competitor does 
not resume the program within 40 seconds, the competitor will be considered withdrawn;

2. If the adverse conditions cannot be remedied without delay and the competitor(s) reports to the event 
referee within 40 seconds, the event referee will allow an additional period of up to three minutes for the 
competitor to resume skating. Then the event referee directs the music to be stopped. The additional time 
period commences at the moment the competitor reports to the event referee. The event referee will apply a 
deduction in IJS events as per rule 1071 (C) for the whole interruption. If the competitor does not report to the 
event referee within 40 seconds or does not resume the program within the additional period of three minutes, 
the competitor will be considered withdrawn.
a. In IJS events, the event referee will decide and indicate to the technical controller where the point of 

interruption is. If the technical panel decides that the interruption occurred at the entrance to or during 
an element, the technical panel will call the element according to the usual principles of calling, and the 
technical controller will inform the event referee of those decisions. The point from where the competitor 
has to continue the program will be decided and communicated to the competitor, the judges and the 
technical panel by the event referee: it is either the point of interruption or, if the technical panel has 
decided that the interruption occurred at the entrance to or during an element, the point immediately 
following this element.

D. If, in the opinion of the event referee, medical attention is required, the event referee must stop the performance. 
The event referee, after consulting with medical personnel, if available, will decide if the competitor(s) is fit to 
continue their program with no further risk to themselves or their partner/teammates, if applicable. There will be 
a maximum of a three-minute allowance for evaluation before the event referee will be required to make their 
decision. If the event referee determines the competitor is not fit to continue, the competitor will be considered 
withdrawn.

E. If a competitor with the first starting number in the group gets injured, or any other adverse condition related 
to the competitor or the competitor’s equipment impeding the competitor’s skating occurs during the warm-
up period, and time before the start of the program is not sufficient to remedy the adverse condition, the event 
referee will allow the competitor up to three additional minutes before the competitor is called to the start. No 
deduction as per rule 1403 (C) applies.

F. If any competitor between entering the ice and being called to the start is injured, or any other adverse condition 
related to the competitor or the competitor’s equipment impeding the competitor’s skating occurs, and time 
before the start of the program is not sufficient to remedy the adverse condition, the event referee will allow the 
competitor up to three additional minutes before the competitor is called to the start. The event referee will apply 
a deduction as per rule 1403 (C)(2).

G. If any competitor between being called to the start and taking the starting position is injured or any other adverse 
condition related to the competitor or the competitor’s equipment impeding the competitor’s skating occurs, rule 
1322 applies. If sixty (60) seconds are not enough to remedy the adverse condition, the event referee will allow 
the competitor up to three additional minutes, applying a deduction for the whole interruption as per rule 1403 
(C)(2).
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H.  No restarts of the whole program are allowed, except for deficient music; see rule 1403 (A).
I. If a competitor is unable to complete the program, no marks are to be awarded, and the competitor will be 

considered as withdrawn. The same applies to the situation when a competitor has been given the opportunity to 
continue the program from the point of interruption and once more is unable to complete the program.

1404 Allowance of a Delayed Start or Restart — Synchronized Skating
A.  If the tempo or quality of the music is deficient, the team captain must stop skating and notify the event referee. 

No restart may be made if the team captain fails to inform the event referee within 30 seconds after the start. If 
the interruption happens after the 30 second mark, the performance will continue from the point of interruption. 
Back-up music must be readily available at rinkside. No deduction will be made by the event referee or judges.

B. If an interruption or stop in the music or any other adverse condition unrelated to the team or their equipment, 
such as lighting, ice condition, etc., occurs, the team must stop skating at the acoustic signal of the event referee. 
If the event referee does not stop the skating with an acoustic signal, the team captain should inform the event 
referee about any music deficiencies (even if happening after 30 seconds). The rest of the team must continue 
to skate until they are ordered to stop by an acoustic signal of the event referee. No penalty will be applied for 
the team captain leaving the team to consult the event referee or the event referee then stopping the program. 
Immediately after the problem has been resolved, the team will continue from the point of interruption. If, 
however, the interruption lasts longer than 10 minutes, there will be a second warm-up period according to rule 
2911 or 2912, as applicable.

C. If a skater gets injured during the performance, or another adverse condition related to the skater (such as health 
problems or unexpected damage to the skater’s clothing or equipment) impedes the skater’s/team’s skating, the 
skater must stop skating and either this skater (if possible) or the team captain must report to the event referee. 
The rest of the team must continue to skate until they are ordered to stop by an acoustic signal of the event 
referee.
1. If the adverse conditions can be remedied without delay, and the rest of the team has continued to skate their 

program, and the affected skater(s) resumes skating their program without reporting to the event referee, the 
event referee will apply a deduction for the interruption for IJS events as per rule 7923 depending on the 
duration of the interruption. This time period commences immediately after the skater stops performing the 
program or the team is directed to do so by the event referee, whichever occurs earlier.

2. If the adverse conditions cannot be remedied without delay and the team captain (or affected skater) reports 
to the event referee within 40 seconds, the event referee will order the rest of the team to stop skating by an 
acoustic signal and allow an additional period of up to three minutes and/or will permit the team to solve the 
problem in order for the team to resume skating. The team will resume skating as close as possible to the time 
that the team captain reported to the event referee. This additional time period commences at the moment the 
team captain reports to the event referee. The event referee will apply a deduction in IJS events as per rule 
7923 for the whole interruption.
a. If either the whole team stops skating without being directed to do so by the event referee or the event 

referee directed the team to stop skating and the team captain does not report to the event referee within 
40 seconds, or if the team does not resume skating their program within the additional period of three 
minutes, the team will be considered withdrawn.

b. The judges and the technical panel will continue to evaluate the team’s performance until the event 
referee directs the team to stop skating with an acoustic signal. The point from which the team must 
continue the program will be decided per paragraph c below, and communicated to the team by the event 
referee.

c. In IJS events, the event referee in consultation with the technical controller will determine whether the 
interruption occurred before or during an element. If the interruption occurred during any part of an 
element, the team will begin on the transition following that element. If the interruption occurred during 
a transition, then the team will begin after that point and continue into the next element. The event referee 
will inform the judges and technical panel where to continue the evaluation of the program.

D. If, in the opinion of the event referee or assistant referee – ice, medical attention is required, the referee must stop 
the performance. The event referee, after consulting with medical personnel, if available, will decide if the skater 
is fit to continue the program with no further risk to themselves or their teammates. There will be a maximum 
of a three-minute allowance for evaluation before the event referee will be required to make their decision. If 
the event referee determines the competitor is not fit to continue, another competitor may be substituted per rule 
1404 (F). If the event referee determines the competitor is fit to continue, rule 1404 (C)(2) will apply.
1. In case of a skater’s injury, which requires the skater’s evacuation by the medical personnel from the ice 

surface and/or new ice resurfacing is needed after the accident, this three minutes period is not in place.
E. If any team between entering the ice and being called to the start is injured, or any other adverse condition related 

to the team or their equipment impeding their skating occurs, and time before the start of the program is not 
sufficient to remedy the adverse condition, the event referee will allow the team up to three additional minutes 
before the team is called to the start. The event referee will apply a deduction as per rule 1404 (C)(2).
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F. Once a short program or free skate has started, no substitution of a skater will be permitted (if there is no visible 
reason, i.e. injury, equipment failure, etc.). However, registered team alternates may be substituted if the team’s 
program is stopped by the event referee or assistant referee – ice due to injury or equipment problems. If a team 
substitutes a skater without the event referee or assistant referee – ice first stopping the program, the team will be 
disqualified.

G. With respect to adverse conditions related to a skater or skater’s equipment, only one restart per program is 
allowed. In case of a second stop of the performance due to an adverse condition related to the skater or skater’s 
equipment, the team concerned will be considered withdrawn.

H. If a team does not complete their program, no marks are to be awarded, and the team is considered withdrawn.

1071 IJS Basic Principles of Calculation – All Skating Disciplines
C. Deductions are applied for each violation.

1. In singles and pairs, deductions are applied for each violation as follows:
h. For every interruption in performing the program: 

i. For 11 to 20 seconds interruption: -1.0 for junior and senior; -0.5 for juvenile, intermediate, novice 
and adult; -0.25 for no test through pre-juvenile;

ii. For 21 to 30 seconds interruption): -2.0 for junior and senior; -1.0 for juvenile, intermediate, novice 
and adult; -0.5 for no test through pre-juvenile;

iii. For 31 to 40 seconds interruption: -3.0 for junior and senior; -1.5 for juvenile, intermediate, novice and 
adult; -0.75 for no test through pre-juvenile; etc.

iv. After 1:00 minute 40 seconds, if the skater/couple has not reported to the event referee, the competitor(s) 
is (are) considered withdrawn.

v. Interruption of the program with allowance of up to three minutes to resume from the point of 
interruption: -5.0 for junior and senior; -2.5 for juvenile, intermediate, novice and adult; -1.0 for no 
test through pre-juvenile.

i. The deduction for an interruption in performing the program will be applied by the referee in the case 
of an interruption by the skater(s) in performing the program. In this case, there is no injury or other 
circumstance causing the skater to stop. Instead, there is an error by the skater(s) which results in a 
portion of the performance not being skated. Examples include, but are not limited to, a fall in which 
the skater(s) takes more than 10 seconds to recover and continue the program or an error in a spin in 
which the skater(s) stands and waits for more than 10 seconds before continuing the program.

2. In ice dance, deductions are applied for each violation as follows:
j. For every interruption in performing the program:

i. For 11 to 20 seconds interruption: -1.0 for junior and senior; -0.5 for juvenile, intermediate, novice 
and adult;

ii. For 21 to 30 seconds interruption): -2.0 for junior and senior; -1.0 for juvenile, intermediate, novice 
and adult;

iii. For 31 to 40 seconds interruption: -3.0 for junior and senior; -1.5 for juvenile, intermediate, novice 
and adult; etc.

iv. After 1:00 minute 40 seconds, if the skater/couple has not reported to the event referee, the competitor(s) 
is (are) considered withdrawn.

v. Interruption of the program with allowance of up to three minutes to resume from the point of 
interruption: -5.0 for junior and senior; -2.5 for juvenile, intermediate, novice and adult.

i. The deduction for an interruption in performing the program will be applied by the referee in the case 
of an interruption by the skater(s) in performing the program. In this case, there is no injury or other 
circumstance causing the skater to stop. Instead, there is an error by the skater(s) which results in a 
portion of the performance not being skated. Examples include, but are not limited to, a fall in which 
the skater(s) takes more than 10 seconds to recover and continue the program or an error in a spin in 
which the skater(s) stands and waits for more than 10 seconds before continuing the program.

7923 Deductions and Reductions – Synchronized Skating – IJS
Reductions for synchronized skating are updated yearly and published on usfigureskating.org under the “Technical 
Info” link. Reductions for breaks, stumbles, falls and collisions in the required elements will be made by judges in 
the grade of execution.
A. Deductions from the total score for each violation will be as follows:

6. For every interruption in performing the program:
a. For 11-20 seconds interruption: -1.0 for collegiate, junior and senior; -0.5 for juvenile, intermediate, 

novice and adult
b. For 21-30 seconds interruption: -2.0 for collegiate, junior and senior; -1.0 for juvenile, intermediate, 

novice and adult



75

c. For 31-40 seconds interruption: -3.0 for collegiate, junior and senior; -1.5 for juvenile, intermediate, 
novice and adult

d. For more than 40 seconds interruption for one or several skaters: -4.0 for collegiate, junior and senior; 
-2.0 for juvenile, intermediate, novice and adult

e. More than 40 seconds interruption by the team as a whole: Team is withdrawn
f. Interruption of the program with allowance of up to three minutes to resume from the point of interruption: 

-5.0 for collegiate, junior and senior; -2.5 for juvenile, intermediate, novice and adult.
The deduction for an interruption to the program will be applied by the referee in the case of an interruption 
by the skater(s) during the program. In this case, there is no injury or other circumstance causing the skater 
to stop. Instead, there is an error by the skater(s) which results in a portion of the performance not being 
skated. Examples include, but are not limited to, a fall in which the skater(s) takes more than 10 seconds to 
recover and continue the program or an error in a spin in which the skater(s) stands and waits for more than 
10 seconds before continuing the program.

Implementation date: July 1, 2017     Committee vote: 54 yes, 4 no, 3 abstain

Rationale: There is much confusion regarding the methods of handling a stop or interruption within programs. The proposed 
rule changes adopt and incorporate ISU Rules 515 and 965 into our rules. The required deductions have been adjusted to fit 
the various levels. There is one set of deductions proposed for the junior and senior levels, a lower deduction for juvenile 
through novice and adult, and an even lower level for no test through pre-juvenile levels when the IJS system of judging is 
employed.

Financial impact: None

330. Competitions Committee
Add rules 2815-2818 (page 126, Rulebook) and amend rules 2405, 2831-2832 and 2841 (pages 117 and 127-128, 
Rulebook) as follows: 

2405 Competitors:
D. Must state whether or not they will skate in their event(s) if there are four or fewer entries in their region or 12 

or fewer entries in their section for singles events; four or fewer entries in their section or 12 or fewer entries in 
the nation for pairs, ice dance or adult events; or two or fewer entries in their section for synchronized skating 
events. The statement is binding.

2815 Qualifying Competitions – Number of Competitors
2816 A competition event will be held if at least two teams appear at the start, or in the event only one team is registered 

for an event and wishes to skate.
2817 For sectional championships, the number of teams entered in an event is determined at the closing date for entries as 

defined in rule section 2401.
2818 For sectional championships, if one team wishes to skate in an event with two or fewer competitors, the event will 

be held. This will not affect the eligibility of the team(s) to advance to the U.S. Synchronized Championships.

2830 Qualifying for U.S. Synchronized Skating Championships 
2831 The Ffour best-placed teams in each event (juvenile, intermediate, novice, junior, senior, collegiate, adult and 

masters) from each section shall will be permitted to enter the comparable event at the U.S. Synchronized Skating 
Championships. These shall be eligible in the order in which they finished in their respective sectional event for that 
year.

2832  Two or Fewer Rule: Teams entered in any event at a synchronized sectional championship may progress directly 
to the U.S. Synchronized Skating Championships if, at the closing date for entries, there are two or fewer teams in 
their event within their section.

2832 2833  Fill-Up Rule: When fewer than four teams qualify for a U.S. Synchronized Skating Championships event 
from any section, a sufficient number of additional teams from other sections shall will be permitted to enter the 
comparable event for that year in order to bring the number of entries in the event up to the maximum of 12 (or 13 
to enable the sections in question to qualify an equal number of teams).
A. The national vice chair for synchronized skating competitions will select the additional teams advancing from 

the sectional championships to the U.S. Synchronized Skating Championships (per rule 2832 2833) based on the 
number of teams entered on the closing date for entries (Oct. 1). Additional teams from other sections will not be 
added if a qualifying team withdraws following the sectional championships.

B. Teams invited under rule 2832 2833 must respond verbally to their respective sectional vice chair of the 
Synchronized Skating Competitions Subcommittee within 48 hours following notification, and if accepting, 
return the completed application postmarked within that same time frame.
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2840 Byes – Synchronized Skating
2841 If a synchronized team, because of some unusual circumstance, is unable to compete in a sectional championship, 

such team may apply to the chair of the Competitions Committee for a bye to bypass the competition and advance 
to the U.S. Synchronized Skating Championships.
C.  In the case where only one team is entered in an event at a sectional championship, the event will not be held 

unless the team chooses to compete. The team, if applicable, will advance directly to the U.S. Synchronized 
Skating Championships. See rules 2816 an 2832.

CD. A bye will be granted to bypass a sectional championship with the approval of the chair of the Competitions 
Committee in consultation with the national vice chair of the Synchronized Skating Competitions Subcommittee.

Implementation date: July 1, 2017     Committee vote: 53 yes, 0 no, 4 abstain

Rationale: Due to the number of junior and senior synchronized skating teams receiving international byes for their 
respective sectional championships, the number of entries tend to be low. It is not uncommon to have one or two teams in 
these events. This addition will bring clarification to the conduct of synchronized skating qualifying competitions and bring 
synchronized skating in line with the criteria currently in place in other disciplines. 

This proposed change will also prevent teams from unnecessarily expending valuable financial (travel, lodging, ice time) 
and time resources to attend a qualifying competition where there is no other team competing in the event. This will allow 
those affected teams the opportunity to stay home and work on programs to prepare for the U.S. Synchronized Skating 
Championships.

Financial impact: Teams will still pay the entry fee to the sectional LOC, but the LOC won’t need as much ice time, so 
depending on their ice contract, there could be a minimal cost savings to the LOC.

331. Competitions Committee
Amend rule 2842 (page 128, Rulebook) as follows: 

2842  When a synchronized skating team is selected for an international competition which warrants a bye from a sectional 
championship, the bye will automatically be offered by the chair of the Competitions Committee, subject to the 
team’s appearing in the international event. A synchronized skating team will automatically receive a bye to the 
U.S. Synchronized Skating Championships from the chair of the Competitions Committee in consultation with the 
national vice chair of the Synchronized Skating Competitions Subcommittee if all of the criteria from A and B below 
are met:
A. The team is a member of the United States Synchronized Skating Team as defined in rule ICR 4.01; and
B. The team has competed in or is assigned to and competes in a synchronized event in an international competition. 
C. A team which has received a bye according to item B above may elect to compete at their respective sectional 

championship. Regardless of their final placement at such sectional championship, the team’s bye to the U.S. 
Synchronized Skating Championships remains unaffected. At such sectional championship, the top four places, 
excluding the team which receives the bye, will qualify for the U.S. Synchronized Skating Championships.

Implementation date: July 1, 2017     Committee vote: 53 yes, 0 no, 4 abstain

Rationale: To bring the process of granting byes to Team USA synchronized teams that compete in international competitions 
in line with the bye process/criteria for other U.S. Figure Skating disciplines (see rule 2473). The purpose of Team USA is to 
prepare our teams for international competition, with the ultimate goal of winning medals. The synchronized international 
competition calendar runs concurrently with our own synchronized competition calendar, and these international 
competitions generally conflict with the dates of the synchronized sectional championships. 

This proposal offers the benefit of reducing costs to Team USA synchronized teams by not having to compete at sectional 
championships, as well as allows them needed time to perfect their skating programs. It also provides for less time off of 
school for the skaters. It also allows a team that receives a bye to nationals the option of skating at sectionals (i.e. to make 
corrections to their programs) without worry of placement at said sectional.

Financial impact: Teams will still pay the entry fee to the sectional LOC, but the LOC won’t need as much ice time, so 
depending on their ice contract, there could be a minimal cost savings to the LOC.
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332. Competitions Committee
Amend rules 2851 and 2852 (page 128, Rulebook) as follows:

2851 Synchronized qualifying rounds:
A. Sectional qualifying and championship rounds:

1. Seeded qualifying rounds will be held if more than 24 teams are entered in the senior, junior, collegiate, 
novice, intermediate, juvenile, and adult levels or if more than 18 teams are entered in the juvenile open 
collegiate and masters levels. Unseeded qualifying rounds will be held if more than 12 teams are entered in 
any nonqualifying all other event levels. See rule 2852.

2852 Qualifying Round Chart - Sectional Synchronized Skating Championships

Number of
Teams

Qualifying 
Round (QR) 

Groups

Number 
of Places 

Advancing

Championship 
Round (CR) 

Groups
Event level: open collegiate juvenile and masters
1-18 - - 18
19-36 2 9 18
37-54 3 6 18
Event level: senior, junior, novice, intermediate, juvenile, collegiate and adult
1-24 - - 24
25-31 2 9 18
32-38 2 12 24
39-45 3 8 24
All other event levels
1-12 - - 12
13-15 2 4 8
16-18 2 5 10
19-24 2 6 12
25-31 3 4 12
32-45 4 3 12
46-59 5 2 10

Implementation date: July 1, 2017     Committee vote: 53 yes, 1 no, 3 abstain

Rationale: The numbers of both juvenile and open collegiate teams have increased over time. This amendment allows for 
the increase in the number of juvenile teams competing (from 1-18 to 1-24) before requiring a qualifying round, which aligns 
with our other divisions judged under IJS. This amendment also allows for the increase in the number of open collegiate 
teams competing (from 1-12 to 1-18) before requiring a qualifying round. Both will likely decrease the number of required 
qualifying rounds for both levels (based upon the historical number of entries at these levels) and reduce the number of 
events at the sectional championships, thus shortening the length of the competition and amount of ice time required. With 
a shortened competition schedule, LOCs will save money by reducing the amount of ice time required for the competition. 
Teams would possibly save money (travel, lodging, etc.) by reducing the number of days they may be required to compete.

Financial impact: LOCs and teams may save money by reducing the potential days required for the competition.

333. Competitions Committee
Amend rule 1221 (page 101, Rulebook) as follows:

1221 Duties of the Assistant Referee – Ice
In synchronized skating, there will be an assistant referee – ice whose duties will be to:
A. Monitor the condition of the ice to ensure the safety of the skaters.
B. Monitor the ice for foreign objects; direct an alternate to enter the ice for the express purpose of picking up the 

object.
C. Perform other duties as required by rule 1403. 
(Note: If item 329 is approved, the rule reference will change to rule 1404.)

Implementation date: July 1, 2017     Committee vote: 52 yes, 0 no, 5 abstain
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Rationale: This amendment identifies that there are additional duties of the assistant referee – ice as noted in the rules and is 
meant to reflect that the assistant referee – ice has the responsibility to perform additional duties other than the duties listed 
under sections A and B (e.g. having to do with stops). 

Financial impact: None

334. Competitions Committee
Amend rules 1322 (A)(2), 1323, 2911, 2912, 7012 and 7013 (pages 104, 129 and 215, Rulebook) as follows:

1322 Call to Start: Before each performance, the name of the competitor/team will be called. 
A. For IJS events:

2. Every synchronized team must take the starting position and make a signal to the referee of each segment of 
the competition (short program and free skate) no later than one minute 30 seconds after the team’s name has 
been announced, after failing which, the music will be played.

B. For 6.0 events: Every singles, pairs, ice dance and synchronized skating competitor/team must take the starting 
position of each segment of the competition (pattern dance, short program, short dance, free skate or free dance) 
no later than one minute after the competitor’s/team’s name has been announced. Failing to do so, the referee 
must instruct the judges to take the appropriate deduction (per the current Deduction Table for Events Judged 
Using the 6.0 System posted in the “Technical Info” section on usfigureskating.org). The referee may, for good 
cause, modify the strict interpretation of this rule.

1323 Competitors shall must take their accolades at center ice and exit without undue delay. A synchronized team must 
not take more than 30 seconds for exiting the ice surface for both the short program and free skate. (Moved from rule 
7012.)

2900 Warm-Ups, Draws for Starting Orders, Resurface Groups and Practice Ice – Synchronized Skating
2910 Warm-Up Time – Synchronized Skating
2911 For juvenile, intermediate, novice, junior, senior, collegiate and adult events, each team will be allowed a warm up 

of at least one minute in duration (without music) on the competition ice surface during the judging of the previous 
team before the team is called to start. The first team of each starting group is granted a one-minute warm-up period 
before their call to start. (See rule 1322.)
A. When the assistant referee – ice signals, the next team to skate must enter the ice surface for their warm up.
B. Following the warm-up period of at least one minute, the team is announced.

29112912 For open juvenile, pre-juvenile, preliminary, open collegiate, masters, open adult and open masters events all levels 
and segments at synchronized skating sectional championships and the U.S. Synchronized Skating Championships, 
each team will be allowed a maximum of one minute of warm up (without music) on the competition ice surface 
after their call to start. (See rule 1322.)
A. When the assistant ice referee – ice signals, the next team to skate must enter the ice surface and stand quietly 

near the barrier.
B. The team is then announced, and the one-minute time is reckoned from this point.

2912 For nonqualifying competitions, conduct of the warm-up is at the discretion of the referee but must be communicated 
to all teams prior to the start of their official practice session. Each team will be allowed a maximum of one minute 
of warm up (without music) on the competition ice surface.
A. If the team is not placed onto the ice to stand near the barrier before being announced, warm-up begins from the 

moment the first skater enters the ice surface.

7010 Conduct of Synchronized Skating Events
Synchronized skating involves a team of eight or more skaters skating various elements and formations to music.

7011 Men and women may skate on the same team.
7012 A team’s entry onto the ice should be neat and orderly. A team’s exit from the ice at the end of the program should 

also be neat and orderly. The maximum amount of time for a team to exit from the ice is 30 seconds. Move to Rules 
1323 and 2911.

7013 A team is prohibited from chanting and/or cheering while on the ice.

Implementation date: July 1, 2017     Committee vote: 54 yes, 0 no, 3 abstain
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Rationale: At the ISU Congress in June 2016, the ISU passed rules clarifying the difference between the warm-up and the 
call to start for IJS events, giving the teams one minute to warm up prior to being called to start. With the more difficult 
elements now being performed in synchronized events, we believe this change benefits all teams competing under IJS, not 
just the teams competing internationally, for whom consistency with the ISU in such rules is definitely beneficial.

For the 6.0 events, we believe the current rules (lining up the teams on the boards prior to their call to start) for qualifying 
competitions need to apply to all competitions and not be at the discretion of the referee. If the referee does not allow the 
teams to line up in advance, it takes some of the younger teams more than a minute to take the ice and get to their starting 
positions. Because a deduction is to be taken if a 6.0 team takes too long to enter the ice and get to their starting positions, 
we need to make sure each team is given a consistent and fair opportunity to meet the time limit. Allowing teams to follow 
consistent rules at all competitions will better prepare them to meet the requirements.

Financial impact: Because most of the warm ups will happen while the previous team’s scores are being announced, this 
should have barely any effect on ice time. (In an event with 16 teams divided into four groups, this should add two minutes 
at the most.)

335. Dance Committee
Amend rule 6079 (page 194, Rulebook) as follows:

6076 Introductory steps:
A. For pattern dances, when using ISU music, the introductory period may be up to eight measures with an unlim-

ited number of steps.
B. For pattern dances, when using “skaters’ choice” music, the introductory and ending period is not restricted 

to eight measures; however, the overall skating time cannot exceed the maximum time listed on the “Skaters’ 
Choice Pattern Dance Timing Chart.”

C.B. All pattern dances may be started with optional introductory steps/movements which must not exceed the intro-
ductory phrasing (eight measures) of the particular tune (unless otherwise specified).

D.C. The judges must penalize couples exceeding an eight-measure introduction. The Finnstep is an exception to this 
rule due to the introductory phrasing of the ISU’s official Finnstep music, which is less than eight measures. The 
deduction for the introductory steps exceeding the introductory phrasing does not apply to this dance.

Implementation date: July 1, 2017     Committee vote: 35 yes, 1 no, 0 abstain

Rationale: There has been some confusion this season as to how long introductions can be for “skater’s choice” pattern 
Dance events. The goal is to make it clear that the only time where the introduction is limited to eight measures of music is 
when it is not a “skater’s choice” pattern dance event.

Financial impact: None

336. Judges Committee
Amend rules JR 15.02-15.04, JR 16.01-16.02, JR 16.04 and JR 17.01 (page 59, Rulebook) as follows:

JR 15.00 Inactive Status
JR 15.02  During the period of inactive status a judge is not subject to the requirements of rule JR 14.01 but remains on file 

at U.S. Figure Skating headquarters as an inactive judge and receives all communications directed to judges. A judge is 
not eligible for official judging of tests and competitions while registered in inactive or prospective status.

JR 15.03 Upon written request of an inactive judge for reinstatement to active status, the sectional vice chair shall will 
designate the activity needed for the candidate to regain full active status as a judge. This shall include coaches with 
judging appointments below national level.

JR 15.04  If an inactive judge does not request reinstatement to active status by the conclusion of the two-year period, said 
judge will be deemed to have resigned their appointment(s) as a judge and will be removed from the list of officials 
accordingly.
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JR 16.00 Retirement or Resignation of Judges
JR 16.01 Judges in good standing who have served a minimum of 10 years at any level of judging and who wish to retire 

voluntarily from all of their appointments will be awarded a certificate as Emeritus Judge U.S. Figure Skating. The 
request for this status shall must be made in writing to the judge’s sectional vice chair(s). This is honorific only and 
carries no right to judge any test or competition.

JR 16.02 National singles/pairs and national dance judges desiring to resign some or all of their appointments shall must 
submit a written notice to the chair of the Judges Committee to that effect. National synchronized skating judges shall 
must submit a written notice to the national vice chair of synchronized skating judges. Such judges may resign all of 
their appointments, or only their national competition appointments and retain their lowest qualifying competition and/
or test appointments even while in the Hhonorary category The chair shall will accept the resignation and report such 
action to the Board of Directors at its next ensuing in-person meeting. If the judge has resigned all appointments, the 
judge’s name will be removed from the official list of judges at the meeting unless other action is directed by the Board 
of Directors.

JR 16.04 All other judges desiring to resign their appointments shall must submit a written notice to that effect and the 
reasons for resigning to the appropriate sectional vice chair who shall will accept the resignation and notify U.S. Figure 
Skating headquarters to remove the judge’s name from the official list of judges.

JR 17.00 Honorary National Judges
JR 17.01 Honorary national judges are appointed by the Board of Directors from among those national singles/pairs, 

national dance, and national synchronized skating judges who resign as per rule JR 16.02.
A.  Recommendations for such appointments are made by the chair of the Judges Committee and, in the case of national 

synchronized skating judges, by the national vice chair of synchronized skating judges, and supported by such 
information from the appropriate sectional vice chair as may be deemed necessary by the chair or national vice chair 
of synchronized skating judges.

B.  Certificates shall will be awarded to persons appointed.
C.  Judges in the honorary classification shall be are eligible to be returned to an appropriate active classification per rule 

JR 15.03 should the reasons for their inactivity cease to exist.

Implementation date: July 1, 2017     Committee votes: 54 yes, 1 no, 0 abstain

Rationale: To bring the rules in line with those of other officials and make sure they are clear and match current practices

Financial impact: None

337. Judges Committee
Amend rule JR 11.03 (page 56, Rulebook) as follows:

JR 11.00 Appointment of Judges
JR 11.03 Application forms are available from U.S. Figure Skating headquarters and online at usfigureskating.org and 

are required for all appointment of judges. Applications may be originated by the test chair of a member club for club 
members, by the applicant’s monitor, by chair of the Judges Committee or by the regional or sectional vice chairs of the 
Judges Committee. For candidates applying for any test appointment or a national singles/pairs, dance or synchronized 
skating competition appointment, a A written exam, composed of a multiple choice portion and an essay portion, must 
be taken, and each section must be passed to qualify for promotion. When a test appointment or national singles/pairs, 
dance or synchronized skating competition candidate submits an application for appointment to the appropriate regional 
or sectional vice chair of the Judges Committee, an exam will be sent to the candidate once all other requirements as 
set forth in the Judges Committee Guidelines have been met. Upon receipt, tThe exam is to be completed and returned 
to the vice chair of exams of the Judges Education and Training Subcommittee (JETS) within 30 days of being emailed 
by headquarters.

Implementation date: July 1, 2017     Committee votes: 54 yes, 12 no, 2 abstain

Rationale: Within our current system, the process to become a competition judges is extensive and includes trialing 
experience where a candidate’s performance is closely monitored, both in the traditional system and in the judges’ 
appointment seminars. 

On the other hand, the process to become a test judge is less focused and more reliant on comparing trial results against an 
actual panel’s results with limited room for explanation or further evaluation.
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Because of the nature of the competition trial judging system, it was felt that the written exam was an additional and 
unnecessary step that did not greatly enhance the ability to evaluate a candidate, with the exception of a national level 
appointment which was felt to warrant the additional step of a written exam.

We anticipate that the reduction of the written exam requirement to test appointments and national competition appointments 
will encourage more participation in trial judging without impacting the evaluation of our applicants.

Financial impact: Would likely reduce the time and oversight required to manage the written exam process.

338. Judges Committee
Amend rule JR 6.01 (page 51, Rulebook) and rules TR 39.01-39.09 (pages 266-270, Rulebook) to transfer responsibility 
for judging pair tests and pair competition events from the test judge classifications to the competition judge classifications 
only.

JR 6.01 Singles/Pairs Test Judges Authorized to Judge

Pa
ir 

Te
st

s

Singles/Pairs Test Judge Classifications Singles/Pairs Judge Classifications

JR 6.01 Singles/Pairs Test 
and Competition Judges 
Authorized to Judge

Bronze
S/P Test 
Judge 
(BRZ)

Silver
S/P Test 
Judge 
(SLV)

Gold
S/P Test 
Judge
(GLD)

Regional
S/P Judge

(REG)

Sectional
S/P Judge

(SEC)

National
S/P Judge

(NAT)

Pre-Juvenile Pair J J J J J J

Juvenile Pair J J J J J J

Intermediate Pair J J J J J

Novice Pair J J J J J

Junior Pair J J J J

Senior Pair J J J J

Adult Bronze Pair J J J* J J* J*

Adult Silver Pair J J J J J J

Adult Gold Pair J J J J J
* Qualified to judge applicable tests as a single-judge panel 
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lif
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ng
 C

om
pe

tit
io

n 
Ev

en
t a

nd
 L

ev
el

s JR 6.01 Singles/
Pairs Test Judges 

Authorized to 
Judge

Singles/Pairs Judge Classifications
Bronze
S/P Test 
Judge 
(BRZ)

Silver
S/P Test 
Judge 
(SLV)

Gold
S/P Test 
Judge
(GLD)

Nonqualifying 
S/P Judge

(NQ)

Regional
S/P Judge

(REG)

Sectional
S/P Judge

(SEC)

National
S/P Judge

(NAT)

Pre-Juvenile Pair J J J J(I) J J J
Juvenile Pair J J J J(I) J J J
Intermediate Pair J J J J(I) J J J
Novice Pair J J J J(I) J J J
Junior Pair J J(I) J J J
Senior Pair J J(I) J J J
Centennial Pair J J J(I) J J J
Adult Bronze Pair J J J J(I) J J J
Adult Silver Pair J J J J(I) J J J
Adult Gold Pair J J J(I) J J J
Masters Pair J J J(I) J J J

J(I) Qualified to judge events at nonqualifying competitions as a one-judge minority of the panel
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TR 39.01 Pre-Juvenile Pair Test
 Judging panel required: Three bronze regional or higher rank singles/pairs judges.

TR 39.02 Juvenile Pair Test
 Judging panel required: Three bronze regional or higher rank singles/pairs judges.

TR 39.03 Intermediate Pair Test
 Judging panel required: Three silver regional or higher rank singles/pairs judges.

TR 39.04 Novice Pair Test
 Judging panel required: Three silver regional or higher rank singles/pairs judges.

TR 39.05 Junior Pair Test
 Judging panel required: Three gold regional or higher rank singles/pairs judges.

TR 39.06 Senior Pair Test
 Judging panel required: Three gold regional or higher rank singles/pairs judges.

TR 39.07 Adult Bronze Pair Test
 Judging panel required: Three bronze regional or higher rank singles/pairs judges.

TR 39.08 Adult Silver Pair Test
 Judging panel required: Three bronze regional or higher rank singles/pairs judges.

TR 39.09 Adult Gold Pair Test
 Judging panel required: Three silver regional or higher rank singles/pairs judges.

Note: If this request for action is approved, the names of the singles/pairs test and nonqualifying competition judge 
appointments will be changed to bronze singles test judge, silver singles test judge, gold singles test judge and nonqualifying 
singles test judge accordingly.”

Implementation date: July 1, 2017     Committee votes: 57 yes, 7 no, 4 abstain

Rationale: Pair test judging was raised as a major concern by members of the Judges Recruiting Subcommittee. Test judges 
have litle opportunity to practice their pair test judging because there are so few pair tests attempted over the course of the 
year:

•	 286 in 2016 (67 of which were novice, junior or senior)
•	 289 in 2015 (83 of which were novice, junior or senior)

As such, the committee believes that this leads to much weaker pair test judging panels than we should be providing our 
pair teams. 
In addition, requiring trial judges to find pair tests limits their ability to meet the criteria in the appointment guidelines and 
increases the cost of trialing as test trial judges often have to travel greater distances to get the necessary pair activity.

Based on this information, we are recommending that the responsibility for judging pairs move to the competition judging 
structure. Competition judges are seeing more pair programs through their trial judging and continuing education. In our 
current structure, pairs are only seen in the qualifying competition season in sectional and national competitions, although 
pairs do compete at nonqualifying competitions throughout the country.

Through the vetting process of this ballot item, concerns were raised about finding judges for lower level pair tests which 
often occur in smaller clubs as opposed to the higher level tests which often take place in training centers. To alleviate 
that concern, we are including regional judges as authorized to judge lower level pair tests and events at nonqualifying 
competitions which do not have the same complex pair elements as the higher level tests have.

In the ballot, additional concerns were raised about the ability for clubs to find qualified judges. To address that complaint, 
we have modified this request for action to include regional competition judges for all test and competition levels.

Financial impact: May have a slight negative impact on clubs in areas without a number of regional, sectional or national 
judges, but the subcommittee feels that the benefits to the pair teams will outweigh this cost.
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339. International Judges and Officials Committee
Amend rule IJOCR 3.00, delete rules JR 16.03 and TPCR 6.13 and add new rules IJOCR 4.00, 4.01, 5.00 and 5.01 
(pages 47, 50 and 83, Rulebook) as follows:

IJOCR 3.00 World ISU and International Nominations

IJOCR 4.00  Retirement or Resignation of ISU and International Officials
IJOCR 4.01  ISU and international officials desiring to resign ISU appointments must submit a written notice of resignation 

to the chair of the International Judges and Officials Committee. The chair will report their recommendations to the 
Board of Directors for approval. The official will be notified of the action taken, and headquarters will notify the ISU if 
the retirement/resignation is approved.

IJOCR 5.00  Honorary International Officials
IJOCR 5.01  Honorary international officials are appointed by the Board of Directors from among those ISU and 

international judges, referees, technical controllers, technical specialists and data and replay operators who resign as per 
rule IJOCR 4.01 or who reach the maximum age as defined by the ISU.
A. Recommendations for such appointments are made by the chair of the International Judges and Officials Committee.
B. Certificates will be awarded to persons appointed.
C. Technical panel officials in the honorary classification are eligible to return to an appropriate active classification per 

rules IJOCR 3.00-3.05 should the reasons for their resignation cease to exist.

JR 16.03 ISU and international judges desiring to resign ISU appointments shall submit a similar notice of resignation to 
the chair of the Judges Committee and the chair of the International Judges and Officials Committee, and in the case of 
synchronized judges, the national vice chair of synchronized skating judges and chair of the International Judges and 
Officials Committee. After consideration by the International Judges and Officials Committee and the report of their 
recommendations by the chair to the Board of Directors for approval, the judge will be notified of the action taken. As 
directed by the chair, the secretary shall notify the ISU for appropriate action by that body. – Move to IJOCR rules. 
Subsequent rules will be re-numbered accordingly.

TPCR 6.13 ISU and international technical panel officials desiring to resign ISU appointments must submit a similar 
notice of resignation to the chair of the Technical Panel Committee and the chair of the International Judges and 
Officials Committee. After consideration by the International Judges and Officials Committee and the report of their 
recommendations by the chair to the Board of Directors for approval, the official will be notified of the action taken. 
As directed by the chair, headquarters will notify the ISU for appropriate action by that body. – Move to IJOCR rules. 
Subsequent rules will be re-numbered accordingly.

Implementation date: July 1, 2017     Committee votes: 13 yes, 0 no, 0 abstain

Rationale: To move the rules regarding resignation of international officials under the jurisdiction of the correct committee 
and create an honorary appointment for international officials to parallel the honorary appointment available for national 
officials. The Competitions, Judges and Technical Panel Committees all voted in support of this change (119 yes, 0 no and 
1 abstain was the total combined vote count for all committees voting). 

Financial impact: Less than $10 per year to send certificates to new honorary international officials

340. Pairs Committee
Amend rule 1071 (C)(1)(f) (page 97, Rulebook) as follows:

1071  IJS Basic Principles of Calculation – All Skating Disciplines 
C.  Deductions are applied for each violation.

1.  In singles and pairs, deductions are applied for each violation as follows: 
f. Falls in pairs (see rule 1400 for the definition of a fall):

i. -0.5 for every fall by one partner, and -1.0 for every fall by both partners in juvenile, intermediate, 
novice and adult pairs events.

ii. -1.0 for every fall by one partner, and -2.0 for every fall by both partners in novice, junior and senior 
pairs events.

Implementation date: July 1, 2017     Committee vote: 27 yes, 0 no, 0 abstain 
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Rationale: Novice pair total scores are lower than those in junior and senior, so lowering the deduction value for falls brings 
the risk and penalty more in line with junior and senior. Lowering the deduction for falls also encourages developmental 
teams to take calculated risks on more difficult elements that they otherwise might not attempt, such as jumps.

Financial impact: IJS calculation program must be adjusted. 

341. Pairs Committee
Amend rule 1071 (D) (page 98, Rulebook) as follows:

1071  IJS Basic Principles of Calculation – All Skating Disciplines 
D.  Singles and Pairs Bonus 

5. Novice Pairs Short Program and Free Skate: +1.0 bonus for each double Axel and each triple jump achieved 
(under-rotated or full value) by both partners;

6. Intermediate Pairs Short Program and Free Skate and Juvenile Pairs Free Skate: +1.0 bonus for each double 
Axel achieved (under-rotated or full value) by both partners.

Implementation date: July 1, 2017     Committee vote: 25 yes, 2 no, 0 abstain 

Rationale: In junior and senior pairs, the jump elements are where mistakes most often occur. The idea behind this bonus 
is to encourage our pair teams to attempt, achieve and become comfortable with difficult jumping passes earlier on in their 
careers. So that by the time they reach the junior and senior levels, these jumps will be more consistently executed cleanly. 

Financial impact: Bonus buttons must be added to the data screen, and IJS calculation program must be adjusted. 

342. Pairs Committee
Adjust the junior and senior pair test requirements (rules TR 39.05 and TR 39.06, pages 268-269, Rulebook) to create a 
progression of difficulty for lift elements. 

TR 39.05 Junior Pair Test 
The junior pair test must consist of a program of good, harmonious composition skated to the music with rhythm and 
expression. The program should have a change of pace, utilize the full ice surface and be skated in good form with very 
good flow. The pair must demonstrate good partner relationship and show a good degree of pair unison. The following 
elements are required: 
A. Two different lifts, not all from Group 5

•  One lift must be chosen from Groups 3-5
•  Full extension of the lifting arm(s) required
•  Minimum of one and maximum of 3½ revolutions by the man
•  Only one lift may include a carry feature
•  Carry lifts (one-half revolution exit/entry) are permitted and are not counted in the number of overhead lifts 

TR 39.06 Senior Pair Test 
The senior pair must give an excellent performance. Both partners should move together in complete harmony showing 
a marked degree of pair unison, good form and excellent flow. The program should fully utilize the ice surface, have a 
change of pace and superbly express the mood and rhythm of music. Harmonious steps and connecting movements in 
time to the music should be maintained throughout the program. The following elements are required: 
A. Three different lifts:

• Not all from Group 5
• Two lifts must be chosen from Groups 3-5
•  If two Group 5 lifts are executed, the take offs must be of a different nature (abbreviation)
•  Full extension of the lifting arm(s) required
•  Minimum of one and maximum of 3½ revolutions by the man
•  Only one lift may include a carry feature
•  Carry lifts (one-half revolution exit/entry) are permitted and are not counted in the number of overhead lifts 

Implementation date: July 1, 2017     Committee vote: 19 yes, 2 no, 0 abstain

Rationale: Currently, pair test requirements are mostly aligned with the well-balanced free skate requirements for junior 
and senior pairs; however, there are some additional rotation requirements for jumping in the test rules that do not currently 
exist for lifts. For example, to create a progression from single to double jumps, novice pair skaters and below can use single 
jumps to fulfill test requirements, while junior and senior pairs must execute double or triple jumps. Currently, lifts for junior 
and senior pair test programs can be chosen from any lifting groups provided full extension of the man’s arms is achieved. 
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The changes proposed above create a more logical difficulty progression for lifting. For reference, the lifting requirements 
for pair tests from pre-juvenile through senior are included below with both current and proposed requirements.

Level Current Lift Requirements Proposed Lift Requirements

Pre-Juvenile One lift from Group 1 or the waist lift from 
Group 2

One lift from Group 1 or the waist lift from 
Group 2

Juvenile One lift from Group 1 or 2, with or without full 
extension of the man’s arms 

One lift from Group 1 or 2, with or without full 
extension of the man’s arms 

Intermediate Two different lifts selected from Groups 1-4 Two different lifts selected from Groups 1-4 

Novice Two different lifts. Must be from different groups, 
and one must be from Group 3 or Group 4

Two different lifts. Must be from different groups, 
and one must be from Group 3 or Group 4

Junior Two different lifts, not all from Group 5 Two different lifts, not all from Group 5. One lift 
must be chosen from groups 3-5

Senior Three different lifts, not all from Group 5 Three different lifts, not all from Group 5. Two 
lifts must be chosen from Groups 3-5

Financial impact: None

343. Pairs Committee
Amend rule 5923 (page 188, Rulebook) as follows:

5923 Program Component Score – Pairs – IJS 
In addition to the technical score, the skaters’ whole performance is evaluated by five program components:
A. For pre-juvenile (IJS events) and juvenile pairs these three components will be: (1) Skating Skills; (2) Performance; 

and (3) Interpretation of the Music.
B. For intermediate pairs these four components will be: (1) Skating Skills; (2) Performance; (3) Composition; and 

(4) Interpretation of the Music.
C. For novice, junior, senior and adult pairs these five components will be: (1) Skating Skills; (2) Transitions; 

(3) Performance; (4) Composition; and (5) Interpretation of the Music. For pair skating, there must be equal 
demonstration of the criteria by both skaters.

AD. Definitions and criteria for analyzing the program components
Sub-paragraphs remain unchanged

BE. Marks for Program Components
Sub-paragraphs remain unchanged

Implementation date: July 1, 2017     Committee vote: 21 yes, 0 no, 0 abstain

Rationale: Pre-juvenile and juvenile pairs are very developmental stages of skating. These skaters are learning to move 
across the ice as a team and are just mastering the basics of skating pairs. By simplifying the component structure and 
weighting the relative components, this allows our teams to focus and grow in the areas that will benefit them the most as 
they progress: skating skills, including power and balance, unison in all aspects of their skating, and musical interpretation 
and timing. As skaters move to intermediate pairs, program composition and how a team utilizes the ice surface can become 
more important. This will create a program component progression as skaters move from juvenile with three components 
to intermediate with four and novice and above with five, allowing teams to learn and then expand on key attributes of their 
skating. The language and descriptions of all components remain the same for all levels of pair skating. 

The same component structure for pre-juvenile, juvenile and intermediate singles skating is also being proposed. As our 
judges hold certifications in both singles and pairs, keeping this consistency across disciplines will promote a smoother 
transition as these changes are implemented.

Members of the Athletes Advisory, Coaches, Competitions, Judges and Tests Committees, and the Pairs Development 
Subcommittee were also asked to vote on this proposal. The overall vote was 120 yes, 6 no, 1 abstain.

Financial impact: Changing software calculation program, educating judges.
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344. Singles Committee
Amend rules 4240 and TR 32.04 (pages 151 and 260, Rulebook) as follows:

4240 Juvenile Singles and Open Juvenile Singles
Note: Open juvenile singles events are considered nonqualifying events and are held at a regional championship 
only at the discretion of the local organizing committee.

JUVENILE/OPEN JUVENILE WELL-BALANCED FREE SKATE
2:15 2:20 +/- 10 seconds

Must contain the following elements in any order

TR 32.04 Juvenile Free Skate Test
Duration: Ladies and Men — 2:15 2:20 +/- 10 seconds to music of the skater’s choice.

Implementation date: May 15, 2017*     Committee vote: 26 yes, 1 no, 0 abstain
*This is the first date a TN can be issued and become effective following Governing Council to allow skaters competing in 
June to use extended timing. 

Rationale: Many juvenile skaters now include two Level 4 spins and one or two double Axels, which makes the program 
with the content that is encouraged for juveniles tight and rushed. The additional time would allow for an increase in 
transitions.

Financial impact: None

345. Singles Committee
Amend rule 4240 (B) (page 151, Rulebook), maximum age for juvenile, as shown below: 

4240 Juvenile Singles and Open Juvenile Singles
Note: Open juvenile singles events are considered nonqualifying events and are held at a regional championship 
only at the discretion of the local organizing committee.
B. Age requirements as of Sept. 1 prior to the regional championships: 

1. Open Juvenile: 14 13 years of age or older
2. Juvenile: Under age 14 13 years of age

Implementation date: February 1, 2018    Committee vote: 25 yes, 2 no, 0 abstain

Rationale: This will offer a more level playing field in terms of physical development. With the plans for IJS to be 
implemented down through the lower levels, the skater who exceeds this age for juvenile will still have the experience of IJS 
at an open juvenile level and can compete the following year at the intermediate level. To be competitive internationally at 
the junior level, skaters need to move through the system and be in the same age range as other countries that are successful. 
Several comments on the ballot felt the maximum age should be 12 years old. 

Financial impact: None
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346. Singles Committee
Amend rule 1071 (page 98, Rulebook) to adjust the bonus structure: 

1071 IJS Basic Principles of Calculation – All Skating Disciplines
D. Singles Bonus

1.  Novice Singles Short Program and Free Skate:
a. +2.0 bonus for a triple/triple jump combination. Both jumps must be under-rotated or full value. The 

jumps in the combination may be the same;
b. +1.0 bonus for each different triple jump achieved (under-rotated or full value), regardless of whether it 

is achieved as a solo jump, or in combination or sequence not done as part of a triple/triple combination;
2. Novice Free Skate:

a.  +2.0 bonus for one triple/triple jump combination. Both jumps must be under-rotated or full value. The 
jumps in the combination may be the same. If the triple/triple jumps are different, one of the triple 
jumps may be repeated for a +1.0 bonus elsewhere in the program. If both jumps in the combination are 
repeated, the jump with the highest base value will be selected for the bonus.

b. +1.0 bonus for each different triple jump achieved (under-rotated or full value) not done as part of a triple/
triple combination;

32. Intermediate Singles Short Program and Free Skate: 
a. +1.0 bonus for one double Axel achieved (under-rotated or full value), regardless of whether it is achieved as 

a solo jump, or in combination or sequence and 
b. +1.0 bonus for each different triple jump the first time each is achieved (under-rotated or full value), regardless 

of whether it is achieved as a solo jump, or in combination or sequence;
43. Juvenile Singles Free Skate: +1.0 bonus for each double Axel achieved (under-rotated or full value), regardless 

of whether it is achieved as a solo jump, or in combination or sequence.

Implementation date: July 1, 2017     Committee vote: 25 yes, 2 no, 0 abstain

Rationale: There were several scenarios that arose during the season that were not anticipated. In an effort to streamline the 
structure and to cover the many different situations, it was felt a +1.0 bonus for every triple was best.

Financial impact: None

347. Singles Committee
Amend rule 4230, Intermediate Short Program, (page 149, Rulebook) as follows:

4230 Intermediate Singles
INTERMEDIATE SHORT PROGRAM

2:10 maximum time*
Must contain the following six elements in any order

AXEL-TYPE JUMP One single Axel or double Axel
SOLO JUMP One double or triple jump immediately preceded by connecting steps and/or other comparable 

free skating movements
•	 A single spread eagle, spiral or free skating movement cannot be considered as meeting the 

requirements of connecting steps and/or other comparable free skating movements
JUMP 
COMBINATION

One jump combination consisting of a single jump and a double jump (in either order), two 
double jumps, a single jump and a triple jump (in either order), or a double jump and a triple 
jump (in either order) or two triple jumps
•	 The two jumps performed in the combination may be the same or different; however, the 

jumps included must be different than the solo jump and the Axel-type jump

Implementation date: July 1, 2017     Committee vote: 25 yes, 2 no, 0 abstain

Rationale: The intermediate well-balanced program requirements allow for a triple/triple combination in the free skate. 
Skaters should have the same opportunity in both programs. The novice level saw several triple/triple combinations this 
year, which is encouraging, since to be competitive at a junior level, it is needed. 

Financial impact: None
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348. Singles Committee
Amend rule 4923 (page 162, Rulebook) as follows:

4923 Program Component Score – Singles – IJS
In addition to the technical score, the skater’s whole performance is evaluated by five program components: 
A. For juvenile and below (IJS events) girls and boys, these three components will be: (1) Skating Skills; (2) 

Performance; and (3) Interpretation of the Music.
B. For intermediate ladies and men, these four components will be: (1) Skating Skills; (2) Performance; (3) 

Composition; and (4) Interpretation of the Music.
C. For novice, junior, senior and adult ladies and men, these five components will be: (1) Skating Skills; (2) 

Transitions; (3) Performance; (4) Composition; and (5) Interpretation of the Music.
AD. Definitions and criteria for analyzing the program components

Sub-paragraphs remain unchanged
BE. Marks for Program Components

Sub-paragraphs remain unchanged

Implementation date: July 1, 2017     Committee vote: 30 yes, 4 no, 0 abstain

Rationale: Long-term objectives are to increase speed and power so USA skaters may be competitive with countries that 
are dominating. Using all five program components poses challenges for young skaters as labels and definitions are abstract 
and difficult to understand, and some elements of the criteria as defined by the ISU are not realistically attainable at the 
most emergent and developmental levels. This was a long-term project with the Athlete Development, Singles and Coaches 
Committees.

Financial impact: Changes to software calculation program, educating judges

349. Synchronized Skating Committee
Amend rule 7923 (A)(5) (page 245, Rulebook) to reduce the deduction for falls for novice, intermediate and adult from 
-1.0 to -0.5 for every fall of one skater, and from -2.0 to -1.0 for every fall of more than one skater.

7923  Deductions and Reductions – Synchronized Skating – IJS
Reductions for synchronized skating are updated yearly and published on usfigureskating.org under the “Technical 
Info” link. Reductions for breaks, stumbles, falls and collisions in the required elements will be made by judges in 
the grade of execution.
A.  Deductions from the total score for each violation will be as follows:

5. Falls: 
a.  For senior, junior, novice, intermediate, and collegiate and adult, -1.0 for every fall of one skater and -2.0 

for every fall of more than one skater. See rule 1400 for the definition of a fall. 
b.  For novice, intermediate, juvenile and adult, -0.5 for every fall of one skater, and -1.0 for every fall of 

more than one skater. See rule 1400 for the definition of a fall.

Implementation date: July 1, 2017     Committee vote: 23 yes, 2 no, 1 abstain

Rationale: The amendment for novice aligns with the singles discipline as well as the ISU at the advanced novice level 
(ISU Communication 2024), with which our domestic novice program requirements align. The amendment for intermediate 
and adult aligns with the singles, pairs and ice dance disciplines and is reasonable given their potential score maximum is 
less than that of a novice team. The juvenile level fall deduction value was reduced as a priority in October 2016 given the 
proportion of base value maximums a juvenile level could achieve compared to the severity of the deduction.

Financial impact: None
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350. Synchronized Skating Committee
Amend rule 7923 (A)(1) (page 245, Rulebook) to reduce the deduction for program time violation for novice, intermediate 
and adult from -1.0 to -0.5.

7932  Deductions and Reductions – Synchronized Skating – IJS
Reductions for synchronized skating are updated yearly and published on usfigureskating.org under the “Technical 
Info” link. Reductions for breaks, stumbles, falls and collisions in the required elements will be made by judges in 
the grade of execution.
A. Deductions from the total score for each violation will be as follows:

1. Program time violation: 
a.  For senior, junior and collegiate, -1.0 for every five seconds lacking or in excess.
b.  For novice, intermediate, juvenile and adult, -0.5 for every five seconds lacking or in excess.

Implementation date: July 1, 2017     Committee vote: 23 yes, 2 no, 1 abstain

Rationale: The amendment for intermediate and adult aligns with the singles, pairs and ice dance disciplines. The amend-
ment for novice aligns with the severity of deductions outlined for advanced and basic novice for synchronized in ISU 
Communication 2024. The juvenile level program time violation deduction value was reduced as a priority in October 2016 
given the proportion of base value maximums a juvenile level could achieve compared to the severity of the deduction.

Financial impact: None

351. Synchronized Skating Committee
Amend rule 7260, Pre-Juvenile Synchronized Skating, (page 234, Rulebook) to delete the following language:

Delete “forward only” as it applies to the required intersection element.

Implementation date: July 1, 2017     Committee vote: 25 yes, 1 no, 0 abstain

Rational: The pre-juvenile division is a feeder division to juvenile and open juvenile, and currently pre-juvenile teams are 
not permitted to attempt a backward intersection in the program. With the large number of pre-juvenile teams, the ability 
to perform a backward intersection will help differentiate the teams and also allow for training of an element which would 
likely be performed once a skater moves to the next higher level team. A backward intersection at this level does not con-
stitute a dangerous element, and teams should be encouraged to try it if they can.

Financial impact: None  
352. Synchronized Skating Committee

Delete rule 7913 (page 242, Rulebook) and amend rule 7912 to allow for the application and clarification of deductions in 
all events judged under the 6.0 system as follows:

7912 Marking of the Synchronized Skating Short Program and Free Skate – 6.0 System
In the any synchronized skating short program, for those events event that are is judged under the 6.0 system, two 
marks are awarded on a scale from 0 to 6 as in rule 7911. The first mark is for technical elements and the second 
mark is for program components.
A. For the marking of the technical elements, see rule 7921 (D)(3). In addition, the judges must consider: the 

difficulty of the elements and transitions, and speed.
1. Difficulty of the performance (with no credit given for portions thereof which are missed);
2. Variety;
3. Cleanness and sureness;
4. Speed.

B.  For the marking of the program components, see rule 7922.
C.  Every failure in the technical elements must be reflected only in the first mark according to the importance of the 

element failed or omitted and the gravity of the mistake itself, since there is no direct relationship between the 
first and second marks. However, marks must be deducted for failures in the second mark if the harmonious and 
artistic aspects of the program are involved.

D.  An element is omitted when it is not tried. Any element started after the maximum allowable program length 
(as identified under rules 7200 through 7530) will be considered as omitted in the marking and will incur a 0.6 
deduction from the technical mark per rule 7912 (I).
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E.  A whistle shall will be blown by the referee when the allowable time has elapsed, and the judges shall must cease 
judging the performance. If the team fails to finish the short program within the time limit, there should be a 0.1 
deduction in the marks for technical elements and program components for up to every 10 seconds in excess.

F.  The execution of a non-prescribed element in place of a prescribed element must be considered as an omission, 
and an additional deduction of 0.2 for an extra element should be taken in the mark for technical elements.

G.  When illegal or non-permitted elements are included, a deduction of 0.1 must be made in both the technical ele-
ment and program component marks for each forbidden element performed.

H. If the music is not according to the requirements, a deduction of 0.1 must be made in the program component 
mark.

I.  Deductions in the mark for technical elements:
General Deduction
Omission 0.6
Maximum deduction/required element 0.5
Added/repeated element 0.2
Break in execution of the element 0.1-0.2
Stumble during a required element 0.1-0.2
Not according to requirements 0.1-0.2
Falls
Major (more than one skater for prolonged time) 0.4-0.5
Medium (either one skater for prolonged time or 
down and up for more than one skater) 0.3

Minor (one skater down and up) 0.2

7913 Marketing of the Synchronized Skating Free Skate – 6.0 System
In the synchronized skating free skate, for those events that are judged under the 6.0 system, two marks shall be 
awarded on a scale from 0 to 6 (see rule 7911). The first mark shall be for technical elements and the second mark 
shall be for program components.
A. In the marking of technical elements, see rule 7921 (D)(3). In addition, the following must be considered:

1. Difficulty of the performance (with no credit given for portions thereof which are missed);
2. Variety;
3. Cleanness and sureness;
4. Speed.

B. For the marking of the program components, see rule 7922.
C. If the music is not according to the requirements, a deduction of 0.1 must be made in the program component 

mark.
D. Any element started after the permissible time must not be marked and will have no value.
E. A whistle shall be blown by the referee when the allowable time has elapsed, and the judges shall cease judging 

the performance. If the team fails to finish a free skate within the allowed range of time, there should be a 0.1 
deduction in both marks for up to every 10 seconds lacking or in excess of the prescribed range.

Implementation date: July 1, 2017     Committee vote: 26 yes, 0 no, 0 abstain

Rationale: With the adoption and implementation of the IJS, there would be rare occasion for any junior or aenior short 
program to be skated under the 6.0 system. In the event any junior or senior short program would need to be judged under 
the 6.0 system (e.g., if no technical panel was able to be assembled for a synchronized skating competition) the deductions 
listed would still apply. This amendment would further clarify the application of the listed deductions for all synchronized 
skating events judged under the 6.0 system by removing the specification of “Short Program”. 

Financial impact: None
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353. Technical Panel Committee
Amend rules TPCR 6.05 and TPCR 6.12 (page 83, Rulebook) as follows:

TPCR 6.00  Inactive Status
TPCR 6.05  If an inactive technical panel official does not request reinstatement to active status after by the conclusion of 

the two-years period, said official will be deemed to have resigned their appointment(s) as a technical panel official and 
will be removed from the list of technical panel officials accordingly.

TPCR 6.10 Retirement or Resignation of Technical Panel Officials
TPCR 6.12 National technical panel officials desiring to resign some or all of their technical panel appointments must 

submit a written notice to the chair of the Technical Panel Committee to that effect. The chair will accept the resignation 
and report such action to the Board of Directors at its next ensuing in-person meeting. If the official has resigned all 
appointments, the official’s name will be removed from the official list of technical panelists at the meeting unless other 
action is directed by the Board of Directors.

Implementation date: July 1, 2017     Committee votes: 26 yes, 0 no, 0 abstain

Rationale: To bring the rules in line with those of other officials and make sure they are clear and match current practices

Financial impact: None

354. Tests Committee
Amend rules TR 27.04, TR 34.04 and TR 51.06 (pages 258, 265 and 277, Rulebook) as follows:

TR 27.04 In the event of a substantive change to any required singles well-balanced free skate requirement(s) technical 
element(s) by the ISU or U.S. Figure Skating, the chair of the Singles Committee will revise the affected free skate 
test(s) to include such change(s) as soon as practical. The chair will notify the chairs of the Judges, Rules and Tests 
Committees, and U.S. Figure Skating will post the change on the official website usfigureskating.org, notify club test 
chairs and ensure test forms are modified accordingly. 

TR 34.04 In the event of a substantive change to any required pairs well-balanced free skate requirement(s) technical 
element(s) by the ISU or U.S. Figure Skating, the chair of the Pairs Committee will revise the affected pair test(s) to 
include such change(s) as soon as practical. The chair will notify the chairs of the Judges, Rules and Tests Committees, 
and U.S. Figure Skating will post the change on the official website usfigureskating.org, notify club test chairs and 
ensure that test forms are modified accordingly. 

TR 51.06 The technical requirements for all free dance tests are described in section TR 54.00. In the event of a substantive 
change to any required free dance requirement(s) technical element(s), by the ISU Ice Dance Technical Committee or 
U.S. Figure Skating, the chair of the Dance Committee will revise the affected senior and junior free dance test(s) to 
include such change(s) as soon as practical. The chair also will issue notification of such change to U.S. Figure Skating 
and to notify the chairs of the Judges, Rules and Tests Committees., and U.S. Figure Skating must will post the change 
on usfigureskating.org, notify club test chairs and ensure test forms are modified accordingly.

Implementation date: May 7, 2017     Committee vote: 25 yes, 0 no, 0 abstain

Rationale: Currently our rules allow the Singles, Pairs and Dance Committee chairs to revise tests that are affected by any 
substantive change to any required technical element(s) by the ISU. This amendment allows for any substantive change to 
any well-balanced free skate/free dance requirement(s) (i.e. program time length) made by either the ISU or U.S. Figure 
Skating to be incorporated into the test rules. This follows the intent of the rule to allow committee chairs to revise the 
affected tests in an efficient manner to maintain consistency between competition and test requirements.

Financial impact: None
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355. Tests Committee
Amend rules 4035, 5035, 6023 and 7025 (page 139, 165, 191 and 215, Rulebook) as follows:

4035  Skate blades: Figure skating blades used during competitions and tests (or hockey skate blades used during moves 
in the field tests or moves in the field events at nonqualifying competitions) must be sharpened to produce a flat to 
concave cross section without change to the width of the blade as measured between the two edges. However, a 
slight tapering or narrowing of the cross section of the blade is permitted.

5035  Skate blades: Figure skating blades used during competitions and tests (or hockey skate blades used during moves 
in the field tests or moves in the field events at nonqualifying competitions) must be sharpened to produce a flat to 
concave cross section without change to the width of the blade as measured between the two edges. However, a 
slight tapering or narrowing of the cross section of the blade is permitted.

6023  Skate blades: Figure skating blades used during competitions and tests (or hockey skate blades used during moves 
in the field tests or moves in the field events at nonqualifying competitions) must be sharpened to produce a flat to 
concave cross section without change to the width of the blade as measured between the two edges. However, a 
slight tapering or narrowing of the cross section of the blade is permitted.

7025  Skate blades: Figure skating blades used during competitions and tests (or hockey skate blades used during moves 
in the field tests or moves in the field events at nonqualifying competitions) must be sharpened to produce a flat to 
concave cross section without change to the width of the blade as measured between the two edges. However, a 
slight tapering or narrowing of the cross section of the blade is permitted.

Implementation date: May 7, 2017     Committee vote: 23 yes, 2 no, 0 abstain

Rationale: Members have shown interest and have questioned whether hockey skate blades may be used for moves in 
the field (mostly introductory level moves in the field tests). Since the 1995 introduction of moves in the field, the general 
response by committee chairs to this inquiry has been, “yes” for the purpose of increased participation and the potential for 
creating additional opportunities.

Our current rule is taken verbatim from ISU Rule No. 500. The rule is prefaced with the general title of “Skate blade” and 
addresses the required blade sharpening/dimension for figure skating blades (which we currently do not check) but does 
not specifically address blade type. Although the blade type would be assumed to be figure skating blades for figure skating 
competitions and tests, allowing the use of hockey skate blades for moves in the field tests or for moves in the field events 
at nonqualifying competition has the potential to increase participation and create additional opportunities (i.e. increased 
male participation in our sport).

This concept follows the newly introduced Learn to Skate USA program which encourages introductory level skaters to 
explore all skating-related options rather than specializing in one skating discipline right from the start. Additionally, more 
advanced hockey skaters have been seeking figure skating resources to help improve their skating skills. This amendment 
coincides with the general acceptance by committee chairs to allow the use of hockey skate blades but restricts their use 
only for moves in the field tests or for moves in the field events at nonqualifying competition.

Financial impact: Potential for increased revenue.

356. Tests Committee
Delete rule JR 4.07 (page 48, Rulebook) and amend rule TR 7.06 (page 249, Rulebook) as follows:

JR 4.07  Members of a judge’s immediate family may not serve on the same three judge panel except when no other 
authorized judges are present. Exceptions would be permitted for the following reasons: sickness or travel delays/
cancellations by a judge, or a schedule change.

TR 7.06  Members of a judge’s immediate family may not serve on the same three judge panel may be selected without 
regard to relationship to each other. See rule JR 1.00, Judges’ Creed Standard of Conduct. Exceptions would be permitted 
for the following reasons: sickness or travel delays/cancellations by a judge, or a schedule change.

Implementation date: May 7, 2017     Committee vote: 21 yes, 4 no, 0 abstain
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Rationale: The rule restricting immediate family members from serving on the same three judge panel has been in effect 
since 1997. From 1997-98 through the 2004-05 season, rules JR 4.07 and TR 7.06 were as follows:

JR 4.07 Members of a judge’s immediate family may not serve on the same three judge panel except when no other 
authorized judges are present.

 
TR 7.06 Members of a judge’s immediate family may not serve on the same three judge panel except when no other 

authorized judges are present. See JR 4.07.

In the 2005-06 rulebook, the rules were amended as follows:
 
JR 4.07 Members of a judge’s immediate family may not serve on the same three judge panel except when no other 

authorized judges are present. Exceptions would be permitted for the following reasons: sickness or travel delays/
cancellations by a judge, or a schedule change. See also TR 7.06.

 
TR 7.06 Members of a judge’s immediate family may not serve on the same three judge panel. Exceptions would be 

permitted for the following reasons: sickness or travel delays/cancellations by a judge, or a schedule change. See JR 
4.07.

Within this past year, concerns have been raised across the country about the interpretation of these two rules and the 
inconsistency between them. Reminders were sent to judges and test chairs to help clarify the intent of these two rules; 
however, concerns still remained. Various committees were surveyed and provided feedback which led to this request for 
action.

Rules JR 4.07 and TR 7.06 are in place to avoid the appearance of collusion by restricting members of a judge’s immediate 
family from serving on the same three judge panel. However, two or three immediate family members may serve on the 
same three judge panel, if any of the exceptions in the rule are present. These exceptions are in place to ensure our skaters 
are not affected by unforeseen circumstances.  While this could give the appearance of collusion, JR 1.00 Judges’ Creed 
Standard of Conduct (and TR 7.12) supersedes this concern. Judging independently applies equally to all judges whether 
they are related or not.

The Judges’ Creed Standard of Conduct (JR 1.00-1.07) maintains that judges may not communicate with each other while 
judging, may not compare notes with one another, and must judge independently. These requirements are in place to ensure 
each judge forms their own opinion and while judging tests, submits their own marks, comments and test result (also in 
accordance with TR 7.12). Rule TR 7.12 further states that “Judges must not review their marks jointly before the results 
are checked and made official.”

If there is concern with specific judges giving the appearance of collusion and not judging independently, JR 1.07 is in place 
for the Judges Committee to take appropriate action (see also GR 1.01 - Code of Ethics).  JR 1.00-1.07 therefore supersedes 
the concern addressed within JR 4.07/TR 7.06.

The amendment to TR 7.06 allows test chairs the flexibility to utilize any qualified officials. Member clubs would not be 
required to incur additional travel expense to secure a judging panel that is not comprised of immediate family members.

This ballot item also proposes to delete JR 4.07. An overarching rule for the composition of judging panels is not needed.  
Judging panels for tests are defined within test rules (TR 7.00 - Officials) and judging panels for competitions are defined 
within competition rules (2100 Qualifying Competitions - Officials, rule 2117 & 3030 Nonqualifying Competitions - 
Officials, rule 3033).

Financial impact: Could save clubs money and make it easier to hold test sessions
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357. Tests Committee
Amend rules TR 25.12, TR 32.12 and TR 39.09 (pages 257, 264 and 270, Rulebook)

TR 25.12 Adult Gold Moves in the Field Test
Judging panel required: Three bronze silver or higher rank singles/pairs or dance judges who are certified to judge 
moves in the field tests.

TR 32.12 Adult Gold Free Skate Test
Judging panel required: Three bronze silver or higher rank singles/pairs judges.

TR 39.09 Adult Gold Pair Test
Judging panel required: Three bronze silver or higher rank singles/pairs judges.

Note: Rules JR 6.01 and JR 7.01 will be updated accordingly. Also, if item 338 is approved, that will override the change to 
rule TR 39.09 in this proposal (so three regional or higher rank judges would be required to judge the adult gold pair test).

Implementation date: July 1, 2017     Committee vote: 24 yes, 1 no, 0 abstain

Rationale: Bronze singles/pairs test judges are authorized to judge through the juvenile level for moves in the field, free 
skate and pair tests (rule JR 6.01, page 51, Rulebook). Bronze dance test judges are authorized to judge through the juvenile 
level for moves in the field tests (rule JR 7.01, page 53, Rulebook). The adult gold level has the same passing average of 
3.0 and is equivalent to the juvenile level. This amendment recognizes the equivalency between standard juvenile and adult 
gold and updates bronze test judges to judge adult gold moves in the field, free skate, and pair tests accordingly.

Financial impact: None

358. Tests Committee
Amend rules FTR 8.01-8.12 (pages 7-11, Compulsory Figures Rules (see http://www.usfigureskating.org/story?id=84114)) 
as follows:

FTR 8.01 Preliminary Test (PRE): Judging panel required: One or Tthree low or higher rank figure judge(s).; or one in-
termediate or higher rank figure judge.

FTR 8.02 First Test (1): Judging panel required: One or Tthree low or higher rank figure judge(s).

FTR 8.03 Second Test (2): Judging panel required: One or Tthree low or higher rank figure judge(s).

FTR 8.04 Third Test (3): Judging panel required: One or Tthree intermediate or higher rank figure judge(s).

FTR 8.05 Fourth Test (4): Judging panel required: One or Tthree intermediate or higher rank figure judge(s).

FTR 8.06 Fifth Test (5): Judging panel required: One or Tthree high intermediate or higher rank figure judge(s). (Interme-
diate figure judge appointed prior to October 1992 may also judge this test.)

FTR 8.07 Sixth Test (6): Judging panel required: One or Tthree high or higher rank figure judge(s).

FTR 8.08 Seventh Test (7): Judging panel required: One or Tthree high or higher rank figure judge(s).

FTR 8.09 Eighth Test (8): Judging panel required: One or Tthree gold figure judge(s).

FTR 8.10 Adult Bronze Figure Test (BFI): Judging panel required: One or Tthree low or higher rank figure judge(s).; or 
one intermediate or higher rank figure judge.

FTR 8.11 Adult Silver Figure Test (SFI): Judging panel required: One or Tthree intermediate or higher rank figure judge(s).

FTR 8.12 Adult Gold Figure Test (GFI): Judging panel required: One or Tthree high or higher rank figure judge(s).

Note: Rules JR 6.01 and JR 7.01 will be updated accordingly.

Implementation date: July 1, 2017     Committee vote: 23 yes, 2 no, 0 abstain

http://www.usfigureskating.org/story?id=84114)
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Rationale: With renewed interest in figures in some areas of the country, it is important we maintain our ability to support 
and encourage participation in this discipline. Allowing a single-judge panel option for figure tests would help to ensure we 
have qualified figure test judges available.

A single-judge panel for all levels of tests within a discipline is consistent with solo pattern dance tests (single-judge panel 
option for solo preliminary through solo international pattern dance tests, rule JR 7.01). This judging panel option is in place 
to encourage participation in both solo pattern dance tests and in the Solo Dance Competition Series.

Figure tests are their own entity. The passing of any figure test does not serve as prerequisite for any other non-figure test 
or competition event.

Financial impact: Makes it easier and less expensive for clubs to offer figure tests

359. Tests Committee
Amend rule TR 21.02 (page 252, Rulebook) as follows:

TR 21.02 Moves in the field are basic skating moves skated without not set to music. The terms and judging standards ap-
plied to moves in the field are for basic skating.

Implementation date: July 1, 2017     Committee vote: 23 yes, 1 no, 1 abstain

Rationale: In some areas, moves in the field tests (typically introductory levels) may make use of regular club ice on which 
music may be playing. Some skaters may prefer to have background music during their moves in the field tests. This may 
be consistent with their training environment and may be helpful during their tests. All tests in other disciplines are set to 
music (except for figure tests and the elements-only pre-preliminary and adult pre-bronze free skate tests).

If background music is used during moves in the field tests and it becomes too loud, or is distracting, or makes it difficult for 
the judge-in-charge to communicate with the skater during the test, it is the duty of the judge-in-charge to decide whether 
the arena conditions (music included) are suitable for conducting a test (rule TR 7.03 (B)).

Financial impact: None

360. Tests Committee
Amend the test fees, rule TR 9.01 (page 250, Rulebook) as follows:

TR 9.00 Test Registration Fees
TR 9.01 The test chair or duly authorized representative of the member club must collect and remit a standardized registra-

tion fee to U.S. Figure Skating headquarters of $4 $6 per test if the test is registered online or $6 $9 per test if the test 
is manually submitted via the Test Report Form. In the case of pair, pattern dance and free dance tests, each candidate 
will be assessed the appropriate test fee.

Implementation date: July 1, 2017     Committee vote: 26 yes, 0 no, 0 abstain

Rationale: Test fees have not been increased for nine years, when test fees were increased from $3 and $4 respectively to 
what they are currently ($4 and $6 respectively). This nominal increase of test fees will help cover increased costs of head-
quarters’ administrative budget due to inflation.

Financial impact: Increase to budgeted annual revenue of $110,000 

361. Tests Committee
Amend the Test Rules, to allow athletes to receive test credit for IJS protocol in nonqualifying competitions, as follows: 

TR 2.00 Qualification to Take Tests 
TR 2.00 – 2.02 (no change) 
TR 2.03 All tests, when marked “retry,” may not be retaken prior to the 27th day following the date of the original test. 

Example: A test taken on May 1 and marked “retry” may not be retaken before May 28, the 28th being the 27th day fol-
lowing the date of the original test. For the purposes of this rule, a moves in the field test taken as a masters candidate 
is considered the same as the same level moves in the field test taken as an adult or standard candidate. If a candidate is 
submitting an IJS protocol from a U.S. Figure Skating sanctioned nonqualifying competition for test credit, the waiting 
period does not apply.
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TR 3.00 Procedure 
TR 3.01 Tests must be held only under the auspices and control of a member club, the principal skating headquarters of 

which is defined as the address at which a club conducts the majority of its skating sessions. Tests may also be held by 
collegiate clubs provided they elect/appoint a test chair and adhere to all test rules. Candidates may apply for test credit 
(per test order and prerequisite rules) by achieving the minimum defined passing scores for the discipline and level 
based on their IJS protocol at a U.S. Figure Skating sanctioned nonqualifying competition. See rule TR 4.00

TR 4.00 Qualification to Apply for Test Credit from IJS Protocol 
TR 4.01 In lieu of taking a free skate, pair or free dance test at the juvenile, intermediate, novice, junior or senior levels, 

or an adult gold free skate test, at a test session, candidates may elect to submit their protocol from a U.S. Figure Skating 
sanctioned nonqualifying competition conducted under IJS, where they have met the minimum passing scores as defined 
in rule TR 4.02.
A. The protocol will be verified by the IJS Companion program, and a list of athletes in each event meeting the minimum 

requirements for that respective level will be generated. Athletes must obtain this list together with their individual 
detailed protocol.

B. Candidates must also obtain an overall copy of the appropriate event segment results with the signature of the chief 
referee and technical controller. The candidate’s total score must match the scores on their individual protocol.

C. Candidates must submit A and B to the test chair or duly authorized representative of their home club, along with a 
statement from their coach verifying that the results are correct and unaltered. Individual members may submit the 
documents directly to U.S. Figure Skating headquarters.

D. Candidates have one year from the time they achieved the requirements at a competition to submit their documents 
for test credit.

TR 4.02 The minimum passing scores for each respective test defined in rule section TR 4.00 is defined as follows:
A. The minimum passing score will consist of a Technical Element Score (TES), a Program Components Score (PCS), 

and a Total Segment Score (TSS). The candidate must achieve at least the minimum in all three scores in addition to 
all elements having a value > “0”.

B. The minimum passing scores will be determined annually by the Tests Committee and the respective Singles, Pairs, 
and Dance Committees and published via Technical Notification.

C. The minimum passing TES will be based upon the composite base value of all elements required at each level per 
the current ISU Scale of Values document.

D. The minimum passing PCS will be based upon the composite of test-level expectations and reasonable competition-
level expectations, using current program component factors.

E. The minimum passing TSS will be the minimum passing TES + minimum passing PCS.
F. Skaters requesting test credit through their IJS protocol must follow the procedure outlined in rule TR 4.01.

Rationale: Allowing this option will empower athletes and coaches by giving them more choices in how they use their 
resources (time and money) to train, compete, plan their seasons and achieve personal goals. Taking stand-alone free skate 
tests requires athletes to practice a test program, use ice time to prepare for the test session and spend money on taking that 
test. This option will allow skaters a more cost and time efficient way to prove that they have mastered the skills to move up 
to the next free skate level. In addition to the Tests Committee, this proposal was supported by the following committees: 
Judges, Athlete Development, Athletes Advisory, Singles, Pairs, Dance, Synchronized Skating and Coaches. The overall 
vote from members of all committees was 144 in favor, 9 opposed.

TR 8.04 The report required by rule TR 8.03 must contain the following information:
A. Host club name and number; 
B. The date the tests were taken; 
C. Test chair’s name, U.S. Figure Skating registration number, address, daytime phone and email address; 
D. The name of each judge and U.S. Figure Skating registration number, if applicable, or status in the case of a Skate 

Canada judge; 
E. The name of each trial judge and U.S. Figure Skating registration number, if applicable; 
F. Each candidate’s name, U.S. Figure Skating registration number and home club; 
G. The appropriate test code for each test taken; 
H. For each test reported, the total points awarded by each judge and trial judge, if applicable; 
I. An indication by the letter “P” or “R,” as to whether the overall result of the test is a “retry,” or “pass.” See the test 

report forms available online at usfigureskating.org or usfsaonline.org. 
J. If the candidate is choosing to submit an IJS protocol in lieu of a standard test, in accordance with rule section TR 

4.00, the name of the nonqualifying competition, the name of the technical controller and the name of the event 
referee. 

Implementation date: November 1, 2017:    Committee vote: 28 yes, 0 no, 0 abstain
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Financial impact: U.S. Figure Skating will have to pay for changes to the database to allow test chairs to enter tests under 
this option. Financial impact to clubs should be neutral, as clubs that currently make a net profit on test sessions will be per-
mitted to add an “administrative fee,” for recording the test. While their revenue may decrease, they will also save money 
on ice time and officials’ expenses. Athletes will save money on practice time, coaching fees and the ice time and officials’ 
expenses associated with stand-alone tests and “re-tried” tests. 

362. Tests Committee
Amend the Free Skate Test Rules, as follows, to align the test rules with the well-balanced program rules, allowing skaters 
to perform the minimum requirements, or higher, and to move the language of the free skate test rules into the 4000s section 
of the rulebook, alongside the competition rules: 

TR 32.01 Pre-Preliminary Free Skate Test
The purpose of this test is to encourage beginning skaters to learn the fundamentals of free skating. No great deal of 
technical ability, carriage or flow is expected. The candidate must show knowledge of the elements, fairly good edges and 
some evidence of good form. See rule 4270 for well-balanced free skate, with minimum technical elements and program 
duration. The skater may choose to complete the elements in a program, or as isolated elements. The skater must suc-
cessfully complete the following technical elements: 
Jumps:

1. One waltz jump
2. One single Salchow
3. One single toeloop
4. One 1/2 flip (land on either foot)
5. One 1/2 Lutz (land on either foot)

Spins: One one-foot upright spin (minimum three revolutions in position) with optional free leg position toward knee 
level

TR 32.02 Preliminary Free Skate Test
The purpose of this test is to continue the encouragement of beginning skaters to learn the fundamentals of free skating. 
The candidate must demonstrate knowledge of the elements and a good sense of power (speed/flow). A relationship with 
the music should be attempted in the program. See rule 4260 for well-balanced free skate, with minimum technical ele-
ments, and program duration. The following elements are required:
Jumps: Recommended five jump elements which must include the following four solo jumps and one jump combina-
tion:

1. One waltz jump (as a solo jump, not in combination or sequence)
2. One single Salchow (as a solo jump, not in combination or sequence)
3. One single loop (as a solo jump, not in combination or sequence)
4. One single flip (as a solo jump, not in combination or sequence)
5. One jump combination consisting of a single toeloop and one of the jumps listed above (in either order, no turn 

or change of foot between jumps)
Spins: Recommended two spins which must include the following:

1. One front scratch to back scratch spin with exit on spinning foot optional (minimum three revolutions on each foot)
2. One sit spin in recognizable sit position (minimum three revolutions in position)

Steps: Connecting moves and steps should be demonstrated throughout the program
Extra elements may be added without penalty.
Duration: Ladies and Men — 1:30 +/- 10 seconds to music of the skater’s choice.
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TR 32.03 Pre-Juvenile Free Skate Test
The fundamentals of free skating must be demonstrated, although not necessarily mastered. Good edges, flow, power, 
extension and posture are required for all of the elements of free skating (jumps, spins and connecting moves). The pro-
gram should utilize the ice surface and demonstrate some relationship with the music. See rule 4250 for well-balanced 
free skate, with minimum technical elements, and program duration. The following elements are required:
Jumps: Recommended five jump elements which must include the following three solo jumps and one jump combina-
tion:

1. One single loop (as a solo jump, not in combination or sequence)
2. One single flip (as a solo jump, not in combination or sequence)
3. One single Lutz (as a solo jump, not in combination or sequence)
4. One jump combination — choice of above with a single loop (no turn or change of foot between jumps). The 

single loop must be the second jump.
Spins: Recommended two spins which must include the following:

1. One camel spin (minimum three revolutions in position)
2. One spin combination: forward camel spin to forward sit spin. Optional change of foot (minimum six revolutions 

combined in forward camel and forward sit positions).
Steps: One step sequence, fully utilizing the ice surface. Pattern is not restricted.
Extra elements may be added without penalty.
Duration: Ladies and Men — 2:00 +/- 10 seconds to music of the skater’s choice. 

TR 32.04 Juvenile Free Skate Test
The candidate must skate the selected elements (jumps, spins and connecting steps) on good edges, with good form, 
flow, power and preciseness. The candidate must also skate to the music and utilize the ice surface. See rule 4240 for 
well-balanced free skate, with minimum technical elements, and program duration. The following elements are required:
Jumps: Recommended five jump elements which must include the following:

1. One single Axel (as a solo jump, not in combination or sequence)
2. Three different single or double jumps (each performed as a solo jump, not in combination or sequence)
3. One jump combination consisting of two single jumps (no turn or change of foot between jumps)
4. One non-listed jump from the following: split jump, stag jump, falling leaf or half loop. 

Spins: Recommended two which must include the following:
1. Ladies: One layback spin, sideways leaning spin or attitude spin (minimum four revolutions in position) Men: 

One forward camel spin (minimum four revolutions in position)
2. One spin combination with one change of foot and at least one change of position (minimum four revolutions on 

each foot). Must include two of the following positions: camel, sit or upright.
Steps: One step sequence, fully utilizing the ice surface. Pattern is not restricted. 
Extra elements may be added without penalty.
Duration: Ladies and Men — 2:15 +/- 10 seconds to music of the skater’s choice.

TR 32.05 Intermediate Free Skate Test
Strong, smooth edges and turns, combined with correct posture and effortless flow while utilizing the music and the ice 
surface are expected of the candidate in all types of free skating elements (jumps, spins and connecting steps). See rule 
4230 for well-balanced free skate, with minimum technical elements, and program duration. The following elements are 
required:
Jumps: Recommended six jump elements which must include the following:

1. One single Axel (as a solo jump, not in combination or sequence)
2. One double jump: double Salchow or double toeloop (as a solo jump, not in combination or sequence)
3. One jump combination consisting of two single jumps (no turn or change of foot between jumps)
4. One jump combination consisting of either one single and one double jump (in either order) or two double jumps 

(no turn or change of foot between jumps)
Spins: Recommended two spins which must include the following:

1. One flying spin (minimum five revolutions in position)
2. One spin combination consisting of at least one change of foot and at least one change of position (minimum four 

revolutions on each foot)
Steps: One step sequence, fully utilizing the ice surface. Pattern is not restricted.
Extra elements may be added without penalty.
Duration: Ladies and Men — 2:40 +/- 10 seconds to music of the skater’s choice.
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TR 32.06 Novice Free Skate Test
The candidate must give a performance that is generally good. The preciseness of the footwork should be nearly fault-
less, body motions well timed with the music, and the flow and power very good in all free skating elements (jumps, 
spins and connecting steps). The program should fully utilize the ice surface, and no major or consistent errors should be 
in evidence. See rule 4220 for well-balanced free skate, with minimum technical elements, and program duration. The 
following elements are required:
Jumps: Recommended seven jump elements for men and six jump elements for ladies which must include the follow-
ing:

1. One double Salchow (as a solo jump, not in combination or sequence)
2. One double toeloop (as a solo jump, not in combination or sequence)
3. One double loop (as a solo jump, not in combination or sequence)
4. One single Axel or one double Axel (as a solo jump, not in combination or sequence)
5. One jump combination consisting of two double jumps (no turn or change of foot between jumps) 

Spins: Recommended three spins which must include the following:
1. One spin in one position: choice of camel spin, sit spin or layback spin (minimum six revolutions in position)
2. One flying spin (minimum five revolutions in position)
3. One spin combination consisting of at least one change of foot and at least one change of position (minimum five 

revolutions on each foot)
Steps: One step sequence, fully utilizing the ice surface, or one spiral sequence. Pattern is not restricted. See rules 4104 
and 4105 for descriptions.
Extra elements may be added without penalty.
Duration: Ladies — 3:00 +/- 10 seconds; Men — 3:30 +/- 10 seconds to music of the skater’s choice.

TR 32.07 Junior Free Skate Test
The candidate must give a performance that is generally very good in all respects. Focus should be on power, flow, edge 
quality, line and footwork control. The program should demonstrate a good, harmonious composition that is skated to the 
music with rhythm and expression, while utilizing the full ice surface. See rule 4210 for well-balanced free skate, with 
minimum technical elements, and program duration. The following elements are required:
Jumps: Recommended eight jump elements for men and seven jump elements for ladies which must include the fol-
lowing:

1. At least three different double jumps, one of which must be a double flip (each performed as a solo jump, not in 
combination or sequence)

2. One jump combination consisting of two double jumps (no turn or change of foot between jumps)
3. One series of one or more non-listed jump(s) and one double jump. The non-listed jump(s) must precede the 

double jump while maintaining the cadence of the jumping rhythm. Non-listed jumps may include but are not 
limited to: waltz jump, inside Axel, half flip, half loop, split jump, walley, stag jump, bunny hop, mazurka, ballet 
hop, side toe hop and falling leaf.

4. One single Axel or one double Axel
Spins: Recommended three spins which must include the following:

1. One flying spin (minimum six revolutions in position)
2. One spin in one position (minimum six revolutions in position)
3. One spin combination consisting of all three positions and one change of foot (minimum two revolutions in each 

position and minimum five revolutions on each foot)
Steps: One step sequence of advanced difficulty, fully utilizing the ice surface. Pattern is not restricted. See rule 4105 
for description.
Extra elements may be added without penalty.
Duration: Ladies — 3:30 +/- 10 seconds; Men — 4:00 +/- 10 seconds, to music of the skater’s choice.
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TR 32.08 Senior Free Skate Test
The candidate must give an excellent performance displaying power, strong edge control and depth, extension and pre-
cise footwork control in all aspects of the selected elements. The program should fully utilize the ice surface, have a 
change of pace and superbly express the mood and rhythm of music. Harmonious steps and connecting movements in 
time to the music should be maintained throughout the program. See rule 4200 for well-balanced free skate, with mini-
mum technical elements, and program duration. The following elements are required: 
Jumps: Recommended eight jump elements for men and seven jump elements for ladies which must include the fol-
lowing:

1. Four different double or triple jumps, one of which must be a double Lutz (each performed as a solo jump, not in 
combination or sequence)

2. Two different jump combinations consisting of two double jumps or a double and a triple jump (in either order, 
no turn or change of foot between jumps)

3. One single Axel or one double Axel Note: If the skater elects to perform triple jumps, only one may be repeated 
in a combination or jump sequence.

Spins: Recommended three spins which must include the following:
1. One flying spin (minimum six revolutions in position)
2. One spin combination consisting of all three positions and one change of foot (minimum two revolutions in each 

position and minimum five revolutions on each foot)
3. One spin in one position (minimum six revolutions in position)

Steps: Men: One step sequence of advanced difficulty, fully utilizing the ice surface, and either a second step sequence of 
advanced difficulty, fully utilizing the ice surface, or a choreographic sequence. Patterns are not restricted. See rule 4105 
for descriptions. Ladies: One step sequence of advanced difficulty, fully utilizing the ice surface, and either one spiral 
sequence or one choreographic sequence. Patterns are not restricted. See rules 4104 and 4105 for descriptions. Extra ele-
ments may be added without penalty.
Duration: Ladies — 4:00 +/- 10 seconds; Men — 4:30 +/- 10 seconds, to music of the skater’s choice.

TR 32.12 Adult Gold Free Skate Test
Expectations for this test reflect a passing average that aligns with the juvenile free skate test. The candidate must skate 
the selected elements (jumps, spins and connecting steps) on good edges, with good form, continuous flow, strength and 
preciseness. The candidate must also skate to the music and utilize the ice surface. The following elements are required: 
See rule 4570 for well-balanced free skate, with minimum technical elements, and program duration.
Jumps:

1. Choice of single Axel, double Salchow or double toeloop (as a solo jump, not in combination or sequence).
2. One single Lutz jump (as a solo jump, not in combination or sequence).
3. Two additional different single jumps (each performed as a solo jump, not in combination or sequence) chosen 

from single Salchow, single toeloop, single loop or single flip.
4. One non-listed jump from the following: split jump, stag jump, falling leaf, half loop.
5. One jump combination consisting of two different single jumps (no turn or change of foot between jumps). Single 

jumps are single Salchow, single toeloop, single loop, single flip, single Lutz and single Axel.
Spins:

1. Two different solo spins (minimum four revolutions in position)
2. One spin combination consisting of only one change of foot and at least one change of position (minimum four 

revolutions on each foot). Must include two of the following positions: camel, sit or upright. Steps: One step 
sequence or one choreographic sequence, fully utilizing the ice surface. Pattern is not restricted. Extra elements 
may be added without penalty.

Steps: One step sequence or one choreographic sequence, fully utilizing the ice surface. Pattern is not restricted.
Extra elements may be added without penalty.
Duration: Ladies and Men — Not to exceed 2:40 to music of the skater’s choice.
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4270 Pre-Preliminary Singles (Note: The section below will be found in the 4000’s rules, not in the test section)
PRE-PRELIMINARY WELL-BALANCED FREE SKATE

1:40 maximum
Competition program must contain the following elements in 
any order

Test: Must follow competition 
requirements, in addition to the 
minimum requirements below.
Note: The skater may choose to 
complete the elements in a program, 
or as isolated elements.

JUMPS Maximum of five jump elements
• All single jumps, including single Axel, are permitted, but 

double, triple and quadruple jumps are not permitted
• The Axel may be repeated once (but not more) as a solo 

jump, or in a jump sequence or jump combination
• The number of single jumps is not limited provided 

the maximum number of jump elements allowed is not 
exceeded

• Up to two jump elements may be jump combinations or 
jump sequences
• Jump combinations are limited to two jumps except that 

skaters may perform one three-jump combination
• Jumps sequences are limited to a maximum of three single 

jumps

Five jump elements, which must 
include:
• One waltz jump or single Axel
• At least two different single jumps
• Remaining jumps may be half 

jumps (half Lutz and half flip) 
and/or single jumps.

Required jumps may be performed 
as solo jumps, or as part of the 
permitted jump combinations and 
sequences

SPINS Maximum of two spins
• All spins must be of a different character
• Each spin must have a minimum of three revolutions
• Spins may change feet and/or positions
• Spins may start with a flying entry
• The skaters have freedom to select the kinds of spins they 

intend to execute within the spin types allowed

Two spins:
Same as well-balanced program 
requirements

STEP 
SEQUENCE

One step sequence
• Must utilize one-half the ice surface
• Jumps may be included in the step sequence 
• Step sequences that are too short and barely visible cannot 

be considered as meeting the requirements of a step 
sequence, but additional step sequences connecting the 
various elements may be included at the discretion of the 
skater

• Moves in the field sequences and spiral sequences are 
permitted but will not be counted as elements

Same as well-balanced program 
requirements

REMARKS • Unless otherwise stated, all elements must meet the general 
criteria and basic requirements in order to be counted (see 
rule section 4100).

Same as well-balanced program 
requirements
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4260 Preliminary Singles (Note: The section below will be found in the 4000’s rules, not in the test section)
PRELIMINARY WELL-BALANCED FREE SKATE

1:30 +/- 10 seconds
Competition program must contain the following elements 
in any order:

Test: Must follow competition 
requirements, in addition to the 
minimum requirements below.

JUMPS Maximum of five jump elements
• One must be an Axel-type jump or a waltz jump
• All single jumps, including the single Axel, are permitted. 

Only two different double jumps, chosen from double 
Salchow, double toeloop and double loop, may be 
attempted. 
• Double flip, double Lutz, double Axel, triple and 

quadruple jumps are not permitted.
• An Axel plus up to two different, allowable double 

jumps may be repeated once (but not more) as solo 
jumps or part of a jump sequence or jump combination.

• The number of single jumps is not limited provided 
the maximum number of jump elements allowed is not 
exceeded 

• Up to two jump elements may be jump combinations or 
jump sequences
• Jump combinations are limited to two jumps except that 

skaters may perform one three-jump combination with a 
maximum of two double jumps.

• Jump sequences are limited to a maximum of three 
single or double jumps

Five jump elements, which must 
include:
• One waltz jump or single Axel*
• Three different single or allowable 

double jumps*
• One two-jump or three-jump 

combination including two single 
jumps, one single jump and one 
allowable double jump (in either 
order) or two allowable double 
jumps

*Required jumps may be performed as 
solo jumps, or as part of the permitted 
jump combinations and sequences

SPINS Maximum of two spins
• All spins must be of a different character
• Each spin must have a minimum of three revolutions
• Spins may change feet and/or positions
• Spins may start with a flying entry
• The skaters have freedom to select the kinds of spins they 

intend to execute within the spin types allowed

Two spins:
Same as well-balanced program 
requirements

STEP 
SEQUENCE

One step sequence
• Must utilize one-half the ice surface
• Jumps may be included in the step sequence 
• Step sequences that are too short and barely visible cannot 

be considered as meeting the requirements of a step 
sequence, but additional step sequences connecting the 
various elements may be included at the discretion of the 
skater

• Moves in the field sequences and spiral sequences are 
permitted but will not be counted as elements

Same as well-balanced program 
requirements

REMARKS • Unless otherwise stated, all elements must meet the 
general criteria and basic requirements in order to be 
counted (see rule section 4100).

Same as well-balanced program 
requirements
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4250 Pre-Juvenile Singles (Note: The section below will be found in the 4000’s rules, not in the test section)
PRE-JUVENILE WELL-BALANCED FREE SKATE

2:00 +/- 10 seconds
Competition program must contain the following elements in 
any order:

Test: Must follow competition 
requirements, in addition to the 
minimum requirements below.

JUMPS Maximum of five jump elements
• One must be an Axel-type jump
• All single and double jumps are permitted except double 

Axel
• No triple or quadruple jumps are permitted
• An Axel plus up to three different double jumps may be 

repeated once (but not more) as solo jumps or part of a 
jump sequence or jump combination

• The number of single jumps is not limited provided 
the maximum number of jump elements allowed is not 
exceeded 

• Up to two jump elements may be jump combinations or 
jump sequences
• Jump combinations are limited to two jumps except that 

skaters may perform one three-jump combination with a 
maximum of two double jumps.

• Jump sequences are limited to a maximum of three 
single or double jumps

Five jump elements, which must 
include:
• One waltz jump or single Axel*
• Three different jumps selected from 

single loop, single flip, single Lutz, 
single Axel, or any double jump, 
except double Axel*

• One two-jump or three-jump 
combination including two single 
jumps, one single jump and one 
double jump (in either order) or two 
double jumps (double Axel is not 
permitted)

*Required jumps may be performed as 
solo jumps, or as part of the permitted 
jump combinations and sequences

SPINS Maximum of two spins
• One must be a spin combination with at least one change 

of position and a minimum of six revolutions
• One must be a spin in one position with a minimum of 

four revolutions and no change of foot
• All spins must be of a different character
• In the spin combination, the change of foot is optional
• Both spins may have a flying entry
• The skaters have freedom to select the kinds of spins they 

intend to execute within the spin types required

Two spins:
Same as well-balanced program 
requirements

STEP 
SEQUENCE

One step sequence
• Must fully utilize the ice surface
• Jumps may be included in the step sequence 
• Step sequences that are too short and barely visible cannot 

be considered as meeting the requirements of a step 
sequence, but additional step sequences connecting the 
various elements may be included at the discretion of the 
skater

• Moves in the field sequences and spiral sequences are 
permitted but will not be counted as elements

Same as well-balanced program 
requirements

REMARKS • Unless otherwise stated, all elements must meet the 
general criteria and basic requirements in order to be 
counted (see rule section 4100).

Same as well-balanced program 
requirements
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4240 Juvenile Singles and Open Juvenile Singles 
(Note: The section below will be found in the 4000’s rules, not in the test section)

JUVENILE/OPEN JUVENILE WELL-BALANCED FREE SKATE
2:15 +/- 10 seconds

Competition program must contain the following elements in any 
order:

Test: Must follow competition 
requirements, in addition to the 
minimum requirements below.

JUMPS Maximum of five jump elements
• One must be an Axel-type jump.
• All single and double jumps, including the double Axel, are 

permitted.
• No triple or quadruple jumps are permitted.
• No more than three different double jumps may be repeated, 

and if repeated, at least one attempt must be in a jump 
combination or a jump sequence. If at least one of these 
executions is in a jump combination or a jump sequence, both 
executions (of the same double jump) are evaluated in a regular 
way. If both executions (of the same double jump) are as solo 
jumps, the second of these solo jumps will receive 70 percent 
of its original base value.

• No double jump can be included more than twice.
• Up to two jump elements may be jump combinations or jump 

sequences.
• Jump combinations are limited to two jumps except that skaters 

may perform one three-jump combination with a maximum of 
two double jumps.

• The number of jumps in a jump sequence is not limited.

Five jump elements, which must 
include:
• One single Axel or double 

Axel*
• Three different single or 

double jumps*
• One two-jump or three-jump 

combination including two 
single jumps, one single jump 
and one double jump (in either 
order) or two double jumps 

*Required jumps may be 
performed as solo jumps, or 
as part of the permitted jump 
combinations and sequences

SPINS Maximum of two spins
• One must be a spin combination with at least one change of 

position and a minimum of eight revolutions
• One must be a spin in one position with a minimum of five 

revolutions and no change of foot
• All spins must be of a different character
• In the spin combination, the change of foot is optional
• Both spins may have a flying entry
• The skaters have freedom to select the kinds of spins they intend 

to execute within the spin types required

Two spins:
Same as well-balanced program 
requirements

STEP 
SEQUENCE

Maximum of one choreographic step sequence
• Must fully utilize the ice surface
• A step sequence that meets the minimum requirements above 

will be awarded a fixed base value and evaluated by the judges 
in GOE

• A step sequence that does not meet the minimum requirements 
above will receive no value

• Jumps may be included in the step sequence 
• Step sequences that are too short and barely visible cannot be 

considered as meeting the requirements of a step sequence, but 
additional step sequences connecting the various elements may 
be included at the discretion of the skater

• Moves in the field sequences and spiral sequences are permitted 
but will not be counted as elements; instead they will be counted 
as transitions and marked as such

Same as well-balanced program 
requirements

REMARKS • Unless otherwise stated, all elements must meet the general 
criteria and basic requirements in order to be counted (see rule 
section 4100).

• If an extra jump(s) is executed, only the individual jump(s) 
which is not according to the requirements will have no value. 
The jumps are considered in the order of execution.

• Unless otherwise stated, all 
elements must meet the general 
criteria and basic requirements 
in order to be counted (see rule 
section 4100).
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4230 Intermediate Singles (Note: The section below will be found in the 4000’s rules, not in the test section)
INTERMEDIATE WELL-BALANCED FREE SKATE

2:40 +/- 10 seconds
Competition program must contain the following elements in any 
order:

Test: Must follow competition 
requirements, in addition to the 
minimum requirements below.

JUMPS Maximum of six jump elements
• One must be an Axel-type jump
• All single, double and triple jumps are permitted. Quadruple 

jumps are not permitted.
• No more than two different jumps with 2½ or three revolutions 

may be repeated.
• If any double or triple jumps, including double Axel, 

are repeated, at least one attempt must be part of a jump 
combination or sequence. If at least one of these executions is 
in a jump combination or a jump sequence, both executions 
(of the same double or triple jump) are evaluated in a regular 
way. If both executions (of the same double or triple jump) are 
as solo jumps, the second of these solo jumps will receive 70 
percent of its original base value. 

• No double or triple jump can be included more than twice.
• Up to three jump elements may be jump combinations or jump 

sequences.
• Jump combinations are limited to two jumps except that one 

jump combination may contain three jumps.
• The number of jumps in a jump sequence is not limited.

Six jump elements, which must 
include:
• One single Axel or double 

Axel*
• One double or triple jump*
• One two-jump or three-jump 

combination including at least 
one double jump or one triple 
jump

*Required jumps may be 
performed as solo jumps, or 
as part of the permitted jump 
combinations and sequences

SPINS Maximum of two spins
• One must be a spin combination with at least one change of 

position and a minimum of eight revolutions
• One must be a spin in one position with a minimum of five 

revolutions and no change of foot
• All spins must be of a different character
• In the spin combination, the change of foot is optional
• Both spins may have a flying entry
• Each basic position must be held for a minimum of two 

revolutions to be counted
• The skaters have freedom to select the kinds of spins they intend 

to execute within the spin types required

Two spins:
Same as well-balanced program 
requirements

STEP 
SEQUENCE

Maximum of one step sequence with a maximum of a Level 2. 
• Must fully utilize the ice surface
• Only simple variety (seven turns) and rotation in each direction 

covering at least a one-third of the pattern in total for each 
rotational direction will be evaluated for the level.

• Jumps may be included in the step sequence 
• Step sequences that are too short and barely visible cannot be 

considered as meeting the requirements of a step sequence, but 
additional step sequences connecting the various elements may 
be included at the discretion of the skater

• Moves in the field sequences and spiral sequences are permitted 
but will not be counted as elements; instead they will be counted 
as transitions and marked as such

One step sequence, fully 
utilizing the ice surface. Pattern 
is not restricted.

REMARKS • Unless otherwise stated, all elements must meet the general 
criteria and basic requirements in order to be counted (see rule 
section 4100).

• If an extra jump(s) is executed, only the individual jump(s) 
which is not according to the requirements will have no value. 
The jumps are considered in the order of execution.

• Unless otherwise stated, all 
elements must meet the general 
criteria and basic requirements 
in order to be counted (see rule 
section 4100).
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4220 Novice Singles (Note: The section below will be found in the 4000’s rules, not in the test section)
NOVICE LADIES WELL-BALANCED 

FREE SKATE
3:00 +/- 10 seconds

Competition program must contain the following elements in 
any order:

Test: Must follow competition 
requirements, in addition to the 
minimum requirements below.

JUMPS Maximum of six jump elements
• One must be an Axel-type jump.
• All single, double and triple jumps are permitted. Quadruple 

jumps are not permitted. 
• No more than one double Axel and two different triple 

jumps can be repeated, and if repeated, at least one attempt 
must be as part of a jump combination or a jump sequence. 
If at least one of these executions is in a jump combination 
or a jump sequence, both executions (of the same double 
Axel or triple jump) are evaluated in a regular way. If both 
executions (of the double Axel or same triple jump) are as 
solo jumps, the second of these solo jumps will receive 70 
percent of its original base value. 

• There is no limit to the number of different double jumps 
that may be repeated, but no double or triple jump may be 
included more than twice.

• Up to three jump elements may be jump combinations or 
jump sequences.
• Jump combinations are limited to two jumps except that one 

jump combination may contain three jumps.
• The number of jumps in a jump sequence is not limited.

Six jump elements, which must 
include:
• One single, double or triple Axel*
• Three different double or triple 

jumps*
• One two-jump or three-jump 

combination including two jumps 
with at least two rotations

*Required jumps may be 
performed as solo jumps, or 
as part of the permitted jump 
combinations and sequences

SPINS Maximum of three spins
• One must be a spin combination with a minimum of 10 

revolutions
• One must be a flying spin with a minimum of six revolutions 

and no change of position or change of foot
• All spins must be of a different character
• In the spin combination, the change of foot is optional
• All spins may have a flying entry
• Each basic position must be held for a minimum of two 

revolutions to be counted
• The skaters have freedom to select the kinds of spins they 

intend to execute within the spin types required

Three spins:
Same as well-balanced program 
requirements

STEP 
SEQUENCE

Maximum of one step sequence
• Must fully utilize the ice surface
• Jumps may be included in the step sequence 
• Step sequences that are too short and barely visible cannot be 

considered as meeting the requirements of a step sequence, 
but additional step sequences connecting the various elements 
may be included at the discretion of the skater

• Moves in the field sequences and spiral sequences are 
permitted but will not be counted as elements; instead they 
will be counted as transitions and marked as such

Same as well-balanced program 
requirements

REMARKS • Unless otherwise stated, all elements must meet the general 
criteria and basic requirements in order to be counted (see rule 
section 4100).

• If an extra jump(s) is executed, only the individual jump(s) 
which is not according to the requirements will have no value. 
The jumps are considered in the order of execution.

• Unless otherwise stated, all 
elements must meet the general 
criteria and basic requirements 
in order to be counted (see rule 
section 4100).
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NOVICE MEN WELL-BALANCED 
FREE SKATE

3:30 +/- 10 seconds
Competition program must contain the following elements in 
any order:

Test: Must follow competition 
requirements, in addition to the 
minimum requirements below.

JUMPS Maximum of seven jump elements
• One must be an Axel-type jump.
• All single, double and triple jumps are permitted. Quadruple 

jumps are not permitted.
• No more than one double Axel and two different triple 

jumps can be repeated, and if repeated, at least one attempt 
must be as part of a jump combination or a jump sequence. 
If at least one of these executions is in a jump combination 
or a jump sequence, both executions (of the double Axel 
or same triple jump) are evaluated in a regular way. If both 
executions (of the double Axel or same triple jump) are as 
solo jumps, the second of these solo jumps will receive 70 
percent of its original base value. 

• There is no limit to the number of different double jumps 
that may be repeated, but no double or triple jump may be 
included more than twice. 

• Up to three jump elements may be jump combinations or 
jump sequences.
• Jump combinations are limited to two jumps except that one 

jump combination may contain three jumps.
• The number of jumps in a jump sequence is not limited.

Seven jump elements, which must 
include:
• One single, double or triple Axel*
• Three different double or triple 

jumps*
• One two-jump or three-jump 

combination including two jumps 
with at least two rotations

*Required jumps may be 
performed as solo jumps, or 
as part of the permitted jump 
combinations and sequences

SPINS Maximum of three spins
• One must be a spin combination with a minimum of 10 

revolutions
• One must be a flying spin with a minimum of six revolutions 

and no change of position or change of foot
• All spins must be of a different character
• In the spin combination, the change of foot is optional
• All spins may have a flying entry
• Each basic position must be held for a minimum of two 

revolutions to be counted
• The skaters have freedom to select the kinds of spins they 

intend to execute within the spin types required

Three spins:
Same as well-balanced program 
requirements

STEP 
SEQUENCE

Maximum of one step sequence
• Must fully utilize the ice surface
• Jumps may be included in the step sequence 
• Step sequences that are too short and barely visible cannot be 

considered as meeting the requirements of a step sequence, 
but additional step sequences connecting the various elements 
may be included at the discretion of the skater

• Moves in the field sequences and spiral sequences are 
permitted but will not be counted as elements; instead they 
will be counted as transitions and marked as such

Same as well-balanced program 
requirements

REMARKS • Unless otherwise stated, all elements must meet the general 
criteria and basic requirements in order to be counted (see rule 
section 4100).

• If an extra jump(s) is executed, only the individual jump(s) 
which is not according to the requirements will have no value. 
The jumps are considered in the order of execution.

• Unless otherwise stated, all 
elements must meet the general 
criteria and basic requirements 
in order to be counted (see rule 
section 4100).
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4210 Junior Singles (Note: The section below will be found in the 4000’s rules, not in the test section)
JUNIOR LADIES WELL-BALANCED 

FREE SKATE
3:30 +/- 10 seconds

Competition program must contain the following elements 
in any order:

Test: Must follow competition 
requirements, in addition to the 
minimum requirements below.

JUMPS Maximum of seven jump elements
• One must be an Axel-type jump.
• Jumps can contain any number of revolutions.

• No double jump (including double Axel) can be 
included more than twice (as a solo jump or as part of a 
combination/sequence).

• Of all the triple and quadruple jumps, only two can be 
executed twice. If at least one of these executions is in a 
jump combination or a jump sequence, both executions 
(of the same triple or quadruple jump) are evaluated in 
a regular way. If both executions (of the same triple or 
quadruple jump) are as solo jumps, the second of these 
solo jumps will receive 70 percent of its original base 
value. 

• Up to three jump elements may be jump combinations or 
jump sequences.
• Jump combinations are limited to two jumps except that 

one jump combination may contain three jumps.
• The number of jumps in a jump sequence is not limited.

Seven jump elements, which must 
include:
• One single, double or triple Axel*
• Four different double, triple or quad 

jumps, one of which must be a 
double flip, double Lutz, triple jump 
or quad jump*

• One two-jump or three-jump 
combination including two jumps 
with at least two rotations

*Required jumps may be performed 
as solo jumps, or as part of the 
permitted jump combinations and 
sequences

SPINS Maximum of three spins
• One must be a spin combination with a minimum of 10 

revolutions
• One must be a flying spin or a spin with a flying entry 

with a minimum of six revolutions
• One must be a spin with only one position with a 

minimum of six revolutions
• All spins must be of a different character
• In all spins, the change of foot is optional
• All spins may begin with a flying entry
• Each basic position must be held for a minimum of two 

revolutions to be counted
• The skaters have freedom to select the kinds of spins they 

intend to execute within the spin types required

Three spins:
Same as well-balanced program 
requirements

STEP 
SEQUENCE

Maximum of one step sequence
• Must fully utilize the ice surface
• Jumps may be included in the step sequence 
• Step sequences that are too short and barely visible cannot 

be considered as meeting the requirements of a step 
sequence, but additional step sequences connecting the 
various elements may be included at the discretion of the 
skater. 

Same as well-balanced program 
requirements

REMARKS • Unless otherwise stated, all elements must meet the 
general criteria and basic requirements in order to be 
counted (see rule section 4100).

• If an extra jump(s) is executed, only the individual 
jump(s) which is not according to the requirements will 
have no value. The jumps are considered in the order of 
execution.

• Unless otherwise stated, all 
elements must meet the general 
criteria and basic requirements 
in order to be counted (see rule 
section 4100).
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JUNIOR MEN WELL-BALANCED 
FREE SKATE

4:00 +/- 10 seconds
Competition program must contain the following elements 
in any order:

Test: Must follow competition 
requirements, in addition to the 
minimum requirements below.

JUMPS Maximum of eight jump elements
• One must be an Axel-type jump.
• Jumps can contain any number of revolutions.

• No double jump (including double Axel) can be 
included more than twice (as a solo jump or as part of a 
combination/sequence).

• Of all the triple and quadruple jumps, only two can be 
executed twice. If at least one of these executions is in a 
jump combination or a jump sequence, both executions 
(of the same triple or quadruple jump) are evaluated in 
a regular way. If both executions (of the same triple or 
quadruple jump) are as solo jumps, the second of these 
solo jumps will receive 70 percent of its original base 
value. 

• Up to three jump elements may be jump combinations or 
jump sequences.
• Jump combinations are limited to two jumps except that 

one jump combination may contain three jumps.
• The number of jumps in a jump sequence is not limited.

Eight jump elements, which must 
include:
• One single, double or triple Axel*
• Four different double, triple or quad 

jumps, one of which must be a 
double flip, double Lutz, triple jump 
or quad jump*

• One two-jump or three-jump 
combination including two jumps 
with at least two rotations

*Required jumps may be performed 
as solo jumps, or as part of the 
permitted jump combinations and 
sequences

SPINS Maximum of three spins
• One must be a spin combination with a minimum of 10 

revolutions
• One must be a flying spin or a spin with a flying entry 

with a minimum of six revolutions
• One must be a spin with only one position with a 

minimum of six revolutions
• All spins must be of a different character
• In all spins, the change of foot is optional
• All spins may begin with a flying entry
• Each basic position must be held for a minimum of two 

revolutions to be counted
• The skaters have freedom to select the kinds of spins they 

intend to execute within the spin types required

Three spins:
Same as well-balanced program 
requirements

STEP 
SEQUENCE

Maximum of one step sequence
• Must fully utilize the ice surface
• Jumps may be included in the step sequence 
• Step sequences that are too short and barely visible cannot 

be considered as meeting the requirements of a step 
sequence, but additional step sequences connecting the 
various elements may be included at the discretion of the 
skater

Same as well-balanced program 
requirements

REMARKS • Unless otherwise stated, all elements must meet the 
general criteria and basic requirements in order to be 
counted (see rule section 4100).

• If an extra jump(s) is executed, only the individual 
jump(s) which is not according to the requirements will 
have no value. The jumps are considered in the order of 
execution.

• Unless otherwise stated, all 
elements must meet the general 
criteria and basic requirements 
in order to be counted (see rule 
section 4100).
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4200 Senior Singles (Note: The section below will be found in the 4000’s rules, not in the test section)
SENIOR LADIES WELL-BALANCED FREE SKATE

4:00 +/- 10 seconds
Competition program must contain the following 
elements in any order:

Test: Must follow competition 
requirements, in addition to the 
minimum requirements below.

JUMPS Maximum of seven jump elements
• One must be an Axel-type jump.
• Jumps can contain any number of revolutions.

• No double jump (including double Axel) can be 
included more than twice (as a solo jump or as 
part of a combination/sequence).

• Of all the triple and quadruple jumps, only two 
can be executed twice. If at least one of these 
executions is in a jump combination or a jump 
sequence, both executions (of the same triple or 
quadruple jump) are evaluated in a regular way. If 
both executions (of the same triple or quadruple 
jump) are as solo jumps, the second of these solo 
jumps will receive 70 percent of its original base 
value. 

• Up to three jump elements may be jump 
combinations or jump sequences.
• Jump combinations are limited to two jumps 

except that one jump combination may contain 
three jumps.

• The number of jumps in a jump sequence is not 
limited.

Seven jump elements, which must 
include:
• One single, double or triple Axel*
• Four different double, triple or 

quad jumps, one of which must be 
a double Lutz, triple jump or quad 
jump*

• Two two-jump or three-jump 
combinations, each including two 
jumps with at least two rotations

*Required jumps may be performed 
as solo jumps, or as part of the 
permitted jump combinations and 
sequences

SPINS Maximum of three spins
• One must be a spin combination with a minimum of 

10 revolutions
• One must be a flying spin or a spin with a flying 

entry with a minimum of six revolutions
• One must be a spin with only one position with a 

minimum of six revolutions
• All spins must be of a different character
• In all spins, the change of foot is optional
• All spins may begin with a flying entry
• Each basic position must be held for a minimum of 

two revolutions to be counted
• The skaters have freedom to select the kinds of 

spins they intend to execute within the spin types 
required

Three spins:
Same as well-balanced program 
requirements

STEP SEQUENCE Maximum of one step sequence
• Must fully utilize the ice surface
• Jumps may be included in the step sequence 
• Step sequences that are too short and barely visible 

cannot be considered as meeting the requirements 
of a step sequence, but additional step sequences 
connecting the various elements may be included at 
the discretion of the skater

Same as well-balanced program 
requirements

CHOREOGRAPHIC 
SEQUENCE

Maximum of one choreographic sequence
• Must be clearly visible
• Can be performed before or after the step sequence

Same as well-balanced program 
requirements

REMARKS • Unless otherwise stated, all elements must meet the 
general criteria and basic requirements in order to 
be counted (see rule section 4100).

• If an extra jump(s) is executed, only the individual 
jump(s) which is not according to the requirements 
will have no value. The jumps are considered in the 
order of execution.

• Unless otherwise stated, all 
elements must meet the general 
criteria and basic requirements 
in order to be counted (see rule 
section 4100).
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SENIOR MEN WELL-BALANCED 
FREE SKATE

4:30 +/- 10 seconds
Competition program must contain the following 
elements in any order:

Test: Must follow competition 
requirements, in addition to the 
minimum requirements below.

JUMPS Maximum of eight jump elements
• One must be an Axel-type jump.
• Jumps can contain any number of revolutions.

• No double jump (including double Axel) can be 
included more than twice (as a solo jump or as 
part of a combination/sequence).

• Of all the triple and quadruple jumps, only two 
can be executed twice. If at least one of these 
executions is in a jump combination or a jump 
sequence, both executions (of the same triple or 
quadruple jump) are evaluated in a regular way. If 
both executions (of the same triple or quadruple 
jump) are as solo jumps, the second of these solo 
jumps will receive 70 percent of its original base 
value. 

• Up to three jump elements may be jump 
combinations or jump sequences.
• Jump combinations are limited to two jumps 

except that one jump combination may contain 
three jumps.

• The number of jumps in a jump sequence is not 
limited.

Eight jump elements, which must 
include:
• One single, double or triple Axel*
• Four different double, triple or 

quad jumps, one of which must be 
a double Lutz, triple jump or quad 
jump*

• Two two-jump or three-jump 
combinations, each including two 
jumps with at least two rotations

*Required jumps may be performed 
as solo jumps, or as part of the 
permitted jump combinations and 
sequences

SPINS Maximum of three spins
• One must be a spin combination with a minimum of 

10 revolutions
• One must be a flying spin or a spin with a flying 

entry with a minimum of six revolutions
• One must be a spin with only one position with a 

minimum of six revolutions
• All spins must be of a different character
• In all spins, the change of foot is optional
• All spins may begin with a flying entry
• Each basic position must be held for a minimum of 

two revolutions to be counted
• The skaters have freedom to select the kinds of 

spins they intend to execute within the spin types 
required

Three spins:
Same as well-balanced program 
requirements

STEP SEQUENCE Maximum of one step sequence
• Must fully utilize the ice surface
• Jumps may be included in the step sequences
• Step sequences that are too short and barely visible 

cannot be considered as meeting the requirements 
of a step sequence, but additional step sequences 
connecting the various elements may be included at 
the discretion of the skater

Same as well-balanced program 
requirements

CHOREOGRAPHIC 
SEQUENCE

Maximum of one choreographic sequence
• Must be clearly visible
• Can be performed before or after the step sequence

Same as well-balanced program 
requirements

REMARKS • Unless otherwise stated, all elements must meet the 
general criteria and basic requirements in order to 
be counted (see rule section 4100).

• If an extra jump(s) is executed, only the individual 
jump(s) which is not according to the requirements 
will have no value. The jumps are considered in the 
order of execution.

• Unless otherwise stated, all 
elements must meet the general 
criteria and basic requirements 
in order to be counted (see rule 
section 4100).
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4570 Championship Adult Gold and Adult Gold Singles 
(Note: The section below will be found in the 4000’s rules, not in the test section)

CHAMPIONSHIP ADULT GOLD AND ADULT GOLD WELL-BALANCED FREE SKATE
2:40 maximum time

Competition program must contain the following elements 
in any order.

Test: Must follow competition 
requirements, in addition to the 
minimum requirements below.

JUMPS Maximum of five jump elements
• May include all single jumps (including single Axel) and 

the following double jumps: double toeloop and double 
Salchow

• Each jump may be repeated only once and only in 
combination and/or sequence. If at least one of these 
executions is in a jump combination or a jump sequence, 
both executions (of the same single or double jump) are 
evaluated in a regular way. If both executions (of the same 
single or double jump) are as solo jumps, the second of 
these solo jumps will receive 70 percent of its original base 
value.

• There may be no more than three jump combinations or 
jump sequences

• One jump combination/sequence may consist of three 
jumps, and the other two may have only two jumps

• No double-double jump combinations or sequences, double 
loop, double flip, double Lutz, double Axel or triple jumps 
are permitted

Five jump elements, which 
must include:
• Four different single or al-

lowable double jumps, two 
of which must be chosen 
from single Lutz, single Axel, 
double toeloop or double Sal-
chow*

• One two-jump or three-jump 
combination including two 
jumps with at least one rota-
tion

*Required jumps may be 
performed as solo jumps, or 
as part of the permitted jump 
combinations and sequences

SPINS Maximum of three spins of a different character
• If a spin includes a change of foot, it must have a 

minimum of four revolutions on each foot. All other spins 
must have a minimum of four revolutions.

• There must be a minimum of two revolutions in each 
position, or the position will not be counted

• The skaters have freedom to select the kinds of spins they 
intend to execute within the spin types allowed

Three spins:
Same as well-balanced pro-
gram requirements

STEP SEQUENCE Maximum of one choreographic step sequence (may include 
moves in the field and spirals) utilizing the full ice surface 
• A sequence that meets the minimum requirements above 

will be awarded a fixed base value and evaluated by the 
judges in GOE

• A sequence that does not meet the minimum requirements 
above will receive no value

• Jumps may be included in the step sequence 
• Sequences that are too short and barely visible cannot be 

considered as meeting the requirements
• Additional moves in the field sequences, spiral sequences 

and step sequences are permitted but will not be counted 
as elements; instead they will be counted as transitions 
and marked as such

Same as well-balanced pro-
gram requirements

REMARKS • Unless otherwise stated, all elements must meet the 
general criteria and basic requirements in order to be 
counted (see rule section 4100).

• If an extra jump(s) is executed, only the individual 
jump(s) which is not according to the requirements will 
have no value. The jumps are considered in the order of 
execution.

• Unless otherwise stated, 
all elements must meet the 
general criteria and basic 
requirements in order to be 
counted (see rule section 
4100).

Implementation date: November 1, 2017

Rationale for Pre-Preliminary: This proposal will allow skaters taking the pre-preliminary free skate test the option of 
skating a program to music, or demonstrating the elements in isolation (as now). This allows the coach and athlete to choose 
the option that works best for them. Skating a program to music, that matches competition rules, will allow a skater at this 
level more practice in skating a program. In addition to the Tests Committee, this proposal was supported by the Judges, 
Athlete Development, Athletes Advisory, Singles, Pairs, Dance, Synchronized Skating and Coaches Committees. The over-
all vote from these committees was 138 in favor, 17 opposed.

Committee vote: 25 yes, 3 no, 0 abstain
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Rationale: Aligning the test rules with the well-balanced program rules would empower coaches and athletes to put their 
resources on training that maximizes their own personal goals in figure skating. Currently, the test rules for singles free 
skating are so specific that they require athletes to choreograph and practice an entirely different program to take a test. The 
well-balanced program rules, on the other hand are very flexible. Aligning them would allow an athlete to skate the same 
program in a test that they do in a competition. In addition, it would allow them the choice of executing the current mini-
mum technical requirements or to execute more difficult requirements. In addition to the Tests Committee, this proposal 
was supported by the Judges, Athlete Development, Athletes Advisory, Singles, Pairs, Dance, Synchronized Skating and 
Coaches Committees. The overall vote from these committees was 146 in favor, 9 opposed. This change (in requirements to 
match competition rules) was also implemented for pairs tests last year and free dance tests prior to that.

Committee vote: 28 yes, 0 no, 0 abstain

Financial impact: U.S. Figure Skating would need to update the judges worksheets for free skate tests. Athletes would save 
(or redirect) the money they currently spend on choreographing and training a separate test program.

363. Tests Committee
Amend the test rules as follows to implement evaluation of tests on a -3 to + 3 scale and incorporate allowing tests to “Pass,” 
Pass with Honors”, or “Pass with Distinction”

TR 1.20 Judges’ Duties — Marking of Tests
TR 1.21 (replace current with following) Marks will be awarded on a scale ranging from -3 to +3, in whole number incre-

ments, with “0” equal to passing average for test level expectation.
TR 1.30 Marking of Moves in the Field
TR 1.31 (replace current with following) Each moves in the field element will be marked according to rule TR 1.21 with 

the exception of the pre-preliminary and adult pre-bronze moves in the field tests, which will receive a “pass” or “retry” 
only.

TR 1.40 Marking of Single Free Skate Tests
TR 1.41 (replace current with following) Three marks will be awarded; see rule TR 1.21. The first mark is for “ele-

ments,” the second mark is for “skating,” and the third mark is for “program” with the exception of the pre-preliminary 
and adult pre-bronze free skate tests, which will receive a “pass” or “retry” only.

TR 1.50 Marking of Pair Tests
TR 1.51 (replace current with following) Three marks will be awarded; see rule TR 1.21. The first mark is for 

“elements,” the second mark is for “skating,” and the third mark is for “program.”
TR 1.60 Marking of Pattern Dance Tests
TR 1.61 (replace current with following) Three marks will be awarded; see rule TR 1.21. The first mark is for 

“technique,” the second mark is for “timing,” and the third mark is for “expression.”
TR 1.70 Marking of Free Dance Tests
TR 1.71 (replace current with following) Three marks will be awarded; see rule TR 1.21. The first mark is for 

“elements,” the second mark is for “skating,” and the third mark is for “program.”

TR 8.00 Records
TR 8.03 The test chair or duly authorized representative of any member club conducting tests will make a report to U.S. 

Figure Skating headquarters certifying whether such tests were passed or marked “retry”, “pass,” “pass with honors,” or 
“pass with distinction” and must either send it the report to U.S. Figure Skating headquarters together with the appropri-
ate fee for each test taken or register the test results online. Checks are to be made payable to U.S. Figure Skating.
A. If a test session takes place on multiple days, a separate report is required for each day.
B. The U.S. Figure Skating Test Report Form must be used to report all moves in the field, free skate, pair, pattern 

dance and free dance tests.
TR 8.04 The report required by rule TR 8.03 must contain the following information: 

A. Host club name and number;
B. The date the tests were taken;
C. Test chair’s name, U.S. Figure Skating registration number, address, daytime phone and email address;
D. The name of each judge and U.S. Figure Skating registration number, if applicable, or status in the case of a Skate 

Canada judge;
E. The name of each trial judge and U.S. Figure Skating registration number, if applicable; F. Each candidate’s name, 

U.S. Figure Skating registration number and home club;
G. The appropriate test code for each test taken;
H. For each test reported, the total points awarded by each judge and trial judge, if applicable;
I. An indication by the letter “P” or “R,” “P,” “H,” or “D” as to whether the overall result of the test is a “pass” or “re-

try,” “pass,” “pass with honors,” or “pass with distinction.” See the test report forms available online at usfigureskat-
ing.org or usfsaonline.org.



114

Moves in the Field Tests

TR 19.00 Classification of Moves in the Field Tests (no change)
TR 20.00 Moves in the Field Test Rules (no change)

TR 21.00 Marking of Moves in the Field Tests
TR 21.01 Basic Rules - Moves in the Field
TR 21.02 Moves in the field are basic skating moves skated without music. The terms and judging standards applied to 

moves in the field are for basic skating.
A. The elements in the moves in the field tests must be skated in the order as set forth in the schedule of tests.
B. As basic skating elements, moves in the field turns must be judged in accordance with the criteria set forth in the cor-

responding test rules.
C. Moves in the field must be commenced from a standing, stationary position with a maximum of seven introductory 

steps unless specified otherwise in these rules. (See rule TR 22.02 (B) TR 21.08.)
D. If a skater starts a move on the wrong foot or skates a move other than that prescribed, the judge-in-charge must draw 

attention to the mistake as soon as possible. The mistake must be treated as a false start. Such fresh start must be al-
lowed only once per move without penalty. (See rule TR 22.02 (B) TR 21.08.)

E. Directed by the judge-in-charge, skaters will select the area on the ice surface for their moves in the field tests.

Note: Rule TR 21.05 (C) is proposed to be added to define test level expectations for adult/masters candidates taking the 
standard intermediate through senior moves in the field tests.

TR 21.05 Moves in the field must be skated with good edges, control, flow, extension, carriage and rhythm.
A. An even speed and flow should be maintained throughout.
B. Maximum utilization of the ice surface is desirable. Ice coverage must not be obtained by the use of flat or shallow 

edges.
C. For adult candidates (intermediate through senior moves in the field tests), the candidate should show the same level 

of achievement as that of a standard candidate at one test level below. For masters candidates (intermediate through 
senior moves in the field tests), the candidate should show the same level of achievement as that of a standard can-
didate at two test levels below. For masters candidates (adult bronze through adult gold moves in the field tests), the 
candidate should show the same level of achievement as that of an adult candidate at one test level below.

TR 21.06 For all moves in the field tests except the pre-preliminary and adult pre-bronze moves in the field tests the fol-
lowing information is listed:
A. Passing total: The total points which must be obtained for the test from an individual judge in order to obtain a 

“pass” from that judge.
B. Honors total: The total points which must be obtained for the test from an individual judge in order to obtain a “pass 

with honors” from that judge. Passing average: The mark which, if obtained in each division of a test, would result 
in a passing total for the test.

C. Distinction total: The total points which must be obtained for the test from an individual judge in order to obtain a 
“pass with distinction” from that judge.

TR 21.07 Moves in the field tests will must be marked by each judge on a scale from 0 to 6 in accordance with rules TR 1.20, 
TR 1.30 and TR 21.00. However, the marking of the pre-preliminary and adult pre-bronze moves in the field test will be 
on the basis of “pass” or “retry” for the entire test.

Note: Rule TR 22.02 (B) moved to rule TR 21.08
TR 21.08 Certain errors in moves in the field tests (with the exception of pre-preliminary and adult pre-bronze moves in the 

field tests) require a mandatory deduction of 0.1 reduction of one point (-1) from the mark that would have otherwise 
been given for that element and do not require a reskate of the element in question in order to pass the test. Such errors 
are: 
A. Exceeding the seven introductory steps;
B. Not starting from a standing, stationary position when required; 
C. Incorrect execution of a second fresh start.

TR 21.089 In assigning marks, the following must be considered:
Sub-paragraphs remain unchanged.
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TR 22.00 Requirements for Passing Moves in the Field Tests
TR 22.01 In order to pass a moves in the field test, a candidate must have received a “passing total” or a “pass” for the 

entire test from a majority of the judges. In the case where there is no majority test result among the panel, the second 
highest result among the panel is awarded (i.e. if results are “pass,” “pass with honors,” and “pass with distinction,” 
the skater is awarded “pass with honors”).

TR 22.02 In order for a moves in the field test to pass, no serious errors as defined below may be present following res-
kated elements. See rule TR 23.01.
A. Serious errors in moves in the field tests are:

1. A fall;
2.  A touchdown of the hand or free foot needed to save the skater from falling;
3. Omission of an element.

B. Certain errors in moves in the field tests require a mandatory deduction of 0.1 and do not require a reskate of the ele-
ment in question in order to pass the test. Such errors are:
1. Exceeding the seven introductory steps;
2. Not starting from a standing, stationary position when required;
3. Incorrect execution of a second fresh start.

TR 23.00 Reskating Any Element of a Moves in the Field Test
TR 23.01 At the completion of any test and before any other test is conducted, the judge-in-charge must ask the other two 

judges individually if they wish to see any element reskated before the judges turn in their judging sheets. A reskate may 
only be requested if warranted in order to mark a test as “pass” and not as “pass with honors” or “pass with distinction.” 
Should the judges wish a reskate, they will indicate to the judge-in-charge what they wish to be reskated. This must be 
done privately without conference. If a majority of the panel requests a reskate, the judge-in-charge will direct the skater 
to reskate the agreed-upon element. If the judges do not agree on which element to reskate, the judge-in-charge will de-
cide. A brief rest and warm-up is permitted before the reskate is performed.
A. After a moves in the field test, only one element may be reskated. The reskate may consist of the entire element or a 

portion of the element.

TR 25.00 Schedule of Moves in the Field Tests
TR 25.01 Pre-Preliminary Moves in the Field Test

The entire test will be marked on a “pass” or “retry” basis only, and individual marks will not be awarded. The “pass” 
or “retry” will be arrived at by consideration of the composite of each element in relation to the whole. The judge-in-
charge may request a reskate of only one element, upon request of a member of the panel, should it change the overall 
evaluation of the test from a “retry” to a “pass.” One element may be reskated, if necessary (see rule TR 23.00).

TR 25.02 Preliminary Moves in the Field Test
One element may be retried reskated, if necessary (see rule TR 23.00). 
Pass total: 0 to 6 points
Honors total: 7 to 12 points
Distinction total: 13 to 18 points
Passing average: 2.5 Passing total: 15.0

TR 25.03 Pre-Juvenile Moves in the Field Test
One element may be retried reskated, if necessary (see rule TR 23.00). 
Pass total: 0 to 6 points
Honors total: 7 to 12 points
Distinction total: 13 to 18 points
Passing average: 2.7 Passing total: 16.2

TR 25.04 Juvenile Moves in the Field Test
One element may be retried reskated, if necessary (see rule TR 23.00). 
Pass total: 0 to 6 points
Honors total: 7 to 12 points
Distinction total: 13 to 18 points
Passing average: 3.0 Passing total: 18.0
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TR 25.05 Intermediate Moves in the Field Test
One element may be retried reskated, if necessary (see rule TR 23.00).

Passing Average Passing Total

Standard 3.2 16.0
Adult 3.0 15.0
Masters 2.8 14.0

Pass total: 0 to 5 points
Honors total: 6 to 10 points
Distinction total: 11 to 15 points

TR 25.06 Novice Moves in the Field Test
One element may be retried reskated, if necessary (see rule TR 23.00).

Passing Average Passing Total

Standard 3.5 21.0
Adult 3.3 19.8
Masters 3.1 18.6

Pass total: 0 to 6 points 
Honors total: 7 to 12 points 
Distinction total: 13 to 18 points

TR 25.07 Junior Moves in the Field Test
One element may be retried reskated, if necessary (see rule TR 23.00).

Passing Average Passing Total

Standard 4.0 24.0
Adult 3.8 22.8
Masters 3.6 21.6

Pass total: 0 to 6 points
Honors total: 7 to 12 points
Distinction total: 13 to 18 points

TR 25.08 Senior Moves in the Field Test
One element may be retried reskated, if necessary (see rule TR 23.00).

Passing Average Passing Total

Standard 4.5 22.5
Adult 4.3 21.5
Masters 4.1 20.5

Pass total: 0 to 5 points 
Honors total: 6 to 10 points 
Distinction total: 11 to 15 points

TR 25.09 Adult Pre-Bronze Moves in the Field Test
The entire test will be marked on a “pass” or “retry” basis only, and individual marks will not be awarded. The “pass” 
or “retry” will be arrived at by consideration of the composite of each element in relation to the whole. The judge-in-
charge may request a reskate of only one element, upon request of a member of the panel, should it change the overall 
evaluation of the test from “retry” to “pass.” One element may be reskated, if necessary (see rule TR 23.00).

TR 25.10 Adult Bronze Moves in the Field Test
One element may be retried reskated, if necessary (see rule TR 23.00).

Passing Average Passing Total

Adult 2.5 12.5
Masters 2.3 11.5

Pass total: 0 to 5 points 
Honors total: 6 to 10 points 
Distinction total: 11 to 15 points
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TR 25.11 Adult Silver Moves in the Field Test
One element may be retried reskated, if necessary (see rule TR 23.00).

Passing Average Passing Total

Adult 2.7 16.2
Masters 2.5 15.0

Pass total: 0 to 6 points
Honors total: 7 to 12 points
Distinction total: 13 to 18 points

TR 25.12 Adult Gold Moves in the Field Test
One element may be retried reskated, if necessary (see rule TR 23.00).

Passing Average Passing Total

Adult 3.0 18.0
Masters 2.8 16.8

Pass total: 0 to 6 points 
Honors total: 7 to 12 points 
Distinction total: 13 to 18 points

Single Free Skate Tests

TR 26.00 Classification of Free Skate Tests (no change)
TR 27.00 Free Skate Test Rules (no change)

TR 28.00 Marking of Free Skate Tests
TR 28.01  The rules governing the manner of performance and the marking of figure skating and ice dancing will apply 

to all free skate tests. The following must be observed:
A. During the skating of free skate tests with a program (except for pre-preliminary and adult pre-bronze free skate 

tests):
1. Elements: see rules 4100-4106
2. Skating: see rule 4923 (A)(1)
3. Program: see rule 4923 (A)(2)-(A)(5)

B. During the skating of free skate tests without a program:
1. Elements: see rules 4100-4106

TR 28.02 For all free skate tests except the pre-preliminary and adult pre-bronze free skate tests the following infor-
mation is listed:
A. Passing total: The total points which must be obtained for the test from an individual judge in order to obtain a 

“pass” from that judge.
B. Honors total: The total points which must be obtained for the test from an individual judge in order to obtain a “pass 

with honors” from that judge. Passing average: The mark which, if obtained in each division of a test, would result 
in a passing total for the test.

C. Distinction total: The total points which must be obtained for the test from an individual judge in order to obtain a 
“pass with distinction” from that judge.

TR 28.03 Free skate tests must be marked by each judge for technical merit and presentation each on a scale from 0 to 6 
in accordance with TR 1.20, TR 1.40 and TR 28.00. However, the marking of the pre-preliminary free skate and adult 
pre-bronze free skate tests will be on the basis of “pass” or “retry” only for the entire test, and all of the elements of the 
test must be evaluated before the mark is given.

TR 28.04 If a skater fails to finish a free skate test program within the time duration allowed in under rule section TR 
32.00 (except for pre-preliminary and adult pre-bronze free skate tests with program option), a penalty of one point (-1) 
is deducted from the total a 0.1 deduction should be taken in both marks for up to every 10 seconds lacking or in excess 
of the prescribed range.

TR 28.05 Illegal elements/movements: (see rule 4106), a penalty of one point (-1) is deducted from the total for each occur-
rence.

TR 29.00 Requirements for Passing Free Skate Tests
TR 29.01 In order to pass a free skate test, a candidate must have received a “passing total” or a “pass” for the entire test 

from a majority of the judges. In the case where there is no majority test result among the panel, the second highest 
result among the panel is awarded (i.e. if results are “pass,” “pass with honors,” and “pass with distinction,” the skater 
is awarded “pass with honors”).
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TR 29.02 In order for a free skate test to pass, no serious errors as defined below may be present following the reskated 
elements. See rule TR 30.01. If only one serious error is present after the test has been skated, judges have the option 
of using the second (presentation) mark to pass the test, if warranted, or of requesting a reskate.
A. Serious errors in the free skate tests are:

1.  A fall;
2. Incomplete rotation of a jump, either on the landing or the takeoff;
3. Two-footed landing on jumps;
4. A touchdown of the hand or free foot needed to save the skater from falling;
5. A blatant change of edge before a jump (such as turning a Lutz into a flip);
6. When a combination jump is required, a turn between the two jumps of that combination;
7. Spins short one or more revolutions (see rule TR 29.02 (B)(5)); 
8. Failure to attain the required position(s) in the spin(s);
9. Omission of a required element.

B. Quality errors in free skate tests not necessitating failure of the test:
1. Incidental touchdown of the free foot;
2. Improper change of edge shortly before the takeoff of a required jump (very short change of edge);
3. Turns after the landing of a required jump or similar difficulties in holding the landing;
4. Traveling in required spins;
5. Spins short less than one revolution. 

C. Illegal elements/movements: 
1. Lying on the ice and prolonged and/or stationary kneeling on both knees at the beginning, end and/or during the 

program.
2. Somersault types of jumps.
The penalty to be applied should be 0.1 in each mark for each illegal element/movement performed.

Note: Rule TR 29.02 (C) moved to rule TR 28.05

TR 30.00 Reskating Any Element of a Free Skate Test
TR 30.01 At the completion of any test and before any other test is conducted, the judge-in-charge must ask the other 

two judges individually if they wish to see any element reskated before the judges turn in their judging sheets. A reskate 
may only be requested if warranted in order to mark a test as “pass” and not as “pass with honors” or “pass with dis-
tinction.” Should the judges wish a reskate, they must indicate to the judge-in-charge what they wish to be reskated. 
This will be done privately without conference. If a majority of the panel requests a reskate, the judge-in-charge 
will direct the skater to reskate the agreed-upon element. If the judges wish a reskate and do not agree on which ele-
ments to reskate, the judge-in-charge will decide. A brief rest and warm-up is permitted before the reskate is performed.
A. After a free skate test, only two different elements may be reskated.
B. Upon a request for a reskate, the skater may choose to complete any element that fulfills the stated require-

ment.
C. A skater who omitted a required element or substituted for a required element in the test may use one of their reskates 

to fulfill the stated requirement.

TR 32.00 Schedule of Free Skate Tests
TR 32.01 Pre-Preliminary Free Skate Test

The entire test will be marked on a “pass” or “retry” basis only, and individual marks will not be awarded. The “pass” or 
“retry” will be arrived at by consideration of the composite of each element in relation to the whole. The judge-in-charge 
may request a retry of two different elements, if necessary, upon the request of a member of the panel, should it change 
the overall evaluation of the test from a “retry” to a “pass.”
Two different elements may be reskated, if necessary (see rule TR 30.00).

TR 32.02 Preliminary Free Skate Test
Two different elements may be retried reskated, if necessary (see rule TR 30.00). 
Pass total: 0 to 3 points
Honors total: 4 to 6 points
Distinction total: 7 to 9 points
Passing average: 2.5 Passing total: 5.0
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TR 32.03 Pre-Juvenile Free Skate Test
Two different elements may be retried reskated, if necessary (see rule TR 30.00). 
Pass total: 0 to 3 points
Honors total: 4 to 6 points
Distinction total: 7 to 9 points
Passing average: 2.7 Passing total: 5.4

TR 32.04 Juvenile Free Skate Test
Two different elements may be retried reskated, if necessary (see rule TR 30.00). 
Pass total: 0 to 3 points
Honors total: 4 to 6 points
Distinction total: 7 to 9 points
Passing average: 3.0 Passing total: 6.0

TR 32.05 Intermediate Free Skate Test
Two different elements may be retried reskated, if necessary (see rule TR 30.00). 
Pass total: 0 to 3 points
Honors total: 4 to 6 points
Distinction total: 7 to 9 points
Passing average: 3.2 Passing total: 6.4

TR 32.06 Novice Free Skate Test
Two different elements may be retried reskated, if necessary (see rule TR 30.00). 
Pass total: 0 to 3 points
Honors total: 4 to 6 points
Distinction total: 7 to 9 points
Passing average: 3.5 Passing total: 7.0

TR 32.07 Junior Free Skate Test
Two different elements may be retried reskated, if necessary (see rule TR 30.00). 
Pass total: 0 to 3 points
Honors total: 4 to 6 points
Distinction total: 7 to 9 points
Passing average: 4.0 Passing total: 8.0

TR 32.08 Senior Free Skate Test
Two different elements may be retried reskated, if necessary (see rule TR 30.00). 
Pass total: 0 to 3 points
Honors total: 4 to 6 points
Distinction total: 7 to 9 points
Passing average: 4.5 Passing total: 9.0

TR 32.09 Adult Pre-Bronze Free Skate Test
The entire test will be marked on a “pass” or “retry” basis and individual marks will not be awarded. The “pass” or 
“retry” will be arrived at by consideration of the composite of each element in relation to the whole. The judge-in-
charge may request a retry of two different elements, if necessary, upon the request of a member of the judging panel, 
should it potentially change the overall evaluation of the test from a “retry” to a “pass.”
Two different elements may be reskated, if necessary (see rule TR 30.00).

TR 32.10 Adult Bronze Free Skate Test
Two different elements may be retried reskated, if necessary (see rule TR 30.00). 
Pass total: 0 to 3 points
Honors total: 4 to 6 points
Distinction total: 7 to 9 points
Passing average: 2.5 Passing total: 5.0

TR 32.11 Adult Silver Free Skate Test
Two different elements may be retried reskated, if necessary (see rule TR 30.00). 
Pass total: 0 to 3 points
Honors total: 4 to 6 points
Distinction total: 7 to 9 points
Passing average: 2.7 Passing total: 5.4

TR 32.12 Adult Gold Free Skate Test
Two different elements may be reskated, if necessary (see rule TR 30.00).
Pass total: 0 to 3 points 
Honors total: 4 to 6 points 
Distinction total: 7 to 9 points
Passing average: 3.0  Passing total: 6.0
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Pair Tests

TR 33.00 Classification of Pair Tests (no change)
TR 34.00 Pair Test Rules (no change)

TR 35.00 Marking of Pair Tests
TR 35.01 The rules governing the manner of performance and the marking of figure skating and ice dancing will apply to 

all pair tests. The following must be observed during the skating of pair tests: 
A. Elements: see rules 5100-5109
B. Skating: see rule 5923 (A)(1)
C. Program: see rule 5923 (A)(2)-(A)(5)

TR 35.02 For all pair tests, the following information is listed:
A. Passing total: The total points which must be obtained for the test from an individual judge in order to obtain a “pass” 

from that judge.
B. Honors total: The total points which must be obtained for the test from an individual judge in order to obtain a “pass 

with honors” from that judge. Passing average: The mark which, if obtained in each division of a test, would result 
in a passing total for the test.

C. Distinction total: The total points which must be obtained for the test from an individual judge in order to obtain a 
“pass with distinction” from that judge.

TR 35.03 Pair tests will must be marked by each judge for technical merit and presentation each on a scale from 0 to to 6 in 
accordance with rules TR 1.20, TR 1.50 and TR 35.00.

TR 35.04 If the skaters pair fails to finish a pair test skating program within the range of time duration allowed under rule 
section TR 39.00, a penalty of one point (-1) is deducted from the total 0.1 deduction should be taken in both marks for 
up to every 10 seconds lacking or in excess of the prescribed range. 

TR 35.05 Illegal elements/movements: (see rule 5109), a penalty of one point (-1) is deducted from the total for each oc-
currence.
A. Lying on the ice and prolonged and/or stationary kneeling on both knees at the beginning, end and/or during the 

program.
B. Somersault types of jumps.
The penalty to be applied should be 0.1 in each mark for each illegal element/movement performed.
(moved from TR 36.02 C)

TR 36.00 Requirements for Passing Pair Tests
TR 36.01 In order to pass a pair test, a the candidate(s) must have received a “passing total” or a “pass” for the entire test 

from a majority of the judges. In the case where there is no majority test result among the panel, the second highest result 
among the panel is awarded (i.e. if results are “pass,” “pass with honors,” and “pass with distinction,” the candidate(s) 
is (are) awarded “pass with honors”).

TR 36.02 In order for a pair test to pass, no serious errors as defined below may be present following reskated ele-
ments. See rule TR 37.01. If only one serious error is present after the test has been skated, judges have the option of 
using the second (presentation) mark to pass the test, if warranted, or of requesting a reskate.
A. Serious Examples of errors in pair tests are:

1. Lifts:
a. A fall;
b. Collapsed lift;
c. Lift does not go up;
d. No catch on twist lifts.

2. Death spirals:
a. A fall;
b. Man does not attain a pivot position;
c. Lady assisted not only by the blades.

3. Pair or solo spins:
a. A fall;
b. Either partner does not perform the spin;
c. Spins short one or more revolutions (see rule TR 36.02 (B)(5)).
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4. Single skating elements such as jumps, spins, step sequences:
a. The same as for the single free skate tests in TR 29.02 (A)(1–8). The serious errors outlined above require 

reskates by both partners.
B. Quality errors in pair tests not necessitating failure or the test are:

1. Incidental touchdown of the free foot;
2. Improper change of edge shortly before the take off of a required jump (very short change of edge);
3. Turns after the landing of a required jump or similar difficulties in holding the landing;
4. Traveling in required spins;
5. Spins short less than one revolution. 

C. Illegal elements/movements: 
1. Lying on the ice and prolonged and/or stationary kneeling on both knees at the beginning, end and/or during the 

program. 
2. Somersault types of jumps. 
The penalty to be applied should be 0.1 in each mark for each illegal element/movement performed

TR 36.023 In all pair tests, tThe pair will be judged and will “pass,” “pass with honors,” “pass with distinction,” or be 
marked “retry” as a pair. A partner in such tests who has previously received a “pass,” “pass with honors,” or “pass with 
distinction” already passed the test being tried will not be affected if a subsequent attempt of the same test with a differ-
ent partner has been is marked “retry” with a different result. Partners for all pair tests may be selected without regard 
to pair test accomplishments or eligibility status.

TR 37.00 Reskating Any Element of a Pair Test
TR 37.01 At the completion of any test and before any other test is conducted, the judge-in-charge must ask the other two 

judges individually if they wish to see any element reskated before the judges turn in their judging sheets. A reskate may 
only be requested if warranted in order to mark a test as “pass” and not as “pass with honors” or “pass with distinction.” 
Should the judges wish a reskate, they must indicate to the judge-in-charge what they wish to be reskated. This will be 
done privately without conference. If a majority of the panel requests a reskate, the judge-in-charge will direct the pair to 
reskate the agreed-upon element. If the judges wish a reskate and do not agree on which element to reskate, the judge-
in-charge will decide. A brief rest and warm-up is permitted before the reskate is performed.
A. After a pair test, only two different elements may be reskated.
B. Upon a request for a reskate, the pair may choose to complete any element that fulfills the stated requirement. 
C. A pair that omitted a required element or substituted for a required element in the test may use one of their reskates 

to fulfill the stated requirement.
TR 39.00 Schedule of Pair Tests
TR 39.01 Pre-Juvenile Pair Test

Two different elements may be retried reskated, if necessary (see rule TR 37.00). 
Pass total: 0 to 3 points
Honors total: 4 to 6 points
Distinction total: 7 to 9 points
Passing average: 2.7 Passing total: 5.4

TR 39.02 Juvenile Pair Test
Two different elements may be retried reskated, if necessary (see rule TR 37.00). 
Pass total: 0 to 3 points
Honors total: 4 to 6 points
Distinction total: 7 to 9 points
Passing average: 3.0 Passing total: 6.0

TR 39.03 Intermediate Pair Test
Two different elements may be retried reskated, if necessary (see rule TR 37.00). 
Pass total: 0 to 3 points
Honors total: 4 to 6 points
Distinction total: 7 to 9 points
Passing average: 3.2 Passing total: 6.4

TR 39.04 Novice Pair Test
Two different elements may be retried reskated, if necessary (see rule TR 37.00).
Pass total: 0 to 3 points 
Honors total: 4 to 6 points 
Distinction total: 7 to 9 points
Passing average: 3.5 Passing total: 7.0
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TR 39.05 Junior Pair Test
Two different elements may be retried reskated, if necessary (see rule TR 37.00). 
Pass total: 0 to 3 points
Honors total: 4 to 6 points
Distinction total: 7 to 9 points
Passing average: 4.0 Passing total: 8.0

TR 39.06 Senior Pair Test
Two different elements may be retried reskated, if necessary (see rule TR 37.00). 
Pass total: 0 to 3 points
Honors total: 4 to 6 points
Distinction total: 7 to 9 points
Passing average: 4.5 Passing total: 9.0

TR 39.07 Adult Bronze Pair Test
Two different elements may be retried reskated, if necessary (see rule TR 37.00). 
Pass total: 0 to 3 points
Honors total: 4 to 6 points
Distinction total: 7 to 9 points
Passing average: 2.5 Passing total: 5.0

TR 39.08 Adult Silver Pair Test
Two different elements may be retried reskated, if necessary (see rule TR 37.00). 
Pass total: 0 to 3 points
Honors total: 4 to 6 points
Distinction total: 7 to 9 points
Passing average: 2.7 Passing total: 5.4

TR 39.09 Adult Gold Pair Test
Two different elements may be retried reskated, if necessary (see rule TR 37.00). 
Pass total: 0 to 3 points
Honors total: 4 to 6 points
Distinction total: 7 to 9 points
Passing average: 3.0 Passing total: 6.0

Pattern Dance Tests

Note: The proposed changes below do not eliminate the adult and masters tracks for pattern dance tests.

TR 40.00 Classification of Pattern Dance Tests (no change)
TR 41.00 Qualification to Take Pattern Dance Tests (no change) 
TR 42.00 Partnered Pattern Dance Requirements (no change) 
TR 43.00 Partners for Pattern Dance Tests (no change)
TR 44.00 Solo Pattern Dance Track Tests Requirements (no change)
TR 45.00 Marking of Pattern Dance Tests

Note: Moved rule 6072 General Requirements for Pattern Dances to rule TR 45.01 (A), (B) and (C)

TR 45.01 The following must be observed during the skating of pattern dances: 
A. Technique: See rule 6072 (A).

1. Accuracy: The steps, dance positions, timing and movement of the dances must be in accordance with the dance 
diagrams and descriptions. Subject to general conformity with the basic requirements, some latitude is given to 
allow a couple to demonstrate their own individual style. This is usually accomplished by the use of a variety of 
arm and/or leg movements. Footwork must be neat, and deep edges should be skated with speed and flow. Obvi-
ous two-footed skating must be avoided. On chassés and progressives, the feet should be lifted as small a distance 
from the ice as is consistent with the making of a clean stroke. The skater must carry the weight over the skating 
foot.

2. Placement: The steps of the dances must be skated in accordance with the dance diagrams and descriptions. 
Maximum utilization of the ice surface is desirable, which requires deep edges and good flow. There should be no 
apparent struggle for speed. Ice coverage must not be obtained by the use of flat or shallow edges. In a regulation-
size arena (100 x 200 ft.) for pattern dances, the couples may not cross the center line of the rink. In arenas less 
than regulation size, the couple may cross the center line proportionally to the width of the ice surface.

3. Style: Carriage should be upright, but not stiff, with the head up. All actions should be easy and flowing. Speed 
should not be obtained at the expense of good style. The knee of the skating leg should be flexible with a rhythmic 
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rise and fall. The free leg and foot should be turned out and extended with the knee slightly relaxed and the toe 
pointed downward.

4. Unison: The dance couple should skate as close together as possible, with their movements in unison without 
apparent effort. The dance holds should be firm and the fingers neither spread nor clenched. Dance positions must 
be in accordance with the dance descriptions. Arm and hand movements or positions which differ from those 
specified in the descriptions of the required dance holds are permitted provided that the leading hand of the man 
remains in the prescribed position. Should a couple be completely out of position, it should be reflected in the 
marks awarded. The man should show his ability to lead and the lady to follow. Body movements such as leg 
swings, knee bends and lean should be equal. All movements and changes of position of a couple must be well-
coordinated. Note: The unison requirement does not apply to solo dance track tests.

B. Timing/Expression: See rule 6072 (B)
1. Timing: The dances must be skated in strict time to the music with the start of the dance commencing with a 

major accent. All movement must be coordinated with the rhythm of the music so that all steps are completed 
without any break in continuity.

C.2.Expression: The dance must be skated smoothly and rhythmically with the character of the music being correctly 
interpreted. Such interpretation shall will be shown by variations in the execution of the dance movements which 
reflect the patterns in the music. The overall effect should be such that each pattern dance has a distinct flavor. The 
partners should relate to one another.

TR 45.02  For all pattern dance tests except the preliminary partnered dance and the preliminary solo pattern dance tests, the 
following information is listed:
A. Passing total: The total points which must be obtained for the test from an individual judge in order to obtain a “pass” 

from that judge.
B. Honors total: The total points which must be obtained for the test from an individual judge in order to obtain a “pass 

with honors” from that judge. Passing average: The mark which, if obtained in each division of a test, would result 
in a passing total for the test.

C. Distinction total: The total points which must be obtained for the test from an individual judge in order to obtain a 
“pass with distinction” from that judge.

TR 45.03 Dance tests will be marked as follows:
A. Pattern dance tests must be marked by each judge for technique and timing/expression, each on a scale of 0 to 6 in 

accordance with rules TR 1.20, TR 1.60 and TR 45.00 TR 46.01. Each judge will record marks for the divisions in 
each test. However, the marking of the preliminary partnered and preliminary solo pattern dance tests by each judge 
will be on the basis of “pass” or “retry.” A “pass” in each division is required to pass each preliminary partnered pat-
tern and preliminary solo pattern dance track dance test.

TR 46.00 Requirements for Passing Pattern Dance Tests
TR 46.01 In order to pass a pattern dance test, a candidate must have received a “passing total” or a “pass” for the entire 

test from a majority of the judges. In the case where there is no majority test result among the panel, the second highest 
result among the panel is awarded (i.e. if results are “pass,” “pass with honors,” and “pass with distinction,” the skater 
is awarded “pass with honors”).

TR 47.00 Reskating a Pattern Dance Test
TR 47.01 At the completion of a pattern dance test (partnered or solo track) and before any other test is conducted, a reskate 

may be requested. A reskate may only be requested if warranted in order to mark a test as “pass” and not as “pass with 
honors” or “pass with distinction.” If a majority of the panel requests a reskate, the judge-in- charge will direct the skater 
accordingly. If the judges do not agree on what is to be reskated, the judge-in- charge will decide. A reskate of a partnered 
pattern dance may be one or two sequences either with the same or another partner or of the required solo. A reskate 
of a solo track pattern dance may be one or two sequences. A brief rest and warm up are permitted before the reskate is 
performed. The judge-in-charge will direct the reskate as follows:
A. Appoint the same or another partner without regard to test or eligibility status but subject to the provisions of TR 7.04 

in the case of a partnered pattern dance test;
B. Specify whether one or two sequences of the dance will be performed; 
C. Indicate the location of the start of the reskate;
D. Determine the appropriate period of rest; and
E. Inform the skater of these details.
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TR 49.00 Schedule of Pattern Dance Tests
TR 49.01 Preliminary Pattern Dance Test: Partnered and Solo (All Candidates) (no change)
TR 49.02 Pre-Bronze Pattern Dance Test: Partnered and Solo (All Candidates)

Passing Average Te chnique Timing/Expression Total
Standard 2.5 2.5 5.0
Adult 2.4 2.4 4.8
Masters 2.3 2.3 4.6

Pass total: 0 to 3 points 
Honors total: 4 to 6 points 
Distinction total: 7 to 9 points

TR 49.03 Bronze Pattern Dance Test: Partnered and Solo (All Candidates)
Passing Average Te chnique Timing/Expression Total
Standard 2.7 2.7 5.4
Adult 2.6 2.6 5.2
Masters 2.4 2.4 4.8

Pass total: 0 to 3 points 
Honors total: 4 to 6 points 
Distinction total: 7 to 9 points

TR 49.04 Pre-Silver Pattern Dance Test: Partnered and Solo (All Candidates)
Passing Average Te chnique Timing/Expression Total
Standard 3.0 3.0 6.0
Adult 2.8 2.8 5.6
Masters 2.6 2.6 5.2

Pass total: 0 to 3 points 
Honors total: 4 to 6 points 
Distinction total: 7 to 9 points

TR 49.05 Silver Pattern Dance Test: Partnered and Solo (All Candidates)
Passing Average Te chnique Timing/Expression Total
Standard 3.5 3.5 7.0
Adult 3.2 3.2 6.4
Masters 2.8 2.8 5.6

Pass total: 0 to 3 points 
Honors total: 4 to 6 points 
Distinction total: 7 to 9 points

TR 49.06 Pre-Gold Pattern Dance Test: Partnered and Solo (All Candidates)
Passing Average Te chnique Timing/Expression Total
Standard 4.0 4.0 8.0
Adult 3.7 3.7 7.4
Masters 3.2 3.2 6.4

Pass total: 0 to 3 points 
Honors total: 4 to 6 points 
Distinction total: 7 to 9 points

TR 49.07 Gold Pattern Dance Test: Partnered and Solo (All Candidates)
Passing Average Te chnique Timing/Expression Total
Standard 4.5 4.5 9.0
Adult 4.2 4.2 8.4
Masters 3.7 3.7 7.4

Pass total: 0 to 3 points 
Honors total: 4 to 6 points 
Distinction total: 7 to 9 points
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TR 49.08 International Pattern Dance Test: Partnered (All Candidates)
Passing Average Te chnique Timing/Expression Total
Standard 4.8 4.8 9.6
Adult 4.5 4.5 9.0
Masters 4.2 4.2 8.4

Pass total: 0 to 3 points 
Honors total: 4 to 6 points 
Distinction total: 7 to 9 points

TR 49.09 International Pattern Dance Test: Solo (All Candidates)
Passing Average Te chnique Timing/Expression Total
Standard 4.8 4.8 9.6
Adult 4.5 4.5 9.0
Masters 4.2 4.2 8.4

Pass total: 0 to 3 points 
Honors total: 4 to 6 points 
Distinction total: 7 to 9 points

Free Dance Tests

TR 50.00 Classification of Partnered Free Dance Tests (no change)
TR 51.00 Requirements for Partnered Free Dance Tests
TR 51.02 All partnered free dance tests will be danced as a couple and will “pass,” “pass with honors,” “pass with distinc-

tion,” or be marked “retry” as a couple. A partner in such tests who has already passed the test being tried previously 
received a “pass,” “pass with honors” or “pass with distinction” will not be affected if a subsequent attempt of the same 
test with a different partner has been is marked “retry.”with a different result.

TR 52.00 Marking of Partnered Free Dance Tests

Note: To maintain consistent rule order among test disciplines, rule TR 52.01 moved to rule TR 52.03 and replaced with:

TR 52.01 The following must be observed during the skating of partnered free dance tests: 
A. Elements: see rules DG 1.00-DG 7.04
B. Skating: see rule 6922 (C)(1)(a)
C. Program: see rule 6922 (C)(1)(b)-(C)(1)(e)

TR 52.02 For all free dance tests except the adult/ and masters pre-bronze free dance test, the following information is 
listed:
A. Passing total: The total points which must be obtained for the test from an individual judge in order to obtain a 

“pass” from that judge.
B. Honors total: The total points which must be obtained for the test from an individual judge in order to obtain a “pass 

with honors” from that judge. Passing average: The mark which, if obtained in each division of a test, would result 
in a passing total for the test.

C. Distinction total: The total points which must be obtained for the test from an individual judge in order to obtain a 
“pass with distinction” from that judge.

Note: To maintain consistent marking rule order among test disciplines, rule TR 52.01 moved to rule TR 52.03.

TR 52.031 Free dance tests must be marked by each judge for technical merit and presentation on a scale from 0 to 6 in 
accordance with TR 1.20, TR 1.70 and TR 52.00. However, the marking of the adult pre-bronze free dance and the mas-
ters pre-bronze free dance tests will be on the basis of “pass” or “retry” only for the entire test, and all of the elements of 
the test must be evaluated before the mark is given.

Note: move TR 52.03 to TR 52.04

TR 52.043 In a free dance test, a fall or other error(s) in a required element does not indicate a mandatory retry of the test.

Note: Rule TR 52.05 removed and replaced with:
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TR 52.05 If a couple fails to finish a free dance test within the time duration allowed under rule section TR 55.00 (except for 
the adult and masters pre-bronze free dance test), a penalty of one point (-1) is deducted from the total for up to every 
10 seconds lacking or in excess.

TR 52.05 In order for a free dance test to pass, no serious errors as defined below may be present following reskated ele-
ments. See rule TR 53.50. If only one serious error is present after the test has been skated, judges have the option of 
using the second mark to pass the test, if warranted, or of requesting a reskate.
A. Serious errors for free dance tests are:

1. All required elements:
a. Omission of a required element
b. A fall or stumble entering into or during a required element causing any portion of the element to be missing 

or the element not to be completed
c. A touchdown of the free foot or hand needed to save the skater from falling

2. Lifts:
a. Collapse of a lift 
b. Lift fails to go up
c. Incorrect type of lift
d. Same type of lift repeated

3. Spins:
a. Collapse of a spin
b. Execution on two feet by test candidate(s) upon entering the spin or after the commencement of the spin 
c. Fewer than required rotations if short by one or more rotations
d. Unequal number of rotations (greater than one rotation)
e. Re-centers spin completely (combination spin)

4. Synchronized twizzles:
a. Unequal number of rotations; greater than one rotation b. Execution of turn incorrect (novice and above)
Note: Item (4)(b) provides acknowledgement that twizzles are a developmental element. Juvenile and intermedi-
ate competitors are not always competent with these turns. It would be over penalizing a test skater to ask for 
proficiency of a turn that is probably too early in their development to master.

5. Step sequences:
a. Pattern incomplete

6. A serious error by the testing and/or non-testing partner requires a reskate of the element by both partners
B. Quality errors in free dance tests not necessitating failure are:

1. Awkward pose(s) within lift or spin
2. Speed lacking or diminishing within element(s)
3. Little variety in dance holds (taking into consideration test level)
4. More than three steps in between synchronized twizzles
5. Incidental touchdown of free foot during spin or twizzle
6. Fewer than required number of rotations in spin if less than one revolution
7. Unequal number of rotations within a spin if less than one revolution
8. Unequal number of rotations during a twizzle if less than one rotation
9. Execution of twizzle incorrect (intermediate and below)

C. Illegal element(s): An illegal element is not grounds for a test to fail. However, if there is a predominance of illegal 
elements within a free dance test, the judge is required to determine if the program meets the definition of a free dance 
or is more closely aligned to a pair, adagio or exhibition program.

Note: Rule TR 51.03 moved and becomes TR 53.01.

TR 53.00 52.04 Requirements for Passing Partnered Free Dance Tests
TR 53.01 In order to pass a partnered free dance test, a the candidate(s) must have received a “passing total” or a “pass” for 

the entire test from a majority of the judges. In the case where there is no majority test result among the panel, the second 
highest result among the panel is awarded (i.e. if results are “pass,” “pass with honors,” and “pass with distinction,” the 
candidate(s) are awarded “pass with honors”).
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TR 53.50 Reskating Any Element of a Partnered Free Dance Test
TR 53.51 At the completion of any partnered free dance test and before any other test is conducted, the judge-in- charge 

must ask the other two judges individually if they wish to see any required element reskated before the judges turn in 
their marking sheets. A reskate may only be requested if warranted in order to mark a test as “pass” and not as “pass with 
honors” or “pass with distinction.” Should the judges wish a reskate, they will indicate to the judge-in-charge what they 
wish reskated. This must be done privately without conference. If a majority of the panel requests a reskate, the judge-in-
charge will direct the couple to reskate the agreed-upon element. If the judges wish a reskate and do not agree on which 
element(s) to reskate, the judge-in-charge will decide. A brief rest and warm-up period is permitted before the reskate is 
performed.
A. After a free dance test, up to two different elements may be reskated.
B. Upon a request for a reskate, the dance couple may choose to complete any element that fulfills the stated require-

ment.
C. A couple that omitted or substituted for a required element in the test may use one of their reskates to fulfill the stated 

requirement.

TR 54.00 Schedule of Partnered Free Dance Tests
TR 54.01 Juvenile Free Dance Test

Passing average: 3.0 Passing total: 6.0
Two different elements may be reskated, if necessary (see rule TR 53.50). 
Pass total: 0 to 3 points
Honors total: 4 to 6 points
Distinction total: 7 to 9 points

TR 54.02 Intermediate Free Dance Test
Passing average: 3.2 Passing total: 6.4
Two different elements may be reskated, if necessary (see rule TR 53.50). 
Pass total: 0 to 3 points
Honors total: 4 to 6 points
Distinction total: 7 to 9 points

TR 54.03 Novice Free Dance Test
Passing average: 3.5 Passing total: 7.0
Two different elements may be reskated, if necessary (see rule TR 53.50). 
Pass total: 0 to 3 points
Honors total: 4 to 6 points
Distinction total: 7 to 9 points

TR 54.04 Junior Free Dance Test
Passing average: 4.0 Passing total: 8.0
Two different elements may be reskated, if necessary (see rule TR 53.50). 
Pass total: 0 to 3 points
Honors total: 4 to 6 points
Distinction total: 7 to 9 points

TR 54.05 Senior Free Dance Test
Passing average: 4.5 Passing total: 9.0
Two different elements may be reskated, if necessary (see rule TR 53.50). 
Pass total: 0 to 3 points
Honors total: 4 to 6 points
Distinction total: 7 to 9 points

TR 54.06 Adult and Masters Pre-Bronze Free Dance Tests
The test is marked only “pass” or “retry” in each division and in the final result. No numerical marks are awarded. If any 
one division is marked “retry” by a judge, the final result must also be marked “retry” by that judge. To pass the test a 
majority of the judges must award a “pass” in the final result.
Two different elements may be reskated, if necessary (see rule TR 53.50).

TR 54.07 Adult and Masters Bronze Free Dance Tests
Passing Average Passing Total

Adult 2.6 5.2
Masters 2.4 4.8

Two different elements may be reskated, if necessary (see rule TR 53.50). 
Pass total: 0 to 3 points
Honors total: 4 to 6 points
Distinction total: 7 to 9 points
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TR 54.08 Adult and Masters Silver Free Dance Tests
Passing Average Passing Total

Adult 3.2 6.4
Masters 2.8 5.6

Two different elements may be reskated, if necessary (see rule TR 53.50).
Pass total: 0 to 3 points 
Honors total: 4 to 6 points 
Distinction total: 7 to 9 points

TR 54.09 Adult and Masters Gold Free Dance Tests
Passing Average Passing Total

Adult 4.2 8.4
Masters 3.7 7.4

Two different elements may be reskated, if necessary (see rule TR 53.50). 
Pass total: 0 to 3 points
Honors total: 4 to 6 points
Distinction total: 7 to 9 points

Solo Free Dance Tests

TR 60.00 Classification of Solo Free Dance Tests (no change)
TR 61.00 Requirements for Solo Free Dance Tests (no change)

TR 62.00 Marking of Solo Free Dance Tests
TR 62.01 Free dance tests must be marked by each judge for technical merit and presentation on a scale from 0 to 6 in ac-

cordance with TR 1.20. The following must be observed during the skating of solo free dance tests:
A. Elements: see rule TR 61.02
B. Skating: see rule 6922 (C)(1)(a) (criteria, solo-specific only)
C. Program: see rule 6922 (C)(1)(b)-(C)(1)(e) (criteria, solo-specific only)

TR 62.02 For all solo free dance tests, the following information is listed:
A. Passing total: The total points which must be obtained for the test from an individual judge in order to obtain a 

“pass” from that judge.
B. Honors total: The total points which must be obtained for the test from an individual judge in order to obtain a “pass 

with honors” from that judge. Passing average: The mark that, if obtained in each division of a test, would result 
in a passing total for the test.

C. Distinction total: The total points which must be obtained for the test from an individual judge in order to obtain 
a “pass with distinction” from that judge.

TR 62.03 In a solo free dance test, a fall or other error(s) in a required element does not indicate a mandatory retry of the 
test. Solo free dance tests will be marked by each judge in accordance with rules TR 1.70 and TR 62.00

TR 62.04 If a skater fails to finish a solo free dance test within the time duration allowed under rule section TR 64.00, a 
penalty of one point (-1) is deducted from the total for up to every 10 seconds lacking or in excess.

TR 62.5004 Requirements for Passing Solo Free Dance Tests
TR 62.5105 In order to pass a solo free dance test, a candidate must have received a “passing total” or a “pass” for the 

entire test from a majority of the judges. In the case where there is no majority test result among the panel, the second 
highest result among the panel is awarded (i.e. if results are “pass,” “pass with honors,” and “pass with distinction,” the 
skater is awarded “pass with honors”). If only one serious error is present after the test has been skated, judges can use 
the second mark to pass the test (if warranted) or request a reskate (see rule TR 63.00). No serious errors as defined 
below may be present following reskated elements.
A. Serious errors for solo free dance tests are:

1. All required elements:
a. Omission of a required element
b. A fall or stumble entering into or during a required element causing any portion of the element to be missing 

or the element not to be completed
c. A touchdown of the free foot or hand needed to save the skater from falling

2. Edge elements:
a. No edge attained
b. Incorrect type of edge element
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3. Spins:
a. Collapse of a spin
b. Execution on two feet by test candidate upon entering the spin or after the commencement of the spin
c. Fewer than required rotations if short by one or more rotations. 
d. Re-centers spin completely (combination spin)

4. Step sequences:
a. Pattern incomplete

5. Twizzles/twizzle series: 
a. Less than required rotations
b. Execution of turn incorrect (novice and above)
Note: Item (5)(b) provides acknowledgement that twizzles are a developmental element. Juvenile and inter-
mediate skaters are not always competent with these turns. It would be over penalizing a test skater to ask for 
proficiency of a turn that is probably too early in their development to master.

B. Quality errors in free dance tests not necessitating failure are:
1. Awkward pose(s) within edge elements or spin
2. Speed lacking or diminishing within element(s)
3. Little variety in dance steps (taking into consideration test level)
4. More than three steps in between twizzles in the twizzle series
5. Incidental touchdown of free foot during spin or twizzle
6. Fewer than required number of rotations in spin if less than one rotation
7. Execution of twizzle incorrect (intermediate and below)

TR 63.00 Reskating Any Element of a Solo Free Dance Test
TR 63.01 At the completion of any solo free dance test and before any other test is conducted, the judge-in-charge must 

ask the other two judges individually if they wish to see any required element reskated before the judges turn in their 
marking sheets. A reskate may only be requested if warranted in order to mark a test as “pass” and not as “pass with 
honors” or “pass with distinction.” Should the judges wish a reskate, they will indicate to the judge-in-charge what they 
wish reskated. This must be done privately without conference. If a majority of the panel requests a reskate, the judge-in-
charge will direct the skater to reskate the agreed-upon element. If the judges wish a reskate and do not agree on which 
element(s) to reskate, the judge-in-charge will decide. A brief rest and warm-up period is permitted before the reskate is 
performed.
A. After a solo free dance test, up to two different elements may be reskated.
B. Upon a request for a reskate, the skater may choose to complete any element that fulfills the stated requirement.
C. A skater who omitted or substituted for a required element in the test may use one of the reskates to fulfill the stated

TR 64.00 Schedule of Solo Free Dance Tests
TR 64.01 Juvenile Solo Free Dance Test

Standard passing average: 3.0 Standard passing total: 6.0
Adult passing average: 2.8 Adult passing total: 5.6
Masters passing average: 2.6 Masters passing total: 5.2
Two different elements may be reskated, if necessary (see rule TR 63.00). 
Pass total: 0 to 3 points
Honors total: 4 to 6 points
Distinction total: 7 to 9 points

TR 64.02 Intermediate Solo Free Dance Test
Standard passing average: 3.2 Standard passing total: 6.4
Adult passing average: 3.0 Adult passing total: 6.0
Masters passing average: 2.8 Masters passing total: 5.6
Two different elements may be reskated, if necessary (see rule TR 63.00). 
Pass total: 0 to 3 points
Honors total: 4 to 6 points
Distinction total: 7 to 9 points

TR 64.03 Novice Solo Free Dance Test
Standard passing average: 3.5 Standard passing total: 7.0
Adult passing average: 3.2 Adult passing total: 6.4
Masters passing average: 3.0 Masters passing total: 6.0
Two different elements may be reskated, if necessary (see rule TR 63.00). 
Pass total: 0 to 3 points
Honors total: 4 to 6 points
Distinction total: 7 to 9 points
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TR 64.04 Junior Solo Free Dance Test
Standard passing average: 4.0 Standard passing total: 8.0
Adult passing average: 3.5 Adult passing total: 7.0
Masters passing average: 3.2 Masters passing total: 6.4
Two different elements may be reskated, if necessary (see rule TR 63.00). 
Pass total: 0 to 3 points
Honors total: 4 to 6 points
Distinction total: 7 to 9 points

TR 64.05 Senior Solo Free Dance Test
Standard passing average: 4.5 Standard passing total: 9.0
Adult passing average: 4.0 Adult passing total: 8.0
Masters passing average: 3.5 Masters passing total: 7.0

Two different elements may be reskated, if necessary (see rule TR 63.00). 
Pass total: 0 to 3 points
Honors total: 4 to 6 points
Distinction total: 7 to 9 points

Implementation date: September 2, 2018

Rationale for moving to a -3 to +3 evaluation system: Currently, our test structure requires us to train four types of 
officials: Test, 6.0 competition, IJS judges and technical panel officials. This is neither sustainable nor efficient for officials. 
The change addresses this by integrating concepts used in IJS into tests, merging our three types of judging. It helps 
create a smoother transition for athletes by incorporating some language of IJS. The scale of -3 to +3 will provide greater 
feedback to athletes and coaches, and it also retains a great deal of the concepts judges used in 6.0 (i.e., moving up or 
down from a passing average), reducing the amount of training necessary. In addition to the Tests Committee, this proposal 
was supported by the Judges, Athlete Development, Athletes Advisory, Singles, Pairs, Dance, Synchronized Skating and 
Coaches Committees. The overall vote from these committees was 141 in favor, 10 opposed.

Committee vote: 26 yes, 0 no, 0 abstain

Financial impact: U.S. Figure Skating will incur costs in training officials, revising all of the judges worksheets for tests 
and updating the database to reflect the new system of marking. 

Rational of allowing athletes to earn “Pass,” Pass with Honors,” or “Pass with Distinction”: 
Over several years, there has been feedback from officials that tests are being attempted at a faster rate; having the effect of 
lower quality tests being presented to the judges, with more comfort in “just getting by,” and only doing what is necessary 
to move to the next level. This would provide a new incentive to achieve higher quality in tests. 

In contrast, athletes and parents generally have a different approach when it comes to education. It is common to see stu-
dents strive to achieve well beyond the average of “C,” with students going beyond to achieve the recognition of “honors” 
and “distinction”. As with the other test proposals, this empowers the coaches and athletes. They will have another option 
in goal setting and achievement in the sport. If an athlete wants to use the test structure to simply advance to the next level, 
they can still do that. If they want to spend more time achieving in the test structure (vs. competition), they now have that 
opportunity, as well. It also provides U.S. Figure Skating with the opportunity to create new awards and/or accolades to 
recognize athletes choosing to pursue achievement in this area. In addition to the Tests Committee, this proposal was sup-
ported by the Judges, Athlete Development, Athletes Advisory, Singles, Pairs, Dance, Synchronized Skating and Coaches 
Committees. The overall vote from these committees was 130 in favor, 17 opposed.

Committee vote: 25 yes, 1 no, 0 abstain

Financial impact: See above. This piece of the test proposal would not add any addition cost if implemented in conjunction 
with the above proposal.
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REQUESTS FOR ACTION
2017 Board of Directors and Governing Council Meetings

April 2017

ADMINISTRATIVE/LEGAL GROUP (GROUP 4)

The Administrative/Legal Group proposes the following motion(s) on behalf of the committee(s) identified with each motion:

401. Rules Committee
Amend rule NCR 4.04 (G) (pages 68-69, Rulebook) as follows:

NCR 4.04 Annually, the committee will: 
G. Accept nominations for candidates other than those recommended by the Nominating Committee, provided such 

nominations are submitted in writing to the U.S. Figure Skating secretary in care of U.S. Figure Skating headquar-
ters no later than April 1 15. No nominations submitted after April 115, including nominations from the floor of the 
Governing Council, will be permitted.

Remainder of this rule remains the same.

Implementation date: July 1, 2017     Committee vote: 12 yes, 0 no, 1 abstain

Rationale: With the list of nominations being posted online by March 1, this will give members 30 days to nominate alter-
nate candidates and then provide ample opportunity for all to see the alternate slate and for the alternate slate to be included 
in the meeting book, which is required by the bylaws to be available at least 20 days before the meeting begins.

Financial impact: None

402. Rules Committee
Amend rule NCR 4.01 (page 68, Rulebook) as follows:

NCR 4.00 Procedures
NCR 4.01 The Nominating Committee will organize soon after the conclusion of the annual meeting of the U.S. Figure 

Skating Governing Council and will elect its chair no later than July 1. The most recent eligible past chair not currently 
sitting on the Nominating Committee will convene the committee for the purpose of voting to elect the incoming chair. 
If a tie should occur when electing the new chair of the committee, then the most recent eligible past chair not currently 
sitting on the Nominating Committee will break the tie.

NCR 4.02 At least two meetings will be held prior to the next annual meeting of the Governing Council. Additional 
meetings will be held as necessary as determined by the committee. When practical, in-person meetings are preferable 
to telephone conferences. A meeting may be called by the chair, or by any five members, with suitable notice. All 
committee deliberations must be kept strictly confidential, and each Nominating Committee member must sign, 
annually, a confidentiality agreement. 

Current rules NCR 4.02-NCR 4.04 will be re-numbered accordingly.

Implementation date: May 7, 2017     Committee vote: 11 yes, 0 no, 1 abstain

Rationale: Provide a clear system of how to handle a tie in the vote for the chair of the Nominating Committee. The 
Nominating Committee supports this change (7 yes, 0 no, 0 abstain).

Financial impact: None
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403. Sanctions & Eligibility Committee
Amend rule SR 1.01 (C) (page 70, Rulebook) as follows:

SR 1.01 The sanctioning responsibility of the Sanctions and Eligibility Committee is:
C. The participation in carnivals and exhibitions by Canadian or other foreign eligible skaters in the United States;

Implementation date: July 1, 2017     Committee vote: 20 yes, 0 no, 0 abstain

Rationale: The current performance sanction application addresses Skate Canada skaters as well as other foreign eligible 
skaters. This aligns the sanctioning responsibility with the application.

Financial impact: None

404. Sanctions & Eligibility Committee
Amend rules SR 1.05 (A) and SR 2.01 (E), and delete rule SR 2.01 (F) (page 71, Rulebook) as follows:

SR 1.05 
A. U.S. Figure Skating sanctions officers and alternates, selected from members of the Sanctions and Eligibility 

Committee, shall will be assigned to specific areas by the chair. Member clubs shall will be notified of their 
appropriate sanctions officers as soon as they are named each year. 

SR 2.00 Definitions
SR 2.01 When used in these rules the following titles will mean:

E. Sanctions officer is a member of the Sanctions and Eligibility Committee assigned to the specific area;. A sectional 
vice chair or the chair of the Sanctions and Eligibility Committee, a vice president of U.S. Figure Skating or the 
president of U.S. Figure Skating may approve a performance sanction in the absence of the assigned sanctions 
officer.

F. Alternate sanctions officer is a member of the Sanctions and Eligibility Committee assigned to a specific area. A 
vice chair, a vice president, the chair or the president may also sign as an alternate sanctions officer in the absence 
of the assigned alternate

Note: If these changes are approved, references to the alternate sanctions officer will also be removed from rules SR 3.04 
(A) and SR 6.01 (A).

Implementation date: July 1, 2017     Committee vote: 20 yes, 0 no, 0 abstain

Rationale: Alternate sanctions officers are no longer designated. The sectional vice chair, vice president, committee chair 
or president may approve a sanction as an alternate to the sanctions officer. This aligns with current practice.

Financial impact: None

405. Sanctions & Eligibility Committee
Amend rule SR 2.02 (J) (page 71, Rulebook) as follows:

SR 2.02 Additional Definitions
J.  Promoter is an individual or entity who organizes a carnival, exhibition, tour or other event in which figure skating 

performances are utilized for fiscal benefit.

Implementation date: July 1, 2017     Committee vote: 20 yes, 0 no, 0 abstain

Rationale: Adjusts rule for clarification and aligns better with wording in the online application

Financial impact: None
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406. Sanctions & Eligibility Committee
Amend rule SR 3.02 (D) (page 72, Rulebook) as follows:

SR 3.02 Performance sanctions may be issued by U.S. Figure Skating to member clubs for carnivals, exhibitions, appear-
ances or entertainment by eligible skaters with the following requirements:
D. If a scheduling conflict arises from two or more member clubs who wish to host a carnival or exhibition on or near 

the same date and/or in the same geographical area, the dispute will be arbitrated by the sanctions officer(s) granting 
the disputed sanctions shall approve the dates, in consultation with the appropriate sectional vice chairs(s) of the 
Sanctions and Eligibility Committee and the chair of the Sanctions and Eligibility Committee.

Implementation date: July 1, 2017     Committee vote: 20 yes, 0 no, 0 abstain

Rationale: Additional clarification for a process was needed to resolve the issue when there are disputed dates for a per-
formance.

Financial impact: None

407. Sanctions & Eligibility Committee
Amend rule SR 3.02 (E) (page 72, Rulebook) as follows:

SR 3.02 
E. A member club’s share of the net profits derived from sanctioned events must be used for the promotion of figure 

skating, an approved charity or the general welfare of the member club. When the member club is not the sole 
beneficiary, it shall will receive its fair share of the profits in return for its work and supervision. This amount will 
be negotiated with the promoter or sponsor in advance and provided in writing to the sanctioning member club.

Implementation date: July 1, 2017     Committee vote: 20 yes, 0 no, 0 abstain

Rationale: An individual or entity that is not a member of U.S. Figure Skating does not have standing to request a sanction 
for a skating performance. They must either work with a member club or request that a member club submit the sanction in 
order to protect the eligibility of participating skaters. The member club may receive a share in the net profits for the event, 
and the terms of that should be provided in writing in advance of the event so as not to cause issues after.

Financial impact: None

408. Sanctions & Eligibility Committee
Delete rule SR 3.03 (D) and re-letter remaining items (page 72, Rulebook) as follows:

SR 3.03 Performance sanction applications for carnivals, exhibitions, appearances or entertainment within the United 
States are required when any of the following conditions are present:
A.  Admission is charged or admission is contingent upon a monetary donation or its equivalent;
B.  Member club or promoter is recipient of some pecuniary benefit;
C.  Skaters who are not members of the sponsoring club have been invited to participate and have obtained permission 

from their home club;
D.  Ineligible persons in skating have been invited to participate;
D.E. The performance is held at a location other than the principal skating headquarters of the sponsoring club as defined 

in MR 2.04 (A);
E. F. The event is advertised or the public is invited to attend;
F. G. Skaters or synchronized teams exhibit at professional hockey games;
G. H. The event is part of a radio or television broadcast. See rule SR 3.24. Activities in television broadcasts shall will 

include performance in television commercials. (See rules SR 5.01 and SR 5.02.)

Implementation date: July 1, 2017     Committee vote: 19 yes, 1 no, 0 abstain

Rationale: Members who are classified as ineligible status may participate in a performance event without affecting eligible 
persons who are also participating. 

Financial impact: None
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409. Sanctions & Eligibility Committee
Amend rule SR 3.04 (A) (page 72, Rulebook) as follows:

SR 3.04 Performance sanction applications submitted by a member club, U.S. Figure Skating individual member, U.S. 
Figure Skating independent synchronized team or U.S. Figure Skating Theatre On Ice team shall must be made by an 
authorized representative of a member club, U.S. Figure Skating individual member or team manager, respectively.
A. An Application for Performance Sanction shall must be sent to a U.S. Figure Skating sanctions officer or alternate on 

an official form at least 14 30 days before the date of the event. These forms are available from U.S. Figure Skating 
headquarters and Application is made online only via the Members Only site at usfigureskating.org usfsaonline.org. 
No sanction fees are required unless a sanction application is made fewer than 14 30 days before the date of the 
event, in which case a $25 late processing fee is required.

Implementation date: July 1, 2017     Committee vote: 18 yes, 2 no, 0 abstain

Rationale: 1) Aligns to current practice that performance sanction requests are submitted online only. 2) An online 
application is generally processed more quickly than the paper applications, therefore the reduction in the latest number of 
days prior to an event for a performance sanction to be submitted without a late fee is possible.

Financial impact: Some loss of revenue for sanctions submitted between 15 to 30 days that would no longer be charged 
a late fee.

410. Sanctions & Eligibility Committee
Add new rule SR 3.05 (A) (page 72, Rulebook) as follows:

SR 3.05 Carnivals, exhibitions, appearances or entertainment by eligible skaters that do not require a sanction include the 
following situations:
A. Exhibitions by skaters of one member club with the opportunity to perform for their family and friends. No admission 

is charged, and the event is not advertised to the general public. Skaters must be current members of the host club.
Remainder of rule will be re-lettered accordingly.

Implementation date: July 1, 2017     Committee vote: 20 yes, 0 no, 0 abstain

Rationale: Allows a member club to host a show or exhibition for their members where family and friends may attend. 
Clubs often like to host send off or seasonal shows where no admission is charged, and they are simply intended to celebrate 
their members and allow for family and friends to see their members skate in a non-competitive atmosphere. Similar to club 
competitions, we are proposing that a sanction should not be required in these situations.

Financial impact: None

411. Sanctions & Eligibility Committee
Amend rule SR 3.05 (C) (page 73, Rulebook) as follows:

SR 3.05 Carnivals, exhibitions, appearances or entertainment by eligible skaters that do not require a sanction include the 
following situations:
C.  Exhibition in the form of skating school recitals that are held for the sole purpose of providing pupils or instructors 

of skating schools the opportunity to perform for their parents family and friends. Skaters must be bona fide pupils 
of the school;

Implementation date: July 1, 2017     Committee vote: 19 yes, 1 no, 0 abstain

Rationale: Adjusting to a broader term of family instead of just parents.

Financial impact: None
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412. Sanctions & Eligibility Committee
Amend rule SR 3.10 (page 73, Rulebook) as follows:

SR 3.10 If payment (including the receipt of a monetary equivalent in goods or services) is being offered to an eligible 
skater in conjunction with the event for which a performance sanction is sought, the application for a performance 
sanction must include the names of the eligible skaters receiving payment and the terms of the compensation payment 
arrangements with such skaters. See rule SR 5.01. Note: Payment does not include the reimbursement of expenses as 
outlined in rule SR 7.01 (B).

Implementation date: July 1, 2017     Committee vote: 20 yes, 0 no, 0 abstain

Rationale: Clarification in rules of correct practice. 

Financial impact: None

413. Sanctions & Eligibility Committee
Amend rule SR 7.01 (E) (page 75, Rulebook) as follows:

SR 7.00 Gifts and Expenses
SR 7.01 Monetary or non-monetary gifts may be presented to eligible skaters for appearances in sanctioned exhibitions 

and carnivals:
E. The member club or sponsor hosting the event may make reimbursement of expenses directly to the exhibiting skater 

or designated chaperone or companion (per rule SR 7.01 (C)) if requested.

Implementation date: July 1, 2017     Committee vote: 20 yes, 0 no, 0 abstain

Rationale: Designate in the rules that reimbursement may be made directly to the chaperone or companion if instructed.

Financial impact: None

414. Sanctions & Eligibility Committee
Amend rule SR 9.01 (D) (page 75, Rulebook) as follows:

SR 9.01
D. For any sanctioned event that requires an assessment fee, the Financial Report of Sanctioned Performance must be 

filed with U.S. Figure Skating headquarters by the member club, individual or team issued the sanction (see rule SR 
3.01) within 60 days following the event. The assessment fee is to be remitted by check or money order payable to 
U.S. Figure Skating together with the financial report.

Implementation date: July 1, 2017     Committee vote: 20 yes, 0 no, 0 abstain

Rationale: Clarification in the rules that the entity that requests and receives a sanction is responsible for filing the report. 

Financial impact: None

415. Sanctions & Eligibility Committee
Amend rules ER 5.01 (C) and ER 7.01 (A) (page 35, Rulebook) as follows:

ER 5.00 Application to Lift Restricted Status
ER 5.01 

C. All restricted persons in skating intending to compete in U.S. Figure Skating qualifying competitions must apply 
for the lifting of any restriction in writing to the chair of the Sanctions and Eligibility Committee no later than 60 30 
days prior to the closing date for entries for the competition in which they intend to compete.

ER 7.00 Reinstatement from Ineligible Status
ER 7.01 

A. All ineligible persons wishing to reinstate for the purpose of competing in U.S. Figure Skating qualifying and 
nonqualifying competitions must submit their Application for Reinstatement to their sectional vice chair no later 
than 60 30 days prior to the closing of entries for the competition in which they intend to compete.
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Implementation date: July 1, 2017     Committee vote: 20 yes, 0 no, 0 abstain

Rationale: With the commonly used option of electronic delivery, we do not need 60 days to process a request to remove 
restricted status or reinstate a person from ineligible status.

Financial impact: None

416. Sanctions & Eligibility Committee
Amend all references in the U.S. Figure Skating rules from “carnival” to “ice show”.

Note: If approved, any approved requests for action that reference “carnival” would be changed as well.

Implementation date: July 1, 2017     Committee vote: 20 yes, 0 no, 0 abstain

Rationale: “Carnival” is an old term no longer used by most clubs. “Ice show” is the more common and current term. 

Financial impact: None

417. Sanctions & Eligibility Committee
Amend rules SR 3.30 and SR 3.31 (A) and (D) (page 73, Rulebook) as follows:

SR 3.30 Foreign Performance Sanctions
Subject to the provisions of SR 4.03 applicable to Sanctions for international amateur athletic competitions participation 
in carnivals or exhibitions:

SR 3.31 Canadian Sanctions
A. U.S. Figure Skating eligible skaters may appear in a skating activity carnival or exhibition sanctioned by Skate 

Canada without the need for such skating activity carnival or exhibition to have been separately sanctioned by U.S. 
Figure Skating. Prior to participating in the activity carnival or exhibition, however, the skater must receive written 
evidence from the sponsoring organization that Skate Canada has sanctioned the entire event in which they will be 
participating.

D.  Canadian skaters may appear in U.S. Figure Skating sanctioned events carnivals or exhibitions; however they must 
present written permission to do so from Skate Canada to the host organization, and that permission must accompany 
the host organization’s request for the performance sanction.

Implementation date: July 1, 2017     Committee vote: 23 yes, 0 no, 0 abstain

Rationale: As stated in rule SR 1.00, this committee is responsible for sanctioning of carnivals and exhibitions (perfor-
mances) and not competitions. Participation of Canadian and other foreign eligible skaters in competitions is covered in 
the rules for competitions. This suggested rule language change is to clarify and compartmentalize that responsibility. The 
Competitions Committee was also balloted and voted in support of this change (36 yes, 0 no).

Financial impact: None
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418. Sanctions & Eligibility Committee
Amend rule SR 4.00, delete rules SR 4.01 and SR 4.02, and move rules SR 4.03 and SR 4.04 (page 74, Rulebook) as 
follows:

SR 4.00 Competition Sanctions
See rule sections 1100 and 3000 for information regarding competition sanctions.

SR 4.01 All competitions held in the United States must be sanctioned unless specifically excepted in the rules of U.S. 
Figure Skating. (See rule 3301.)

SR 4.02 All U.S. Figure Skating figure skating competitions must be sanctioned by the chair of the Competitions Commit-
tee or by the appropriate sectional or regional vice chair of the Competitions Committee, except as otherwise provided 
in the competition rules or bylaws. (See rule section 1120.)

SR 4.03 Move to new rule 1123 Requests by an amateur sports organization or person made to U.S. Figure Skating, as 
NGB of figure skating on ice, for a sanction to hold an international amateur athletic competition in the United States 
or to allow United States eligible skaters to compete in an international amateur athletic competition outside the United 
States shall must be directed to the executive director of U.S. Figure Skating for review and determination pursuant to 
the provisions of Section 220525 of the Sports Act. An “amateur sports organization” means a not-for-profit corpora-
tion, association or other group organized in the United States that sponsors or arranges an amateur athletic competition.

SR 4.04 Move to new rule 3600 Rules for ISI Competitions U.S. Figure Skating eligible skaters may participate in figure 
skating competitions endorsed by the ISI without the need for a separate U.S. Figure Skating sanction, provided the com-
petition is within the scope of the Joint Statement of Cooperation of the Ice Skating Institute (ISI), Professional Skaters 
Association (PSA) and U.S. Figure Skating, and the skater’s qualifications are within the special grant of permission as 
recognized in the Joint Statement of Cooperation. If the skater qualifications are outside the scope of the special grant of 
permission, the skater’s participation must be approved by U.S. Figure Skating under a separate sanctioning procedure.

Implementation date: July 1, 2017     Committee vote: 23 yes, 0 no, 0 abstain

Rationale: Competition sanctions are covered in rules for competitions. A reference to the correct sections is all that is 
needed in the Sanctions Rules, which are intended for performance sanctions. Recommend to move SR 4.03 and SR 4.04 
to more appropriate sections. The Competitions Committee was also balloted and voted in support of this change (36 yes, 
0 no).

Financial impact: None
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REPORTS OF ACTION TAKEN BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Since the Conclusion of the Governing Council of April 30, 2016

May 2017

ACTIONS TAKEN BY THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS PRIOR TO THE 2017 GOVERNING COUNCIL MEETING

APRIL 30, 2016

1. APPROVED the president’s appointment of the following persons as members of the Audit Committee for 2016-17:
•	Kristin Arneson Cutler
•	Winston Burbank
•	Sharon Watson
•	Henry Fein (athlete)
•	Bob Anderson (ex officio)

Note: Audit Committee selects its chair.

2. APPROVED the president’s appointment of the following persons as members of the Compensation Committee for 2016-
17:

•	Lainie DeMore (chair)
•	Anne Cammett
•	Pilar Bosley (athlete)
•	Bob Anderson (ex officio)

3. APPROVED the candidates nominated by the Selections Committee for team manager and technical advisor, singles/pairs, 
and team manager and technical advisor, dance, for the 2018 Olympic Winter Games.

MAY 24, 2016

4. APPROVED the 2018 Olympic Selection Procedures for Athletes. These will be sent to the USOC for their final approval

5. APPROVED the president’s re-appointment of Scott Cudmore to the STAR Board of Directors. 

JULY 6, 2016

6. APPROVED the updated Gender Policy of U.S. Figure Skating.

7. APPROVED the president’s appointment of Jerod Swallow and Melissa Gregory to the STAR Board of Directors each for 
a term of three years beginning Fall 2016. 

AUGUST 8, 2016

8. APPROVED hiring the strategic consulting firm, Tecker International, to conduct a review of the structure and processes 
of U.S. Figure Skating’s Nominating Committee.

9. APPROVED San Jose, Calif., as the host of the 2018 U.S. Figure Skating Championships pending the execution of a 
signed host agreement no later than Oct. 1.

10. REAFFIRMED the commitment to the Triangle FSC to host the 2017 U.S. Adult Figure Skating Championships in Wake 
Forest, N.C.

11. APPROVED the updated Athlete Release Policy, dated Aug. 8, 2016.
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12. APPROVED – Singles Committee
Amend rule 4220 (page 145, Rulebook), Novice Ladies Short Program, to reflect the change the ISU made to the spin in 
one position in the junior and senior ladies short programs. 

4220 Novice Singles
NOVICE LADIES SHORT PROGRAM

2:30 maximum time
Must contain the following six elements in any order

SPIN 
IN ONE 
POSITION

One layback or / sideways leaning spin, sit spin or camel spin without change of foot
•	 Minimum of six revolutions in position
•	 If performing a layback/sideways leaning spin, any position is permitted as long as the basic 

layback or sideways leaning position is maintained for at least six revolutions without rising to an 
upright position. After the required revolutions, it is possible to execute the Biellmann position.

•	 Cannot be commenced with a jump

Implementation date: Aug. 15, 2016

13. APPROVED a final sanction for the 2017 World Junior Synchronized Team Selection Event; Feb. 10-11, 2017; Simsbury, 
Conn.; Hamden Skating Association.

SEPTEMBER 12, 2016

14. APPROVED the president’s appointment of Jenna Longo to replace Henry Fein as the athlete member of the Audit 
Committee for 2016-17.

15. APPROVED Lake Placid, New York, as the host city for the 2017 Skate America international figure skating competition 
to be held Nov. 22-26, 2017.

OCTOBER 10, 2016

16. ACCEPTED the Audit Report as presented by Stockman Kast Ryan & Co. for the 2016 FY Financials through June 30, 
2016.

17. APPROVED a final sanction for the 2017 U.S. Figure Skating Championships; Jan. 14-22, 2017; Kansas City, Mo.

18. APPROVED the establishment of the Garrett Swasey Trophy for the Juvenile Dance Champions at the Midwestern 
Sectional Figure Skating Championships

19. APPROVED – Competitions and Synchronized Skating Committees
Amend rule 7923 (page 245, Rulebook) as follows:

7923 Deductions and Reductions – Synchronized Skating – IJS
Reductions for synchronized skating are updated yearly and published on usfigureskating.org under the “Technical 
Info” link. Reductions for breaks, stumbles, falls and collisions in the required elements will be made by judges in 
the grade of execution.
A. Deductions from the total score for each violation will be as follows:

1. Program time violation: -1.0 for every five seconds lacking or in excess (-0.5 for every five seconds lacking 
or in excess at the juvenile level)

2. Music violation: -1.0 per program
3. Costume (including use of feathers as part of the costume and headpieces) and prop violation: -1.0 per 

program
4. Part of the costume/decoration falls on the ice: - 1.0 per program
5. Falls: 

a. For senior, junior, novice, intermediate, collegiate and adult, -1.0 for every fall of one skater and -2.0 
for every fall of more than one skater. See rule 1400 for the definition of a fall.

b. For juvenile, -0.5 for every fall of one skater, and -1.0 for every fall of more than one skater. See rule 
1400 for the definition of a fall.

Balance of rule remains unchanged.

Implementation date: October 17, 2016
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20. CONCURRED regarding the recommendation of the chair of the Grievance Committee to a permanent ban of a member 
from U.S. Figure Skating.

NOVEMBER 12-13, 2016

21. APPROVED the recommendation, with modifications, of the Strategic Planning Committee regarding committee evaluation 
and reorganization and the creation of a task force to implement the recommendations.

22. APPROVED the implementation of the concept of the Test Refresh Project.

23. APPROVED – Judges Committee
The following national promotions: 

•	 National Dance Judge: Julia Rey, Colleyville, Texas
•	 National Showcase Judges: Elizabeth Harty, Albert Lea, Minn.; Dann Krueger, Minneapolis, Minn.; Jennifer 

Simon, Galveston, Texas; Steve Wolkin, Fairview Park, Ohio
•	 National Singles/Pairs Judge: Connacht Peterson, Hingham, Mass.
•	 National Synchronized Judge: Lisa Marsocci, New York, N.Y.
•	 National Theatre On Ice Judges: Lauren O’Toole, New York, N.Y.; Matthew O’Toole, New York, N.Y.; Pamela 

Pangle, Jackson, Tenn.; Jennifer Simon, Galveston, Texas

24. ACCEPTED – Competitions Committee, Technical Panel Committee
The following resignations: 

•	 Cecelia Erisman, Reading, Pa. (National Accountant)
•	 Joseph Inman, Arlington, Va. (National Technical Controller Singles and Pairs)

25. ACKNOWLEDGED – Competitions Committee, Judges Committee
The following vacated national appointments: 

•	 Milroy “Bud” Brandel, Seal Beach, Calif. (National Accountant) – passed away
•	 Arlene Sibrell, Littleton, Colo. (National Accountant) – passed away June 22, 2016
•	 Elizabeth Barrow, Macomb, Mich. (National Synchronized Judge) – passed away Aug. 27, 2016
•	 Paula Naughton, Vancouver, Wash. (National Singles/Pairs Judge) – passed away Aug. 27, 2016

26. APPROVED – Competitions Committee and Adult Skating Committee
Amend rules TMR 1.05 (page 85, Rulebook) and TMR 6.00 (page 86, Rulebook) and add new rule TMR 6.02 (page 
86, Rulebook) as follows:

TMR 1.05 Trophies accepted by U.S. Figure skating for singles, pairs, synchronized teams or ice dance couples may 
only be awarded based on the results of actual judging under the official rules governing the event, except as provided 
in rule section TMR 6.00.

TMR 6.00 Special Awards and Trophies
TMR 6.02  The Yvonne M. Dowlen Trophy. Awarded annually to the oldest registered competitor who completes an event 

at the U.S. Adult Figure Skating Championships.
A. A competitor is permitted to receive this award once every three years.  If a competitor has won in the previous two 

years, then the next oldest eligible competitor will be that year’s recipient.

Implementation date: December 1, 2016
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27. APPROVED – Competitions Committee and Adult Skating Committee
Utilize up to $1,250 from the Adult Nationals Trophy Fund to purchase the Yvonne M. Dowlen Trophy and pay a $500 lump 
sum payment to cover future engraving and repairs and maintenance, per rule TMR 1.02.

Implementation date: December 1, 2016

28. APPROVED – Competitions Committee
Include intermediate and novice ladies and men’s events as one-year test events at the 2017 U.S. Collegiate Championships. 
Please note, this is not a change to rule 2054 (B) (page 109, Rulebook), which defines the allowed events at a U.S. 
Collegiate Championship.

Implementation date: November 21, 2016

29. APPROVED – Singles Committee
Amend rule TR 32.05 (page 261, Rulebook), Intermediate Free Skate Test, to extend the program length to match the 
new length of the intermediate well-balanced free skate program that goes into effect February 1, 2017. 

TR 32.05 Intermediate Free Skate Test 
Duration: Ladies and Men — 2:30 2:40 +/- 10 seconds to music of the skater’s choice. 

Implementation date: February 1, 2017

DECEMBER 13, 2016

30. APPROVED the selection procedures for the 2017 World Team.

31. APPROVED the selection procedures for the 2017 Four Continents Team. 

32. APPROVED a final sanction for Nations’ Cup Interclub Competition and the Adult Gold Cup Interclub Competition; April 
21-23, 2017; Ann Arbor, Mich.; Ice House Skating Academy. 

DECEMBER 23, 2016

33. APPROVED the athlete selection procedures for the 2017 World Junior Championships.

JANUARY 9, 2016

The board of directors took no actions on this call.

FEBRUARY 11, 2016

34. ACCEPTED the 2017-18 budget for presentation to the 2017 Governing Council.

35. APPROVED the Foundation’s amendments to its Articles of Incorporation and to its Bylaws made at its December 2016 
meeting. The board also authorizes and directs the filing of the Articles of Amendment to the Articles of Incorporation with 
the Colorado Secretary of State.

36. APPROVED the proposed changes to the U.S. Figure Skating Bylaws and General Rules regarding non-discrimination for 
presentation to the Governing Council.

37. ACCEPTED – Technical Panel Committee and International Judges & Officials Committee
The following resignation: 
• Lisa Ervin, East Amherst, N.Y. (National and ISU Singles Technical Specialist)

38. ACKNOWLEDGED – Competitions Committee and Judges Committee
The following vacated national appointments: 
• Dorothy Dodson, Alexandria, Va. (National Singles/Pairs Referee and Judge) – Passed away 12/27/16
• Barbara Windecker, Hicksville, N.Y. (National Accountant) – Passed away 12/9/16
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39. APPROVED a final sanction for the 2017 U.S. Adult Figure Skating Championships; April 18-22, 2017, Wake Forest, 
N.C.; Triangle FSC.

MARCH 6, 2016

40. APPROVED a provisional sanction for the 2017 U.S. Collegiate Championships; August 3-6, 2017; Adrian, Mich.; Adrian 
College.

41. APPROVED a provisional sanction for the 2018 U.S. Synchronized Skating Championships; February 22-24, 2017; 
Portland, Ore.; Oregon Skating Council.
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REPORT OF THE NOMINATING COMMITTEE
2017 Board of Directors and Governing Council Meetings

May 2017

Gretchen Bonnie, Chair
A Nominating Committee is established each year pursuant to Article XV, Section 1, of the U.S. Figure Skating bylaws. It is 
their responsibility to recommend suitably qualified candidates to replace members of the Board of Directors whose terms 
are expiring. In addition, the Nominating Committee recommends to the president the appointment of all committee chairs. 
The committee developed a recommended slate of officers, group coordinators, other board members and committee chairs 
for the 2017-18 year of service.

The Committees’s timeline for completion was as follows:
• June 2016 – All committee members signed a confidentiality agreement and conflict of interest disclosure.
• October 10, 2016 – Online nominations were opened to all members of U.S. Figure Skating over the age of 18.
• October 29, 2016 – The committee’s first in-person meeting was held in Chicago. We developed a short list of 

candidates. Potential candidates were sent a letter of interest and requested to submit a current resume, mission 
statement and confidentiality agreement.

• December 31, 2016 – Online nominations were closed. Responses from all potential candidates were sent to the 
Nominating Committee.

• January 9, 2017 – The committee held a conference call. All additional candidates were considered, and another 
group of members were sent letters of interest.

• February 4, 2017 – The committee’s second in-person meeting was held in Chicago. Discussions involving all 
potential candidates were held, and the committee reached a consensus for all positions. The committee also discussed 
the need for a rule modification to specify a procedure for a tie break when voting for a Nominating Committee chair. 
The committee determined that the last eligible committee chair not currently on the Nominating Committee should 
vote to break the tie. A rule change was written by the current chair and will be submitted to Governing Council.

• March 1,2017 – The recommended slate was posted online and submitted for inclusion in the Governing Council 
meeting book.

I would like to thank all committee members for their sincere dedication to this important task. I would also like to thank 
Kirsten Habgood, our U.S. Figure Skating Headquarters liaison, for all her support and help this year.

2016-17 Nominating Committee
Linda Chihara (Northwest Pacific)
Alexander Enzmann (New England)
Laurie Johnson (Central Pacific)
Kathleen Krieger (Upper Great Lakes)
Mark Ladwig* (Midwest)
Terri Levine (North Atlantic)
Colin McManus* (Eastern)
Ann O’Keefe (South Atlantic)
Doug Razzano* (Pacific Coast)
Goleen Samari (Southwestern)
Dorian Valles (Southwest Pacific)

* denoted athlete member 
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2017-18 SLATE OF OFFICERS, BOARD MEMBERS AND RECOMMENDED COMMITTEE CHAIRS
2017 Board of Directors and Governing Council Meetings

May 2017

Officers*
Midwestern and First Vice President   Lainie DeMore
Eastern and Second Vice President   Anne Cammett
Pacific Coast and Second Vice President   Sharon Watson
Secretary      Heather Nemier 
Treasurer      Bob Anderson 
 

Group Coordinators
Athlete Services    Lorrie Parker
Membership Development    Alan Wolf
Technical      Richard Perez
Administrative/Legal    Steve Wolkin
 

Coaching Members of the Board of Directors
       Tammy Gambill
       Kirsten Miller-Zisholz
 

Committee Chairs
Adult Skating    Lori Fussell
Athlete Development    Stefanie Mathewson
Coaches      Suna Murray
Collegiate Program    Suzanne Schlecht 
Competitions     Hal Marron
Dance       Philipp Rey 
Ethics       Alison Hershberger-Filo
Grievance     Karen Terry Perreault
International     Robert Rosenbluth
International Judges and Officials   Peggy Graham
Judges      Kevin Rosenstein 
Membership     Patrick O’Neil
Memorial Fund    Kitty DeLio LaForte
Pairs       Whitney Gaynor
Parents      Lydia Magill
Program Development    Elizabeth Preston 
Rules       Gerald Miele
Sanctions and Eligibility    Lisa Erle
Selections     Deveny Deck
Singles      Ann Barr
Special Olympics/Therapeutic Skating   John O’Connor
Sports Sciences and Medicine    Ellen Geminiani 
State Games     Marc Weitzman
Strategic Planning    Winston Burbank 
Synchronized Skating    Lisa Marsocci 
Technical Panel    Libby Scanlan
Tests       Eric Hampton 
Theatrical Skating    John Cole

*President Samuel Auxier will be entering the second year of the President’s two-year term.
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BIOGRAPHIES AND STATEMENTS OF PURPOSE 
FOR RECOMMENDED OFFICERS AND BOARD MEMBERS 

2017 Board of Directors and Governing Council Meetings
May 2017

Lainie DeMore – Midwestern and First Vice President

Bio:
Lainie DeMore started skating as a toddler and continued to skate through high school. She summer skated in Lake Placid, 
New York, for four summers, passing her 7th figure test and pre-gold dances before she stopped actively skating. Returning 
to the skating community after college and graduate school, she became a national accountant and a Level 3 technical 
accountant. She has officiated at numerous qualifying and international competitions and was the chief accountant for the 
2000 U.S. Figure Skating Championships in her hometown of Cleveland, Ohio.

In the Cleveland area, Lainie has served on the board of the Winterhurst Figure Skating Club as well as chair of the Greater 
Cleveland Council of Figure Skating Clubs. Previously, she served as an at-large board member of U.S. Figure Skating, on 
various committees and as Membership Development Group coordinator. She is completing her third year as Midwestern 
vice president.

Lainie is married to Harry Gleeson (U.S. Figure Skating Announcer), whom she met at a figure skating competition. Prior to 
her retirement, she worked in the non-profit sector as the Information Technology manager at a multi-theatre entertainment 
complex in downtown Cleveland and as a project manager in the Information Technology area for a large multi-state 
financial institution.

Statement of Purpose:
It is an honor to be asked to continue to serve as Midwest and First Vice President.

Communication to clubs and members as well as listening to their concerns is of highest importance. It’s critical that 
we maintain strong, healthy and sustainable clubs to attract and retain our membership. Clubs are the foundation of the 
organization, and their members provide a substantial portion of the annual revenue that allows for funding of programs at 
all levels, which in turn benefit the skaters, the clubs and all facets of the organization.

In addition, the vice president must provide a complimentary role for the committees and especially for the Membership 
Committee, being a resource for members and clubs to assist them in navigating through the skating community, the sport, 
and the U.S. Figure Skating organizational structure.

The association needs to continue on the current path of financial steadiness. The business plan has proved to be an excellent 
planning tool and provides a financial structure that is reviewed and updated by the board every year for the coming four-
year period. It allows committees to plan tactically and strategically, but permits flexibility when appropriate.

The success of the Learn to Skate USA rollout as well as the Get Up initiative reflect the board’s commitment to member 
retention and the need to keep the sport growing to ensure the future health of the organization on all levels and perspectives. 
These two most visible initiatives will continue through the Olympic cycle and beyond and provide momentum to expand 
the membership horizon and bring skating to new places and people.

The 2016 ISU Congress was very successful for the association, and it’s important that the organization continue to provide 
a leading presence, both formally and informally, in the ISU leadership and committee structure.

I look forward to collaborating with the board, headquarters staff, clubs and members in the coming Olympic year.
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Anne Cammett – Eastern and Second Vice President:

Bio:
From a young age, Anne has been actively involved in figure skating. She is a gold medalist in figures and freestyle, 
competed in both singles and dance and has been a U.S. Figure Skating judge for over 30 years. She is a singles and pairs 
national and ISU judge and referee. Highlights from her career as an official include serving as chief referee at the 2011 U.S. 
Figure Skating Championships (Greensboro, North Carolina) and as the U.S. pair judge at the 2014 Sochi Olympics. Anne 
has served the past two years as the Eastern vice president; prior roles include chair of the Judges, the International Judges 
& Officials, and the International Committees as well as serving on numerous other committees in a various capacities. 
Anne enjoys judging and refereeing many nonqualifying competitions and local test sessions throughout the year. She has 
co-chaired nonqualifying competitions and served on two club boards (currently as a board member of the Genesee Figure 
Skating Club and previously as a board member of the Skating Club of Northern Virginia). She has attended numerous 
Governing Councils as a club delegate. She looks forward to continuing to leverage her vast experience in this role.

Anne works for a global manufacturing company and resides in Rush, a small town near Rochester, New York, with her 
husband, Greg, and their daughter; their son currently attends college in nearby Buffalo. Anne enjoys skating recreationally 
as time permits.

Statement of Purpose:
It is an honor to be nominated to continue serving as Eastern vice president for the 2017-18 season. In this role I will 
continue to communicate the interests of the Eastern section to the national membership via participation on the board and 
conversely, communicate national initiatives to the Eastern section so local clubs are fully informed and aware regarding 
activities, initiatives and objectives of our association. I will continue using various avenues such as sectional conference 
calls and email to communicate information to member clubs and as a means of soliciting feedback, as well as reaching 
out and talking with members in-person when participating in events as a judge/referee. My desire is to be accessible to the 
Eastern community which I represent.

I will be fully engaged supporting current board initiatives toward their path to successful implementation, pursuing the next 
set of tasks associated with our strategic initiatives and continuing to focus on projects which translate into membership 
retention, growth and renewed interest and enthusiasm in figure skating.

Sharon Watson – Pacific Coast and Third Vice President:

Bio:
Sharon fell in love with the sport of figure skating when she skated as a child in Buffalo, and has thoroughly enjoyed 
contributing to its well-being, in a variety of ways, ever since. She has served as an official for 30 years and is a national judge 
in singles, pairs and synchronized skating, a national data/video operator, a regional technical controller and referee, and 
international team leader. She has held many leadership positions in U.S. Figure Skating, including vice president these past 
two years, secretary, Board of Directors member, chair of the Strategic Planning, Membership, and Sanctions & Eligibility 
Committees, chair of the Harassment and Abuse Task Force, sectional vice chair of the Judges Committee and regional 
vice chair of the Competitions Committee. She has served on many other committees, including Nominating, International, 
International Judges & Officials, Selections, Synchronized Skating, Finance, Audit, Rules, Marketing/Sponsorship and the 
SafeSport Subcommittee, and she was a member of the Tonya Harding Disciplinary Hearing Panel. She has also been a 
club delegate to Governing Council for the past 26 years. On the local level, Sharon has served as chair of the Southern 
California Inter-Club Association and president of the Pasadena FSC, and has been a club board member since 1983. 
She also served on the local organizing committee for the 2016 Southwest Pacific Regional Championships, 2013 Adult 
Sectional Championships, 2011 U.S. Synchronized Skating Championships, 2009 World Figure Skating Championships, 
2002 U.S. Figure Skating Championships, a U.S. Olympic Festival and several other events.

Professionally, until she recently retired, Dr. Watson was the executive director of several nonprofit organizations and 
helped create a host of countywide policies that have improved the lives of Los Angeles foster and probation youth and the 
child welfare system that serves them. Her daughter, Carrie, is also a national judge and the assistant executive director of 
the Los Angeles County Office of Child Protection.

Statement of Purpose:
It is a tremendous honor to be nominated to serve another term as Pacific Coast vice president of U.S. Figure Skating, and 
I look forward to continuing to fulfill the responsibilities of that office.

As vice president these past two years, I’ve greatly appreciated getting to know and work with many club leaders throughout 
the Pacific Coast section through our monthly conference calls, local competitions, and other ways of connecting. I plan to 
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build on and extend current efforts to share information, listen to each other’s concerns, learn about resources and practices 
that help clubs function optimally and explore fresh opportunities to grow and strengthen participation in every facet of 
skating.

During this coming year, I will continue to work with the board and staff on the Learn to Skate USA rollout and Get Up 
marketing campaign. I believe that, together, these initiatives are already having and will continue to have a huge impact 
on our sport by attracting hundreds — maybe even thousands — of new skaters and fans. They should also very positively 
affect our athletes, parents, coaches, clubs and rinks by generating a much greater understanding of figure skating and its 
many benefits. I will do everything I can to help make both of these initiatives as successful as possible.

In addition, I think the governance projects the board launched this year — the Nominating Committee Assessment and 
Committee Realignment — are going to lead to enhanced communication, decision-making and improved functioning.  
The ideas generated so far are thoughtful and insightful, and should be even further enhanced as they are considered by our 
membership during this next year. I have every confidence that they will lead to positive change.

I am very proud of our association and its many accomplishments, and I look forward to being a part of its continuing 
achievements during 2017-18.

Heather Nemier – Secretary:

Bio:
Heather Nemier is currently serving her fourth term as secretary of U.S. Figure Skating. She also serves as the liaison for 
the Technical Group of U.S. Figure Skating where she works with the Technical Group coordinator, committee chairs and 
headquarters staff to manage the “Technical Info” pages on the website. Previously, Heather served as chair of the Rules 
Committee for four years, completing her term in May 2012. She has also previously served as the at-large member of the 
Board of Directors from the North Atlantic region, as both regional and sectional vice chair of the Competitions Committee, 
regional vice chair of the Judges Committee, and she was a founding trustee of the U.S. Figure Skating Foundation.

Nemier is a national singles/pairs judge and referee and a bronze dance test judge. She has refereed and judged numerous 
regional, sectional and national competitions, including serving as chief referee of the 2013 U.S. Adult Championships and 
assistant referee at the 2017, 2015 and 2014 South Atlantic Regional Championships, the 2016 North Atlantic Regional 
Championships and the 2014 Eastern Sectional Championships, and judge of the 2016 Eastern Sectional Championships. 
Nemier chaired the 1996 U.S. Precision (now Synchronized) Skating Championships in Syracuse, New York. She also 
previously served as secretary and vice president of the Skating Club of Central New York. Since she relocated to suburban 
Washington, D.C., in 2003, Nemier has been an active member and delegate for the Washington FSC and has been involved 
in organizing many local qualifying and nonqualifying competitions. Most recently, she served as co-chair and consultant 
to the 2017 South Atlantic Regional Championships in her hometown of Ashburn, Virginia. She has also assisted the local 
organizing committees of the 2014 Eastern Sectional Championships, the 2012 Eastern Adult Championships and the 2010 
South Atlantic Regional Championships. Since 2012, Nemier has been the chief referee of the Potomac Open, which is 
held each August at the Ashburn Ice House. In 2010, Nemier was elected a trustee of the Capitol Skating Fund, a charitable 
foundation supporting the capital region figure skating community, where she continues an active role.

Nemier resides in Ashburn, Virginia, with her husband and two teenage sons. She participates in their schools and activities, 
including volunteer roles with local Little League International tournaments and her son’s baseball teams, and teaches part-
time in a local elementary school.

Statement of Purpose: 
If re-elected to the position of secretary, I pledge to continue to support the mission of U.S. Figure Skating and the directives 
of the Board of Directors. I will take an active role in the meetings and participate in strategic planning and other board 
initiatives. I will ensure the minutes are produced in a prompt and useful manner for the board and the association. I will 
work with staff to produce minutes and reports of action for publication to the website. I will actively prepare for and 
participate in Board of Directors meetings. I will keep current with the activities of the association and bring forward items 
of interest to the Board of Directors, as well as disseminate information to the membership as needed. I will support and 
communicate with the president and vice presidents as needed. I will continue to positively promote figure skating and the 
U.S. Figure Skating Association when attending related events throughout the country.

I believe the strategic planning initiatives are leading us toward positive progress to ensure our future, and I will continue to 
contribute as much as possible to promote its success. I will continue to assist in ensuring the rules of the association support 
the goals and programs appropriately. My philosophy includes having free and open communication during board meetings, 
while supporting the consensus of the group when decisions or conclusions have been made. I will make myself available 
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to headquarters staff and the members of the Board of Directors to produce correspondence and sign materials as needed to 
fulfill the duties of the secretary of the association. Supporting the president and parliamentarian in order to gain the most 
productivity possible from Governing Council would continue to be a priority. I will continue to strive to promote the sport 
of figure skating in the most positive light possible and to assist in meeting the goals of the association as expressed in the 
mission statement and business plan.

Bob Anderson – Treasurer:

Bio:
I am currently employed as president-treasurer of the Pioneer Fund (Denver, Colorado), a private charitable family 
foundation. In addition, I currently provide accounting and financial consulting services to several smaller family owned oil 
and gas investment companies in four states, as I have done during the past 30 years. I was originally employed as a registered 
C.P.A. in the tax department of Arthur Andersen & Co in Chicago upon earning my undergraduate degree in accounting 
from the University of Illinois (graduated 1977). My involvement in skating includes handling current administration of 
various skater financial assistance and collegiate scholarship skater assistance programs.

Statement of Purpose:
The ongoing significant issues to be addressed by the next treasurer of U.S. Figure Skating will be to continue to support the 
financial stability of the ongoing four-year U.S. Figure Skating Strategic Plan for 2018-2021 in terms of maintaining a stable 
four-year budget plan that has been achieved through the board leadership of the past seven years and financial oversight of 
the three significant Strategic Planning Initiatives currently in progress (Learn to Skate USA, Image & Branding, and Event 
Management System). In addition, ongoing communication with the board surrounding review of the upcoming media 
contract renewal options/opportunities which will involve significant revenue and expense cash outlays in future years will 
have important economic implications for the term of any upcoming media renewal agreements.

The ongoing four-year cash flow planning is also addressed through ongoing attempts to identify new and/or increased 
revenue streams from diverse sources and careful attention to expense detail outlays. Increased revenue streams are 
possible through membership growth, supporting financially viable programs to attract new members, promotion of the 
sport through increased and strengthened media platform opportunities, and supporting U.S. Figure Skating Development 
Department opportunities identifying potential new sources of support. It will be important to monitor and develop the 
potential increased revenue streams which are created by the three significant Strategic Planning Initiatives in progress. In 
addition, it will be important to consider appropriate amounts of present and future financial support that will be available 
from the United States Figure Skating Foundation to support both the annual operating budget plus support of any proposed 
strategic initiative or special projects within U.S. Figure Skating.

It is also important to have a positive outlook and team support mentality in working with any group of individuals to 
achieve stated mission goals identified by the U.S. Figure Skating Strategic Plan. In the past three years, I have had a 
productive working relationship with current U.S. Figure Skating Chief Financial Officer Mario Rede, as well as rest of the 
headquarters staff, and I look forward to working with all for the upcoming year if elected.

Lorrie Parker – Athlete Services Group Coordinator:

Bio:
Lorrie Parker is a double gold medalist and a former competitor in both singles and pairs. She has been a U.S. Figure Skating 
judge for over 31 years, is currently an ISU judge for singles and pairs, a regional technical controller and a sectional data/
video operator. She was the team manager and technical advisor for singles and pairs at the 2010 Olympic Winter Games 
in Vancouver and has served as team leader for many international competitions, including the ISU Four Continents Figure 
Skating Championships, the ISU Grand Prix of Figure Skating Final, ISU World Junior Figure Skating Championships, 
World Figure Skating Championships and the inaugural World Team Trophy. She has judged Worlds, World Juniors, Four 
Continents and the Grand Prix Final, along with many other international, national, sectional, regional and nonqualifying 
competitions and many tests. She was also the technical representative for the 2005 North American Challenge Skate in 
Overland Park, Kansas. 

Parker has served on numerous U.S. Figure Skating committees. She is currently serving on the U.S. Figure Skating Board 
of Directors as the group coordinator for Athlete Services. Prior to this, she was the chair of the Selections Committee and 
is also the past chair of the International Committee. She has been a JET (Judges’ Education Trainer) at national, junior 
national, sectional and regional competitions, and has participated with the Team 2006, 2010 and 2014 novice training 
programs at the U.S. Championships, and has also participated in Champs Camp for our Grand Prix Athletes for many 
years.
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Parker has served on the Kansas City Figure Skating Club (KCFSC) Board of Directors since 1995 and was vice president 
for quite a few. As a member of the KCFSC board, Parker helped start and has been involved each year with Skate Kansas 
City. Parker has a B.S. degree in Health and Physical Education from Oklahoma State University, is married and has two 
grown children and a daughter-in-law.  She relocated to the East six years ago due to her husband’s job and currently resides 
in New Jersey.

Statement of Purpose:
As Athlete Services Group coordinator, I have the pleasure of working with the chairs of the Athlete Development, Athletes 
Advisory, Coaches, International, Memorial Fund, and Sport Sciences and Medicine Committees. Communication is key to 
this role, and continuing a good working relationship with the returning chairs and establishing a good one with those who 
are new to their positions is a top priority. It is my responsibility to mentor the chairs and help them achieve their goals and 
objectives as well as listen to their needs. I will relay each committee’s activities and requests to the board and provide the 
committee chairs with feedback from the board. I plan to work diligently alongside these chairs to stay within our approved 
budgets and help build our athletes from the grass roots up to those winning the most medals internationally for TEAM USA 
to achieve the goals of U.S. Figure Skating.

Alan Wolf– Membership Development Group Coordinator:

Bio: 
Alan Wolf is honored to have been selected to serve on the Board of Directors as the Membership Development Group 
coordinator. Wolf was a long time club board member, having served as a club president from 1999-2014. Wolf became 
involved in figure skating as a skating parent of his daughter, Chloe Wolf, who along with her partner Rhys Ainsworth were 
the 2008 Novice Ice Dance Champions. He was co-chair of the 2005 New England Regional Figure Skating Championships 
in Falmouth, Maine, and the 2009 U.S. Synchronized Skating Championships in Portland, Maine. Wolf has served four 
terms as the chair of the Membership Committee and served two terms as the Eastern sectional vice chair of Membership.  
He also served as a member of the SafeSport Subcommittee and the Strategic Planning Committee. During the past year, 
he has worked with the business development specialists to roll out Learn To Skate USA. Wolf has presented at several 
U.S. Figure Skating Club Education Seminars and webinars in topics ranging from club governance to financial oversight 
to parent education. He has also been involved with many non-profit organizations and is currently a board member of 
the Family Ice Center and president/director of the Linda Tallen and David Paul Kane Educational and Research (cancer) 
Foundation in Beverly Hills, California. Wolf is an attorney in private practice in Maine.

Statement of Purpose:
Membership is the foundation of every organization, and a strong foundation is the key to the success of U.S. Figure Skating.  
As an organization we must continue to build a strong membership base. In order to build this base we must work with our 
clubs to help them increase membership, retain members and run a successful business. We must also work to expand and 
build our various programs. The critical issue that always needs to be addressed by the Membership Development Group 
coordinator is how to increase membership, both at the club level and at the Learn To Skate USA level. Intertwined in this 
issue is how to work with the committees in the Membership Development Group in order to help them meet their mission 
and goals while supporting the overall goals of the organization.

As the group coordinator, I envision working on the following areas to address the critical issues and help strengthen our 
organization:

1. In order to increase membership at the club level, we need to educate the leadership and develop new tools for clubs 
to use. We need to work with the committees in order to reach out to our clubs and develop materials and programs 
to address their needs. We have done a great job the last few years using committee members as our eyes and ears 
on the ground, but we should strive to be even more visible.

2. In order to keep the positive momentum and continue to grow membership, we need to continue to utilize the 
business development specialists who travelled across the country to roll out Learn To Skate USA. The Learn To 
Skate USA program is incredible and has increased our membership numbers. The business development specialists 
are members of the Learn to Skate USA Subcommittee and are invested in growing the program. We must continue 
to use the information provided to us by the specialists to work with headquarters and the committees to make sure 
that the Learn To Skate USA program continues to address the needs of the clubs, programs and rinks.

3. In order to utilize the committees and the members to the best of our ability, we need to let members know that they 
are an important part of the association. We need to encourage our committee chairs to reach out to their members 
and get their opinions. Having members participate in decision making is important for the organization and also 
strengthens our volunteer base, which in turn develops future leaders at the local and national level.

4. In order to strengthen and grow our organization, we need to have our committees work together. Our committees all 
have at least one of the same goals — increase membership and program numbers. There is an untapped opportunity 
for the committee chairs under the Membership Development Group to work together. We can all learn from each 
other, and we need to increase the collaboration among the committees.
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Richard (Rick) Perez – Technical Group Coordinator:

Bio:
Rick serves on the following committees for U.S. Figure Skating: Technical Panel Committee as chair; International Judges 
& Officials committee as a member; Referees Education Subcommittee as a member; Competitions Committee as Central 
Pacific regional vice chair; Synchronized Skating Competitions Subcommittee as a member; and Synchronized Skating 
Competition Pacific Coast sectional vice chair. Rick served as the Technical Panel Committee Pacific Coast sectional vice 
chair for four years until four years ago, then later became the chair. He’s the current president of the Peninsula Skating 
Club in San Jose, California, which is the first club he joined (through mergers) 49 years ago. In the past 12 months, he 
as officiated at 34 skating competitions in various capacities including as chief referee. He can serve as a judge, referee, 
and any of the technical panel positions for singles, pairs or synchronized skating. He is an ISU synchronized judge. He 
has judged over 3,000 figure skating tests. He started skating in the late 60’s in a little ice rink in Sunnyvale, California, 
where Brian Boitano also started shortly after. Rick trained with Alex McGowan, then later with Evy and Mary Scotvold 
at the Wagon Wheel, in Rockton, Illinois. He competed in three US Championships from 1974 to 1978 and was the 1972 
Intermediate Pacific Coast Champion. Rick skated primarily in singles, and skated a couple years in pairs. In the early 80’s 
Rick skated on an adult precision team for fun where one of the members of the team, a skating judge, encouraged him to 
become a judge for U.S. Figure Skating. Rick has been judging for 31 years and has been a referee for 28 years.

Statement of Purpose:
I’ve been involved with figure skating for almost 50 years starting as a competitive skater then later as a skating official. I 
have served on many U.S. Figure Skating committees and have officiated at competitions within every region of the country 
including Alaska and Hawaii.

I believe my past experience in serving on many positions within the Judges, Competitions and Technical Panel Committees 
will be beneficial to serving as the Technical Group coordinator.

I’m currently the chair of the Technical Panel Committee and work with an excellent group of knowledgeable and talented 
people who share my passion for our sport. I’m fortunate to be involved with multiple disciplines, singles, pairs and 
synchronized team skating. I enjoy being involved at all levels of competition from this year judging at a Learn to Skate 
USA competition to serving as a technical team captain at the U.S. Figure Skating Championships in Kansas City and 
serving as a referee at the U.S. Synchronized Championships in Rockford, Illinois. I know how much work goes into a 
club hosting competitions and skating events as a current president of a skating club. A decade ago, after 24 years, I took 
advantage of an early retirement from Hewlett-Packard Company where I worked as an Operations Manager in a data 
center, allowing me the opportunity to be more involved in figure skating.

I’m involved with figure skating to promote and encourage others to be involved in our sport for as long as possible and in 
any capacity. My involvement with so many committees will be helpful in our efforts for a more productive realignment 
moving forward. Thank you for your consideration to serve on the Board of Directors of U.S. Figure Skating as Technical 
Group coordinator.

Steve Wolkin – Administrative/Legal Group Coordinator:

Bio:
Steve Wolkin has served as Administrative/Legal Group coordinator for two years. Previously, he served as chairman 
of the Grievance Committee for three years. Steve is currently a trustee of the Shaker Figure Skating Club and is the 
president of the Board of Directors of the Greater Cleveland Council of Figure Skating Clubs. He has been an officer of the 
Shaker Figure Skating Club, the Garfield Figure Skating Club, Tri-States Council of Figure Skating Clubs, and the Greater 
Cleveland Council of Figure Skating Clubs. Steve is currently the vice president of the Tri-States Council of Figure Skating 
Clubs for Ohio.

Steve has two daughters who have been actively involved in figure skating since they were young children. They both are 
involved in synchronized skating. The oldest is a coach in San Francisco and will attend the U.S. Synchronized Skating 
Championships with her teams this year. Steve’s youngest daughter skates on an adult level synchronized skating team and 
will also attend the U.S. Synchronized Championships this year.

Steve is a test judge, a senior level synchronized skating competition judge, and a sectional referee for synchronized skating. 
He has been an attorney practicing in the family law area for 40 years in Cleveland, Ohio. Steve resides in Fairview Park, 
Ohio, with his wife Connie to whom he has been married since 1976.



151

Statement of Purpose:
The purpose of the Administrative/Legal Group coordinator of U.S. Figure Skating is to oversee the Group 4 committees 
and provide feedback to the Board of Directors concerning those committees, and also to provide feedback from the Board 
of Directors to the committees. The Administrative/Legal Group coordinator provides direction to the committees and 
consolidates budget requests to the treasurer, and assists committee chairs in selecting members of the committees.

All group coordinators provide input to the vice presidents to allow them to communicate major activities and issues to their 
respective sections. The Administrative/Legal Group coordinator supports the transition to the successor when their term is 
completed. Annual evaluations are provided by the Administrative/Legal Group coordinator and they develop annual goals 
and objectives. The Administrative/Legal Group coordinator assists in standardizing the activities and communications of 
Group 4 committees and provides input and suggestions to the Board of Directors, other group coordinators and committees 
of U.S. Figure Skating.

Kirsten Miller-Zisholz – Coaching Member:

Bio: 
Kirsten Miller-Zisholz has been a figure skating coach in Lansing, Michigan, since 1990. She has coached skaters through 
their gold medals in the U.S. Figure Skating test structure in figures, freestyle and dance. She holds her own gold medal in 
figures, freestyle and dance. Currently her coaching focus is on singles. Kirsten has her Professional Skaters Association 
(PSA) Master Rating in Moves in the Field and Freestyle, as well as her Level V Ranking. She has coached medalists at the 
regional, sectional, national and international levels. Kirsten currently serves on the PSA Board of Directors and the U.S. 
Figure Skating Coaches Committee. As a former skating director, mother of a skater, and a coach of all levels from beginner 
through senior, she brings knowledge and experience from many different points of view to the U.S. Figure Skating Board 
of Directors.

Statement of Purpose:
As coaching member to the board of the U.S. Figure Skating, I would like to help increase the popularity of figure skating 
across the United States. To do this, I believe we need to find ways to get our youth interested in skating at an earlier age. 
It is important to hook young skaters as early as possible in our sport. Learn to Skate USA can be a great starting point, but 
often the skater does not progress quickly enough or with good enough instruction to retain their interest. We need to foster 
the love of the sport by making it fun while they learn and getting them involved in shows and competitions early in their 
development. Creative coaching, affordability, quality rental skates, and better communication of the long-term benefits 
of figure skating will help the future of the sport. Parental support is key at this level. They need to see the skater improve 
and be educated early and often in the progression progress. They need to understand the steps involved in moving from 
recreational to private instruction, and we need to make this transition easier and more affordable. Reaching out to news 
organizations in all areas regarding the success of their local skaters at the Learn to Skate USA, regional, sectional and 
national levels. We need to make figure skating more visible in the communities through newspapers (sports page), social 
media, TV, etc. Encourage facilities to use their private skaters to exhibition and make appearances at Learn to Skate USA 
classes in costume as well as malls, other sporting events, etc.

Another important issue facing the sport of figure skating is finding ways to keep skaters in the sport longer. As a current 
coach, former skater, mother of a skater and skating director, I see a large number of skaters quit early in their careers before 
attaining all of their skating goals, such as senior level tests. When the skater/parent believes they do not have the ability 
to become a national level or elite skater, they leave the sport to start focusing on other activities. Parents often question 
continuing in a sport that they believe has no future for their child. As skaters reach middle school/high school, they begin 
to focus on increasing the extracurricular activities needed for college acceptance. It would be beneficial to advocate for 
college admission offices to weigh the time commitment, dedication and value of figure skating when considering college 
applications. It would also be important to continue to develop the high school and college programs with the hopes of being 
able to offer scholarship opportunities in the future.

Tammy Gambill – Coaching Member:

Bio:
It is an honor to be nominated for coach representative for the Board of Directors. I have been a coach in California for over 
30 years. I have developed skaters from beginners to national, Junior World, World and Olympic levels. I have previously 
served on the Board of Directors and also as Coaches Committee chair. I currently serve on many committees for U.S. 
Figure Skating. I am also Master Rated in Freestyle through PSA.

Statement of Purpose:
I hope to use my knowledge and experience to help U.S. Figure Skating and our coaches to reach their highest potential. I 
believe we can make our organization stronger from grass roots to elite athletes.
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REPORT OF THE TREASURER
2016 Board of Directors and Governing Council Meetings

April 2016

Bob Anderson, Treasurer
Current Year 2016-17 Discussion
The financial position of U.S. Figure Skating remains stable for the current fiscal year ending June 30, 2017, with projected 
actual results meeting budgeted level of net income before depreciation and amortization. Through February 28, 2017, 
activity (first eight months of current fiscal year), Net Income before Depreciation/Amortization was $146,500 versus year 
end budgeted level of $31,250. As the attached schedule (presented in the 2017 Budget Comparative with Year-to-Date 
Actuals and 2017 Year End Projection available on the Governing Council page of the Members only site) reflects, we are 
on schedule to exceed our net budgeted surplus before depreciation/amortization of $31,250 by yearend June 30, 2017. 
Highlights include a 17 percent increase in Basic Skills/Learn to Skate USA membership revenue to date, 20 percent in-
crease in regular membership revenue due to the modest fee increase with no loss of membership levels, continued strong 
sponsorship revenue, and overall expenses in line with budgeted levels through February 2017 activity.

The three multi-year significant strategic initiatives projects (Brand/Image, Learn to Skate-Basic Skills Rebrand, and Event 
Management System) continue to progress satisfactorily with approximate budgeted costs of $1,100,000 in 2016-17 in the 
current year, of which $900,000 is covered by United States Figure Skating Foundation funding. Upon presentation of each 
of the strategic initiatives project updates to the U.S. Figure Skating Foundation Board, the Foundation Board approved 
continued development grant funding for these projects over the next year of $800,000 plus a one-time $300,000 grant for 
media consultants to review upcoming media renewal opportunities.

Upcoming Year 2017-18 Budget
The upcoming year 2018 reflects a strong and stable budget with estimated Net Income/Cash Flow before Depreciation/
Amortization in excess of $950,000. This budgeted surplus will be significantly due to the board decision to increase the 
Learn to Skate USA annual membership fee to $16 as a reflection of the value added to the program due to the U.S. Figure 
Skating past investment in the multi-year strategic initiatives project referenced above and will be needed to maintain an 
overall four year budget which maintains the financial stability that has been achieved over the past seven year period. 

Foundation Summary
Under the current general operating support funding policy, the Foundation continues to provide annually $2,000,000 toward 
operating budget activities. This equates to 3 percent of Development Fund value of $66,000,000 as of October 31, 2016. 
In addition, as mentioned above, the Foundation has approved the additional development grant funding of $1,100,000 over 
the next year in support of the three ongoing multi-year strategic initiatives plus the media consultant assistance, which 
equates to 1.7 percent of current Development Fund Value. This total funding of 4.7 percent of current Development Fund 
value is still a suitable funding rate compared to the standard 4-5 percent Endowment Fund support funding levels of the 
majority of other similar organizations. In addition, the Foundation continues to support Memorial Fund grant activities 
with income generated from the Memorial Endowment Investment Fund value of $10,300,000 as of October 31, 2016.

Headquarters
Under the leadership of chief financial officer and senior director of IT operations, Mario Rede, and director of finance, 
Christalina Pencheva-Beshear, U.S. Figure Skating Headquarters continues to provide excellent and accurate financial 
reporting to the board on a monthly basis and manages and reports the financial assets of the United States Figure Skating 
Association on a consistently professional basis as confirmed by the Independent Auditors Report included with the Gov-
erning Council meeting book.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT 

 
 
Board of Directors 
United States Figure Skating Association 
 
We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of United States Figure Skating 
Association and Affiliates (collectively, the Organization), which comprise the consolidated statements of 
financial position as of June 30, 2016 and 2015, and the related consolidated statements of activities and cash 
flows for the years then ended, and the related notes to the financial statements.  
 
Management's Responsibility for the Financial Statements 

 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial statements 
in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America; this includes the 
design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of 
consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 

Auditors' Responsibility 

 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We 
conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America. 
Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the 
consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement. 
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors' judgment, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud 
or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's 
preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness 
of the entity's internal control. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes evaluating the 
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by 
management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. 
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
audit opinion. 
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Opinion 

 
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, 
the financial position of United States Figure Skating Association and Affiliates as of June 30, 2016 and 2015, 
and the changes in their net assets and their cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States of America. 
 
Report on Supplemental Information 

 
Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the consolidated financial statements as a 
whole. The accompanying supplemental information on pages 17 and 18 is presented for purposes of 
additional analysis and is not a required part of the consolidated financial statements. Such information is the 
responsibility of management and was derived from and relates directly to the underlying accounting and other 
records used to prepare the consolidated financial statements. The information has been subjected to the 
auditing procedures applied in the audit of the consolidated financial statements and certain additional 
procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting and 
other records used to prepare the consolidated financial statements or to the consolidated financial statements 
themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the 
United States of America. In our opinion, the information is fairly stated in all material respects in relation to 
the consolidated financial statements as a whole. 

Stockman Kast Ryan & Co., LLP 
September 20, 2016 
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See notes to consolidated financial statements. 
 
 

 

UNITED STATES FIGURE SKATING ASSOCIATION 

 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION 

JUNE 30, 2016 AND 2015  
 
 
 2016 2015 

ASSETS   

Cash and cash equivalents $ 4,110,341 $ 1,697,789 
Investments  77,246,316  82,229,490 
Accounts receivable, net  2,782,024  759,679 
Promises to give  271,542  262,085 
Inventory  227,107  106,949 
Prepaid expenses and other assets  403,859  921,993 
Property and equipment, net  3,513,477  3,310,054 
Historical artifacts  688,261  688,261 

 TOTAL ASSETS $ 89,242,927  $ 89,976,300 

LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS 

LIABILITIES 
Accounts payable and accrued expenses $ 3,339,498 $ 1,897,982  
Deferred revenue  1,760,133  2,188,823  

Total liabilities  5,099,631  4,086,805  

NET ASSETS 
Unrestricted: 

Board-designated for reserves  67,307,541  70,720,959  
Board-designated for skaters  11,033,343  9,943,376  

 Invested in property and equipment, and historical artifacts  4,201,738  3,998,315  

Total unrestricted  82,542,622  84,662,650  
Temporarily restricted  1,059,657  695,285 
Permanently restricted  541,017  531,560  

Total net assets  84,143,296  85,889,495  

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS $ 89,242,927 $ 89,976,300  
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See notes to consolidated financial statements. 
 

UNITED STATES FIGURE SKATING ASSOCIATION 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF ACTIVITIES 

FOR THE YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2016 AND 2015  
 
   2016   2015  

   Temporarily Permanently   Temporarily Permanently 

  Unrestricted Restricted Restricted Total Unrestricted Restricted Restricted Total 

REVENUE, GAINS AND 
 OTHER SUPPORT 
Skating events and sponsorships $ 7,446,820     $ 7,446,820 $ 2,289,517     $ 2,289,517  
Broadcasting and licensing  5,854,489      5,854,489  5,143,343      5,143,343  
Dues, admissions and activity fees  5,486,791      5,486,791  5,496,779      5,496,779  
Contributions  1,467,266 $ 368,491 $ 9,457  1,845,214  306,594 $ 62,451 $ 9,458  378,503  
USOC and PSA grants  1,045,257      1,045,257  1,016,094      1,016,094  
Net investment income  253,047  15,002    268,049  3,113,759  35,913    3,149,672  
Publications  210,534      210,534  220,568      220,568  
Net assets released from restrictions  19,121  (19,121)      31,026  (31,026)      

Total revenue, gains and other support  21,783,325  364,372  9,457  22,157,154  17,617,680  67,338  9,458  17,694,476  

EXPENSES 
Program services: 

Skating events  10,623,100      10,623,100  7,163,498      7,163,498  
Development and support of athletes  5,619,413      5,619,413  5,221,861      5,221,861  
Membership activities and services  3,434,964      3,434,964  2,390,778      2,390,778  
Governance and judging  502,853      502,853  437,158      437,158  
Publications  490,047      490,047  478,336      478,336  

Total program services  20,670,377  —      —      20,670,377  15,691,631  —      —      15,691,631  

Supporting services: 
Management and general  2,254,099      2,254,099  2,090,976      2,090,976  
Donor development  978,877      978,877  898,450      898,450  

Total supporting services  3,232,976  —      —      3,232,976  2,989,426  —      —      2,989,426  

Total expenses  23,903,353  —      —      23,903,353  18,681,057  —      —      18,681,057  

CHANGE IN NET ASSETS  (2,120,028)  364,372  9,457  (1,746,199)  (1,063,377)  67,338  9,458  (986,581)  

NET ASSETS, Beginning of year  84,662,650  695,285  531,560  85,889,495  85,726,027  627,947  522,102  86,876,076  

NET ASSETS, End of year $ 82,542,622 $ 1,059,657 $ 541,017 $ 84,143,296 $ 84,662,650 $ 695,285 $ 531,560 $ 85,889,495  

- 4 - 
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UNITED STATES FIGURE SKATING ASSOCIATION 

 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 

FOR THE YEARS ENDED JUNE 30, 2016 AND 2015  

 
 
 2016 2015 

OPERATING ACTIVITIES 
Change in net assets $ (1,746,199) $ (986,581) 
Adjustments to reconcile change in net assets to 

net cash used in operating activities: 
Depreciation and amortization  495,100  455,109 
Realized and unrealized (gains) losses  913,789  (2,104,326) 
Contributions restricted to endowment  (9,457)  (9,458) 
Changes in operating assets and liabilities: 

Accounts receivable, net  (2,022,345)  1,398,737 
Inventory  (120,158)  (3,577) 
Prepaid expenses and other assets  518,134  (458,837) 
Accounts payable and accrued expenses  1,441,516  842,739 
Deferred revenue  (428,690)  624,388 

Net cash used in operating activities  (958,310)  (241,806) 

INVESTING ACTIVITIES 
Purchases of investments  (9,767,895)  (26,273,962) 
Sales of investments  13,837,280  26,691,885 
Purchases of property and equipment  (698,523)  (648,008) 

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities  3,370,862  (230,085) 

INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH 
 AND CASH EQUIVALENTS  2,412,552  (471,891) 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, Beginning of year  1,697,789  2,169,680 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, End of year $ 4,110,341 $ 1,697,789 
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UNITED STATES FIGURE SKATING ASSOCIATION 

 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
 
 

1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 

Nature of Operations — United States Figure Skating Association (the Association) is the national 
governing body for figure skating on ice in the United States, and is so recognized by the International 
Skating Union (ISU) and the United States Olympic Committee (USOC). The Association's mission is 
to provide programs to encourage participation, enjoyment and achievement in the sport of figure 
skating. Established in 1921, the membership includes approximately 690 member clubs and more 
than 181,500 registered skaters. The United States Figure Skating Association's headquarters are 
located in Colorado Springs, Colorado. 
 
Recognizing that competition at every level is a principal incentive for figure skaters to train, develop 
and improve their proficiency, the Association sanctions official test sessions to measure progress in 
the various branches of the sport. It also sanctions, directly or indirectly, all official U.S. Figure 
Skating competitions. Member clubs throughout the United States conduct the tests and competitions. 
By ascending the competition ladder, competitors registered with the Association develop 
opportunities to gain entry to international figure skating events, among them the Olympic Winter 
Games and World Championships. 
 
The World Figure Skating Museum and Hall of Fame (the Museum), an activity of the Association, 
honors the heritage of the sport. Serving as an international repository for the sport of figure skating, 
the Museum is dedicated exclusively to the collection, preservation and interpretation of the history 
and historical artifacts of figure skating throughout the world. The greatest names in figure skating are 
honored in the Hall of Fame, housed within the Museum. 
 
Ice Network, LLC (Ice Network) is a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Association created in 2007 to 
hold exclusive rights to certain interactive media assets licensed to it by the Association. 
 
20 First Street Properties (Properties) is a separate, tax exempt not-for-profit title-holding company 
created in 2004 solely for the purpose of owning, holding title to, and maintaining the land, buildings 
and improvements of the Association's headquarters. 
 
The United States Figure Skating Foundation (the Foundation) is a separate, tax exempt not-for-profit 
organization established in 2000 to receive, hold, manage and invest funds transferred, conveyed or 
contributed to it by or for the benefit of the Association. The Foundation is governed by a separate 
board of directors, a majority of whom are appointed by the Association's board of directors. The 
board of directors of the Foundation authorizes supporting distributions to the Association. 
 
Principles of Consolidation — The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the 
Association, Ice Network, Properties and the Foundation (collectively, the Organization). All 
significant intercompany transactions and balances have been eliminated in consolidation. 
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Basis of Presentation — The Organization reports information regarding its financial position and 
activities according to three classes of net assets:  unrestricted net assets; temporarily restricted net 
assets; and permanently restricted net assets. Temporarily restricted net assets are those whose use by 
the Organization has been limited by donors to a specific time period or purpose. Permanently 
restricted net assets have been restricted by donors to be maintained by the Organization in perpetuity. 
 
Cash and Cash Equivalents — The Organization considers all liquid investments with original 
maturities of three months or less, and which are not held for long-term investment purposes, to be 
cash equivalents. Cash and highly liquid financial instruments held for long-term investment purposes, 
regardless of original length to maturity, are reported as investments and are excluded from this 
definition. The net amount of operating cash added to, or withdrawn from, the long-term investments 
is reported as an investing activity in the statement of cash flows. 
 
Accounts Receivable — Accounts receivable are comprised of amounts due under contracts with 
event sponsors, marketing agents, licensees and broadcasters. Also included are amounts due from 
clubs for dues, merchandise, shortfalls of member dues, test fees or sanction fees. The Organization 
maintains an allowance for doubtful accounts based on expected collectability of accounts receivable. 
No allowance for doubtful accounts has been recorded at June 30, 2016, and 2015 as accounts 
receivable are considered by management to be fully collectible. 
 
Promises to Give — Unconditional promises to give expected to be collected within one year are 
recorded at their estimated net realizable values. Unconditional promises to give expected to be 
collected in more than one year are recorded at the present values of their estimated future cash flows, 
computed using risk-adjusted interest rates. Amortization of the discount is included in contribution 
revenue. Conditional promises to give are recognized when the conditions are substantially met.  
 
The Organization uses the allowance method to account for uncollectible pledges receivable. The 
allowance is based on historical experience and management's analysis of individual pledges. At 
June 30, 2016 and 2015, promises to give are net of allowances for uncollectible promises to give, of 
$9,458 and $18,915, respectively. 
 

Investments and Investment Return — Investments are carried at fair value in the statement of 
financial position. Net investment return consists of interest and dividend income, and the realized and 
unrealized gains and losses on the investments, less investment management and custodial fees. See 
Note 2 for additional information on fair value measurements. 
 
Earnings on restricted investments are reported as an increase in unrestricted net assets if the 
restriction expires in the reporting period in which the earnings are recognized. All other earnings on 
donor restricted investments are recognized as an increase in temporarily restricted net assets 
according to the nature of the restrictions on the original gift. When a donor restriction is met, 
temporarily restricted net assets are reclassified to unrestricted net assets and reported in the statement 
of activities as net assets released from restrictions. 
 
Financial Instruments and Credit Risk — The Organization manages deposit concentration risk by 
placing the cash and money market accounts with various local, regional and national financial 
institutions. From time to time, portions of those deposits exceed FDIC or other insurance limits.  
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Inventory — The Organization maintains program-related inventory consisting primarily of 
achievement pins, medals, emblems, team/logo apparel, and other supplies held for resale to clubs, 
members and athletes. Inventory is reported using the first-in-first-out method at the lower of cost or 
estimated fair value. 
 
Prepaid Expenses and Other Assets — Prepaid expenses and other assets consist primarily of 
expenses paid and tickets purchased in advance of future skating events. 
 
Property and Equipment — All acquisitions of property and equipment in excess of $1,000 are 
capitalized. Donated equipment is recorded at fair market value at the date of donation. Purchased 
equipment is recorded at cost. Depreciation is provided on a straight-line basis over the estimated 
useful lives of the assets, which range from 30 years for buildings and improvements and from 3 to 7 
years for furnishings and equipment. Upon sale or disposition, the asset and its related accumulated 
depreciation are removed from the accounts and any remaining gain or loss is included in the 
statement of activities. Costs of repairs and maintenance are charged to expense when incurred. 
 
Historical Artifacts — The Museum's historical artifacts are capitalized at original cost, or if donated, 
at fair value at the date the artifacts were received. 
 
Revenue Recognition — Contributions received are recorded as unrestricted, temporarily restricted or 
permanently restricted support depending on the existence or nature of any donor restrictions. Support 
that is restricted by the donor is reported as an increase in unrestricted net assets if the restriction 
expires in the reporting period in which the support is recognized. All other donor restricted support is 
reported as an increase in temporarily or permanently restricted net assets, depending on the nature of 
the restriction. When a donor restriction is met, temporarily restricted net assets are reclassified to 
unrestricted net assets and reported in the statement of activities as net assets released from 
restrictions. 
 
Dues, publications, and other period related revenues are recognized in the period in which they relate. 
Admissions, activity fees, broadcasting and licensing revenues and skating-event and sponsorship 
revenues received in advance are included in deferred revenue and recognized when the related event 
or use occurs. 
 

Donated Services and Materials — Donated services and materials are recorded as both a revenue 
and expenditure in the accompanying statements of activities at their estimated values. Contributions 
of services are recognized if the services received (a) create or enhance non-financial assets or (b) 
require specialized skills, are provided by individuals possessing those skills and would typically need 
to be purchased if not provided by donations. 
 

Functional Allocation of Expenses — The costs of providing various program and supporting 
services have been summarized on a functional basis in the consolidated statements of activities. 
Accordingly, certain costs have been allocated among the programs and supporting services benefited. 
 
Use of Estimates — The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles 
generally accepted in the United States of America requires management to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent 
assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues, 
expenses, gains, losses and other changes in net assets during the reporting period. Actual results 
could differ from those estimates. 
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Income Taxes — The Association and the Foundation are exempt from federal income taxes under 
Section 501(c)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code. In addition, these entities qualify for the charitable 
contribution deduction and have been classified as organizations that are not private foundations. 
Properties is exempt from federal income taxes under Section 501(c)(2). Ice Network is a disregarded 
entity for income tax purposes and is included and reported as a part of the Association's activities. 
 
The Organization believes that it does not have any uncertain tax positions that are material to the 
financial statements. Tax years that remain subject to examination include the year ended June 30, 
2013 through the current period. 
 
Adoption of Accounting Standards Update – In May 2015, the Financial Accounting Standards 
Board (FASB) issued ASU 2015-07, Fair Value Measurement (Topic 820). ASU 2015-07 removes 
the requirement to categorize within the fair value hierarchy all investments for which fair value is 
measured using the net asset value per share practical expedient and removes the requirement to make 
certain disclosures for such investments. ASU 2015-07 is effective for fiscal years beginning after 
December 15, 2016. Management of the Organization has elected to adopt ASU 2015-07 early. All 
provisions of ASU 2015-07 have been applied to the June 30, 2016 and 2015 disclosures in the 
accompanying notes. 
 
Reclassifications — Certain reclassifications have been made to prior year amounts to conform to the 
current year presentation. 
 
Subsequent Events — The Organization has evaluated subsequent events for recognition or 
disclosure through the date of the Independent Auditors' Report, which is the date the financial 
statements were available for issuance. 
 

 

2. INVESTMENTS AND FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS 

 

The Organization is required to use a fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs to valuation 
techniques used to measure fair value. The hierarchy gives the highest priority to unadjusted quoted 
prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (Level 1 measurements) and the lowest 
priority to unobservable inputs (Level 3 measurements). The three levels of the fair value hierarchy are 
described below: 
 
Level 1: Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the 
Organization has the ability to access. 

Level 2: Prices determined using significant other observable inputs. Inputs to the valuation 
methodology include: 

 Quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities in active markets; 

 Quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in inactive markets; 

 Inputs other than quoted prices that are observable for the asset or liability; 

 Inputs that are derived principally from or corroborated by observable market data by 
correlation or other means. 
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If the asset or liability has a specified (contractual) term, the Level 2 input must be observable for 
substantially the full term of the asset or liability. 

Level 3: Prices determined using significant unobservable inputs. 
 
The investment's fair value measurement level within the fair value hierarchy is based on the lowest 
level of any input that is significant to the fair value measurement. Valuation techniques used need to 
maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs. 
 
Investments in equity securities and mutual funds are priced at quoted prices in active markets.  
 
The Organization's investment in the United States Olympic Endowment (USOE) portfolio is valued 
at fair value using the net asset value of the portfolio provided by the USOE. Certain alternative 
investments within the USOE portfolio are stated at the estimated net asset values of the underlying 
investments. The Organization's investment in this portfolio is classified as Level 2. 
 
The Organization may terminate its investment agreement with the USOE effective at the end of any 
calendar month upon the giving of at least 90 days written notice or upon shorter notice acceptable to 
the USOE if the USOE determines that adequate liquidity exists in the portfolio to permit early 
termination. 
 
Several investments are held in hedge funds managed by investment management firms. The funds 
invest in a variety of hedge funds, including funds of hedge funds, to create a portfolio of funds having 
widely diversified investment strategies. Investments for which quotations are not available are valued 
at an estimated net asset value by the fund managers using various models, comparisons and 
assumptions. Consideration is given to several factors, including the type of investment, risks, 
marketability, restrictions on disposition, quotations from other market participants and values of 
similar investments. Net asset value is used as a practical expedient to estimate fair value. This 
practical expedient would not be used if it is determined to be probable that the investment will be 
sold at an amount different from the reported net asset value. 
 
There was no significant change to the valuation methodologies used during the year. 

 
A financial instrument's categorization within the valuation hierarchy is based upon the lowest level of 
input that is significant to the fair value measurement. Inputs are used in applying the various 
valuation techniques and broadly refer to the assumptions that market participants use to make 
valuation decisions. Inputs may include price information, credit data, liquidity statistics, and other 
factors. The Organization considers observable data to be that market data which is readily available 
and reliable and provided by independent sources. The categorization of a financial instrument within 
the hierarchy is therefore based upon the pricing transparency of the instrument and does not 
necessarily correspond to the Organization's perceived risk of that investment.  
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The following table sets forth by level, within the fair value hierarchy, the Organization's financial 
instruments at fair value as of June 30: 

 Quoted Significant   

 Prices in Active Other  Significant  

  Markets for Observable Unobservable  

  Identical Assets Inputs Inputs  

  (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total 

2016: 
Cash and money market 
 funds $ 1,907,827     $ 1,907,827  
Equity securities: 

Domestic equity  223,627      223,627 
Mutual funds: 

Domestic equity  25,979,723      25,979,723 
International equity  9,452,268      9,452,268 
Fixed income  10,574,201      10,574,201 
Real estate  3,192,332      3,192,332 

USOE portfolio      $ 13,995,610    13,995,610 

Total investments in the  
fair value hierarchy $ 51,329,978 $ 13,995,610 $ —      65,325,588 

Hedge funds measured at          
net asset value        11,920,728 

Total investments       $ 77,246,316  
 

2015: 
Cash and money market 
 funds $ 4,301,126      $4,301,126 
Equity securities: 

Domestic equity  828,752      828,752 
International equity  55,521      55,521 

Mutual funds: 
Domestic equity  27,689,555      27,689,555 
International equity  10,680,894      10,680,894 
Fixed income  9,554,207      9,554,207 
Real estate  2,591,887      2,591,887 

 USOE portfolio   $ 14,324,835    14,324,835 

Total investments in the  $ 55,701,942 $ 14,324,835 $ —      70,026,777 
fair value hierarchy 

Hedge funds measured at          
net asset value        12,202,713 

Total investments       $ 82,229,490  
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The USOE portfolio consists of the following investments at June 30: 

 2016 2015 

Alternative investments 38 % 34 %  
Domestic equities 31 % 30 %  
International equities 21 % 25 %  
Domestic bonds  7 % 6 %  
International bonds 3 % 3 %  
Cash and other  0 %  2 %  

Total  100 %  100 %  
 
Alternative investments include hedge equity funds, private equity funds, real estate funds and limited 
partnerships. 
 
Investments that Calculate Net Asset Value — The following summarizes liquidity considerations 
for investments measured at fair value that calculate net asset value as a practical expedient at June 30, 
2016: 

   Unfunded Redemption  

  Investments Fair Value Commitments Frequency  

Millennium International, Ltd. -     Annually, with 
 Class MM Sub Class III – Series 01A $ 4,506,873 None 90 days notice  

ACL Alternative Fund SAC Limited - 
 USD Share Class A  3,057,461 None Daily  

Cross Shore Overseas Fund LTD -     Annually, with 
 Class EE Series 1  2,588,178 None 75 days notice  

Riverview Global Macro Fund     Quarterly, with 
 (Cayman) L.P.  1,768,216 None 65 days notice  

Total  $ 11,920,728 
 
Net investment income was composed of the following for the year ended June 30: 

 2016 2015 

Dividend and interest income $ 1,387,217 $ 1,239,055 
Net realized and unrealized gains (loss)  (913,789)  2,104,326  
Investment management and custodial fees  (205,379)  (193,709)  

Net investment income $ 268,049 $ 3,149,672  
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Some investments are exposed to various risks that may cause their reported fair values to fluctuate 
from period to period and could materially affect the recorded amount of investments in the 
Organization's financial statements. Investments in equity securities fluctuate in value in response to 
many factors, such as the activities and financial condition of individual companies, general business 
and industry market conditions and the state or perceived direction of the economy. The values of debt 
securities fluctuate in response to changing interest rates, credit worthiness of issuers, and overall 
economic policies that impact market conditions. The values of certain investments, such as hedge 
funds, can fluctuate in response to direct market conditions and other factors that may or may not have 
a high correlation to overall market direction. Though the market values of investments are subject to 
fluctuation, management and the investment committee believe that the investment policy is prudent 
for the long-term welfare of the Organization. 

 

 

3. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT 

 
Property and equipment consists of the following at June 30: 

 2016 2015 

Land $ 237,963 $ 237,963  
Buildings  3,020,696  3,011,999  
Equipment  3,608,985  3,463,576  
Software  2,467,414  1,922,997  

Total  9,335,058  8,636,535  
Less accumulated depreciation  5,821,581  5,326,481  

Total $ 3,513,477 $ 3,310,054  
 
Depreciation expense was $495,100 and $455,109 during the years ended June 30, 2016 and 2015, 
respectively. 
 
 

4. OPERATING LEASE 

 
The Organization leases a printer, copying equipment and phone system under non-cancellable 
operating lease agreements expiring between January 2017 and May 2021. The future minimum 
annual lease payments are as follows: 
 
2017   $ 49,896 
2018    9,964 
2019    9,964 
2020    9,964 
2021    9,133 

Total   $ 88,921 
 
Lease expense for the years ended June 30, 2016 and 2015 was $44,235 and $43,924, respectively. 
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5. RESTRICTED NET ASSETS 

 
Permanently restricted net assets consist of endowment fund assets to be held in perpetuity. Interest 
earned on permanently restricted net assets may be appropriated for expenditure in satisfaction of 
donor-specified purposes and in accordance with the trust agreement. 
 
Temporarily restricted net assets are restricted by donors for particular purposes and consist of the 
following at June 30: 

 2016 2015 

Skater assistance $ 388,828 $ 385,128  
World team scholarships  325,000 
Museum operations  142,871  131,746  
Club activities  96,155  99,049 

 Awards  106,803  79,362 

 Total $ 1,059,657 $ 695,285  

 
Board restricted net assets are unrestricted net assets designated by the board of directors for reserves 
and for the support of skaters. 
 
 

6. ENDOWMENT FUNDS 

 

The Organization's endowment consists of donor-related endowment funds. As required by generally 
accepted accounting principles, net assets associated with endowment funds are classified and reported 
based on the existence or absence of donor-imposed restrictions. 
 
The State of Colorado has adopted the Uniform Prudent Management of Institutional Funds Act 
(UPMIFA). The Organization has interpreted UPMIFA as requiring the preservation of the fair value 
of the original gift as of the gift date of the donor-restricted endowment funds absent explicit donor 
stipulations to the contrary. As a result of this interpretation, the Organization classifies as 
permanently restricted net assets (a) the original value of gifts donated to the permanent endowment, 
and (b) accumulations to the permanent endowment made in accordance with the direction of the 
applicable donor gift instrument at the time of accumulation is added to the fund. 
 
The remaining portion of the donor-restricted endowment fund that is not classified in permanently 
restricted net assets is classified as temporarily restricted net assets until those amounts are 
appropriated for expenditure by the Organization in a manner consistent with the standard of prudence 
prescribed by UPMIFA. In accordance with UPMIFA, the Organization considers the following 
factors in making a determination to appropriate or accumulate donor-restricted endowment funds: 
 
1) The duration and preservation of the fund 
2) The purposes of the Organization and the donor-restricted endowment fund 
3) General economic conditions 
4) The possible effect of inflation and deflation 
5) The expected total return from income and the appreciation of investments 
6) Other resources of the Organization 
7) The investment policies of the Organization 
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Endowment Net Asset Composition by Type of Fund as of June 30, 2016 is as follows: 

  Temporarily Permanently 

 Unrestricted Restricted Restricted Total 

Donor-restricted for permanent 
 operating endowment $ —     $ 107,423 $ 541,017 $ 648,440 
 
Changes in Endowment Net Assets for the year ended June 30, 2016 is as follows: 

  Temporarily Permanently 

 Unrestricted Restricted Restricted Total 

Endowment net assets, 
 beginning of year $ —     $ 102,104 $ 531,560 $ 633,664  

Investment return: 
 Investment income    5,131    5,131 
 Net realized and unrealized  
  appreciation    188    188 

 Total investment return  —      5,319  —      5,319 

Contributions      9,457  9,457 

Endowment net assets,  $ —     $ 107,423 $ 541,017 $ 648,440 
 end of year  
 
Endowment Net Asset Composition by Type of Fund as of June 30, 2015 is as follows: 

  Temporarily Permanently 

 Unrestricted Restricted Restricted Total 

Donor-restricted for permanent 
 operating endowment $ —     $ 102,104 $ 531,560 $ 633,664 
 
Changes in Endowment Net Assets for the year ended June 30, 2015 is as follows: 

  Temporarily Permanently 

 Unrestricted Restricted Restricted Total 

Endowment net assets, 
 beginning of year $ —     $ 87,809 $ 522,102 $ 609,911 

Investment return: 
 Investment income    4,284    4,284 
 Net realized and unrealized 
  appreciation    10,011    10,011 

Total investment return  —      14,295  —      14,295 

Contributions      9,458  9,458 

Endowment net assets,  
 end of year $ —     $ 102,104 $ 531,560 $ 633,664 
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From time to time, the fair value of assets associated with individual donor-restricted endowment 
funds may fall below the level that the donor or UPMIFA requires the Organization to retain as a fund 
of perpetual duration. In accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, deficiencies of this 
nature are reported in unrestricted net assets. There were no such deficiencies as of June 30, 2016 and 
2015. 
 
The Organization has adopted investment and spending policies for endowment assets that attempt to 
provide a predictable stream of funding to programs supported by its endowment while seeking to 
maintain the purchasing power of the endowment assets. Endowment assets include those assets of 
donor-restricted funds that the Organization must hold in perpetuity or for a donor-specified period. 
Under this policy the endowment assets are invested in a manner that is intended to produce maximum 
results while assuming a moderate level of investment risk. The Organization expects its endowment 
funds, over time, to provide an average rate of return of approximately the sum of 5% plus the 
consumer price in (CPI) annually. Actual returns in any given year may vary from this amount. 
 

 

7. RETIREMENT PLAN 

 
The Organization has a tax-deferred retirement plan (the Plan) pursuant to Section 403(b) covering 
substantially all employees. The Organization matches employees' voluntary contributions up to 4% of 
the employee's compensation after three months of service. Contributions are vested over three years at 
the rate of one-third per year. Employer matching and discretionary contributions totaled $138,655 and 
$137,767 for the years ended June 30, 2016 and 2015, respectively. 

 
 
8. CONCENTRATIONS 

 
The Organization had amounts due from a company at June 30, 2016 and 2015 comprising 32% and 
48%, respectively, of total accounts receivable. The Organization also had amounts due from another 
company at June 30, 2016 comprising 45% of total accounts receivable. 
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UNITED STATES FIGURE SKATING ASSOCIATION 

 

 

CONSOLIDATING STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 

JUNE 30, 2016  

 

 USFS 

 Association, 

 Ice Network USFS 

 and Properties Foundation Eliminations Total 

ASSETS 

Cash and cash equivalents $ 4,110,341     $ 4,110,341 
Investments  2,095,471 $ 75,150,845    77,246,316 
Accounts receivable, net  2,816,682   $ (34,658)  2,782,024 
Promises to give  271,542      271,542 
Inventory  227,107      227,107 
Prepaid expenses and other assets  395,904  7,955    403,859 
Property and equipment, net  3,513,477      3,513,477 
Historical artifacts  688,261      688,261 

TOTAL ASSETS $ 14,118,785 $ 75,158,800 $ (34,658) $ 89,242,927 

 

LIABILITIES AND NET ASSETS 

LIABILITIES 
Accounts payable and accrued expenses $ 3,339,498 $ 34,658 $ (34,658) $ 3,339,498 
Deferred revenue  1,760,133      1,760,133 

Total liabilities  5,099,631  34,658  (34,658)  5,099,631 

NET ASSETS 
Unrestricted: 

Board-designated for reserves  1,538,325  65,769,216    67,307,541 
Board-designated for skaters  2,160,220  8,873,123    11,033,343 
Invested in property and equipment 

and historical artifacts  4,201,738      4,201,738 

Total unrestricted  7,900,283  74,642,339  —      82,542,622 
Temporarily restricted  627,854  431,803    1,059,657 
Permanently restricted  491,017  50,000    541,017 

Total net assets  9,019,154  75,124,142  —      84,143,296 

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND 
 NET ASSETS $ 14,118,785 $ 75,158,800 $ (34,658) $ 89,242,927 
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UNITED STATES FIGURE SKATING ASSOCIATION 

 

CONSOLIDATING STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES 

FOR THE YEAR ENDED JUNE 30, 2016  

 

 USFS 

 Association, 

 Ice Network USFS 

 and Properties Foundation Eliminations Total 

REVENUE GAINS AND 

 OTHER SUPPORT 

Skating events and sponsorships $ 7,446,820     $ 7,446,820 
Broadcasting and licensing  5,854,489      5,854,489 
Dues, admissions and activity fees  5,486,791      5,486,791 
Contributions  5,447,729 $ 325,000 $ (3,927,515)  1,845,214 
USOC and PSA grants  1,045,257      1,045,257 
Net investment income  (171,427)  439,476    268,049 
Publications  210,534      210,534 

Total gains and other support  25,320,193  764,476  (3,927,515)  22,157,154 

EXPENSES 

Program services: 
Skating events  10,623,100      10,623,100 
Development and support of athletes  5,619,413      5,619,413 
Membership activities and services  3,434,964      3,434,964 
Governance and judging  502,853      502,853 
Publications  490,047      490,047 

Total program services  20,670,377  —      —      20,670,377 

Supporting services: 
Management and general  2,211,740  42,359    2,254,099 
Donor development  978,877      978,877 
Support provided to USFS Foundation  325,000    (325,000)   
Support provided to USFS Association    3,602,515  (3,602,515)   

Total supporting services  3,515,617  3,644,874  (3,927,515)  3,232,976 

Total expenses  24,185,994  3,644,874  (3,927,515)  23,903,353 

Change in net assets  1,134,199  (2,880,398)  —      (1,746,199) 

NET ASSETS, Beginning of year  7,884,955  78,004,540  —      85,889,495 

NET ASSETS, End of year $ 9,019,154 $ 75,124,142 $ —     $ 84,143,296 
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2018 2017
BUDGET BUDGET

REVENUE

   01 MEMBERSHIP
      41 FEES
         01-001 REGULAR MEMBERSHIP REGISTRATION $1,843,330 $1,840,248
         01-002 SUBSEQUENT MEMBERSHIP REGISTRATION-FAMILY 359,232 365,592
         01-003-4101 MEMBERSHIP ADMINISTRATIVE FEE 125,000 105,000
         01-003-4103 INTRODUCTORY MEMBERSHIP 121,063 110,175
         01-004 COACHES BACKGROUND FEES 215,000 215,000
         02 LEARN TO SKATE USA REGISTRATIONS 2,080,000 1,518,000
         03 TEST 327,534 219,840
         04 SANCTION 25,000 25,000
         05 SYNCHRONIZED TEAM FEES 36,180 30,600
         06 COLLEGIATE MEMBERSHIP DUES 66,080 57,000
         06 COLLEGIATE INDIVIDUAL MEMBERSHIP DUES 4,690 9,000
         07 SUPPORTIVE MEMBERSHIP FEES-FRIENDS OF FIGURE SKATING 61,700 64,044
         08 ASSESSMENT FEES FOR GRIEVANCES 500 500
      41 DUES
         11 MEMBER CLUB 76,000 73,000
         12 INDIVIDUAL MEMBERSHIP 202,371 227,635
         15 THEATRE ON ICE DUES 4,800 4,320
      41 CLUB MERCHANDISE SALES
         21 EMBLEMS / MEDALS 127,000 127,000
         22 BADGES / PATCHES 27,000 27,000
         23 PUBLICATIONS 200 200
         24 LEARN TO SKATE MERCHANDISE 117,000 117,000
         24-001 LEARN TO SKATE USA PROGRAM MARKETING KITS 25,000 100,000
         25 RULEBOOKS AND DIRECTORIES 10,000 10,000
         26 MEDALS- NON TAXABLE 0 0
         27 VIDEO  PRODUCTION-LICENSES, SCREENING SALES 4,000 4,000
         27 VIDEO  PRODUCTION SALES 70,000 105,000
         28 FREIGHT 75,000 75,000
         29 NATIONAL SKATING MONTH MERCHANDISE 21,000 21,000
         30 ONLINE MERCHANDISE SALES & MANUALS FOR NEW JUDGING SYSTEM 5,000 5,000
   SUBTOTAL MEMBERSHIP 6,029,680 5,456,154
   02 FUNDRAISING
      4211-001-4211 TELEVISION & SPONSORSHIP 3,200,000 3,100,000
      4211-002 NON-TELEVISION SPONSORSHIP 75,000 200,000
      4215 FIGURE SKATING TOURS 50,000 50,000
      4212 LICENSES/MERCHANDISING 10,000 10,000
      4231-4237 OTHER CONTRIBUTIONS/DONATIONS 200,000 125,000
      4241 VALUE IN KIND 150,000 125,000
      4551 ATHLETE ALUMNI DINNER AND AUCTION 0 0
      4551 OTHER FUNDRAISING 2,000 0
  SUBTOTAL FUNDRAISING 3,687,000 3,610,000

   03 USOC PROGRAMS/ISU PROGRAM
      4311-003 PSA PROGRAM GRANT 43,000 43,000
      4311-004 INTERNATIONAL COMPETITIONS GRANT 25,000 25,000
      4311-005 USOC DIRECT ATHLETE FUNDING 1,050,000 800,000
   SUBTOTAL USOC & ISU PROGRAMS 1,118,000 868,000

   04 CHAMPIONSHIPS/EVENTS
      4411 US FIGURE SKATING CHAMPIONSHIPS 1,750,000 600,000
      4421 JGP USA  ISU REVENUE 0 0
      4422 OLYMPIC REVENUE 90,000 0
      4426 SKATE AMERICA REVENUE 65,000 347,000
      4426 SKATE AMERICA - ISU PRIZE MONEY CONTRIBUTION 180,000 180,000
      4426 SKATE AMERICA - OTHER REVENUE 0 0
      4439 WORLD SYNCHRO SKATING CHAMPIONSHIPS 0 700,000
      4443-001 ISU CONTRIBUTION FOR SR/JR WORLD CHAMPIONSHIP & 4 CONTINENTS 100,000 100,000
      4443-002 WORLD TEAM TROPHY / TEAM CHALLENGE CUP 100,000 20,000
      4442 WORLD CHAMPIONSHIPS 0 0
      4444-001-4105 U.S. CHALLENGE SKATE- SENIOR B 46,000 40,000
      4444-001 REGIONAL/SECTIONAL ENTRY FEES 469,200 469,200
      4444-002 SYNCHRO SECTIONAL ENTRY FEES 136,800 136,800
      4444-003 ADULT NATIONALS ENTRY FEES 75,000 75,000
      4444-005 ADULT SECTIONAL ENTRY FEES 34,780 34,780
      4444-004 NATIONAL COLLEGIATE ENTRY FEES 8,400 8,400
      4444-42-44 ADULT NATIONAL TROPHIES 3,000 3,000
      4450 INTERCOLLEGIATE COMPETITIONS ENTRY FEES 100,000 100,000
      4460 DANCE /PAIRS JUDGES SCHOOL FEES 15,000 15,000
   SUBTOTAL CHAMPIONSHIPS/EVENTS 3,173,180 2,829,180

US FIGURE SKATING ASSOCIATION

STATEMENT OF ACTIVITIES

BUDGET COMPARATIVE
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   04 PROGRAM REVENUE
      4451-001 NATIONAL SOLO DANCE COMPETITION 10,000 10,000
      4451-004 CLUB EDUCATION SEMINAR 12,000 6,000
      4451-005 SYNCHRO CHALLENGE SERIES FEES 8,250 8,250
      4451-006 BASIC SKILLS PROGRAM REGISTRATION FEES 2,000 2,000
      4451-007 PARENTS GUIDE 1,000 1,000
      4451-008 BASIC SKILLS INSTRUCTOR WORKSHOP FEES 5,000 5,000
      4451-009 NATIONAL PAIRS CAMP REVENUE 28,250 16,000
      4451-010 U.S. CHALLENGE SKATE COMPETITION 5,000 5,000
      4451-011 SYNCHRONIZED MONITORING ENTRY FEES 6,250 6,250
      4451-013 S.T.A.R.S. PROGRAM REGISTRATION FEES 77,000 88,530
      4451-014 PAIRS,DANCE & SINGLES PROGRAMS 85,000 93,737
      4451-015 USA PREP SEMINAR FEES 4,000 4,000
      4451-016 ICE MEN FEES 8,250 8,250
      4451-018 THEATRE ON ICE - FESTIVAL 31,000 31,500
      4451-020 HIGH SCHOOL FINAL 750 750
      4551-016 DREAM PROGRAM ENTRY FEES 15,120 15,120
      4551-017 DREAM CAMP ENTRY FEES 37,800 37,800
      4551-018 ELITE SYNCHRO CAMP 6,000 6,000
      4551-019  SINGLES JUMP CAMP 39,000 30,000
      4551-020  AIM REGISTRATION FEES 6,750 6,750
      4551-021  CHALLENGE REGISTRATION FEES 10,000 10,000
      4551-022  JUMPING JACKS 2,500 2,500
      4551-023 FUTURE U ENTRY FEES 3,250 0
      01-4105-002 SYNCHRO FESTIVAL 65,000 91,065
      4444-002 SYNCHRONIZED SKATING TEAM APPAREL 6,000 6,000
      4444-002 -4102 TECHNICAL PANEL SEMINAR FEES 10,000 16,000
      6415 IJS EQUIPMENT RENTAL 20,000 20,000
   SUBTOTAL PROGRAM REVENUE 505,170 527,502

   06 PUBLICATIONS/MAGAZINE
      46 SKATING MAGAZINE
         11-001 ADVERTISING 75,000 100,000
         11-002 SUBSCRIPTIONS REVENUE 20,000 20,000
         11-003 BACK ISSUE SALES 1,000 1,000
         11-004 MEMBERSHIP FEE ALLOCATION 105,590 102,723
   SUBTOTAL PUBLICATIONS/MAGAZINE 201,590 223,723

   08 OTHER REVENUE
      4810-001-4811 DIVIDENDS/INTEREST 50,000 50,000
      4810-001-4813 MARKET VALUE ADJUSTMENT ON SECURITIES 5,000 5,000
      4810-003 MISCELLANEOUS REVENUE 1,000 1,000

0 0
      4810-006 ICE NETWORK MEMBER SUBSCRIPTION ALLOCATION (70,000) (70,000)
   SUBTOTAL OTHER REVENUE (14,000) (14,000)

TOTAL OPERATING REVENUE 14,700,620 13,500,559

TOTAL OPERATING EXPENSES 16,831,276 16,369,309

U.S. FIGURE SKATING FOUNDATION GRANT 2,000,000 2,000,000

U.S. FIGURE SKATING FOUNDATION GRANT- SPECIAL PROJECTS * 1,100,000 900,000

NET INCOME (LOSS) BEFORE DEPRECIATION AND AMORTIZATION 969,344 31,250

DEPRECIATION EXPENSES 160,000 205,644

AMORTIZATION OF THE MMS & COMPETITION WEBSITES 299,009 207,500

NET INCOME (LOSS) AFTER DEPRECIATION AND AMORTIZATION 510,335 (381,894)

* Note 1: Of the $1.1M, $300k is in direct funding for the continuation of the Brand and Image , Basic Skills 
Rebrand Campaigns and $300k for a one time Media Rights Acquisition consulting expense. The remaining 
$500k is in direct support of the Event Management System and will be amortized over a 10 year period.
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EXPENSES

   21 GOVERNANCE
      61 MEETINGS
         01 GOVERNING COUNCIL $122,100 $74,100
         02 BOARD OF DIRECTORS 41,490 40,490
         04 ATHLETE ALUMNI DINNER 0 0
      SUBTOTAL MEETINGS 163,590 114,590
      62 OFFICERS
        01 PRESIDENT 12,600 12,875
        02 EASTERN VICE PRESIDENT 1,500 1,500
        03 MIDWESTERN VICE PRESIDENT 1,500 1,500
        04 PACIFIC COAST VICE PRESIDENT 1,500 1,500
        05 TREASURER 600 600
        06 SECRETARY 103 100
        6612 GROUP COORDINATORS 1,639 1,591
      SUBTOTAL OFFICERS 19,442 19,666
      63, 64, PERMANENT COMMITTEES
        6324 ADULT SKATING 6,321 1,244
        6332 ATHLETE DEVELOPMENT COMMITTEE 6,960 3,792
        6315 ATHLETES ADVISORY 33,665 30,765
        6309 BASIC SKILLS SUBCOMMITTEE 1,395 1,795
        6327 COACHES 900 874
        6328 COLLEGIATE SKATING PROGRAMS 1,200 2,000
        6301 COMPETITIONS 1,472 1,429
        6304 DANCE 112 109
        6316 DANCE DEVELOPMENT SUB COMMITTEE 282 274
        6329 ETHICS 112 109
        6302 FINANCE 219 212
        6330 GRIEVANCE 600 583
        6305 INTERNATIONAL 11,100 11,100
        6333 INTNL JUDGES & OFFICIALS 226 219
        6306 JUDGES 1,585 1,923
        6307 JDGS EDUCATION/TRAINING SUBCOMMITTEE 400 492
        6308 MEMBERSHIP 1,145 1,795
        6308 MEMBERSHIP - GROUP COORDINATOR TRAVEL TO EVENTS AND HQ 4,770 4,770
        6310 MEMBER RECOGNITION SUBCOMMITTEE 112 109
        6322 MEMORIAL FUND 112 0
        6403 MUSIC SUBCOMMITTEE 1,200 106
        6338 PAIRS 112 109
        6314 PAIRS DEVELOPMENT SUB COMMITTEE 282 274
        6405 PARENTS 657 274
        6405 PARENTS  COMMITTEE- TRAVEL TO REGIONAL CHAMPIONSHIPS 3,840 2,840
        6318 PROGRAM DEVELOPMENT 1,054 1,023
        6320 RULES 112 109
        6303 REFEREES SUBCOMMITTEE 105 109
        6312 SANCTIONS/ELIGIBILITY 112 109
        6313 SINGLES AND PAIRS 0 0
        6337 SINGLES 112 109
        6317 SINGLES DEVELOPMENT SUB COMMITTEE 282 274
        6321 SPORTS MEDICINE 394 383
        6331 STRATEGIC PLANNING 112 109
        6311 SYNCHRONIZED SKATING 282 274
        6336 SYNCHRONIZED DEVELOPMENT SUBCOMMITTEE 112 109
        6325 SYNCHRONIZED COMPETITIONS SUBCOMMITTEE 112 109
        6326 SYNCHRONIZED MANAGEMENT SUBCOMMITTEE 309 300
        6409 TESTS 109 109
        6415 TECHNICAL PANEL 900 900
        6416 THEATRICAL SUBCOMMITTEE 112 109
   SUBTOTAL PERMANENT COMMITTEES 82,998 71,332
      64 SPECIAL COMMITTEES
        6404 NOMINATING 17,040 17,040
        6334 SELECTIONS 732 711
        6411 SPECIAL OLYMPICS 112 109
        6408 STATE GAMES 1,419 1,378
      SUBTOTAL SPECIAL COMMITTEES 19,303 19,238

      66 EXTERNAL REPRESENTATION
        6601 ISU REPRESENTATION 50,000 3,500
        6607 OFFICERS & OTHERS 49,000 43,709
      SUBTOTAL EXTERNAL REPRESENTATION 99,000 47,209

   SUBTOTAL GOVERNANCE 384,333 272,035
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   22 MEMBERSHIP
      25 LEARN TO SKATE USA
         22-5301 LEARN TO SKATE USA- DIRECT COSTS 211,000 205,796
         6309-002 NARCE CONVENTION 6,750 6,570
         6309-005 INSTRUCTOR WORKSHOPS 29,600 30,000
         6309-010 COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT PROGRAM 12,000 12,000
      SUBTOTAL LEARN TO SKATE USA 259,350 254,366

      22 ALL OTHER MEMBERSHIP SERVICES
         5301-001 REGULAR MEMBERSHIPS DIRECT COSTS 73,200 71,200
         5301-003-5301 LIABILITY INSURANCE 252,350 248,000
         5301-003-5302 COACHES LIABILITY INSURANCE 10,000 10,300
         5301-003-5303 COACHES BACKGROUND FEES 90,000 75,000
         5301-003-5304 BASIC SKILLS INSTRUCTOR BACKGROUND FEES 10,300 5,859
         5301-005 USOC SAFE SPORT 55,000 55,000
         5321-002 LTS MARKETING MATERIALS COST OF SALES 63,694 57,927
         5322-002 COS BADGES AND PATCHES 3,660 3,875
         5323-002 COS PUBLICATIONS 0 0
         5324-002 COS BASIC SKILLS MERCHANDISE 49,241 38,460
         5325-002 COS RULEBOOKS & DIRECTORIES 30,732 31,700
         5328-002 COS MERCHANDISE 5,000 5,000
         5329-002-5154 SHIPPING AND REIMBURSED SHIPPING 27,500 31,000
         5329-002-5322 BAD DEBT EXPENSE 10,000 10,000
         5301-001-5324 VISA/ MASTERCARD FEE 135,102 105,000

       53 DEVELOPMENT/MARKETING
         01-004 FRIENDS OF FIGURE SKATING 45,300 42,300
         01-006 DEVELOPMENT- GIVING PROGRAM 103,725 43,525

      25 MEMBERSHIP PROMOTION
         6308-001 NATIONAL SKATING MONTH 51,400 52,050
         6611- RINKS OF THE USA 125,000 125,000
         6308-002 CLUB EDUCATION SEMINAR 18,310 18,130
         6308-003 SKATE FEST 19,600 19,850
         6308-004 MEMBERSHIP PLANNING MEETING 7,105 7,105
         6308-006-5451 NATIONAL BRANDING & IMAGE CAMPAIGN 275,000 300,000
         6308-006-5452 NATIONAL LTS USA REBRANDING CAMPAIGN 200,000 300,000
         6308-007  MEMBERSHIP CLUB RELATIONS 0 0
      SUBTOTAL ALL OTHER MEMBERSHIP 1,661,219 1,656,281

       6310-001 MEMBERSHIP RECOGNITION 1,883 1,883

   SUBTOTAL MEMBERSHIP 1,922,452 1,912,530

   31 & 32 FUNDRAISING

      31 SPONSORSHIP
         5501-5502 FUNDRAISING ACTIVITIES 0 0
         5501-5503 SPONSOR MARKETING AND PROMOTION 96,950 79,750
         5501-5504 SPONSOR SOLICITATION 18,200 18,500
         5501-5505 SPONSOR FULFILLMENT 157,500 109,500
         5504 RINKBOARDS 21,110 17,900
         5502-5508 GRAPHICS DESIGNER EXPENSES 2,500 2,500
         5502-5509 BOOTH DISPLAY 31,890 24,900
      SUBTOTAL SPONSORSHIP & TV 328,150 253,050

   SUBTOTAL FUNDRAISING 328,150 253,050

   24 & 25 ATHLETE PROGRAMS

      24 ISU GRAND PRIX EVENTS
         6305-003 SKATE AMERICA 14,086 13,180
         6305-007 SKATE CANADA 15,256 14,274
         6305-009 TROPHEE BOMPARD, FRANCE 22,871 21,400
         6305-012 NHK TROPHY, JAPAN 31,172 29,267
         6305-025 CUP OF RUSSIA 27,467 25,660
         6305-036 CHINA CUP 36,270 33,895
      24 ISU JUNIOR GRAND PRIX EVENTS
         6305-019 FRANCE JR GRAND PRIX 0 26,279
         6305-045 USA JR GRAND PRIX 0 0
         6305-052 RUSSIA JR GRAND PRIX 0 42,582
         6305-044 GERMANY JR GRAND PRIX 0 37,225
         6305-031 JGP AUSTRALIA 34,618 0
         6305-023 LATIVA, RUSSIA 40,750 0
         6305-043 SLOVENIA JR GRAND PRIX 0 25,703
         6305-039 CZECH REPUBLIC JR GRAND PRIX 0 37,225
         6305-046 ITALY 27,470 0
         6305-047 POLAND JR GRAND PRIX 39,784 0
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         6305-041 NORWAY CUP 0 0
         6305-049 BRATISLAVA, SLOVAKIA JGP 0 0
         6305-050 CROATIA JR GRAND PRIX 39,784 0
         6305-037 JAPAN JR GRAND PRIX 0 30,962
         6305-008 BELARUS JR. GRAND PRIX 44,401 0
         6305-060 JGP AUSTRIA 27,470 0
      24 ISU CHAMPIONSHIP EVENTS
         6305-016 WORLD CHAMPIONSHIPS 58,669 54,895
         6305-011 JUNIOR WORLD CHAMPIONSHIPS 62,004 66,608
         6305-033 JUNIOR / SENIOR GRAND PRIX FINAL 41,679 32,918
         6305-022 FOUR CONTINENTS CHAMPIONSHIPS 67,589 74,361
         6305-015 OLYMPIC GAMES 477,011 0
      24 OTHER INTERNATIONAL COMPETITIONS
         6305-020 NEBELHORN-OBERSTDORF 43,739 40,926
         6305-018 SPRING TROPHY, ITALY 0 0
         6305-024 FINLANDIA TROPHY, HELSINKI 25,432 21,767
         6305-056 NRW TROPHY 24,348 0
         6305-026 AUTUMN CLASSIC 24,949 23,344
         6305-027 VOLVO OPEN CUP 0 20,631
         6305-051 TALLIN TROPHY 20,463 37,225
         6305-029 BAVARIAN OPEN 24,476 21,567
         6305-034  GOLDEN BEAR 26,439 0
         6305-032 GOLDEN SPIN OF ZAGREB 36,111 19,146
         6305-021 O NEPELA MEMORIAL 25,688 24,356
         6305-017 LOMBARDIA -TBD 28,226 21,073
         6305-013 SPRING COMPETITION-HAGUE & GARDENA 51,788 48,557
         6305-059 WORLD TEAM TROPHY 0 17,627
         6305-062 SENIOR B - USA 42,100 39,392
         6305-057 ICE CHALLENGE 21,149 20,109
      SUBTOTAL INTERNATIONAL COMPETITIONS 1,503,261 922,154

      24 ATHLETE SUBSIDIES
         6305 DIRECT ATHLETE SUPPORT
         201-5331 ASUPP-TEAM ENVELOPE 338,000 300,000
         201-5334 ASUPP-ATHLETE OPERATION GOLD PROGRAM 150,000 145,000
      SUBTOTAL ATHLETE SUBSIDIES 488,000 445,000

      25 OTHER EXPENSES/PROGRAMS
         6305-007 US TEAM SUPPORT-ICE TIME 9,775 9,525
         6305-009 ISP SUMMER PERFORMANCE CAMP 40,800 39,300
         6305-010 ISP HIGH PERFORMANCE CAMP- SINGLES 34,685 29,485
         6305-001 PERFORMANCE ENHANCEMENT TRAINING 505,350 490,650
         6305-002 TEAM APPAREL & SUPPLIES 31,650 29,650
         6305-ISU DEVELOPMENT CAMP (PAIRS & DANCE) - [NEW] 10,698 0
         6604-001 USOC IR GRANT EXPENSES 0 0
         6305-012 INTL PAIRS SEMINAR-SOCHI 0 0
         6305-003 INSURANCE 9,000 9,250
      SUBTOTAL OTHER EXPENSES/PROGRAMS 641,958 607,860

      25 ATHLETE DEVELOPMENT
         6901-005 ADC-US CHALLENGE SKATE 15,450 15,500
         6901-007 ADC SPECIAL ACHIEVEMENT AWARD 2,300 2,000
         6901-008 ATHLETE DEVELOPMENT PROGRAMS FROM HQ 1,445 1,445
         6901-010 ADC CHAIR TO JUV & INTL EVENTS @ US CHAMP 2,470 1,370
         6901-013-5451 SPRING TRAINING CAMP/DREAM PROGRAM 18,810 18,410
         6901-013-5452 SPRING TRAINING CAMP-JR WORLD CUP CAMP - [NEW] 21,065 0
         6901-014 FUTURE U CHAMPIONSHIPS 12,455 2,070
         6901-015 ADC PAIRS WIN PROJECT COACHES SEMINAR 0 11,550
         6901-016 ADC TRAINING PERFORMANCE GRANT 25,000 25,000
         66311-001-SYNCHRO INTL MONITORING PROGRAM 11,150 10,580
         6318-004-5451 NATIONAL PAIRS CAMP 99,855 17,200
         6318-004-5452 PAIRS DEVELOPMENT EVALUATION PROGRAM 2,100 2,100
         6318-008-5451 COMPONENTS CAMP 76,090 75,090
         6318-002-5451 ICEMEN 13,391 12,600
         6318-002-5452 ICEMEN SCHOLARSHIP FOR PPC 17,000 15,960
         6318-008-5452 SINGLES JUMP CAMP 41,475 36,080
         6318-013 DANCE DEVELOPMENT PROGRAM 42,000 39,950
      SUBTOTAL ATHLETE DEVELOPMENT 402,056 286,905

      25 COACHES
         6327-001 CHOREOGRAPHER OF THE YEAR 500 500
         6327-008 ELITE COACHES EDUCATION 18,500 18,500
         6327-010 TEAM USA PREP SEMINAR 0 12,255
         6321-018 COACHES ENHANCEMENT PROGRAM 25,000 25,000
         6327-004 CER IMPLEMENTATION 35,000 35,000
      25 PSA PROGRAMS
         6327-003 PSA SEMINARS 3,680 3,680
      SUBTOTAL COACHES/PSA 82,680 94,935
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      25 SPORTS SCIENCE & MEDICINE
         6321-004 SPORTS SCIENCE ATHLETE DEVELOPMENT 25,000 0
         6321-005 HP TRAVEL & COACHES MENTORING 165,000 153,000
         6321-010 SPORT SCIENCE - RESEARCH / ATHLETE TESTING/ INJURY PREVENT 41,300 38,100
         6321-008 HIGH PERFORMANCE RINK RECOGNITION-[NEW] 1,000 0
         6321-011 SPORTS SCIENCE- EX3 PROJECT 65,000 65,000
         6321-009  SPORT SCIENCE COMPETITION CAMP-MENTORING PROGRAM 7,145 6,720
         6321-019 MOTION ANALYSIS SYSTEM 9,000 69,000
         6901-012 CHAMPS CAMP/PERFORMANCE CAMP 91,560 87,410
         6318-003 S.T.A.R.S CAMPS 77,550 81,400
      SUBTOTAL SPORTS SCIENCE & MEDICINE 482,555 500,630
   SUBTOTAL ATHLETE PROGRAMS 3,600,510 2,857,484

   23, 24 & 25 SYNCHRONIZED SKATING

      23 CHAMPIONSHIP/EVENTS
         6311-001 NATL SYNCHRO SKATING CHAMPIONSHIP-USFSA/LOC EXP. 7,400 7,400
         6311-012 SYNCHRO QUALIFYING ENTRY FEES 142,800 142,800
      SUBTOTAL SYNCHRO EVENTS 150,200 150,200

      24 INTERNATIONAL COMPETITIONS
         6311-014 SYNCHRO TEAM-TRAVEL GRANTS 92,000 92,000
         6311-015 SYNCHRO INTERNATIONAL OFFICIALS TRAVEL 77,220 63,600
         6311-009 WORLD SYNCHRO CHAMPIONSHIP 90,250 40,300
         6311-012 JR WORLD SYNCHRO CHAMPIONSHIP 83,150 48,650
      SUBTOTAL SYNCHRO INTERNATIONAL COMPETITIONS 342,620 244,550

      25 INTERNATIONAL PROGRAMS SYNCHRONIZED PROGRAMS
         6311-002 SYNCHRO TEAM UNIFORMS & TRADING PINS 30,800 30,800
         6311-201 SYNCHRO TEAM ENVELOPE FUNDING 75,000 67,000
      SUBTOTAL SYNCHRO INTERNATIONAL PROGRAMS 105,800 97,800

      25 OTHER SYNCHRONIZED PROGRAMS
         6311-020 PROGRAMS FROM HEADQUARTERS 4,395 3,600
         6311-007 SYNCHRO COACHES SEMINAR-WIN 10,675 6,615
         6311-010 SYNCHRO SKATING TEAMS TO EXHIBITION 2,000 2,000
         6311-011 DREAM CAMPS-SYNCHRO SECTL SEMINARS 38,000 38,000
         6311-001 SYNCHRO SECTIONAL MONITORING PROGRAM 17,395 15,670
         6311-019 SYNCHRO LEADERSHIP MEETING 3,550 3,550
         6311-021 SYNCHRO ELITE CAMP/TEAM USA DEVELOPMENT 28,250 18,660
         6311-022 SYNCHRO FESTIVAL 64,850 90,260
         6311-024 SYNCHRO CHALLENGE SERIES 4,000 4,000
      SUBTOTAL SYNCHRO OTHER PROGRAMS 173,115 182,355

   SUBTOTAL SYNCHRONIZED SKATING 771,735 674,905

   23 & 25 COLLEGIATE PROGRAMS

      23 CHAMPIONSHIPS/EVENTS
         6328-001-5308 NATL COLLEGIATE CHAMPIONSHIP 15,000 15,000
         6328-001-5309 NATL COLLEGIATE ENTRY FEES 8,400 8,400
      25  COLLEGIATE PROGRAMS
         6328-003 COLLEGIATE WORKSHOP 2,590 2,640
         6328-004 INTERCOLLEGIATE COMPETITIONS 103,790 102,845
         6328-009 MARKETING BROCHURE 0 0
         6328-011 COLLEGIATE / HIGH SCHOOL PROGRAMS FROM HQ 2,360 2,160
   SUBTOTAL COLLEGIATE PROGRAMS 132,140 131,045

   25 TECHNICAL PROGRAMS

      6303 REFEREES & ACCOUNTANTS
         001 REFEREES SCHOOL/TRAINING 500 1,000
         003 ACCOUNTANTS SCHOOLS/TRAINING 11,890 16,388
      SUBTOTAL REFEREES & ACCOUNTANTS 12,390 17,388

      6306 JUDGES
         001 ISU EDUCATION & EXAM 106,800 95,250
         013 JUDGING SEMINARS 65,990 14,480
      SUBTOTAL JUDGES 172,790 109,730
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      6307 JETS
         002-5451 SCHOOL GRANTS 7,900 4,100
         008 JETS TO SECTIONALS 4,500 4,500
         005 JETS TO NATIONALS-TRAINING 15,665 15,665
         006 JETS SYNCHRO NATLS-TRAINING 3,945 2,630
         007 JETS THEATRE ON ICE-SCHOOL/MEETING 500 1,000
         018 JETS TO SYNCH SECTIONALS 3,895 3,895
         020 JETS TO SUMMER CAMPS 4,350 4,350
      SUBTOTAL JETS 40,755 36,140

      6409 TESTS
         001 TESTS-RULEBOOKS TO TEST CHAIRS 7,250 7,250
      SUBTOTAL TESTS 7,250 7,250

      6403 MUSIC
         001 UPDATE EQUIPMENT 3,500 35,615
         005 MUSIC CONSUMABLE MEDIA 2,000 1,000
      SUBTOTAL MUSIC 5,500 36,615

      6415 TECHNICAL PANEL
         001 IJS RENTAL SHIPPING & TRAVEL 16,472 16,642
         6306-012 TECHNICAL PANEL EDUCATION AND TRAINING 56,185 53,766
      SUBTOTAL TECHNICAL PANEL 72,657 70,408
   SUBTOTAL TECHNICAL PROGRAMS 311,342 277,531

   25 GRASS ROOTS/DEVELOPMENT

      6318 PROGRAM DEVELOPMENT
         001 SCHOLASTIC RECOGNITION PROGRAM 56,130 56,130
         005 THEATRE ON ICE 5,655 5,555
         005-5453  TRY PAIRS 4,560 4,560
         006 THEATRE ON ICE FESTIVAL 34,350 33,650
         007 NATIONAL SOLO DANCE COMPETITION 10,641 10,641
         010 NATIONAL HIGH SCHOOL FINAL 2,740 2,410
         011 SHOWCASE COMPETITION 2,080 2,078
         012 HIGH SCHOOL LETTERS & PROGRAMS 3,523 3,523
         015  CHALLENGE SERIES 8,496 7,352
         017 AIM ACADEMY/GROUP TRAINING 10,605 10,605
         019 COACH / PARENT OUTREACH- PROGRAM EDUCATION 500 500
         020 JUMPING JACKS 7,740 7,740
      SUBTOTAL PROGRAM DEVELOPMENT 147,020 144,744

   SUBTOTAL GRASS ROOTS/DEVELOPMENT 147,020 144,744

   23 CHAMPIONSHIPS/EVENTS
      6301-001 US CHAMPIONSHIPS 200,000 160,250
      6301-002 SKATE AMERICA INTERNATIONAL 70,870 658,740
      6301-006-90 SKATE AMERICA PRIZE MONEY 180,000 180,000
      6301-008 WORLD CHAMPIONSHIPS 0 0
      6301-008 WORLD CHAMPIONSHIPS- ISU CONTRIBUTION FOR PRIZE MONEY 0 0
      6301-010 JGP USA EVENT EXPENSES 0 0
      6301-013 SENIOR B - USA INTL CLASIC CHALLENGE SKATE 129,525 120,000
      6301-012-5308 ADULT NATIONALS GRANTS 17,375 17,375
      6301-012-5307 ADULT SECTIONAL COMP GRANTS 9,000 9,000
      6301-012-5309 ENTRY FEES FOR ADULT NATIONALS 85,000 90,678
      6301-012-5310 TROPHIES FOR ADULT NATLS 3,600 3,497
      6301-012-5311 USFS EXPENSES FOR ADULT NATIONALS 5,450 5,050
      6301-015 REGIONAL QUALIFYING COMP GRANT 135,000 135,000
      6301-016 SECTIONAL CHAMPIONSHIP GRANT TO LOC 81,000 81,000
      6301-015 REGIONAL SECTIONAL USFSA EXPENSE 33,400 32,920
      6301-017 REGIONAL/SECTIONAL ENTRY FEES & PROCESSING 315,000 315,000
      6301-020 ADULT SECTIONALS ENTRY FEES 18,250 18,250
      6301-036 SYNCHRO WORLD CHAMPIONSHIP 0 540,000
      6301-018 RADIX PINS 6,800 6,800
      6301-006-91 TELEVISION PRODUCTION COSTS 2,509,950 2,386,713
      6301-006-92 TELEVISION PRODUCTION COSTS- MEDIA EVENTS RIGHTS CONSULTANT 300,000 0
      6301-006-92 EVENT VIDEO PRODUCTION  COST 61,350 49,675
      6301-006-93 EVENT VIDEO SERVICE 115,840 132,319
   SUBTOTAL CHAMPIONSHIPS/EVENTS 4,277,410 4,942,267

   27 PUBLICATIONS
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      5371 SKATING MAGAZINE
         5371 PRINTING & BINDING 200,000 200,000
         5372 BASIC SKILLS MAGAZINE 60,000 50,000
         5373 SHIPPING & DISTRIBUTION 140,000 125,000
         5374 OUTSIDE SERVICES 30,000 30,000
         5375 ADVERTISING & PROMOTION 1,000 1,000
         5376 OTHER MAGAZINE COSTS 1,000 1,000
         5378 CIRCULATION 1,000 1,000
         5379 TRAVEL FOR MAGAZINE 3,000 2,500
      SUBTOTAL SKATING MAGAZINE 436,000 410,500

      5371 COMMUNICATIONS/PUBLIC RELATIONS
         002 MEDIA GUIDE 2,500 2,500
         004-5371 MEDIA CONFERENCE CALLS 1,500 1,000
         004-5372 PHOTOGRAPHY 1,500 1,000
         004-5373 MEDIA MAILINGS 250 250
         004-5374 COPYING AND PRINTING 500 250
         004-5376 MEDIA TRAINING 4,000 2,500
         004-5377 FAN MAIL 1,000 500
         004-5378 PR ATHLETE APPEARNCES 8,000 0
         004-5379 TRAVEL 44,046 26,945
         004-5381 MEDIA HOSPITALITY 20,000 17,000
         006 READERS' CHOICE AWARDS 2,050 2,100
         003-5171 ONLINE WEB SITE HOSTING 54,900 52,900
         003-5173 ONLINE PROFESSIONAL FEES 38,400 32,400
      SUBTOTAL COMMUNICATIONS/PUBLIC RELATIONS 178,646 139,345

   SUBTOTAL COMMUNICATIONS/PUBLIC RELATIONS 614,646 549,845

   28 OPERATIONS
      5101 SALARIES AND BENEFITS 3,524,318 3,490,418
      5105 IT CONTRACT SERVICES 180,096 220,000
      5153 OFFICE SUPPLIES & SMALL EQUIP 19,178 15,366
      5154 POSTAGE AND SHIPPING 6,357 6,407
      5155 TELEPHONE AND INTERNET 81,663 90,855
      001-5156 LEGAL/ACCOUNTING/OTHER PROFESSL 92,016 90,210
      002-5156 LEGAL EXPENSE FROM GRIEVANCES 5,000 5,000
      5158 CONTINUING EDUCATION/TRAVEL 4,800 4,800
      5159 DUES & SUBSCRIPTIONS 12,686 12,062
      5160 EQUIPMENT LEASE PAYMENTS 17,858 29,582
      5162 EQUIPMENT MAINTENANCE 14,849 19,200
      5166 INSURANCE 37,656 36,850
      5164 UTILITIES 53,550 53,510
      5167 BUILDING/OFFICE MAINTENANCE 65,837 61,432
      5168 BUILDING SECURITY 850 773
   SUBTOTAL OPERATIONS 4,116,714 4,136,465

   39 OTHER EXPENSES
      001-5608 BANKING FEES 35,000 15,000
      001-5602 PRIOR YEAR EXPENSES 15,000 5,000
      001-5603 CAPITAL EXPENSES 118,000 109,335
      001-5605 COMPUTER EQUIPMENT 51,751 83,000
      001-5606 EQUIPMENT STORAGE 5,073 5,073
   SUBTOTAL OTHER EXPENSES 224,824 217,408

TOTAL OPERATING EXPENSES 16,831,276 16,369,309
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